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1

John Roach grew up in the South End of Boston, the son 
of West Indian immigrants. His father, a native of Montserrat, had fought 
for the British Empire in World War I in a unit composed entirely of dark-
skinned men and worked in Boston as a laborer; his mother worked for 
white families as a domestic. Roach’s neighborhood was mixed—“Chinese, 
Japanese, Italians, Greeks, Russians, all kinds of people.” Scraps with kids 
from the Irish neighborhoods nearby were not uncommon, but Roach 
cherished his experience growing up in the South End. “I think it was a 
gratifying experience to live in that area because it was like an international 
community,” he remembered. “You got to know each other and got to real-
ize that no matter where you’re born, you’re a person. Everybody has likes 
and dislikes, everybody has quirks that you may or may not like. And you 
realize that you just take people as they come, and the better you treat them, 
the better they’ll treat you in most cases.” He learned something else from 
his parents: “You can’t fi ght your way up to the top with your fi sts. You can 
with your character.” Roach developed a keen mind and a strong character, 
and he expected to rise as high in life as his talents could take him.1

As a child, Roach developed a fascination with airplanes. His mother 
later told him that when she took him for walks in his baby carriage, he 
would scan the skies for airplanes and point at them excitedly if any should 
pass overhead. In elementary school he found kindred spirits, two class-
mates who shared his interest in fl ying machines. “We found out that you 
could get to East Boston Airport by going down to Rose Wharf on Atlan-
tic Avenue in Boston, and there was a ferry that went across the bay to 
the edges of the East Boston neighborhood. We’d walk along in front of 
where the ferry came in and where you paid your money to go across on the 
ferry, and we’d beg pennies from the neighbors going by until we had 4¢,” 
enough for ferry fare. From the ferry landing in East Boston they walked a 
mile or more to the airport.

“You couldn’t get out on the airport, but you could hang on the fence. 
And we would hang on the fence and watch the airplanes take off and land. 
Once in a while one would taxi by, and we’d just go out of our minds,” 
Roach said. “We’d do that all day on a Saturday after we had done our 
chores at home, and then we’d head on back, beg pennies again from the 
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people on the sidewalk, come across on the ferry, and then walk home. My 
mother never knew I did that, or she would have killed me.

“That was my introduction to the aircraft,” Roach remembered. “I just 
watched them take off. I couldn’t understand how a huge thing like that 
could get up in the air and fl y so graceful, but that did it. I said, ‘Somehow 
I’m going to fl y airplanes.’ I didn’t know how. I didn’t know where or why 
or when, but I knew somehow I’d do it. My mother said she thought so too 
when she found out I liked airplanes.” Roach could not have known it then, 
but the nation’s armed forces systematically denied African Americans 
even the opportunity to learn to fl y, and civilian institutions were not much 
more accommodating. At the beginning of 1939, the year Roach turned 
fourteen, there were only twenty-fi ve licensed African American pilots in 
the entire country.2

Roach attended racially integrated Boston public schools. When he 
graduated from Mechanic Arts High School, a venerable institution sev-
eral miles from his home, in 1943, he knew little of the political machi-
nations on the part of the National Association for the Advancement of 
Colored People (NAACP) and other black institutions that had recently 
forced the U.S Department of War to open a military fl ight training facil-
ity in Tuskegee, Alabama, for African Americans. He just knew that he 
wanted to fl y. “That’s when I found out that there was this unit being 
established at Tuskegee Army Air Field to train black pilots,” he said. 
Before then it had “never crossed my mind that there were no black mili-
tary pilots. I fi gured, you know, airplanes were airplanes” and could be 
fl own by anyone with the desire and ability to learn how to fl y them. 
Roach, who considered himself as patriotic and gung-ho about military 
service as any other American teenager, began devouring reports from 
the Tuskegee program that he found in the black newspapers in his 
neighborhood barbershop. Six months after his seventeenth birthday, in 
June 1943, Roach gathered up his birth certifi cate, his diploma, and a let-
ter from his parents giving him permission to join the armed forces, and 
set off for the recruiting station in downtown Boston to enlist in the Army 
Air Forces (AAF) for fl ight training.

“What would you like, sonny?” a white sergeant at the station asked him. 
Roach answered that he had come to join the AAF. The sergeant explained 
to him, not unkindly, that the AAF was not accepting black recruits but 
that he was welcome to sign up for service in the infantry. Roach started 
to argue with the sergeant based on what he had learned from the newspa-
pers, thought better of it, and left. He went to nine other recruiting stations 
in greater Boston and was rebuffed at each one. Roach started to wonder 
if he wasn’t being discriminated against. “I was kind of surprised because 
after reading the African American newspapers and all the other papers, 
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I thought all of this stuff was south of the Mason-Dixon Line, but here I’m 
fi nding it right here in Boston, Massachusetts,” he recalled.

Roach convinced himself that all of the military recruiters he had 
encountered so far were Southerners who had been assigned to Boston, 
and “they’re carrying that thing”—racial prejudice—“with them.” On his 
tenth attempt, at what he believed was the only recruiting station in Boston 
he had not already tried, he explained his predicament to an Aryan-looking 
corporal who listened politely to the story. To Roach’s unending surprise 
(he was still chuckling about it in 2001), the corporal agreed to process 
his papers, scheduled him for physical exams at Fort Devens outside of 
 Boston, and arranged for a staff car and chauffeur to drive him there.

Roach passed the exams, was assigned to a training class at Tuskegee, and 
received a train ticket to Biloxi, Mississippi, where he would fi rst undergo 
basic Army training at Keesler Field. Roach got on the train at Boston’s 
South Station, “and I sat down, about the sixth car back, which was fi ne; it 
was comfortable, it was away from the coal-driven engine,” he said. “I rode 
all the way down to Washington, D.C. Everything was going fi ne.”

At Washington’s Union Station a D.C. police offi cer stepped onto the 
train. The lawman scanned Roach’s car, noticed the young soldier, and 
approached him. “I didn’t pay any mind, because I had my ticket and mili-
tary stuff and everything,” Roach said. “So the policeman is going by, and 
he looks at me, and he says, ‘What are you doing here?’ I had no idea what 
he was talking about. I said, ‘I’ve enlisted in the Air Force. I’m going to 
pilot training.’ He said, ‘No, no, what are you doing sitting here?’ I said, 
‘The seat was empty, so I sat here.’ He said, ‘Come on with me before I 
throw you off the train.’ ”

The policeman “took me down to the fi rst car behind the coal car”—the 
dirtiest, smokiest, least comfortable car on the train—“and that was where 
African Americans were.” By law, it was the only place black Americans 
could sit when traveling through the South, a region the nation’s capital 
was culturally very much a part of in 1943. For the very fi rst time in his life, 
John Roach met Jim Crow. The policeman said, “This is where you ride.”

Roach was livid. As the train left Washington, his cheeks burning, still 
stunned and indignant, Roach caught sight of an American fl ag waving in 
front of the U.S. Capitol. He began thinking about the policy makers who 
worked there. “I wonder if those people know what’s going on out here,” 
Roach thought to himself. Even sixty years later, he claimed, “I couldn’t 
believe they did.”

Horace Augustus Bohannon required no introduction to Jim Crow. The 
tenth of ten children born into very poor circumstances in Atlanta, Georgia, 
he knew all about racial segregation and unequal treatment long before he 
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came of age. “You knew that you didn’t go that way because that was white 
only, and you know that you’re supposed to be reserved—or preserved—
over here. But that’s the way we came up. We had to learn to live with it,” 
Bohannon remembered. “Somewhere early in life, my mother got us to 
understand that if you live right, you could do well despite the segregation 
laws and so forth.” They could survive, if not thrive, even in the unjust sys-
tem if they followed her simple piece of advice: “You do right.”3

Bohannon’s family suffered terribly in the Great Depression, so he got 
the fi rst of many jobs at the age of eight. His favorite childhood assign-
ment was as a helper on a laundry truck, because the laundry service made 
pickups and deliveries at Candler Field, Atlanta’s airport: “Once you got 
there, there were these pilots standing around talking,” Bohannon recalled. 
“You didn’t get to touch the airplanes, but you were at least in the audience, 
listening to them talk, which I enjoyed.” The truck’s driver, “a full-fl edged 
Georgia cracker, fi lled up with all the things that his father had taught him,” 
noted Bohannon’s interest, took pity on him, and tried to talk the boy out of 
what was quickly becoming his life’s dream. “Horace, I know you like that 
stuff, but I think you’re wasting your time,” Bohannon remembered the 
man telling him. “There is no chance in the world that you could ever work 
around them or be one of the pilots.”

“I did not argue with him, but I like to look back on it today, and I wish 
I could see that same man,” Bohannon said before he died in 2003. “He 
didn’t mean to be destructive; he just thought he was doing me a favor to 
say, ‘Don’t even dream about it.’ I never quit dreaming about it.”

Bohannon worked his way through Booker T. Washington High School 
in Atlanta and went on to study at Lincoln University just outside of Phila-
delphia. When Lincoln began a program to train civilian pilots, Bohannon 
“wasn’t far back in the line of students that went down to sign up. It was so 
exciting,” he recalled, “because there was something new every day. I don’t 
care who you were; there was always something that you didn’t know, about 
fl ying, about the whole world.”

Bohannon dropped out of college after his junior year and returned 
home to earn money. A friend in Atlanta let him know about Tuskegee 
Army Air Field (TAAF), the military base under construction about a day’s 
drive away, in Tuskegee, Alabama. Tuskegee Institute had been training 
civilian pilots for a number of years and had just opened Moton Field, a 
primary fl ight training base it operated under contract for the Army Air 
Corps (AAC). Now the War Department was building TAAF from scratch 
on the outskirts of town.

The idea of building an air base intrigued Bohannon. He found a job 
at TAAF as a carpenter’s apprentice. Then almost as soon as he got to 
Tuskegee, he learned of a program in the works to train black instructor 
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pilots for the incoming cadets. Bohannon used the skills he had learned 
in civilian pilot training to pass the entrance exam for that program, and 
he began the training course. When the program was unexpectedly inter-
rupted, he found work driving the station wagon that ferried aviation cadets 
back and forth from their living quarters at Tuskegee Institute to Moton 
Field and later was hired as the timekeeper in the control tower, tabulating 
cadets’ fl ight times.

In March 1943, unable to save enough money to allow him to return to 
Lincoln, Bohannon quit his job at Moton Field and went back to Atlanta 
to drive a cab. By September he had saved enough money to resume his 
studies and was back in Pennsylvania. Once there, he found out that he had 
been drafted into the Army. He turned back around and reported to Fort 
Benning, Georgia, in October. He applied for transfer and was accepted into 
the fl ying corps, transferred to Keesler Field for basic training, and made 
his way back to Tuskegee as a fl ight cadet. Bohannon was surprised at how 
well he took to military life, but he did, mainly because “in the Army Air 
Corps you got to know just millions of people who had dreams and desires 
and so forth.” He cherished the camaraderie he developed with the cadets 
he met there, young men like Charles Johnson Jr., whose renowned father 
was the president of Fisk University in Nashville; Mitch Higginbotham, 
whose fi rst cousin A. Leon Higginbotham would become a distinguished 
attorney and federal judge; and “Pokey” Spaulding, whose family managed 
the North Carolina Mutual Insurance Co. in Durham, North Carolina, one 
of the most prosperous black businesses in the country. At the outset of 
the program, the AAC only accepted cadets who had completed at least two 
years of college, so the Tuskegee training program drew from the black 
elite. Pilot Roscoe C. Brown Jr. may have been correct when he said, “The 
Tuskegee Airmen were probably the most talented group of African-Amer-
ican men ever brought together in one place.”4

Sixty years later Bohannon could still recite the “dodo” verses he was 
forced to memorize as a cadet. If an upperclassman asked, “What time is 
it?” he had to stand at attention and say, “ ‘Sir, the inner workings and hid-
den mechanisms of my poor chronometer are in such a sad state of discord 
with the great sidereal movement by which all time is commonly reckoned 
that I cannot with any degree of accuracy give you the correct time. How-
ever, without fear of being too wrong or too far off, I will say that it is fi fty-
eight minutes, twenty-two seconds, two ticks of a tock past the hour of four, 
sir!’ Oh, we had a good time,” he recalled.

Bohannon remembered December 20, 1944, the day he graduated from 
the cadet program, as one of the proudest of his life, because he got to show 
his family around TAAF. “Papa came, and of course on guard at the gate 
were a black sergeant, a black corporal, a black private. The whole military 
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is black,” Bohannon said. “As he drives up through there, they fi nd some 
other men doing their work—all over the place, except for the very top 
cadre of offi cers, we’re all black. And that place was clean, orderly. I wish 
you could have seen it.” His family was impressed.

But Bohannon’s best day came soon after the war ended, when he was 
an offi cer in the all-black 332nd Fighter Group stationed at Godman Field 
in Kentucky. Offi cer-pilots who needed to log a certain number of hours 
per month were allowed to fl y almost anywhere they wanted on weekends, 
provided aircraft were available. When Bohannon’s time came, “Of course 
the place I wanted to fl y was Candler Field.”

Bohannon took off from Godman. When he radioed in his location and 
announced to the tower in Atlanta his intent to land, the fl ight controller 
there asked for a fi ghter pull-up. The maneuver would require Bohannon to 
fl y in at low altitude, abruptly pull his P-47N propeller-driven fi ghter plane, 
one of the most powerful in the U.S. military’s arsenal, into a straight verti-
cal climb, loop around, and land. This was regular duty for a fi ghter pilot, 
but was guaranteed to provide a thrill at a civilian airport. On his initial 
entry, Bohannon radioed the controller, “Sir, what is the minimum alti-
tude?” The response: “My grass needs cutting.”

According to Bohannon, he barreled full-speed into Candler Field about 
3 feet off the ground and pulled his aircraft straight into the air. When he 
reached the top of his loop, he engaged the plane’s landing gear and cut 
the engine. The airplane descended into a perfect landing. “If you do it just 
right,” he said, “you don’t have to give it any gas. And that’s the best one 
I ever did.” Onlookers at Candler Field, perhaps some of them boys who 
were as crazy about fl ying as John Roach and Horace Bohannon had been, 
“were cheering and cheering and cheering.

“I fi gured they might not recognize me because the helmet covers your 
face, and all you can see [from outside the plane] is the goggles and the hel-
met,” Bohannon said. “I took the helmet off, took the goggles off, raised the 
seat up so you could see there’s an African American fl ying that brand-new 
airplane. That was the P-47N, the latest model. And it was pretty. All the 
way up the taxiway, they’re cheering. Especially the black guys: ‘Hooray! 
Hooray! Hooray!’ ”

Roy Chappell spent the fi rst several years of his life in the small towns of 
Williamsburg and Pineville, Kentucky, before his parents moved the family 
to Monroe, Michigan. He learned all about strict systems of racial segrega-
tion in Kentucky, but he found an informal system at work in Michigan. 
Chappell attended integrated schools as one of very few black pupils in 
Monroe; he excelled as a student, graduating in the top 10 percent of his 
class, and as an athlete, lettering in football and starring on the track team. 
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Even so, he said, “in a town like Monroe you sort of knew the places that 
you shouldn’t go. Nobody tells you, they didn’t put up any signs, but you 
sort of know that they don’t hardly want us in there, so don’t go in that 
restaurant.”5

His father died during Chappell’s senior year of high school, in the 
depths of the Great Depression, but his family was able to scrape together 
enough money to send him off to Kentucky State College for Negroes. 
Chappell excelled there, too, winning election as president of his sopho-
more and junior classes. He was drafted into the Army in his junior year 
and allowed to take the entrance exam for pilot training. Unlike the other 
men he met in pilot training, he did not “come out of the womb wanting to 
fl y,” Chappell said. “All I was trying to do was stay out of the Army. I didn’t 
want to sleep on the ground. I didn’t want to carry that big old rifl e.” He 
found himself at an immediate disadvantage. A fellow cadet told him, “ ‘I 
don’t know how you’re going to learn how to fl y. You can’t even drive a car.’ 
But I said, ‘That’s OK.’ ”

Chappell completed the fi rst two phases of fl ight training in Tuskegee 
but proved unable to master the techniques required of the third and last 
phase, advanced training. He had been learning to fl y twin-engine bombers 
for the newly created 477th Medium Bombardment Group, but “washed 
out” of the program just short of earning his commission as an offi cer. 
Chappell failed to become a pilot, but the all-black 477th needed naviga-
tors and bombardiers, too. So Chappell shipped off to Sheppard Field in 
Wichita Falls, Texas, to attend navigation school. “On the base there must 
have been close to 1,500 or two thousand cadets,” he said. “There were only 
thirty-fi ve of us that were black. We had our own barracks. We had our own 
classroom. And we fl ew together as a unit.” There were also other blacks, 
enlisted men, on the base. “We used to go over there to get haircuts, and 
we used to go over there sometimes to their little club they had,” Chap-
pell said. “And the people, the enlisted personnel on all these bases, they 
wanted us to succeed so bad you could just feel it.” Chappell passed the 
training program and won his offi cer’s commission. He assumed he would 
be transferred to the 477th at Godman Field, but instead Chappell’s class 
was sent to Midland Army Air Base in west Texas to achieve dual ratings as 
navigator-bombardiers.

Having already been commissioned as offi cers, Chappell and his crew 
arrived at their new base and went to the offi cers’ mess. The base com-
mander informed them that as offi cer-cadets they would be expected to 
eat in the cadets’ mess, but they convinced him that they were entitled to 
all the privileges enjoyed by other offi cers on the base, all of whom were 
white. “So that was fun,” Chappell deadpanned. His class initially used the 
Midland Army Air Base offi cers’ club without any trouble. After about two 
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weeks, however, they received notice that they were no longer welcome 
there because there had been undefi ned threats of violence from other 
base personnel. “They said, ‘Well, instead of being able to come to the offi -
cers’ club, we’ll give you room service.’ So we had room service. We could 
call up, and they would deliver us a hamburger and a milk shake and all 
that.” They enjoyed this particular luxury—which was of course unavail-
able to their white counterparts—but began writing letters of complaint to 
the NAACP, Eleanor Roosevelt, black newspapers, the War Department, 
and anyone they could think of who might be in a position to help them. 
“As a result,” Chappell said, “about two weeks later we received a notice 
that the offi cers’ club was now open for the colored offi cers to come back 
and use it, and the commanding offi cer on the base got shipped out to 
someplace else. So we went to the offi cers’ club for the rest of the time 
that we were there.”

Chappell’s group graduated from bombardier training and joined the 
477th at Godman just before the group transferred en masse to Freeman 
Field, Indiana. Immediately upon arrival, Col. Robert Selway, command-
ing offi cer at Freeman, designated that base’s offi cers’ club for “instructor 
personnel” and created another for “trainee personnel.” “We didn’t like 
this idea,” Chappell remembered. “Everybody who was ‘trainee personnel’ 
happened to be black, and everybody that was ‘instructor personnel’ hap-
pened to be white. Although we had some guys back from a tour of duty 
overseas, all these were classifi ed as ‘trainees.’ ”6

More than one hundred offi cers of the 477th refused to obey Selway’s 
designation order, which effectively segregated base facilities for offi cers in 
direct contradiction to War Department policy. Selway “started calling us in 
one at a time, and that thing was almost like a little court martial,” Chappell 
said. “There were a couple of white offi cers, a couple of black offi cers, and 
a stenographer. And they asked us had we seen the order, had we read it?” 
Chappell answered that he had read the order segregating “instructors” and 
“trainees” and that he understood it, but under no circumstances would he 
obey it. “So then they read us the Sixty-fourth Article of War, and they had 
one of the legal people there to explain it to us: that in time of war when you 
disobey a direct order by your commanding offi cer you can be shot and all 
that kind of thing. Then the commanding offi cer gave us a direct order to 
sign the order, and I said, ‘No, sir, I will not sign.’ And we were sent back 
to quarters under arrest.”

The 477th was transferred back to Godman Field, with 104 of its offi -
cers still under arrest. “And when we got back to Godman Field, they put 
barbed wire around the barracks and put up big poles with lights on top 
of them and all that shining down on us,” Chappell recollected. “And the 
strange thing was that people that were coming in and out of our barracks 



“THIS IS WHERE YOU RIDE” 9

were German prisoners of war. See, they all had free range to walk all over 
everywhere and everything. It seemed so strange to see something like this 
going on. But that’s what happened.”

The 477th was ostensibly training to fi ght in the Pacifi c. But the unit’s 
numerous base transfers, Selway’s poor leadership, and the low morale 
among the offi cers who were punished for their skin color left the group 
perpetually unprepared for combat, and Japan surrendered before the 
group could be deployed overseas. What Chappell remembered most about 
his World War II experience was not bitterness over the racial discrimina-
tion he and his fellow offi cers faced, however, but his group’s collective 
determination not to disappoint other black Americans who looked up to 
them. Chappell, who had a terrifi c sense of blues humor, found that as dis-
ruptive as the transfers may have been, the travel from base to base had its 
advantages, too. A soldier who knew how to make the most of a situation 
could even enjoy a ride on a Jim Crow train. “A buddy and I would always 
say when we got on the train, ‘You look for that lady with the shoe box!’ ” 
Black travelers could not count on being served in the trains’ dining cars, 
and many of them could not have afforded to eat there anyway, so they 
invariably traveled with home-cooked fare in a telltale carrying case.

Chappell and his friend scanned each train for the seat next to the good 
Christian sister they just knew would be onboard with a scrumptious meal: 
“We know she’s got some fried chicken, pound cake, and some deviled 
eggs!” Chappell recalled, “And she would say, ‘Oh, you poor little soldier 
boy. I know you’re hungry. You’ve had nothing to eat like this in a long 
time. Come over here and have a piece of my chicken.’ We got on the train, 
man, and we started looking around: ‘Look up there . . . Yeah, that’s a shoe 
box!’ ” The cumulative effect of those longing looks from the enlisted men 
who needed the offi cers of the 477th to excel, the civilian bar patrons who 
never let Chappell and his mates pay for a drink, the generosity of the trav-
eling church ladies “was really uplifting. It really helped a lot. That’s the 
kind of thing we ran into all the time.”

Milton Henry grew up with his ten brothers and sisters as a  third-generation 
Philadelphian in a household where “we were poor, but we didn’t know we 
were poor. We used to always clean our plates because [our parents told 
us] there were poor people who didn’t have something to eat. And yet by 
any standards, we were just absolutely poor.” That did not stop the family 
from taking advantage of the city’s rich cultural offerings and excellent, 
desegregated public schools. Walter L. Henry Sr., a postal worker, and Vera 
Robinson Henry, a housewife, centered the family’s life in the all-black 
Union Baptist Church, the sort of place where the congregation included 
“people who worked in all kinds of jobs and positions, and then you also 
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had people like Marian Anderson and others who were big-time folks on 
the world scene.” Walter Henry taught his sons, “Be patriotic. You cannot 
disgrace your race, you cannot disgrace your family, you cannot disgrace 
your nation.”7

“Philadelphia,” Henry said, “was just a great place for me to grow up. 
I guess the Quaker infl uence was there in Philly, and even though you could 
see evidence of discrimination if you really looked for it, we didn’t look for 
it because nobody was all that offensive with this racism thing.” Despite 
the pacifi sm that pervaded his hometown, when faced with the prospect of 
Hitler’s Final Solution, Henry joined the war effort. “Killing folks because 
of their nationality [that is, ethnicity] was so foreign to everything that we 
had learned in church and certainly to the Quaker position,” he said.

With his father’s encouragement, Henry interrupted his studies at Lin-
coln University to sign up for the Army Air Corps in April 1941. He was 
ambivalent from the start. “Frankly,” he remembered, “the one reason that 
I suppose that I went into the Air Corps was because the idea of killing 
somebody just did not suit me one bit.” Flying airplanes, “You didn’t have 
to put a bayonet into anybody. And it was such a nice, clean thought: that 
you could fi ght [for your ideals], but at the same time you didn’t have to be 
involved in these brawls with people with bayonets and rifl es and all that 
sort of thing.”

Henry initially assumed that everyone in the American military had 
joined with the common purpose of defeating Adolf Hitler’s brand of rac-
ism. He was disabused of that notion as soon as he got to Alabama. “I can 
only say that I was really shocked when I went south and met those people 
in Alabama. For the fi rst time in my life, I met people who were not civil to 
me, and that was an extraordinary shock to me, really. That was so extraor-
dinary, to fi nd that racism was so predominantly important to the brass 
that ran the Air Corps and the Army.”

Henry’s offi cial introduction to Jim Crow took place in Montgomery, 
Alabama, 40 miles west of Tuskegee, where he was assigned to a unit at 
Maxwell Field before beginning fl ight training. He enjoyed Montgomery. 
Alabama’s capital city was home to Alabama State College for Negroes, 
and the campus attracted bright students and professors from all over 
the South and parts of the north. Henry liked getting to know them. 
With a friend he attended a social function in downtown Montgomery 
one day in 1942, then boarded a municipal bus headed back to Maxwell 
Field. “We didn’t notice, but at the top of the bus there’s a little bead [on 
a wire] that they were moving back and forth, and that was to signify that 
whites would sit in front of that and blacks would sit behind.” They sat 
down near the front. “We rode down to the center of Maxwell Field, and 
at that point we began to see a whole lot of whites getting on the bus,” 
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Henry said. “The bus driver yells out, ‘You niggers get in the back of the 
bus!’ I’m an offi cer and a gentleman, and I don’t think he knew anything 
about me. So for him to be referring to me as a nigger, I didn’t think he 
was talking to me.”

The bus driver again told the pair to move to the back of the bus. Henry’s 
friend complied, leaving him alone in the front. “And then the bus got 
strangely quiet,” he recalled. “I sat there for a second, and then I got up and 
I walked to the front of the bus, and I told him, ‘Give me my nickel back.’ 
I’m not accustomed to using profanity at that point, because old Philadel-
phians don’t curse. It’s just not appropriate. But I said to him, ‘I ought to 
punch you in your damned mouth.’ ”

The driver reached under his seat for a gun. “I grabbed his wrist and 
held on to him. In the meantime, there are four British cadets on the 
bus, because at Maxwell Field the Royal Air Force was training there 
at the same time, and they came to my aid. They said, ‘He’s done noth-
ing.’ ” Henry speculated that the British offi cers’ strange accents threw 
the bus driver off; in any case, he was allowed to exit the bus without 
further incident. Military policemen arrived almost immediately and 
whisked him off to the base commander’s offi ce.

“You boys don’t know how to act in the South,” the commander told 
him. “I’m gonna help you out.” The commander, Henry recalled, “got 
the most ignorant-looking nincompoop you ever saw in your life, and 
he said to him, ‘I want you to instruct him on how to act in the South.’ 
And I’m telling you, I was just so amazed.” Henry was used to studying; 
he had excelled as a student at Lincoln, where he constantly engaged in 
informal debates with fellow students like Kwame Nkrumah, the future 
president of Ghana (“I liked Nkrumah because he was such an intense 
fellow,” Henry said), but this new course was something else entirely.

Henry’s instructor said, “ ‘Whenever a white man looks at you, you don’t 
look him in the eye. You drop your eye. And don’t ever look at a white 
woman.’ He went through a whole litany of junk that I was supposed to do. 
He was going to remake me into something I wasn’t.” Henry was baffl ed, 
he later said. “I don’t want to walk around there with a whole litany of all 
the things that I’m not supposed to do. Heck, what about the white man. 
What’s he supposed to not do to me?”

Northerners like Henry came to Alabama in such numbers during the 
war that the military developed a series of what were called “common sense” 
lectures designed to help the men acclimate to Jim Crow. But Henry refused 
to go along. “The South was a part of this nation, and I couldn’t see where 
I had to go traipsing around on eggshells,” he said. “I just couldn’t feel that 
way. And I guess I just never have been able to understand: Why have I got 
to turn myself inside out to make somebody else feel better? No.”8
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John Roach, Horace Bohannon, Roy Chappell, and Milton Henry were 
not among the more than 450 Tuskegee-trained pilots who served the 
U.S. in overseas combat during World War II. But they and their fellow 
Tuskegee Airmen fought battles that were just as signifi cant in the larger 
war to give American ideals meaning. Twelve years after Milton Henry was 
ejected from a Montgomery bus, the Rev. Martin Luther King Jr. ascended 
a Montgomery pulpit for the fi rst time as a public fi gure. King, the newly 
chosen spokesman for the Montgomery Improvement Association, spoke 
on December 5, 1955, of his belief that “democracy transformed from thin 
paper to thick action is the greatest form of government on earth.” King 
may not have known of Milton Henry then, but he had Henry’s brand of 
“thick action” in mind that night, as he helped launch the Montgomery 
Bus Boycott.9

Nearly one thousand young men with similar backgrounds and similar 
expectations graduated from the Tuskegee Army Flying School between 
1941 and 1945. Roughly 14,000 additional men and women worked along-
side the pilots in some capacity—as civilian or military fl ight instructors, 
as secretaries, parachute-packers, medical doctors and nurses, mechanics, 
and in dozens of other jobs. Their personal narratives—the stories that 
describe what it was like to both propel and ride a wave of social change—
survive in the archives of the Tuskegee Airmen Oral History Project, an 
effort on the part of the U.S. National Park Service to record the memories 
of the men and women who fought Adolf Hitler and Jim Crow simulta-
neously. Black pilots and black military and civilian support personnel in 
the Army Air Corps/Air Forces, those who served overseas and those who 
remained stateside, all shared the experience of fi ghting what the editors of 
the Pittsburgh Courier fi rst called a “Double Victory” campaign: war against 
fascism abroad and racial discrimination at home.10
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The Use of Negro 
Manpower in War1 Wilson Vashon Eagleson II was “airplane-nuts” as a child. 

“I guess I have been interested in aviation all my life,” he said. “The fi rst 
time I got to ride an aircraft I was ten or eleven years old. I think [my 
family] gave me $5 to go and take an airplane ride from one of the old 
barnstormers back at the country fair years and years ago. That must have 
been back about 1930 or ’31. It was a biplane with an open cockpit, and for 
$5 you’d get a couple of circles of the fi eld and land. I got to ride in one of 
those, and that was the end of it; that’s all I wanted to do the rest of my 
life.” He collected airplane trading cards obsessively, covering one wall of 
his bedroom with them. “Anything I could get my hands on concerning 
airplanes, I read about it.” Vash Eagleson dreamed of becoming a pilot 
himself, but as he grew older he began to understand that practical barri-
ers would probably prevent him from realizing the ambition. “I guess you 
dream about something like that even though it seemed to be beyond [the 
realm of possibility],” he said. For one thing, “I knew that I would never be 
able to afford to learn to fl y.” It occurred to him only later that his skin color 
was the greatest barrier of all.1

That obstacle fell in World War II, but only as the result of a concerted 
effort on the part of African Americans. Even before the United States 
joined the confl ict, they had made full inclusion in the Army Air Corps 
(AAC) and the fi eld of aviation generally a paramount goal. It would be dif-
fi cult to exaggerate the wonder and romance Americans of the late 1930s 
and early 1940s associated with fl ying, or the importance many blacks 
placed upon creating opportunities for themselves in the career fi eld of 
aviation. Pilot Harvey Alexander explained what made fl ight so attractive 
for African Americans: “I was aware of discrimination and segregation on 
the ground, how things were there. But up in the air, I was free as a bird 
because I was in control. I decided what to do and when to do it and how to 
do it. Each time I landed, that good feeling left me because I was back on 
the ground and back into the same old–same old. But I loved to take that 
plane off and get in the air. It was a different feeling altogether.”2

Pilots dominated the popular culture of the late Depression era; they 
were the heroes of boys’ books, comic strips, and moving pictures even as 
Americans thrilled to the real-life exploits of Charles Lindbergh and other 
record-setting aviators. Flying an airplane required technical skills, quick 
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decision-making abilities, and a daring personality. The script of a Frank 
Capra–produced wartime propaganda fi lm captured perfectly Americans’ 
understanding of what it took to be a military pilot. The fi lm’s narrator, a 
Hollywood actor named Ronald Reagan, intoned dramatically, “[A] fi ghter 
pilot is a combination of a mathematician and an athlete, a scientist and a 
sharpshooter. He’s got to know what goes on inside his plane. The heart 
of his fi ghter is steel and copper; its bloodstream is gas and oil. But its 
brain is the man who fl ies it.” In their leather fl ight jackets, sunglasses, and 
scarves, airmen were the masculine ideal of the day. But the leaders of the 
elite AAC, which had been throughout its history to that point a fi ghting 
force of white men only, expected it to remain that way. This was the case 
as late as 1940, when Gen. Henry H. (“Hap”) Arnold, chief of the AAC, 
wrote to his general staff, “Negro pilots cannot be used in our present Air 
Force since this would result in having Negro offi cers serving over white 
enlisted men. This would create an impossible social problem.” Arnold 
proved mistaken in that belief, because black Americans were able to make 
a political issue of that “social problem.”3

Wars inevitably produce unintended consequences for the societies that 
fi ght them. The greater the mobilization for war, the greater the scope and 
speed of the social changes it catalyzes. World War II was total war, and 
after December 7, 1941, the United States mobilized totally to prosecute 
it. The underpinnings of its national economy, social relations among its 
people, expectations about what kinds of people could perform what kinds 
of jobs: all shifted in some way to enhance the nation’s ability to make war. 
All changed as a result of the national emergency, but Americans consid-
ered some changes the results of special cases that would revert to prewar 
norms when the emergency ended. American women, for instance, revo-
lutionized their place in the workforce in the course of the war, but when 
their husbands and brothers came home from overseas they were unable to 
sustain many of the gains they had made. In contrast, no area of American 
social life underwent greater permanent change as a result of the war than 
that of race relations, because African Americans were able to force action 
on the debate over what one military policy statement called “The Use of 
Negro Manpower in War.”

Blacks gained more in relative economic strength and in the civic sphere 
than any other group of Americans during the course of the war, and social 
trends that the wartime mobilization unleashed eventually broke down 
barriers of racial segregation and discrimination in American life. When 
the United States entered World War II, three-quarters of American blacks 
lived in the states of the former Confederacy, where fewer than one in 
twenty eligible black citizens were even allowed to register to vote and Jim 
Crow segregation was enforced by law. Most southern blacks lived rural 
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lives, working with family members in sharecropping or tenant farming 
arrangements, which placed them in exceptionally vulnerable economic 
positions even before the Great Depression struck. They were especially 
hard-hit during that crisis; nearly 90 percent of all African Americans lived 
at or below the federal poverty line in 1940, a time when roughly three-
quarters of black adults had not fi nished high school. Systematically denied 
a quality education, they could expect to live shorter and less healthy lives 
than whites, working in more dangerous and less rewarding jobs. The aver-
age African American worker earned thirty-nine cents in 1940 for every 
dollar earned by the average white.4

Racial segregation may have been enforced by law only in the Southern 
and border states, but it had a national presence. Jim Crow, moreover, was 
more than just a social system that divided public spaces between mem-
bers of the black and white races. It was exactly what its white defend-
ers called it: a “way of life” that included elements of culture, expectations 
of behavior, and a political economy that mocked the ideals of a demo-
cratic republic wherever Jim Crow ruled. Civil rights activists and organi-
zations had begun to confront the system long before the United States 
entered the war, but they had been unable to leverage their protests into 
an effective challenge. It appeared unlikely at the time that the one insti-
tution the activists would have to move, the federal government, would 
side with blacks fi ghting for change. Unlike his wife, President Franklin D. 
Roosevelt seldom if ever demonstrated a personal concern for the plight of 
African Americans before 1940. His 1932 election victory and subsequent 
New Deal coalition relied heavily enough on the votes of Southern white 
segregationists that David Lilienthal, the administrator of the Tennessee 
Valley Authority, one of Roosevelt’s pet projects, considered the president 
“a prisoner of the Southern wing of the Democratic party.”5

The national emergency provided the opportunity the civil rights activ-
ists needed to organize forces for change and to force Roosevelt to take 
their side. For good reason, historians now place the domestic wartime 
experience within the context of the “long civil rights movement.” They 
see the wartime mobilization as having transformed the racial balance of 
the political economy not just in the South, but across the United States. 
According to this school of thought, wartime demographic, economic, and 
political changes set in motion forces that would eventually doom Jim Crow 
but would also ignite a backlash against civil rights reforms.6

The transformation began as the U.S. economy ramped up for the war 
effort, even before the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor. Wartime indus-
trial production pulled southern blacks into the cities of the Midwest, 
Northeast, and West Coast, and offered new job opportunities. The black 
populations of Chicago and the self-proclaimed “Arsenal of Democracy,” 
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Detroit, more than doubled between 1940 and 1950, a decade in which 
the black population of Los Angeles more than tripled and San Diego’s 
black population grew fourfold. African Americans found residential seg-
regation and hiring discrimination in these cities, to be sure, but Jim 
Crow segregation was less entrenched outside of the South, and at least 
blacks could vote outside of Dixie. To a lesser but not insignifi cant extent 
they poured into the urban areas of the Sunbelt South, too, changing 
those cities forever.7

Blacks made up approximately 3 percent of the workforce of national 
defense industries in 1942, but they increased their share to roughly 
8  percent of the workforce by 1945, a time when African Americans com-
prised roughly one-tenth of the nation’s total population. The number of 
black federal employees, a raw measure of African Americans’ strength in 
the national political economy, more than tripled during the war years to 
roughly 200,000. Even more tellingly, the membership of the National 
Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP), the nation’s 
pre-eminent black advocacy organization, grew ninefold during the war 
years. The organization added 170 new local branches (including one in 
Tuskegee) in the fi nal year of the war alone.8

Racial discrimination in wartime industries certainly existed outside the 
South, but it was haphazard. In March 1941, when North American Aviation 
built a new plant to manufacture airplanes under a defense contract in Kan-
sas City, the company’s president declared that he would hire no Negroes, 
“regardless of their training as aircraft workers.” But three months later the 
brothers of Local 683 of the United Auto Workers, employees of the Vultee 
Aircraft Co. in southern California, resolved to work to break down “the 
anti-labor, racial discrimination policy in the aircraft and national defense 
industries[,] recognizing that our national defense must rest on the main-
tenance of our democratic principles.”9

As Roosevelt admitted in his 1942 Columbus Day fi reside chat, “In 
some communities employers dislike to employ women. In others they 
are reluctant to hire Negroes.” But he also concluded, “We can no longer 
afford to indulge such prejudices or practices.” Black Americans forced the 
issue. The Chicago Defender and Pittsburgh Courier, arguably the most infl u-
ential black newspapers of the day, had demanded Roosevelt take action 
on job discrimination as early as 1940, and the NAACP had been calling 
for desegregation of the armed forces since at least 1937. When A. Philip 
Randolph, leader of the Brotherhood of Sleeping Car Porters, the most 
powerful black labor union in the country, led a movement that threatened 
to stage a massive march on Washington to protest racial discrimination 
in the military and defense industries to take place in July 1941, the White 
House took notice.
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Such agitation on the part of progressive labor union locals, black news-
papers, and civil rights organizations forced the federal government to 
take the side of desegregation even before the United States entered the 
worldwide confl ict. In June 1941 the Council for Democracy, an advocacy 
group headed by the infl uential radio broadcaster Raymond Gram Swing, a 
white liberal, excoriated Roosevelt and his growing war machine for treat-
ing black Americans as second-class citizens. The council warned that “a 
dangerous and stupid policy which compels one-tenth of our population to 
fi ght simply for a chance to participate” in the effort to make the world safe 
for democracy would make Negroes “embittered and disillusioned,” creat-
ing “fertile ground for subversive propaganda, agitation and unrest.” Advo-
cacy groups like the Council for Democracy and the NAACP voiced their 
criticism of federal policies so publicly that Roosevelt was forced eventually 
to admit they were right and join them. The president was unable to run 
the risk that black Americans would protest the discrimination they faced 
in large numbers and thereby jeopardize the all-out war effort.10

Randolph addressed his “fellow Negro Americans” that spring to assure 
them that “You possess power, great power. Our problem is to harness and 
hitch it up for action on the broadest, daring and most gigantic scale.” He 
laid out a program of action that would allow the black minority to translate 
what power it had into real, substantive, long-lasting change during the 
emergency of wartime. “In this period of power politics,” he wrote, “noth-
ing counts but pressure, more pressure and still more pressure.” “March-
on-Washington committees are being set up throughout the country,” 
Randolph warned Secretary of War Henry L. Stimson a month before the 
march was to take place. Randolph sarcastically invited Stimson to address 
the “great throng of Negroes from all parts of the country” from the steps 
of the Lincoln Memorial.11

The White House was unwilling to risk the damage such a demonstra-
tion could infl ict on the national image, and the administration moved 
quickly to compromise with Randolph. Roosevelt refused the demand 
to desegregate the armed forces, but he did issue Executive Order 8802, 
which banned racially discriminatory hiring practices in defense industries 
and created the Fair Employment Practices Commission (FEPC) to investi-
gate claims of discrimination. Executive Order 8802 perfectly encapsulated 
Roosevelt’s modus operandi when dealing with civil rights issues: he acted 
under pressure to avert a developing catastrophe and did so in a way that 
minimized actual change. In a perfect world the FEPC would have been 
given suffi cient staff and budget to enforce the order more vigorously than 
it did, but its very existence broke new ground. The agency used the power 
of publicity to force progress in war production industries; aircraft manu-
facturers, for example, hired fi ve thousand black Americans between 1940 
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and 1942 alone. Just as signifi cantly, in return for calling off the march, 
Randolph had forced Roosevelt to acknowledge the problem of racial dis-
crimination in the workforce and to take meaningful action against it, 
thereby providing a mobilization model that civil rights activists would fol-
low to great results over the coming decades. For all of these reasons, the 
year 1941 marks as good a starting point for the history of the modern civil 
rights movement as any.12

World War II was the watershed event for African Americans, as for all 
Americans, in the twentieth century. The Tuskegee Airmen, the country’s 
fi rst African American military pilots, and the men and women who kept 
them fl ying, were far from the only blacks to serve in the Jim Crow-era 
armed forces. They are the exclusive focus of this book because their col-
lective experience provides a case study for the scope and pace of the social 
changes that black Americans both shaped and responded to during the 
war years. During the war blacks forced their way into an institution whose 
leaders, the evidence shows, if left to their own devices would never have 
accepted African Americans as equals.13

As late as 1940 the U.S. Army Air Corps, which would be renamed 
the U.S. Army Air Forces the following year and the newly independent 
military branch U.S. Air Force just after the end of the war, had no plans 
to include black Americans in any of its activities outside of the most 
menial labor that was necessary to keep its bases functioning. An August 
1940 headline in the Chicago Defender accurately described War Depart-
ment policy at the time when it chided, “Only White Flyers Will Be Shot 
Down in Next War.” The opportunities the Army Air Corps afforded black 
Americans before the war were not only neither separate from nor equal 
to those provided to whites, they were practically nonexistent; blacks 
comprised less than 2 percent of the AAC’s personnel. Every branch of 
the armed services practiced racial segregation, as did nearly every other 
major institution in American life at the beginning of the war. But of all 
the branches of the armed services, with the possible exception of the 
Marine Corps, the prewar AAC went furthest in its denial of opportuni-
ties to blacks.14

The experience of the Tuskegee Airmen also provides a classic exam-
ple of how black Americans were able to leverage the limited power they 
held in the national political economy to force change during the middle 
decades of the twentieth century. Black newspapers, civil rights organiza-
tions, and historically black colleges compelled the AAC to open its training 
programs to black Americans as the war loomed. The program was never 
universally popular among blacks, some of whom grudgingly accepted the 
new Tuskegee program as a half-a-loaf measure but continued to urge the 
desegregation of existing training programs, and some of whom refused to 
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compromise with Jim Crow for any reason. In response to the War Depart-
ment’s original announcement of the Tuskegee program’s creation, the 
Pittsburgh Courier editorialized, “When the cry is for national unity, the 
increase of segregation based on fallacious theories of race is a mighty poor 
way to bring it about. Segregation benefi ts neither the white lads, the col-
ored[,] nor the country.”15

However, after the door to service in the AAC had been opened a crack, 
the Tuskegee Airmen’s performance combined with wartime exigencies 
to open that door wider and make further opportunities available. By the 
end of the war, the Tuskegee Airmen had helped prove that racial segrega-
tion of fi ghting forces was so ineffi cient as to be counterproductive to the 
nation’s defense. Shortly after the war ended, the U.S. Air Force became 
one of the very fi rst national institutions to overtly renounce the practice 
of racial segregation. Remarkably, these radical changes took place in the 
span of fewer than ten years. The collective experience of the Tuskegee Air-
men lay at the heart of them.

The U.S. Army Air Corps was born in the wake of World War I. The 
Army’s Aviation Section, a division of the Signal Corps, did not exactly dis-
tinguish itself during the Great War, but air power did win recognition as 
an important factor in warfare, and military planners came to understand 
that military aviation could provide a decisive advantage in future combat. 
Congress authorized the creation of the AAC in 1926, “strengthening the 
conception of military aviation as an offensive, striking arm rather than an 
auxiliary service” of the infantry.16

In fact, the expansion of an all-white AAC had the practical effect of 
decreasing opportunities for black Americans in the Army as well. The 
1926 legislation authorized an increase in the size of the AAC but not an 
expansion in the overall size of the armed forces. The War Department 
managed to enlarge the fl ying corps by shrinking the Army’s 10th Cavalry 
and 25th Infantry, all-black units that had served capably in World War I. 
Throughout the 1930s the War Department held steadfast to the notion 
that its forces had to be segregated by race in order to maintain morale, pro-
hibited blacks from enlisting in the AAC, and transformed all-black cavalry 
and infantry units into little more than “housekeeping detachments.”17

The fi ndings of a series of studies on black soldiers’ performance in the 
First World War allowed the War Department to maintain racial segrega-
tion in the ranks of the armed forces as a military necessity and to avoid 
providing separate-but-equal opportunities for black Americans. In 1925 
the Army War College, a combination think tank and leadership develop-
ment school, produced “The Use of Negro Manpower in War,” the most 
infl uential of these studies and a classic example of the pseudoscience 
that both characterized and solidifi ed American whites’ perceptions of 
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blacks in the interwar years. Narrowly focused on the performance of 
the black offi cers and soldiers of the 92nd Infantry Division in the 1918 
Meuse-Argonne offensive, it provided ample justifi cation for the War 
Department to apply racist policies much more broadly throughout the 
armed services.18

“Under the terms of the Constitution the negro [sic, throughout] has the 
rights of citizenship,” the study began, somewhat promisingly. “It is evident 
that he must bear his share of the burden of war.” However, the authors of 
the study—a committee including a Col. Bishop, a Maj. Drain, and a Maj. 
Somervel of the Army War College staff—then set out to determine how 
blacks, which they called “a sub-species of the human family,” might best 
provide their proportionate share of the nation’s defense within the limits 
of their perceived capabilities. The committee considered “research by pre-
vious classes [of the War College], by the Faculty, [and] on War Department 
experiences during the [First] World War,” but evidently did not consult 
academic research on the topic, and clearly did not confer with African 
Americans. The prominent University of Chicago biologist Julian Lewis 
would later charge that such “research” (if indeed it could be called that) did 
little more than “use meaningless scientifi c verbiage to rationalize a biased 
attitude based on emotional convictions.”19

“The negro is physically qualifi ed for combat duty,” the committee wrote. 
But, it reported dejectedly,

The negro is profoundly superstitious.

He is by nature sub-servient [sic] and naturally believes himself to be 
inferior to the white.

He is jolly, trustable [sic], lively and docile by nature, but through real or 
supposed harsh or unjust treatment may become sullen and stubborn.

He is very susceptible to the infl uence of crowd psychology. . . .

The psychology of the negro is such that we may not expect to draw lead-
ership material from his race. The negro has not a lot of confi dence in 
leaders of his own race and it would be an impossibility to place leaders 
of his race over whites. . . .

He has not the physical courage of the white. He simply cannot control 
himself in fear of some danger in the degree that the white can. . . .

The negro is unmoral [sic]. He simply does not see that some things are 
wrong. . . .

The negroes’ growing sense of importance will make them more and 
more of a problem, and racial troubles may be expected to increase.
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It is unclear what sources the authors drew on in arriving at these conclu-
sions, but they certainly matched the beliefs most whites held toward black 
Americans at the time.20

Maj. Gen. H. E. Ely, commandant of the War College, urged the War 
Department’s chief of staff to adopt the conclusions of the study as policy. 
“The negro issue should be met squarely,” he argued. Ely reminded read-
ers of the study, who would have included members of the army’s general 
staff and high-ranking civilian and military employees of the department, 
“The War Department had no pre-determined and sound plan for the use 
of negro troops in the beginning of the World War. It had no adequate 
defense against political and racial pressure and was forced to organize 
negro combat divisions and commission unqualifi ed negro offi cers.” Ely 
referred here to a concerted effort by black intellectuals and civil rights 
leaders, most notably W.E.B. DuBois’s editorials in The Crisis, the NAACP’s 
journal of news and opinion, to force the War Department to allow Afri-
can Americans to serve their country in meaningful ways during the Great 
War.21

DuBois had argued that if given the opportunity, black Americans would 
serve their country in wartime as patriotically and as capably as all other 
Americans and provide an objective demonstration of black competence. 
In doing so, he hoped, blacks would make it more diffi cult for whites to 
deny them the rights they had been guaranteed by Reconstruction-era 
amendments to the Constitution. DuBois envisioned military service as 
means to an end. He and other leaders of the NAACP applied political 
pressure on the Woodrow Wilson administration to open opportunities in 
the armed forces to African Americans so that they might prove their love 
of country, their technical skills, and their courage. At the same time, as 
in “Close Ranks,” a 1918 editorial, DuBois advised African Americans to 
“forget our special grievances and close our ranks shoulder to shoulder 
with our own white fellow citizens and the allied nations that are fi ghting 
for democracy.” (DuBois would come to regret this counsel.) At war’s end 
he advised blacks to resume their striving for full civil rights and wrote in 
another Crisis editorial, “We return. We return from fi ghting. We return 
fi ghting. Make way for Democracy! We saved it in France, and by the Great 
Jehovah, we will save it in the United States of America, or know the reason 
why.”22

DuBois’s advocacy won for black Americans what the great intellectual’s 
biographer called “the right . . . to die discriminated against in the war for 
world democracy,” but it did little to alter the image of American blacks in 
the white mind. More than 350,000 African Americans served in World 
War I, but fewer than seven hundred of them as offi cers. Roughly 90 per-
cent of black personnel received no more than minimal training and served 
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in unskilled or semiskilled specializations such as stevedores and Mess-
men in the U.S. Navy and in service, labor, and engineering battalions in 
the Army. By many, but by no means all, accounts African American fi ght-
ing troops performed well in combat. The all-black 92nd Infantry Division 
of the Army saw action in France as a part of the American Expedition-
ary Force, and four additional all-black infantry regiments fought under 
French command. The 369th Regiment, known as “the Harlem Hellfi ght-
ers,” spent 191 days under fi re on the front lines of the war—more than 
any other American regiment—and came home with 171 Croix du Guerre, 
the French military’s highest honor. But according to Gen. Ely of the War 
College, “The results are well known. . . . The negro, particularly the offi -
cer, failed in the World War.” According to the authors of the “The Use of 
Negro Manpower in War,” black troops had proven in the course of the war 
that their unique biological destiny suited them for service in labor battal-
ions but not combat units. Under no circumstances, they recommended, 
should the War Department throw good money after bad in an effort to 
mold them into capable offi cers.23

Policy makers in the War Department proved only too happy to follow 
these recommendations throughout the 1930s. Though the study made no 
recommendations specifi c to the AAC, it was easy to apply its suggestions 
to the area of military aviation in general. If Negroes were, as the study con-
cluded, “mentally inferior” to whites, “rank cowards” who were afraid of 
the dark, then they surely could not be trusted with machines as expensive 
and complex such as aircraft—not as pilots, not even as mechanics. Fur-
thermore, if offi cer training for blacks was a waste of taxpayer dollars, then 
military aviation training for blacks was doubly wasteful. Graduates of the 
fl ight training program automatically became offi cers in the AAC.24

With an eye toward the next war, in the mid-1930s generals in the AAC 
began to lobby for an expansion of the service. Training blacks was, to say 
the very least, not a priority for them. Events in Europe in the latter half 
of the decade moved expansion plans for the AAC from the realm of the 
hypothetical to the real. As a January 1940 War Plans Division memoran-
dum put it, “From the point of view of the War Department, the aviation 
problem passed from the planning stage to the execution phase over a year 
ago.” These plans made no allowances for training anyone from the black 
tenth of the nation’s total population.25

By then the war was well under way in Europe, and it seemed increas-
ingly likely that the United States would be drawn into the multi-sided con-
fl ict one way or another. In 1939 fascist armies defeated Republican forces 
in the Spanish Civil War (aided greatly by German air support), Germany 
annexed parts of Czechoslovakia, and Adolf Hitler unleashed the blitzkrieg 
on Poland, inciting World War II. Great Britain and France declared 
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war on Germany, but the United States remained offi cially neutral. Presi-
dent Roosevelt walked a narrow line: public opinion would not allow an 
all-out declaration of war absent a direct attack on American interests, but 
Roosevelt recognized American participation in the confl ict as unavoidable 
and encouraged the nation’s military forces to prepare accordingly. African 
Americans followed the developments closely, knowing full well what the 
possibility of a victory for the forces of fascist racism held in store for people 
of color around the world. According to some, they had already experienced 
it fi rsthand: “What else are jim-crow [sic] laws but Fascist laws?” asked Cou-
rier columnist J. A. Rogers.26

Early in 1939 Roosevelt approved a plan to double the size and strength 
of the AAC by the summer of 1941. Congress appropriated more than $300 
million to the Air Corps Expansion Program in June 1939, and the AAC 
embarked on a mission to modernize its training facilities, train a new gen-
eration of military pilots, and procure new airplanes. As diffi cult as it would 
be for the AAC to purchase more than three thousand new airplanes and 
the equipment it would take to keep them fl ying (to be added to the 2,468 
airplanes then available), the War Plans Division of the War Department 
foresaw that manpower, not machinery, would prove the deciding factor in 
the AAC’s rapid modernization. In a 1940 update on the expansion pro-
gram Brig. Gen. George V. Strong of the War Plans Division wrote, “In this 
country of vast production capacity for any mechanical product, the bottle-
neck for the rapid expansion of aviation forces will be the training of pilots 
and skilled aviation mechanics . . . rather than the procurement of aircraft.” 
Strong predicted that it would take much longer to create the necessary net-
work of training bases for the expanded military aviation program, and he 
called for a civil aviation training program “a hundred times greater than 
that which has existed in the past” to create a pool of pilots whose skills 
could be developed for military aviation when necessary.27

While Japan approached achieving total control of mainland China, the 
Republic of France fell to Nazi Germany, and Great Britain barely main-
tained the last sovereign democracy on the European continent—thanks 
almost entirely to the Royal Air Force’s ability to defend Britain’s skies 
against the German Luftwaffe. Americans watched and waited. The Air 
Corps Expansion Program, as dramatic as it was, was intended to bring 
forces only up to the point where they could successfully defend the bor-
ders of the United States, its territorial possessions, and American inter-
ests in the Western Hemisphere against the growing threat.28

Almost as soon as Roosevelt announced his intention to expand civil-
ian pilot training in late 1938, blacks began deluging him with requests to 
allow them to enroll. The presidents of the historically black Wilberforce 
University, Hampton Institute, and Tuskegee Institute offered their cam-
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puses as training sites. The Chicago Defender initiated an editorial campaign 
to open training to blacks, and the paper’s publisher, Enoch P. Waters, 
helped bankroll a publicity-generating barnstorming trip designed to show 
the world that blacks could fl y if given the chance.29

Chauncey Spencer and Dale White, Chicago-based stunt-show pilots, 
fl ew a well-used Lincoln-Paige monoplane from the Second City to Wash-
ington, D.C., New York, and back to Chicago to create publicity for the 
cause of black aviation. While in Washington, they met with the lone black 
lobbyist on Capitol Hill, Edgar G. Brown, who had been actively lobbying 
Congress to open the proposed Civilian Pilot Training (CPT) program to 
African American trainees. According to Spencer, Rep. Everett Dirksen, 
an Illinois Republican, showed great interest in helping blacks enter CPT, 
though Spencer later suspected Dirksen only wanted to get his photograph 
taken with the black pilots for his upcoming re-election campaign. (In fact, 
Dirksen did successfully add an amendment to the CPT’s enabling leg-
islation barring racial discrimination in the program.) Again according 
to Spencer—the story has not been corroborated—he, White, and Brown 
were touring the Capitol one morning when a man stopped Brown and 
said, “Hello, Edgar. How are you?” Brown introduced the man, Sen. Harry 
Truman (D-Mo.), to the two pilots, who must have cut quite a fi gure in their 
pilots’ garb, and explained the purpose of their visit. According to Spencer, 
Truman was impressed by the pair and agreed to go out to the airfi eld to 
see their plane. “You fl ew this thing from Chicago?” he said of the jalopy. 
“If you’ve got guts enough to do that, I’ve got guts enough to help you 
through.”30

In the summer of 1939 Congress passed the Civilian Pilot Training Act 
authorizing the creation of hundreds of fl ight training facilities at colleges 
and vocational schools throughout the country and appropriated $4 mil-
lion for its operation. The effectiveness of the lobbying campaign resulted 
in allowances for the training of black pilots on a large scale for the fi rst 
time. The effort to make civilian pilot training available to blacks therefore 
became a critical fi rst step in the process of opening the AAC to African 
Americans. By the end of 1939, nearly ten thousand students were enrolled 
in CPT programs at 437 colleges and seventy vocational education institu-
tions throughout the country. A handful of black students enrolled in CPT 
programs at predominantly white colleges in the Northeast and Midwest, 
and dozens more enrolled in CPT at historically black Hampton Institute 
in Virginia, Howard University in Washington, D.C., North Carolina A&T, 
Delaware State College for Colored Students, Tuskegee Institute, and West 
Virginia State College.31

Black Americans were as enamored of fl ight as anyone else in the coun-
try, but to this point they had been systematically prevented from pursuing 
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aviation careers, military or otherwise. A 1940 Bureau of the Census pub-
lication listed exactly 124 licensed Negro pilots in the entire United States 
(out of a total population of more than 12 million African Americans), only 
seven of whom held commercial pilot ratings. Of course, there was not a 
single pilot of color in the AAC. There was a general consensus among 
military thinkers throughout the world, not just in the United States, that 
the balance of power in the worldwide confl ict would be determined in 
the air, which made the stakes for opening opportunities in the service 
even higher. Blacks knew that racial discrimination in the world of civil 
and military aviation was unlikely to lessen on its own, so they had to force 
their way in via the political process. This generation of African Americans 
would have to break down the doors of discrimination to prove themselves 
as military pilots, the cream of the aviation crop. They would need to estab-
lish their patriotism beyond all possible question, demonstrate technical 
competence, and create opportunities for people of color in the fi eld of 
aviation.32

Black newspapers embarked on a journalistic crusade to open the skies 
to African Americans, now focusing their efforts on the AAC. David Ward 
Howe, a columnist for the Chicago Defender, advised his readers in 1940, 
“We must immediately direct our attention to the fi eld of aviation and make 
every effort to become integrated into all phases of this increasingly impor-
tant industry.” When Britain’s Royal Air Force and the Canadian Air Force 
announced plans to accept cadets of African ancestry, Howe demanded 
that the U.S. Army Air Corps do the same. Robert L. Vann, publisher of 
the Pittsburgh Courier, led the effort on grounds that “taxation without rep-
resentation is tyranny”: if African Americans were to be taxed at the same 
rate as their fellow citizens, the federal government should afford them the 
same opportunities to serve their country and the same job prospects in 
defense industries. As the Roosevelt administration asked for larger and 
larger appropriations for the nation’s defense in 1939 and 1940, Vann’s 
ideas gained currency. The labor leader Randolph, the NAACP and other 
black advocacy organizations, and the presidents of historically black col-
leges and universities—most notably Tuskegee Institute’s president, Fred-
erick D. Patterson—joined the newspapers’ struggle.33

The lobbying campaign to open opportunities for blacks in the armed 
forces was so closely associated with the Pittsburgh newspaper’s editorial 
advocacy that the various bills and amendments introduced in the U.S. 
Congress to these ends were known collectively as “the Courier Bills.” The 
Courier expanded the effort and came to call it the “Double-V Campaign.” 
James G. Thompson, a Courier reader and cafeteria worker at a Cessna 
Aircraft manufacturing plant, explained the term in a 1942 letter to the 
newspaper: “The fi rst V [is] for victory over our enemies from without, the 
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second V for victory over our enemies from within. For surely those who 
perpetuate these ugly prejudices here are seeking to destroy our democratic 
form of government just as surely as the Axis forces.” The Double-V is a 
useful metaphor for the way that African Americans used their service in 
the war to force social change, but the concept has limitations. Individual 
blacks who fought for the United States did so with a complex mixture of 
individual aspiration, collective pride in the “race,” patriotism, and other 
motivations.34

Military brass resisted the civil rights coalition’s efforts. In late 1941 a 
spokesman for Gen. George C. Marshall, the War Department chief of staff, 
complained that desegregating the armed forces would require generals to 
solve “a social problem that has perplexed the American people through-
out the history of this nation.” He harkened back to Gen. Ely’s complaint 
about the way black Americans had been forced upon the military in World 
War I when he declared, “The Army is not a sociological laboratory.” Few 
people knew it at the time, but Marshall’s spokesman was exactly wrong. 
The Army was a sociological laboratory because it operated under civilian 
control and the civilians were susceptible to political pressure. In any case, 
given Marshall’s reluctance to make the military more racially egalitarian 
and with no shortage of “scientifi c” studies such as “The Use of Negro 
Manpower in War” at their disposal, generals in the AAC would have been 
comfortable denying blacks any but the most menial positions. Had the 
coalition not forced the decision into the political arena, the U. S. military 
would not have trained black pilots in World War II.35

Walter White, the executive director of the NAACP, was especially mas-
terful in his use of personal diplomacy to introduce Roosevelt to the idea of 
training black aviators and then pushing it through to completion. Fighting 
segregation and job discrimination in the armed forces and defense indus-
tries were priorities for the NAACP long before the attack on Pearl Harbor. 
At the association’s 1937 and 1938 annual conferences, members passed 
resolutions condemning racial discrimination in the armed services, which 
they called “contrary to the spirit of democracy for which our country is 
supposed to stand.” White forwarded these resolutions to the White House 
with the note: “We urge the president to use his broad powers of authority 
to stop such grossly unfair policy.” In 1939 White asked FDR “to use the 
utmost powers of your high offi ce to remove the barriers to full participa-
tion by qualifi ed Negroes in every branch of the defense forces of govern-
ment.”36

Black voters had broken with the party of Lincoln to support Roosevelt 
in the 1932 election and had voted overwhelmingly to re-elect him in 1936. 
But as the president contemplated an unprecedented third term, White 
assured him that he would have to do more for black citizens if he wanted 
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to keep African American votes permanently in the Democratic column. 
“I have found deep affection for you and Mrs. Roosevelt among colored 
Americans of all walks of life,” he wrote Roosevelt in a 1939 personal let-
ter. “But over and above this personal regard for yourselves is a widespread 
and growing feeling of despair, distrust, and even bitterness because of 
the apparently increasing control of party policy, so far as Negroes are con-
cerned, by southern congressmen, senators, and others who are bitterly 
anti-Negro.” White warned the president, “It is my conviction that it would 
be a serious mistake to believe that the Negro vote is irrevocably fi xed in the 
Democratic ranks.” This was not an idle threat. The Republican nominee 
for president, Wendell Wilkie, was working hard to entice black voters back 
to his party. Robert Vann, the Pittsburgh Courier publisher who supported 
Republican candidates generally, threw his weight wholeheartedly behind 
Wilkie three months before the election, disgusted by what he perceived as 
Roosevelt’s indifference toward striking down racial discrimination in the 
armed forces and defense industries.37

“Negroes . . . [are] naturally disturbed about the many things which could 
have been done but which have not been done by the present administra-
tion,” White cautioned the president. He continued:

One of the sorest points among Negroes which I have encountered is 
the fl agrant discrimination against Negroes in all the armed forces of the 
United States. Forthright action on your part to lessen discrimination 
and segregation and particularly in affording opportunities for the train-
ing of Negro pilots for the air corps [sic] would gain tremendous good 
will, perhaps even out of proportion to the signifi cance of such action.

The president sent the letter (apparently unread), along with two others 
from Negro leaders, to White House assistant James H. Rowe Jr., one of 
his most trusted political advisors, with a request for Rowe’s opinion on the 
problem of black votes. Rowe reminded the president of an idea they had 
already considered and tabled—appointing prominent blacks to advisory 
positions in the War Department and Selective Service system as a way of 
shoring up black votes—and suggested, “Walter White’s letter is unusual 
in its clarity and thoroughness. If you could fi nd time, it would be worth 
reading.”38

As the election approached and the White House continued to stall on 
desegregation of the armed forces and job discrimination in defense indus-
tries, the NAACP offi cial struck again. White was fi elding requests from 
prominent Republicans to throw his personal support behind Wilkie and 
would in fact come to consider his relationship with Wilkie “one of the 
three or four closest and richest friendships of my life.” He wrote Jacob 
Billikopf, a former labor leader who was now director of the Federation 
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of Jewish Charities and a major Democratic party fi gure in Philadelphia, 
knowing full well that Billikopf had the ears of higher-ups in the party and 
would share White’s concerns with them. “The Negro vote . . . clearly holds 
the balance of power in any election as close as this,” White wrote, express-
ing concern that “resentment against . . . discrimination against Negroes in 
the armed forces and in employment in plants fulfi lling national defense 
contracts” might cause black voters to return to the GOP fold. Billikopf 
dutifully forwarded White’s concerns to U.S. Attorney Gen. Francis Biddle, 
who in turn passed them along to Rowe.39

The wheels began turning in the White House with only weeks remain-
ing before the election. In a September 16, 1940, briefi ng, White House 
Press Secretary Stephen Early announced that the AAC would soon begin 
training Negro pilots. On September 27 the president met with White, 
A. Philip Randolph, and T. Arnold Hill, executive secretary of the Urban 
League, at the White House. Early then announced that all the branches of 
the armed services would increase the number of positions open to blacks, 
but not in a way that would challenge the norms of segregation. He implied 
that White, Randolph, and Hill had blessed the president’s decision; the 
civil rights leaders demanded a retraction. A week after that, Early was 
arrested for kneeing a black New York City police offi cer, James Sloan, 
in the groin. The combination of Early’s words and actions did nothing to 
improve blacks’ opinion of the president.40

Now Rowe went to work. In late October the White House issued a hast-
ily organized press release in which the War Department announced some-
what more forcefully the creation of a training program for black pilots. At 
the same time, Secretary of War Henry L. Stimson hired Judge William 
Hastie, an NAACP insider, as his civilian aide and promoted Col. Benja-
min O. Davis Sr. to the rank of brigadier general, making him the fi rst Afri-
can American general offi cer in the history of the U.S. Army. Rowe timed 
the announcements precisely so that they would hit the teletypes at the last 
possible moment before black weekly newspapers met the deadlines for 
their last editions before the November election.41

In the press release Secretary Stimson stated, “Negro organizations will 
be established in each major branch of the service . . . Negroes are [now] 
being given aviation training as pilots, mechanics, and technical special-
ists. This training will be accelerated.” Stimson did not mention that the 
only aviation training available to black Americans in 1940 was offered by 
civilian institutions, not the AAC. Nonetheless, the Air Command dutifully 
began planning to create what were called “Aviation Squadrons (Separate)” 
for African American pilots with all-black support units and started search-
ing for a site where it could train the pilots and support crews under racially 
segregated conditions. The squadrons could incorporate approximately 
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2,300 blacks into the AAC in various job categories, most of them service-
oriented. In March 1941 the AAC would begin accepting applications from 
prospective aviation cadets for a proposed all-black pursuit squadron. In 
the meantime, the AAC would decide where to locate the facility to train 
them.42

Building on the momentum that the civil rights coalition created to 
force black entry to the CPT program, African Americans agreed that all 
blacks should have an equal opportunity to serve in any capacity their tal-
ents suited them for in the AAC. All concurred that it was imperative to 
force the AAC to develop a training system for black pilots. But within that 
consensus strong factions developed and disagreements raged over where 
pilot training should take place. Nearly all preferred the creation of inte-
grated training units, but it seemed clear that the War Department would 
hold strong to its policy not to train blacks alongside whites at existing 
bases, even though that arrangement would have saved American taxpay-
ers millions of dollars. The debate therefore turned on where a separate-
but-truly-equal base should be built.

The infl uential Chicago Defender argued that the initial AAC facility for 
Negro fl yers should be sited in that city, the home of the Coffey School for 
Aeronautics, a privately operated school for black pilots. By 1940 Chicago 
had earned its reputation as a black Mecca, and that perception would only 
grow through the following decades. Majority-black neighborhoods on the 
west and south sides of Chicago contained every kind of black-owned busi-
ness one could imagine; their entertainment districts were unparalleled, 
and African Americans wielded political power on city, state, and national 
levels. Oscar De Priest, a black Republican, had represented the South Side 
in the U.S. House of Representatives from 1928—the fi rst time a black had 
been elected to the body in the twentieth century—until 1934, when voters 
replaced him with Arthur W. Mitchell, the House’s fi rst black Democrat. 
Cornelius Coffey and Willa Brown, pioneering black aviators, had built the 
Coffey School, located at Harlem Airport on the west side of the city, into 
what was arguably the nation’s center of black aviation. Pilots associated 
with the Coffey School, Brown especially, were instrumental in opening 
the doors of the Civilian Pilot Training program to blacks, and the school 
was already administering training programs under contract with the Civil 
Aviation Authority. Even more importantly, black cadets at a Chicago train-
ing base would be treated as something like full and equal citizens by the 
surrounding, relatively integrated community. Others in the NAACP fac-
tion supported a West Coast location for similar reasons and added that the 
region’s climate made it an even better site for year-round fl ying. William 
H. Hastie, a former federal judge, stalwart NAACP attorney, dean of How-
ard University Law School, and now a civilian aide to the secretary of war, 
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advocated a California location because black trainees would be less likely 
to face indignities there than they would be in the Jim Crow South.43

Frederick D. Patterson, the president of Tuskegee Institute, lobbied to 
have the program placed near his school. Tuskegee too had established 
itself as a hub of black aviation. The institute had been one of the fi rst his-
torically black colleges to participate in CPT, and its students had excelled 
in the program. Patterson advertised the region’s ideal climate for fl ying—
more than three hundred days of fl ying weather per year—and the school’s 
success in training civilian pilots. What AAC offi cials perceived as Patter-
son’s “cooperative attitude” also infl uenced the decision. Tuskegee Institute 
offi cials “furnishe[d] many precepts and examples in conduct and attitude” 
that made whites in the AAC more comfortable, according to a contempo-
rary Air Corps report, and the AAC believed that the school’s “leaders exert 
great infl uence in the affairs of the Negro race.” For all of these reasons, 
early in 1941 the AAC announced its plan to contract with Tuskegee Insti-
tute to provide primary training, the fi rst of three phases of military fl ight 
instruction, for Negro aviation cadets. The service also announced plans to 
create a full, separate-but-equal, and (with a price tag of $1,663,057 for its 
construction) very expensive AAC training base where cadets would receive 
basic and advanced training, Tuskegee Army Air Field (TAAF). The War 
Department put out the call for volunteers to fi ll the full complement of its 
planned all-black 99th Pursuit Squadron, which would require about three 
dozen pilots, twice that many administrative offi cers, and nearly fi ve hun-
dred support personnel. The War Department planned to train the black 
ground-crew technicians who would support the 99th alongside whites at 
Chanute Field in Rantoul, Illinois.44

But the War Department overestimated Tuskegee Institute’s national 
reputation among blacks, and here the coalition that had fought for the 
inclusion of blacks in the Air Corps disintegrated. A Pittsburgh Courier edi-
torial opposed the decision fl atly because it “perpetuate[d] the ‘American 
way’ of racial segregation” and promised to expose the elite cadets to racial 
indignities. The Chicago Defender editorialized, “It is the patriotic duty of 
every Negro, every American, to oppose discrimination or segregation 
in any form wherever found and especially when found in a government 
agency.” The NAACP offi cially insisted that blacks be accepted as aviation 
cadets on the same basis as whites, period, and that all training should take 
place on a non-segregated basis. When it became clear that the War Depart-
ment would not budge from its practice of segregating units and training 
classes, the NAACP did not take an offi cial stance in favor of creating the 
training program for blacks in one location over another. Yet Judge Hastie, 
among others associated with the NAACP, refused to accept the decision 
to place the program in Tuskegee without vigorous protest. His new post 
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in the War Department gave him the chance to push for fair and equal 
treatment for black Americans from within that agency for the next two 
years.45

The NAACP made clear its objection to the creation of what it called 
“a Jim Crow air squadron,” characterizing the Tuskegee program as “an 
extension of the undemocratic and un-American practice of segregation 
of the Negro in the national defense program.” Patterson tried to smooth 
things over with the organization. Soon after War Department offi cials 
announced the creation of the base in Tuskegee, he wired Walter White 
to request a meeting with him and Judge Hastie. “Before attempting to 
arrange conference,” White responded, “[I] wish you to understand I must 
oppose any proposal for segregated training of Negroes.”46

Patterson’s reply telegram illuminated the different approaches to “racial 
uplift” that had characterized Tuskegee Institute and the NAACP ever since 
the association’s inception four decades earlier, when the NAACP’s DuBois 
criticized Tuskegee’s Booker T. Washington for being too accommodating 
of white racism. In lobbying the War Department to build a new base in 
Tuskegee, Patterson cabled, his sole interest had been “making available 
[the] largest possible opportunity for Negroes in all branches of service.” 
He regarded the “question of segregation as academic and unnecessary 
to be considered in conference.” He would make the same arguments for 
public consumption, in exactly the spirit of pragmatism that Washington 
had once championed. Patterson insisted that training Negro pilots even in 
rigidly segregated conditions gave “colored men a foothold in the air corps 
and will in time lead to mixed air units.” (White might not have known that 
the NAACP’s assistant secretary, Roy Wilkins, sided with Tuskegee in this 
argument. In a letter to Hastie he confi ded, “As I see it, the main idea is 
to train fl yers . . . If it comes to a choice between being trained in Alabama 
or not being trained at all, I would be for Alabama.”) Nonetheless, given 
the gulf between the two institutions, it would be impossible for Tuskegee 
and the NAACP to cooperate further to reach what were otherwise shared 
goals.47

Hastie was especially furious over the decision to build the base at 
Tuskegee. In the fi rst place, he would later write, “I can see no reason 
whatever for setting up a separate program for Negroes in the Air Corps.” 
If blacks could learn to pilot pursuit aircraft—and the AAC seemed to 
be assuming that this was within the realm of possibility by this point, 
because it was committing millions of dollars to create the program—then 
they could learn how to do so just as well alongside white cadets at existing 
facilities. Moreover, plans were under way to train the fi rst cadre of black 
ground crew specialists alongside whites at the AAC’s Technical Training 
School at Chanute Field. What made it possible to train black technicians 
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in an integrated setting, but not black pilots? And would integrated training 
not benefi t both blacks and whites? If they were intended to fl y together in 
combat, would they not do well to learn more about each other in training? 
Finally, how could the decision to build a brand-new air base to train three 
dozen pilots possibly be construed as an economical use of the nation’s 
manpower and fi nancial resources during a time of crisis?48

“When we fi nd Tuskegee Institute working hand in glove with the Army 
Air Command to establish, intrench [sic], and extend a Jim Crow air train-
ing program at Tuskegee,” Hastie later alleged, “such conduct should be 
exposed and condemned.” He continued,

It is an object lesson of selfi sh and shortsighted scheming for immediate 
personal advantage with cynical disregard for the larger interests of the 
Negro and of the nation. Let there be no mistake. Tuskegee is rendering 
no valuable service to the war effort in its continuing effort to concentrate 
a black aviation program on and around the Tuskegee campus. With cal-
lous indifference to the best interests of the Negro and to the larger val-
ues of democratic practices in the war effort, Tuskegee is looking out for 
Tuskegee. The school gets its mess of pottage in profi table Army con-
tracts and the promotion of its own private aviation training program, 
while the Air Forces have a willing and useful accomplice in their design 
of keeping the Negro strictly segregated.49

Patterson was aware of this perception, which existed widely by 1940 
and which he deeply resented. He fought behind the scenes to ensure that 
the developing Tuskegee fl ight program would not succumb to intra-racial 
rivalries and open him to further charges of Uncle Tom-ism. As an offi cial 
history of TAAF dryly noted, “Before the plans for the fi eld were complete, 
it had already become the subject for considerable controversy and many 
differences of opinion.” In April 1941 the AAC chose a site approximately 
7 miles northwest of the Tuskegee Institute campus for the construction 
of TAAF. According to an August 1941 AAC memorandum, “The project 
at Tuskegee [was] considered by the War Department as No. 1 priority due 
to political pressures being brought to bear upon the White House and 
War Department to provide pilot training for colored applicants.” However, 
AAC engineers vastly underestimated how much it would cost to drain and 
grade the site, and the construction project had exhausted its initial appro-
priation by November of that year. With only one paved runway to show for 
its work and money, the War Department announced the suspension of 
construction until a new appropriation could be obtained.50

President Patterson fl ew into action, writing a blistering letter to Assis-
tant Secretary of War Robert P. Patterson (no relation). In the fi rst place, he 
argued, Tuskegee Institute engineering professors had previously warned 
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the War Department that it was underestimating the cost to prepare the 
site. The completion of Tuskegee Army Air Field should not be delayed just 
because the War Department had planned poorly, and if there was a short-
age of funds to complete the work it was up to the War Department to make 
up for the shortfall. “[T]his is not just another Air Corps project whose 
completion may indifferently await the regular appropriation of funds,” he 
lectured Robert Patterson.51

“[T]his is the only fi eld which is available to Negro fl iers,” President 
 Patterson reminded his counterpart, “whereas already established fi elds 
are providing a splendid opportunity for the training of white youth.” Pres-
ident Patterson understood his reputation to be on the line. “Those of us 
who have worked diligently for the success of this project are seriously dis-
turbed. In the fi rst place this project has been [m]aligned as a ‘Jim-Crow’ 
set-up,” he wrote, referencing the very public criticism the NAACP faction 
was directing at him personally. “[Y]et there were some members of the 
Negro group who, in an effort to serve the best interests of the nation in 
this period of emergency and at the same time who wanted to see progress 
by evolution rather than revolution, stood out for the development of this 
as a separate project.” If the War Department approached the construction 
of TAAF with anything less than total and urgent determination, Patterson 
warned, his critics would have a fi eld day. Such a failure would not only be 
“a source of embarrassment to those who have supported the above posi-
tion, but it also constitutes just the sort of argument which will be used 
in the future to contribute to the evidence indicating the undemocratic 
behavior of the federal government in the treatment of its Negro citizens.” 
Even before it was fully constructed, TAAF was a chess piece in a propa-
ganda war. Patterson closed his urgent plea with language that would have 
placated whites in the War Department but caused his detractors in the 
NAACP to grind their teeth. “I am convinced that if the proper opportunity 
is provided,” he wrote, “this project will be a source of pride to the Army 
Air Corps and an asset to the nation, as well as an opportunity for sensible 
expression on the part of the Negro people [emphasis added].”52

Alabama’s Sen. Lister Hill, known as the “Godfather of Maxwell Field” 
for his interest in military aviation and ability to procure appropriations for 
the nearby Montgomery air base that housed the Southeastern Air Train-
ing Command, assured Dr. Patterson that he was “making every effort 
to get increased appropriations so as to insure uninterrupted construc-
tion.” Hill was as good as his word, and construction of TAAF continued 
more or less on schedule. Hill was in fact remarkably effective at steer-
ing War Department contracts to his home state. Between July 1, 1940, 
and April 30, 1941—months before the United States had declared war 
on Germany and Japan—the U.S. government spent just short of $200 
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million on defense-related contracts in Alabama. This fi gure was more 
than three times the amount spent in Georgia, nearly three times as much 
as in Tennessee, and more than eight times the amount spent in Mis-
sissippi. Defense dollars modernized Alabama and brought it out of the 
Great Depression.53

As Dr. Patterson was fending off critics in the NAACP and black press, 
he and his allies also had to defend the project from the whites of Tuskegee. 
Tuskegee was of course residentially segregated, with African Americans 
living closer to Tuskegee Institute on the west side of the town and whites 
concentrated on the east. When a rumor spread that the AAC was going to 
build Tuskegee Army Air Field on the east side of the town, whites revolted. 
Local whites decided that the prospect of bringing millions of dollars worth 
of construction and hundreds of jobs into the economically depressed area 
was apparently not worth the damage the base might cause to their cus-
toms. William Varner, probate judge of Macon County and scion of one of 
its wealthiest and most distinguished families, forwarded a petition signed 
by ninety-fi ve Tuskegee whites protesting the rumored location of the “col-
ored aviation camp.”54

Addressed to Senators Hill and John H. Bankhead, the petition read, 
“The undersigned, having regard for the welfare of the white citizenship 
of Tuskegee and Macon County, urgently request your prompt action in 
protesting . . . against the location of a colored aviation camp on the East, 
or Southeast boundary of Tuskegee.” Such a location, the citizens warned, 
“would destroy the usefulness of this part of Tuskegee . . . for a white resi-
dence section” and constrain the expansion of white neighborhoods. Varner 
worried that the base would be sited within 2 miles of the town’s elemen-
tary and high schools for whites, placing black cadets dangerously close to 
white schoolgirls. He also reported, “The persons who carried these peti-
tions around stated that ninety-fi ve of the one hundred people who were 
approached gladly signed.”55

When Hill took the matter up with Maj. Gen. George H. Brett, acting 
chief of the AAC, Brett expressed his wish to have nothing whatsoever to do 
with the program. According to a revealing series of transcribed telephone 
conversations with Hill and his staff, Brett complained, “You are putting me 
between the devil and the deep blue sea.” “[G]osh—I get pounded on that 
thing,” he said of the “Negro airport.” “Oh hell,” Hill responded, acknowl-
edging the sting of the NAACP’s publicity campaign against the creation 
of the Jim Crow fl ight facility. “I know what your trouble is—God almighty 
I know what it is. Don’t you think I don’t get some of your troubles.” Brett 
promised to investigate the matter and get back to the senator.56

Brett discovered that the airport was being built, as he had suspected, at 
a site several miles north of the town of Tuskegee; the rumor of a  facility 
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on the east side of town had no basis in fact. In reporting this news to 
Hill’s secretary, Brett added, “[N]ow you might tell the Senator that I just 
read a long letter from our Special Assistant Secretary of War [sic] Mr. 
Hastie[,] who is intensely interested in the colored people, who claims that 
he notes that they are building separate barricks [sic] for white and . . . for 
colored people and separate barricks for white offi cers[,] and he objects 
most strenuously—says that the whites must live with the blacks.” “Good 
night!” the secretary responded. Brett clearly misunderstood the cleavages 
that had already developed between Tuskegee Institute and the NAACP on 
the issue: “Now you might tell Senator Hill that this little thing he is talk-
ing about [the site of the airport] is only just one small phase of the whole 
problem. Oh yes . . . they are demanding non-segregation.” The secretary 
replied, “Well, I don’t think that is going to work in the South.” Gen. Brett 
agreed. Not only would it not work in the South, but “I don’t know why it 
should work in the North [either],” he opined. “I happen to be from Cleve-
land, and I’m sure I don’t want to live with a nigger.”57

Brett could take some comfort in the contemporaneous reports he 
received from the offi cer at the Southeast Air Corps Training Center in 
charge of overseeing construction at Tuskegee, which told him that the proj-
ect was proceeding splendidly. The construction project was never divorced 
from racial politics, however. “The negro [sic] race is taking a tremendous 
amount of interest in this development, especially, of course, the faculty of 
Tuskegee Institute,” reported Brig. Gen. Walter R. Weaver. “These negroes 
are wonderfully well educated and as smart as they can be, and politically 
they have back of them their race composed of some eleven million people 
in this country.” Brett was somewhat more careful with his words in his 
written reply than he had been on the telephone: “I . . . am delighted to hear 
that you are progressing satisfactorily with the Negro School proposition at 
Tuskegee.”58

In February 1941 the War Department awarded multi-million-dollar con-
tracts to the fi rms of Hilyard R. Robinson, an architect from  Washington, 
D.C., and the general contractors McKissack & McKissack of Nashville, 
 Tennessee, to build the separate-but-equal air base. Robinson had estab-
lished a reputation in Washington for his Bauhaus-infl uenced designs of 
New Deal public housing projects for blacks. McKissack & McKissack was 
known for its work building black churches and school buildings through-
out the South, and the fi rm boasted a long, proud history. Its principals, 
Calvin and Moses McKissack III, were the grandsons of a slave whose 
owner had hired him out as a master builder. They too had benefi ted from 
the New Deal’s public works building boom in 1930s. The TAAF construc-
tion contracts were the fi rst the War Department had ever awarded to black-
owned companies. The decision further antagonized local whites, but it did 
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not stop local white-owned companies from subcontracting to construct 
the base. Because the town of Tuskegee could not provide all of the munici-
pal services necessary for such a large development, the AAC would also 
have to build its own services into the base, and in the coming years TAAF 
would grow into a small, nearly all-black city.59

The building program accelerated following Pearl Harbor, and TAAF’s 
offi cial history records that many of the buildings on the base were occu-
pied and in use for weeks before they were completed and the AAC 
certifi ed the construction as having met specifi cations. In the winter of 
1941–42, cadets moved into dormitory buildings before heating systems 
had been installed. Enlisted men lived for several weeks in TAAF’s “Tent 
City” while they waited for the construction of their barracks. The men 
in the fi rst cadre of enlisted support personnel transferred to TAAF “got 
a lot of enjoyment,” one of them remembered, out of pulling down the 
“colored” and “white” signs on the temporary toilets that still dotted the 
airfi eld.60

As construction of TAAF continued and the fl ight instruction program 
started to take shape, the NAACP applied consistent, relentless pressure 
on the War Department to treat black Americans equitably in every deci-
sion it made. The campaign began more than a year before the Japanese 
attack on Pearl Harbor and would continue past the end of the war. The 
NAACP did not act alone in this regard, but the organization was at the 
forefront of efforts to pressure the AAC into accepting as many black pilot 
cadets into the training program as possible, to ensure them fair treatment 
while in training, to offer them the opportunity to demonstrate their prow-
ess in combat after graduation, and to admit to their eventual successes. 
An episode from early in the process epitomizes this effort. Soon after the 
AAC announced the creation of the Tuskegee training program, at the end 
of 1940, Walter White wrote to every black man in the United States with 
a pilot’s license, the majority of whom were recent CPT graduates, to see 
who would be willing to fl y for Uncle Sam.61

Those who responded to White’s call composed a cross-section of young, 
well-educated black men. In some ways the men represented the elite of 
black America; they were all college students or graduates, at a time when 
fewer than 2 percent of African American adults held college diplomas. 
Yet the majority of them were fi rst-generation college students like Horace 
Bohannon and Roy Chappell who worked hard to put themselves through 
school and at least occasionally relied on extended family and community 
networks to make tuition payments or provide room and board. They were 
a diverse group, but they held in common an intense patriotism, the con-
fi dence that they could serve their country as well as anyone else in which-
ever roles their talents dictated, and the dream of fl ight.62
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Mohamed Shaik was the son of an Indian shaikh-merchant father who 
had been educated in Great Britain and then migrated from Calcutta to 
New Orleans; his mother was a New Orleans Creole with Native Ameri-
can ancestry. (“I’m Indian on both sides,” he joked about his background; 
but as far the War Department was concerned, he was black.) Shaik had 
just graduated from Xavier University in New Orleans, and in the summer 
of 1940 he and two other New Orleans men of color, Adolph Moret and 
Octave Rainey, had attended the CPT program at West Virginia State and 
earned their civilian licenses. In response to White’s letter, Shaik assured 
him, “The question of discrimination of Negroes in the Air Corps is one 
which touches me deeply since I am capable of meeting all of its require-
ments.” He volunteered his services.63

Mac Ross, a graduate of the CPT program at West Virginia State, 
responded, “I would be more than too glad to join the Air Corps of the 
United States Army if I was given the opportunity.” Given the opportunity, 
Ross shortly thereafter graduated in the fi rst class of the Tuskegee aviation 
program. Louis R. Purnell wrote from Lincoln University, “I would like to 
enlist as a fl ying cadet in the army. I’ve passed all examinations success-
fully with high grades. . . . I hope you will do all in your power to help me.” 
He too was accepted into the Tuskegee program, graduated, and fl ew in 
combat.64

Yancey Williams, a senior studying mechanical engineering at Howard 
University and a member of the NAACP, responded to White with news 
that the AAC had just instructed him to prepare for a new physical exam. 
Williams had recently fi led suit against the War Department and Air Corps, 
alleging that he was being denied the opportunity to join the cadet training 
program based only on his race. Williams had completed Howard’s CPT 
program and a secondary course at Tuskegee Institute, and earned his civil-
ian pilot’s license. He passed an Army physical in July 1940, met all of the 
AAC’s requirements for fl ying cadets, and applied for the program. Accord-
ing to Williams’ affi davit, Maj. Gen. Walter S. Grant, commanding general 
of the Third Corps area of the AAC, fl atly refused to consider Williams’s 
application because Williams was black. Williams appealed to the adjutant 
general of the Army and Secretary of War Stimson, and on December 13, 
1940, the appeal was refused solely on the basis of Williams’s race. At the 
same time, the suit alleged, the War Department had begun advertising 
in newspapers and on the radio, asking more citizens to enlist as fl ying 
cadets.65

The NAACP’s National Legal Committee, precursor to its Legal Defense 
and Education Fund, led by Thurgood Marshall, accepted the case and 
assisted Williams’ attorneys. Marshall publicized the case aggressively, 
and NAACP youth councils began raising a national defense fund. Black 
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 newspapers covered the case widely, and the publicity deeply embar-
rassed the Roosevelt administration. As much as any other initiative, the 
suit forced the War Department to follow through on Stimson’s promise 
to open training facilities for black Americans in the AAC. In a pattern 
that would replay itself over and again through the following decades, the 
NAACP’s strategy of winning redress through the courts combined in this 
case with individual initiative, mobilization of younger blacks, and pres-
sure brought by coverage from national media to dismantle a vestige of 
white supremacy. When the War Department initiated the Tuskegee pro-
gram, Williams dropped the suit and entered the cadet corps.66

Like Williams, Charles W. Dryden received a letter from White, and he 
responded with an assurance that he would leap at the chance to volunteer 
for the AAC. The son of Jamaican immigrants who had lived all his life 
in New York City, Dryden “was born wanting to fl y,” he would later say. 
Dryden claimed that even before he could talk, he “used to take little bits of 
paper and tear them into tiny bits, throw them into the air, and try to say, 
‘Airplane! Airplane!’ ” Dryden was a junior majoring in mechanical engi-
neering at the City College of New York when White’s letter reached him; 
he had wanted to study aeronautical engineering at New York University, 
but his family could not afford the tuition. He had recently completed the 
college’s CPT program and had already tried to volunteer for pilot training 
in the AAC several times without success. He replied: “[Y]ou ask if I would 
be willing to enroll in the U.S. Army Air Corps if offered an opportunity. 
The answer is—Yes, defi nitely! I would not only enroll but would pursue 
a lifetime career of service in the Corps.” “I shall keep in touch with you,” 
Dryden promised in a subsequent letter to White, “and let you know if 
Uncle Sam gives our boys a raw deal or a square deal.”67

Vash Eagleson was among those who responded immediately to White. 
A transfer student at Indiana University who had graduated from the fi rst 
CPT class at West Virginia State College, Eagleson had deep roots in the 
“Talented Tenth” of black Americans, the educated elite that W.E.B. DuBois 
believed would lead the race to equal treatment in the United States. His 
mother, Frances Marshall Eagleson, was the fi rst black woman to earn a 
degree at Indiana University and at the time was employed as the regis-
trar of historically black North Carolina College for Negroes, now North 
Carolina Central University, in Durham. (Both campuses now have build-
ings named for her.) His father taught chemistry and coached the football 
team in Durham while he completed a doctorate in chemistry from Cornell 
University. Eagleson’s paternal grandfather, Preston E. Eagleson, was one 
of the fi rst two black men to graduate from Indiana University, where he 
earned bachelor’s and master’s degrees in philosophy and starred on the 
football team in the 1890s. Preston Eagleson won the university’s 1894 
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oratorical contest, and he demanded to stay in the same hotels that served 
his white teammates when the football team played away games; that same 
year he won $50 in a settlement against a hotel in Crawfordville, Indiana, 
after its elevator operator tried to deny him service based on his race.68

Frustrated by the AAC’s multiple rejections, Eagleson joined the Army 
after Pearl Harbor. He was in Offi cer Candidate School at Fort Benning, 
Georgia, when his letter of acceptance to the Air Corps fi nally arrived, and 
he traveled to Tuskegee in 1942. In the early years of the war the AAC 
accepted only applicants who had completed at least two years of college, 
so its fi rst black aviation cadets—men like Shaik, Custis, Ross, Williams, 
Dryden, and Eagleson—were Talented Tenth all the way. Full of pride, con-
scious of the expectations that had been placed upon them, they were deter-
mined to succeed once they received the opportunity.69

Of the fi rst eighty-one cadets accepted to the program, forty-four were 
from the South, twenty-six were from the north, and eleven hailed from the 
Midwest or far west. Thousands more young men came from every part of 
the country—at least thirty-nine of the forty-eight states, plus Washington, 
D.C.—to enter the pilot training program at Tuskegee, which expanded in 
1943 to train multi-engine bomber pilots in addition to fi ghter pilots. Just 
short of one thousand of them graduated from the program, and nearly 
one-half of that number fl ew in combat, where collectively they fl ew more 
than 15,000 sorties and destroyed more than two hundred German aircraft. 
Thirty-two of the pilots were shot down and spent time in German prisoner 
of war camps; sixty-six others gave their lives for their country.70

These statistics are important, but they only begin to describe the impor-
tance of this historical experience to the history of the American people or 
the difference it made in the lives of the more than 15,000 men and women 
who were a part of it, either as pilots or as support personnel. Roy Chappell 
came closer to describing the experience’s signifi cance for African Ameri-
cans than numbers ever could. When Chappell went off-base and mingled 
among black civilians, he said, he found that “the folks really would do 
anything they could for you.”71

Twiley Barker interrupted his studies at Tuskegee Institute in 1944 to 
serve in the war effort. After training at TAAF and a brief career as an Air 
Forces cryptographer, he returned to school under the GI Bill and eventu-
ally earned a PhD in political science and fashioned for himself a distin-
guished career teaching constitutional law and political science. Placing the 
Tuskegee Airmen experience in a larger context, Barker said, “This is one of 
the big surprising, untold stories. Those black kids proved to the world that 
we were as capable of fl ying an aircraft as anybody else. We were as capable 
of providing the necessary support services to make certain that missions 
were accomplished.” The lesson of the Tuskegee Airmen  experience, he 
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said, was: “We could do the same kinds of things—at the level expected 
by the military—even though our skin color may have been different. The 
talent is there, and if it is allowed to reach its maximum potential, any goal 
can be accomplished.” The Tuskegee Airmen were among the fi rst Ameri-
cans to imagine the kind of racially integrated society that most Americans 
now take for granted. They worked and sacrifi ced and proved that such a 
society could exist and thrive.72

That many Americans at the dawn of the twenty-fi rst century would 
accept this as a given is a measurement of the signifi cant changes the 
Tuskegee Airmen helped bring about. Few, if any, Americans could have 
expected in 1941 that this would be one of the major outcomes of the war. 
Not all black Americans at the time appreciated the Tuskegee program; 
many considered it an embarrassing symbol of Jim Crow inequality. But 
blacks did show a remarkable unanimity in forcing the fi ght for equality 
and democracy within the borders of the United States to the forefront of 
American war aims. They proved that a racially segregated military assem-
bled to fi ght fascism was, to use Walter White’s term, an “anachronism,” 
and they pushed the armed forces into the future. By forcing action on the 
question of “The Use of Negro Manpower in War,” they proved their patrio-
tism and their capabilities beyond doubt and kick-started the modern black 
freedom struggle in the process.73

But the Tuskegee Airmen did not defeat white supremacy in the United 
States once and for all. They did not by themselves end racial segregation in 
the armed forces. It would take the renewed commitment of thousands of 
individuals and the creation of new institutions to accomplish these goals 
in the decades following World War II. The Tuskegee Airmen did, how-
ever, prove beyond any conceivable question that black Americans could 
fl y and maintain some of the world’s most sophisticated killing machines, 
lead and staff complicated bureaucratic systems, and excel under tremen-
dous pressure. Above all, they proved to the U.S. War Department that 
racial segregation of troops was ineffi cient and not cost-effective, and that 
it therefore hindered national defense.

It was on this basis that the military, under orders of  Commander-in-Chief 
Harry Truman, would abandon Jim Crow immediately after the war, mak-
ing it one of the fi rst institutions in the United States to do so. The military, 
which had been arguably the most racially intransigent national institu-
tion in 1940, was transformed in the course of the war and, contrary to 
all expectations, led desegregation efforts within the national government 
soon after the war ended. Once the armed forces had thrown their collec-
tive weight behind desegregation, the momentum would be impossible to 
reverse.
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2 The Black Eagles 
Take Flight

Lemuel R. Custis, a Connecticut native and a recent grad-
uate of Howard University, was a member of the fi rst class of pilot cadets 
accepted for training at Tuskegee in 1941. He made his fi rst trip by train 
into the Deep South with “mixed feelings,” he said. “It was the fi rst time 
they pulled a curtain on the old boy,” Custis recalled, referring to the prac-
tice of drawing a curtain around African Americans to segregate them from 
white patrons in the dining cars of trains south of the Mason-Dixon Line. 
“Even when I went up to get the food, which Uncle Sam was providing, 
they pulled the curtain on me in the dining car. I really then understood 
I was black,” he said with a rueful chuckle. “I just thought I was before, but 
I knew I was after that.” By the same token, however, Custis never forgot 
“how nice the porters were to me, how they helped me survive that trip. 
Having that curtain pulled on you, you feel—you wonder how to handle 
it. But they said, ‘If you want to go up [to the dining car], we’ll take care of 
you. If you don’t, you can stay in the compartment, and we’ll bring the food 
back.’ ” Thousands of the men and women who congregated at Tuskegee 
during the war had a similar experience. They cultivated an atmosphere of 
camaraderie, individual and collective pride, and high achievement in the 
midst of a social system that attempted to defi ne them as inferior.1

The community the AAC selected for its separate but equal training 
facilities was a bi-racial, majority-black, and thoroughly segregated town in 
central Alabama. Tuskegee, the home of Booker T. Washington’s Tuskegee 
Institute, had already established itself as a center of black fl ying. The 
institute’s president from 1935 to 1953, Dr. Frederick Douglass Patterson, 
embraced aviation as a fi eld of study in the same way that Washington had 
promoted masonry, tailoring, and other “industrial arts” for the sons and 
daughters of freed slaves: he recognized it as a potential source of well-
paying jobs for African Americans.

The town of Tuskegee, seat of Macon County, had been an important 
trading center in the Black Belt cotton economy of the fi rst half of the nine-
teenth century, but the soils in its vicinity had been exhausted by over-
cultivation even before the Civil War, and by 1880 the county was losing 
population. White Democrats had “redeemed” the county with violence 
and voting fraud, taking control from a Republican coalition of freedmen 
and liberal whites by 1874. The conservative white Democrats found that 
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they could not reverse Macon County’s economic fortunes by themselves, 
however, and searched for ways to cooperate with blacks for the common 
good of economic development without ceding political power to the major-
ity group. Local whites had deep reservations about offering even a decent 
education to their black neighbors, but elites considered the creation of a 
school for blacks a worthwhile compromise if it could keep black workers 
in the area. In 1880 former slaves led by a tinsmith named Lewis Adams 
and former slaveholders from Macon County successfully lobbied the state 
legislature for a $2,000 appropriation to create a “normal” school for Afri-
can Americans, and by 1881 they had raised enough funds to hire a prin-
cipal.2

The man they hired, Booker T. Washington, was the son of an enslaved 
West Virginia woman and a white man he never met. Washington had 
internalized from powerful whites in his life the ideals of self-discipline 
and hard work, a zealot’s faith in the value of education, and Victorian-era 
standards of morality. For better or worse, by the time he reached Tuskegee 
Washington had already decided that whites with power could help him 
do the things he wanted to do. In building Tuskegee Institute, Washing-
ton would ingratiate himself with white conservatives, both locally and, as 
his and the institute’s reputation grew, on the national level. Washington’s 
black supporters considered this approach pragmatism at work; his critics, 
of whom there were many by the fi rst decades of the twentieth century, saw 
the elevation of Washington’s personal interests above those of his race. 
That Tuskegee Institute under his guidance taught the industrial arts, pre-
paring its graduates to be skilled artisans or modern yeomen farmers, and 
not a liberal arts curriculum, enraged his elite critics further. Those elites 
founded the NAACP in 1909 as an explicit alternative to Washington’s 
 version of what both camps called “racial uplift.”3

Washington built the institute into a school with regional prominence 
within a short period of time. In 1895 he captured national attention with 
a speech he delivered at the Cotton States and International Exposition 
in Atlanta. Presented to a mainly white audience, Washington’s “Atlanta 
Compromise” speech (as his critics came to call it) was widely praised by 
white and black Americans at the time. “In all things that are purely social 
we can be as separate as the fi ngers, yet one as the hand in all things essen-
tial to mutual progress,” he advised, in what seemed to some an acceptance 
of segregation, and he recommended that white employers “cast down your 
bucket where you are” to encourage them to hire more blacks. Initially, 
African Americans congratulated Washington with one voice for his bold 
call for increased economic opportunities for blacks and for reminding 
Southern whites that they would never progress so long as they excluded 
their black neighbors from opportunities for economic progress. Later, his 
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critics would chide Washington for playing to whites’ stereotypes of South-
ern blacks in the address and for seeming to accept the social and politi-
cal inequalities engrained in the Jim Crow system. The speech elevated 
Washington to national celebrity; by the early years of the new century he 
was dining at the White House with Theodore Roosevelt and advising the 
Republican Party on patronage appointments for offi ces throughout the 
South.4

Washington also encouraged white philanthropists to build schools for 
black schoolchildren, but his efforts to improve the region’s educational 
system and develop its economy had no more than a marginal effect on its 
African American residents. As late as 1934 Macon County spent nearly 
ten times more on the education of whites than it spent on black students, 
and a study by the prominent Fisk University sociologist Charles S. John-
son Sr. published that year found that material conditions for local black 
farmers had improved little since emancipation. However, Washington’s 
approach did succeed fabulously in enlarging the town of Tuskegee’s black 
middle class. In the fi rst decades of the twentieth century the institute cam-
pus and its adjoining neighborhoods became showcases of black progress. 
Small, black-owned businesses catered to the black bourgeoisie, and the 
campus and surrounding community were nearly self-suffi cient. Washing-
ton’s plan for racial uplift made it possible for well-to-do black Tuskegeeans 
to cushion themselves from the worst aspects of Jim Crow segregation.5

Robert Russa Moton, a graduate of Hampton Institute and a Washing-
ton protégé, assumed the presidency of Tuskegee Institute after Washing-
ton died in 1915. Moton continued to develop the institute under the great 
man’s philosophies of education and economic development, and he capi-
talized on the relationships Washington had developed with Republicans 
on the national level. In the early 1920s he shepherded through to comple-
tion a plan to build a federally funded hospital for black World War I vet-
erans on the outskirts of town. Tuskegee Institute and a handful of white 
landowners donated land for the project, and Moton used his consider-
able lobbying skills in Washington to convince the U.S. Veterans Bureau to 
choose the site. Moton established a model for the sort of effort that would 
later result in the AAC’s choice of Tuskegee as the site of its training facil-
ity. He threw Tuskegee Institute’s considerable national political infl uence 
and local economic power behind the project, drew on the good relations 
the institute had nurtured with conservative whites in Washington, and 
cooperated with local whites to bring the project to fruition.6

In return for Tuskegee Institute’s gift of several hundred acres for the 
project, Moton insisted that the hospital be staffed only by African Ameri-
cans. He was forced to accept a white chief administrator, the staunchly 
segregationist Alabamian Col. Robert H. Stanley, but held fi rm in his 
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insistence that the rest of the staff be black, even in the face of resistance 
from the local Ku Klux Klan. When Stanley tried to hire an all-white crew 
of doctors and nurses (and the Klan paraded through Tuskegee Institute 
to demonstrate support for the decision), Moton went over Stanley’s head 
and met in Washington with President Warren G. Harding. Harding froze 
appropriations for the facility’s construction until Stanley could fi nd a full 
black complement for the hospital. The $2 million complex opened in 
1923, and the professionals who staffed the hospital added to Tuskegee’s 
black middle class.7

Moton retired from the presidency of Tuskegee Institute in 1935, and 
Dr. Frederick Douglass Patterson, a veterinary scientist and head of the col-
lege’s School of Agriculture, took over. On paper, Patterson’s background 
differed greatly from those of Washington and Moton; he held advanced 
degrees in veterinary medicine and science from Iowa State University 
and a PhD in bacteriology from Cornell University. Even Dr. Patterson’s 
given names seemed to augur that he was cut from a different cloth than 
Booker T. Washington. Tuskegee’s trustees had surprised the college com-
munity by tapping him as the college’s president at the age of thirty-four. 
Patterson’s academic credentials spoke for themselves, and he had already 
improved the veterinary school’s academic reputation. But he also held fast 
to his predecessors’ emphasis on education in the trades and pragmatic 
acceptance of racial segregation as a necessary evil to be worked around. 
Patterson urged African Americans to seek greater opportunities in voca-
tional education, as he, like Moton and Washington before him, believed 
that the trades offered the best possibility for “the realization of economic 
competence by the Negro people.” If black Americans had to endure the 
inevitable indignities of segregation to obtain these equal opportunities, 
well, that was the price of progress. “[W]e shall need to be careful,” he 
argued, “that our wise insistence upon the elimination of undemocratic 
practices does not lead us to a point of stupid insistence upon unsegregated 
opportunity in such a way as to defeat the chance for the employment of 
specialists through failure to attain the ultimate in one fell swoop.”8

Patterson championed aviation at Tuskegee on these pragmatic, voca-
tional-education grounds. He wanted African Americans to have access to 
the technologically advanced, high-paying jobs that the growing fi eld would 
create; he wanted to prepare Tuskegee graduates for careers as pilots, but 
also as aviation mechanics, air traffi c controllers, and fl ight instructors. 
Patterson was not a nationally recognized “race leader” in the way that 
Washington and, to a lesser extent, Moton had been, but he seldom missed 
a chance to elevate his and his school’s reputation. For instance, when 
Tuskegee prepared to add aviation to its curriculum in 1935, making it the 
fi rst historically black college to do so, Patterson asked Claude Barnett, the 
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director of the Associated Negro Press (and, later, a trustee of the institute), 
to focus his attention on the exclusion of blacks from the AAC. Such stories 
in the black press, he believed, would highlight the school’s efforts to open 
doors for African Americans in the world of aviation.9

The insitute’s director of mechanical industries, G. L. Washington, 
proved indispensable to the efforts to establish the school’s aviation pro-
gram. The engineer may have lacked the technical expertise needed to 
create an aviation program from scratch, but he showed the dogged deter-
mination, attention to detail, and unabashed enthusiasm that would be 
necessary to get one up and running. An enthusiastic, personable man, 
Washington also knew to surround himself with well-trained experts and 
naturally gifted pilots.10

Chief among these was Charles Alfred Anderson, a natural-born fl yer. 
When he was an infant, Anderson’s parents sent him from their home in 
Bryn Mawr, Pennsylvania, to live with a grandmother in Staunton, Vir-
ginia. She sent him back to his parents at the age of eight, according to 
family lore, because every time she turned her back he ran off to look for 
airplanes. As a young man in Pennsylvania, he tried for a long time to 
fi nd a plane he could rent and a white pilot he could hire to train him to 
fl y, but the common response even in the Quaker State was, he said, “We 
don’t carry colored people.” In 1927 or 1928 Anderson did fi nally fi nd one 
licensed white pilot who was willing to train Anderson in the pilot’s own 
personal plane, at the princely rate of $30 per hour. But that pilot appar-
ently was not gifted; soon after he took Anderson up for his fi rst lesson, the 
white man crashed his airplane into a forest and destroyed it. Anderson 
could not fi nd another instructor willing to offer him lessons, so he bor-
rowed $2,500 and bought his own Monocoupe. According to Anderson, 
he so wanted to fl y that he taught himself to operate the plane by allowing 
licensed pilots to borrow the aircraft and then observing them from the co-
pilot’s seat as they fl ew, and then through the ultimate trial and error. He 
cracked up at least two planes while teaching himself to be a pilot.11

Anderson taught himself to fl y well enough to earn his pilot’s license 
in 1929, making him the second African American to hold one, but he 
found that he loved fl ying so much that what he really wanted to do was 
teach others. To do that, he needed a transport license, and to earn a trans-
port license he needed to fi nd another licensed pilot willing to give him 
advanced instruction. Again the white pilots he approached turned him 
down. He fi nally found a willing instructor with an unlikely background. 
Ernest Buehl had fl own fi ghter aircraft for the German army in World War 
I and, according to Anderson, he proved in his dealings with the young 
pilot that “he was always in favor of white supremacy.” But it did not take 
Buehl long to decide that Anderson knew what he was doing. When Buehl 
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accompanied Anderson to his test for the transport license in July 1932, 
the federal inspector told the German immigrant, “You know, I have never 
given the fl ight test to a colored person. I don’t know if I will.” According 
to Anderson, Buehl responded, “Well, he can fl y as well as anybody. There 
is no reason why you shouldn’t give him the test.” Anderson later claimed 
that he answered every question on the written examination correctly and 
passed the fl ight check. The inspector decided that he could not in good 
conscience fail the black pilot but could not bring himself to award Ander-
son the perfect score he earned, either. He gave Anderson a score of eighty 
out of one hundred.12

Hungry for anything he could learn about airplanes, Anderson joined 
the Pennsylvania National Guard with hopes of transferring into an avia-
tion unit. Because the guard did not accept blacks, he tried to pass as white. 
Anderson was light-skinned, but his true racial heritage was soon discov-
ered, and he was kicked out of the service. He tried again to pass as white 
to enter Pets Aviation School in Philadelphia, but he was asked to leave that 
program also. With no job prospects in aviation, he dug sewer lines for a 
time on a Works Progress Administration project.13

After news of Anderson’s success in earning a transport license spread 
through the African American community, Anderson met Dr. Albert 
E.  Forsythe, a black surgeon working in Atlantic City, and agreed to give 
him fl ying lessons. Anderson was working for a wealthy white family in 
Bryn Mawr as a chauffeur and gardener at the time; it was too expensive for 
him to store and operate an airplane on his own. Forsythe became Ander-
son’s student and friend, but more importantly for the history of black avia-
tion, his patron. Anderson remembered Forsythe as “a very, very aggressive 
and determined man, and an ambitious person [who] wanted to advance 
aviation among the blacks.” He suggested the idea of a transcontinental 
fl ight to publicize the cause of black aviation. With Forsythe bankrolling 
the fl ight, the pair fl ew an airplane with no more than a 65- or 70-horse-
power engine and a maximum cruising speed of 130 miles an hour from 
Atlantic City to Los Angeles and back in 1933, making them the fi rst black 
pilots to execute a round-trip transcontinental fl ight.14

Forsythe and Anderson had plans for international fl ights, to Canada, 
the West Indies, and South America. They needed an airplane with a stron-
ger motor for these fl ights, so they visited the Lambert Co. in Saint Louis, 
chatted with local aviator Charles Lindbergh, and purchased a Monocoupe 
with a stronger Warner engine. Anderson thought Lindbergh was “tops and 
supreme in aviation,” but beyond that had “never been much impressed 
with Lindbergh, because I always considered Lindbergh to be a racist.” 
The men named their aircraft the Booker T. Washington because both men 
honored the Tuskegee founder’s work ethic and Forsythe had attended the 
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institute before graduating from McGill University in Canada. In 1934, with 
fi nancial support from Tuskegee Institute, Forsythe and Anderson toured 
the islands of the Caribbean. They fl ew to the Bahamas; to Cuba, where 
President Fulgencio Batista gave the pair a heroes’ welcome; through a 
tropical storm to Jamaica; and to Haiti. Their engine threw a piston over 
the mountains of the Dominican Republic, but Anderson was able to land 
the plane safely on the shores of a lake. They waited in a Dominican Army 
jungle camp for more than two weeks until replacement parts could be 
fl own in from the United States.15

When Forsythe and Anderson returned home, they were the toast of 
Atlantic City. Forsythe wanted to continue the publicity-generating trips, 
even dreamed of organizing a round-the-world fl ight with Anderson, but 
he found that his surgical practice demanded too much of his time. Ander-
son returned to barnstorming, renting planes from others and fl ying them 
in front of paying crowds. Anderson eventually found his way to Washing-
ton, D.C., where he and two others instituted an aviation ground school 
curriculum for the black public high schools. When Howard University 
won a CPT contract, Anderson was hired as an instructor.16

The Civil Aviation Administration (CAA) awarded Tuskegee a CPT 
contract for the 1939–40 school year at the last possible moment, and the 
school scrambled to fi nd operators who could manage the program. Fortu-
nately, Joseph Wren Allen, the white owner-operator of Alabama Air Ser-
vice in Montgomery, an hour’s drive from campus, agreed to make his 
facilities available. Washington found two professors in Tuskegee Insti-
tute’s mechanical industries department who were willing to try to teach 
the program’s ground school courses. He later wrote that he never doubted 
the pair “would do their best and put everything they had in the instruction. 
But I was frankly interested in [Tuskegee’s aviation students] making the 
best record possible on the examination and felt teachers with considerable 
training and experience in aeronautics would make the difference in the 
results of the examination.” True to the Tuskegee tradition, he placed prag-
matism above racial solidarity and contracted with two experienced white 
instructors from the aeronautics department of nearby Alabama Polytech-
nic Institute (now Auburn University) to provide the required ninety hours 
of instruction in navigation, meteorology, civil air regulations, and aircraft 
operations. They proved entirely cooperative, and Washington gave the 
men a large share of the credit for the remarkable success of the fi rst class 
of students.17

The cost of transporting the students to and from Montgomery for fl ight 
instruction became prohibitive, so Washington approached the owners of 
an airfi eld closer to campus. Kennedy Field, roughly 7 miles south of cam-
pus, had been built by three local white amateur aviators—Forrest Shelton, 
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Joe Wright Wilkerson, and Stanley Kennedy—for their own use and had 
not been certifi ed by the CAA. Washington estimated that it would cost 
less to bring Kennedy Field into compliance with federal regulations than 
it would to transport CPT students to Montgomery and Auburn, and he 
convinced the white pilots to transfer their lease of the fi eld to the college 
in exchange for free storage of their shared airplane. In the tradition of 
Booker T. Washington’s self-help philosophy, the Tuskegee students who 
enrolled in CPT provided the manual labor necessary to improve the fi eld 
to CAA standards, and the program moved to Kennedy Field in the spring 
semester of 1940.18

Remarkably, when the fi rst class of students took their written exams 
that March, every single one of them passed. They were apparently the fi rst 
class in the history of the CAA Southeast Region’s college aviation program 
(which included classes from such institutions as Georgia Tech, Auburn, 
and the University of North Carolina) to pass unanimously, and student 
Charles Foxx’s score of 97 was the highest individual score ever recorded 
in the region to that point. These accomplishments won heavy attention 
for Tuskegee in regional newspapers and national aviation magazines. As 
a result of the publicity, young black men throughout the country began 
writing Tuskegee for information about military fl ight training—so many, 
in fact, that Washington remembered that the time it took to answer them 
all became a burden on the clerical staff. Military aviation training was, of 
course, unavailable for blacks in 1940, but Tuskegee had already distin-
guished itself as the natural place to inquire.19

Tuskegee administrators were so encouraged by the class’s success 
that they began pressing the CAA to award the program a contract to offer 
advanced training classes. In 1940 the CAA initiated plans to offer the stu-
dents throughout the United States who passed the basic CPT program 
a secondary course that included additional ground school classes and 
more advanced instruction in the air at a handful of schools that had distin-
guished themselves as basic CPT sites. (The CAA considered its advanced 
coursework equal to the primary fl ight training that cadets were required to 
complete in the AAC.) Patterson and Washington wanted Tuskegee Insti-
tute to become the fi rst African American institution to offer the training 
when the CAA began the program in 1941; its only competition for the 
honor was the Coffey School in Chicago.20

G. L. Washington was surprised to learn in June 1940 that the CAA had 
stepped up its plans and wanted contractors to initiate the program the fol-
lowing month, rather than in the fall of 1941 as originally announced. The 
advanced program would require equipment and instructors that Tuskegee 
did not yet have, and Tuskegee had promised to build a new facility to 
replace Kennedy Field on land it owned as part of the original application. 
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Tuskegee had not yet begun construction of the new facility, but the CAA 
chose the institute over the Coffey School anyway. Washington knew exactly 
why his school won the contract: Tuskegee, he later wrote, had established

a reputation for cooperating with state and Federal Governments; an 
excellent tradition and setting for training; a name known throughout 
the world; widespread national publicity at the time for achievement 
of Civilian Pilot Training students on CAA examinations and in fl ying; 
the Goodwill of people of the south and north in key positions . . . whose 
opinions could be determinative; a geographical setting favorable to fl y-
ing training; a favorable impression with CAA-Washington for overcom-
ing obstacles; and possibly other attributes which cause decisions in [its] 
favor. Further, it could, as a partner in a segregated project, be quite 
relieving and comforting.21

Immediately after Tuskegee fi nalized the contract, Patterson fl ew to 
Washington, D.C., and hired Anderson away from Howard. Washington 
gave him the title of chief fl ight instructor soon thereafter; Anderson would 
be known affectionately as “Chief ” for the rest of his life. Kennedy Field 
could not accommodate the larger Waco aircraft necessary for advanced 
instruction, so Washington again arranged to use the airfi eld at Auburn. 
Lewis Jackson, whom Anderson would remember as “a brain, a very bril-
liant young man,” soon arrived at Tuskegee and worked as Anderson’s 
counterpart in fl ight instruction. A product of the Coffey School, Jackson 
later earned a PhD and served as president of Central State University in 
Ohio.22

Again Alabama Polytechnic professors agreed to teach ground school 
courses, and Washington managed to hire Joseph T. Camillieri, an Ital-
ian American pilot instructor, and Frank Rosenberg, an instructor and 
mechanic, through a classifi ed ad placed in a New York newspaper. Stu-
dents who had distinguished themselves at historically black colleges’ CPT 
programs were selected for the course; many of them would either remain 
in or return to Tuskegee later as instructors themselves. All ten of the stu-
dents in the fi rst advanced class—which Washington had managed to orga-
nize in a matter of days—would pass the CAA’s examinations in October 
1940. By the end of that year, Washington could boast with more than a 
little justifi cation that “Tuskegee Institute stood out, possibly alone among 
universities and colleges of the nation participating in the CPT program”—
not just black universities and colleges, but all universities and colleges.23

That same month the War Department announced its plans to create 
the 99th Pursuit Squadron and the training base for black aviation cadets 
at Tuskegee. The creation of the AAC program required the construction of 
another airfi eld for primary military training, which the college had hoped 
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to build anyway for the CAA. Rather than continue to expand and make 
improvements to its “Airport No. 1,” which it was still leasing from Stanley 
Kennedy, the institute would need to construct a new airdrome, which it 
could then operate under contract for the AAC. All of its instructors would 
be civilian employees of Tuskegee Institute, but they would be expected to 
teach cadets to fl y according to AAC standards. First Tuskegee Institute 
had to construct the facility.24

Tuskegee had already invested roughly $15,000 in its aviation program, 
but it had been reimbursed by the CAA for less than $500 of its expen-
ditures. If it were to create the new program, the school faced costs of at 
least $10,000 for additional aircraft and salaries, in addition to the price 
of construction. “While there were many supporters of the aviation activi-
ties among the faculty, administration, and staff of the institute,” Washing-
ton recalled, “nevertheless rumblings grew on the campus, and persisted, 
because of spending on aviation. There were those who viewed fl ying train-
ing as nothing more than an avocation or luxury instruction.” The free 
spending at an institution that perennially operated on a shoestring budget 
seemed to some a betrayal of Tuskegee Institute’s philosophy. The insti-
tute’s leaders had made similarly large investments on many occasions in 
the past, but always with an eye toward creating practical programs for stu-
dents that would launch them into careers. In this case, the critics charged, 
“Badly needed money for instructional purposes was going freely into 
something that would not enable the student to make a living.” The critics 
did not sway Patterson and Washington, who did expect that the training 
would launch their students into aviation careers. But before the institute 
could construct the new Moton Field facility, it had to fi nd fi nancing for it. 
The effort to secure a loan brought prominent visitors to Tuskegee.25

In March 1941 the board of trustees of the Chicago-based Julius Rosen-
wald Fund, a charitable foundation endowed with Rosenwald’s profi ts from 
the Sears Roebuck Co. he had founded, held its regular board meeting on 
the campus of Tuskegee Institute. The site may have seemed an unlikely 
one for the gathering of distinguished academics, captains of industry, and 
politically prominent men and women, all of them white, but the fund had 
by this point a long-standing relationship with the institute, having sup-
ported its efforts to train teachers for the surrounding rural areas (the spe-
cial focus of the fund’s philanthropy), and the trustees were to consider 
Patterson’s request to provide fi nancing for the fi eld. The fund’s newest 
and most renowned trustee, First Lady Eleanor Roosevelt, attended her 
fi rst board meeting there. She was familiar with Tuskegee because of the 
institute’s infantile paralysis hospital, a special interest of the fi rst couple. 
Already an aviation enthusiast—“[F]lying is the nearest thing to heaven 
most of us are likely to experience during our mortal lives,” she had  written 



THE BLACK EAGLES TAKE FLIGHT  51

in a 1939 article for Collier’s Magazine titled “Flying is Fun,” in which she 
also encouraged parents to allow their children to take fl ying lessons—
Roosevelt decided she could do some good by visiting Kennedy Field.26

She met there with Chief Anderson, informed him that everybody had 
told her that black people could not fl y airplanes, and asked if he would 
mind taking her for an aerial tour of the vicinity. “We had a delightful 
fl ight,” Anderson remembered. “She enjoyed it very much. We came 
back and she said, ‘Well, you can fl y all right.’ ” Of course, Roosevelt knew 
full well about the program that had been in existence for more than a 
year by that point, and she would not have believed for a second the folk-
lore that African Americans as a race were incapable of fl ying airplanes. 
She made the fl ight with Anderson purely for publicity purposes, and 
her plan worked. The photograph of the fi rst lady sitting behind Ander-
son in a Waco biplane appeared in newspapers across the country, and 
Roosevelt described the fl ight glowingly in her widely read newspaper 
column, “My Day.”27

Roosevelt’s report refl ected her wide-ranging interests. Calling Tuskegee 
“a very fi ne institution which has always interested me very much,” she 
also commented on the school’s poor surroundings. The conditions of 
the black schools the trustees visited were deplorable; those of even of the 
white schools were such, the fi rst lady assured her readers, that they “would 
hardly satisfy you if you believed education was necessary for participa-
tion in our democratic form of government.” The Rosenwald Fund trustees 
also visited the Tuskegee hospital while in the area. Roosevelt praised the 
work of Dr. John Chenault, “almost the only Negro doctor in the country, 
I think, who has had full training as an orthopaedic surgeon and has spe-
cialized in infantile paralysis” and looked forward to sharing photographs 
of Chenault’s poliomyelitis unit with the president. (She did not mention 
in her column that the National Foundation for Infantile Paralysis had to 
fi nance Chenault’s work in Tuskegee—and would continue to fund the 
facility to the tune of more than $1 million in the decade of the 1940s 
alone—because the Roosevelts’ nearby Warm Springs Foundation served 
white patients only.)28

“Finally,” she reported for her national readership, “we went out to the 
aviation fi eld, where a Civil Aeronautics unit for the teaching of colored 
pilots is in full swing. . . . These boys are good pilots. I had the fun of going 
up in one of the tiny training planes with the head instructor, and seeing 
this interesting countryside from the air.” For millions of newspaper read-
ers throughout the country, this would be the fi rst they had heard of black 
aviators, and Roosevelt was careful to place the program in larger context. 
“The days at Tuskegee have given me much to think about,” she con-
cluded. “To see a group of people working together for the improvement of 
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 undesirable conditions is very heartening. The problems seem great, but at 
least they are understood and people are working on them.”29

The trustees of the Rosenwald Fund expressed the belief that the cost of 
the facility should ideally be borne by Tuskegee Institute’s board of trust-
ees, but in the end voted to lend up to $175,000 to the school for “the 
purchase of a suitable site, development of an airfi eld, construction and 
installation of facilities and purchase of equipment.” A month later the 
institute purchased 650 acres of the S.M. Eich plantation 3 miles northeast 
of campus, and Moton Field, named for the institute’s second president, 
Robert Russa Moton, was born.30

The Eleanor Roosevelt connection took on a life of its own in the folk-
lore of the Tuskegee Airmen. Eventually, collective memory gave her full 
credit for the creation of the military’s Tuskegee fl ight program. Anderson 
himself remembered in an oral history interview that Roosevelt just hap-
pened to be in town to visit the infantile paralysis center when she made 
an impromptu fl ight with him, and that two or three weeks later the AAC 
announced it was creating a fl ight program at Tuskegee. A Tuskegee cadet 
recalled that Eleanor Roosevelt, in the vicinity because she was on the 
Tuskegee Institute Board of Trustees in this version of the story, had fl own 
with Anderson out of sheer curiosity and “as a result of that, she convinced 
her husband that blacks could fl y, and six months later there was a program 
at Tuskegee.” A student journalist for the college newspaper who accompa-
nied Roosevelt on her tour of the campus and witnessed the historic fl ight 
said, “Shortly after [the fl ight], word came down that it had been offi cially 
ordered by the president and obeyed by the generals, that [blacks] were 
going to be immediately taken in for the fl ying corps. And the training was 
going to take place at Tuskegee.”31

In reality, the War Department had announced the creation of the pro-
gram fi ve months before Roosevelt’s fl ight with Anderson, and it was the 
AAC that had asked Tuskegee Institute to fi nd a suitable location for a 
primary fl ight training facility. Gen. Walter R. Weaver, commander of 
the Southeastern Air Corps Training Command, informed Patterson and 
Washington in February 1941 that the school would need to build the pri-
mary facility from scratch and that it would have to be “fully equipped and 
staffed and ready for receiving cadets [by] July 15, 1941.”32 This meeting 
led to Tuskegee’s request of the Rosenwald Fund, which in turn led to 
the trustees’ meeting at Tuskegee and Eleanor Roosevelt’s visit. Yet many 
Tuskegee Airmen remembered the fi rst lady as the catalyst and main party 
responsible for the program as a whole.

They were not alone in this belief. There was no question among the 
general public at the time (and can be no question now) that the fi rst lady 
held more liberal racial views than did the president and that she pushed 
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him to guarantee the civil rights of black Americans. Americans who liked 
FDR personally but disagreed with his policies found his wife to be a con-
venient fi gure to blame when the administration veered too far left for their 
tastes. The public plainly ascribed to the fi rst lady much more infl uence 
with various federal agencies on these matters than she wielded in reality, 
and military men were especially quick to blame her for what they per-
ceived as the War Department’s cowardly kowtowing to bellyaching spe-
cial interest groups who had Mrs. Roosevelt’s ear. Gen. Frank O’Driscoll 
Hunter, who would clash with blacks in the Air Forces in the course of the 
war, described his branch’s chain of command this way, beginning with 
his superior offi cer: “General Arnold got his orders from General Marshall, 
and he got his from Secretary of War Stimson, and he got his from Mrs. 
Roosevelt.”33

Having secured the necessary loan from the Rosenwald Fund, Tuskegee 
Institute moved ahead quickly, contracting with the civil engineering fi rm 
of Alexander and Repass of Iowa to prepare the Moton Field site and con-
struct the necessary buildings to AAC specifi cations. Archie Alexander, the 
fi rm’s co-owner and one of the nation’s premier black engineers, hired 
several white subcontractors from the area, and Tuskegee Institute made 
available several of its master craftsmen, facilities, and student laborers for 
the urgent project. Heavy rains delayed construction through much of the 
summer, but the facility was ready to open by late August.34

G. L. Washington assigned Anderson, a man whose purpose in life, 
he recalled, “was fl ying and teaching others to fl y,” as Moton Field’s chief 
instructor pilot, made Lewis Jackson his director of training, and hired 
 Austin (“Butch”) Humbles, a West Virginia State CPT graduate, as the 
fi eld’s chief mechanic. Chief Anderson’s wife, Gertrude, oversaw adminis-
trative operations at the fi eld as Washington’s secretary, Katie Whitney (who 
would soon marry instructor Linkwood Williams) served as Washington’s 
secretary at the fi eld, and Gracie Perry handled administrative duties for 
Humbles. Perry was a native of Selma, the home of the Air Corps’s Craig 
Field, so she had seen air operations before. But when she saw Moton for 
the fi rst time, she later recalled, “I was just in awe. It was just fascinating, 
and I was so proud of those guys. The guys looked good! And the cadets 
were just so erect. They had to march to meals, they had to march to the 
bus, they had to march this way. It was just interesting.”35

The military training program at Moton fell under the responsibilities of 
Capt. Noel Parrish, a white liberal and the newly arrived director of training 
for the 66th Army Air Corps Primary Flight School. Parrish was a rather 
unlikely AAC offi cer, but his personal experiences and unique set of values 
made him the perfect man for the job. There literally was not a better-
qualifi ed individual for the position in the entire service.
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Parrish’s father, a Disciples of Christ minister who held a series of 
teaching jobs and pastorships throughout the Deep South and border 
states, moved the family to Houston, Texas, when Noel, the oldest of four 
children, was fourteen. As a teenager, Noel Parrish might have been con-
sidered a racial radical. He organized Christian Endeavor Societies in his 
father’s and uncle’s congregations in Houston, through which he worked 
to pass resolutions opposing war and racial segregation. He challenged 
congregants to accept Negro parishioners and as a result of his activism, 
Parrish recalled, “I got to be such a pest that my uncle asked me to move to 
some other church where it wouldn’t deplete the family income by getting 
somebody fi red, namely the pastor.”36

Parrish enrolled at Rice Institute (now Rice University) at the age of 
fourteen and graduated in 1928. He found that precious few employers 
were willing to hire an eighteen-year-old college graduate (and a 120-pound 
one at that), so he returned to Rice in 1929 to take education courses with 
the goal of becoming a teacher. But schools superintendents proved no 
more likely to hire a man little older than their high school students, so Par-
rish became a low-wage white-collar worker at the Texas Co. (later Texaco) 
just as the Great Depression hit the state. Without a family to support and 
the last man hired, Parrish was the fi rst fi red, and he again found himself 
unable to fi nd work. He moved to San Francisco but found job prospects 
even worse there. Unable to think of a better alternative, he responded to a 
recruiting pitch from the U.S. Army in 1930.37

Parrish volunteered for the Eleventh U.S. Cavalry based in Monterey, 
California. “Since you did cavalry drill in the morning,” he reasoned, 
“[along with] infantry drill in the afternoon and worked in the stables at 
night, I thought that would help my physical condition, which was rather 
poor.” Parrish put on 40 pounds of muscle in a matter of months, which 
made him an attractive candidate for fl ight training when that opportunity 
arose six months after he enlisted. It was fortunate that a position in the 
AAC presented itself, because while in the cavalry Parrish found out the 
hard way that he was afraid of horses. The cavalry’s training, he remem-
bered, “was calculated either to kill you or make a man out of you, no mid-
dle ground in there,” and the riding “was about as physically disturbing as 
anything that [later] happened in the Air Force.”38

Parrish was scared of airplanes, too, he candidly admitted later. But 
anything had to be better than the soul-deadening boredom of the cav-
alry, so he asked for a transfer to the AAC. He supposed that at least his 
 better-educated comrades in the fl ight cadets would have more interest-
ing vocabularies than the riffraff of the cavalry. He graduated from the 
fi rst class of basic aviation training at Randolph Field in San Antonio and 
earned his second lieutenant’s commission in 1932. The AAC was a ter-
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ribly  dangerous place in the early 1930s; fi fteen of the ninety-six members 
of Parrish’s class died in fl ying accidents within a year after graduation, 
mostly from pilot error, and the service’s overall casualty rate for pilots was 
worse then than it would be during World War II.39

Even so, competition for fl ying jobs in the Depression-era AAC was 
fi erce. After a year as a fl ying offi cer, Parrish lost his commission in a 
reduction-in-force, but he re-enlisted, fl ew transport planes as a private 
fi rst-class pilot, and was reappointed as a reserve offi cer when the AAC 
began expanding under President Roosevelt’s steady military buildup. 
He earned an active commission soon thereafter. Parrish became a career 
offi cer in 1936, but perhaps because he had also been an enlisted man, 
Parrish thought he “had some rather non-elitist and leveling philosophies 
of human behavior.” Those philosophies would serve him well during 
the war.40

Always an independent thinker, Parrish got interested in the concept 
of fl ight training. What combination of physical and mental abilities did a 
man need to become a capable pilot? What tests could the service devise to 
determine with any degree of predictability who possessed those qualities? 
Could they be taught? He rejected what he called the “mysticism” inher-
ent in the conventional wisdom of the time, the belief that a would-be pilot 
either “had it” or didn’t, because no one could defi ne “it” to Parrish’s satis-
faction. He gravitated instead to what he called “pragmatic testing,” a good 
example of which he learned in parachute training, where jumpers had to 
fold their own parachutes. It was pretty easy there to fi gure out which train-
ees were and were not profi cient. “This is my idea of the most realistic fi nal 
exam anybody could have,” he said. His evolving ideas on the subject at the 
time might be called “Darwinian”—the parachute test, at least, involved 
heavy doses of natural selection—but not “social Darwinist,” as was most 
of the thinking regarding race in the AAC between the wars. Parrish’s prac-
tical approach required instructors to ignore any prejudices they may have 
held toward the groups from which their trainees came, and to trust their 
fl yin’ eyes. Could the trainee pass the fl ight tests or not? Throughout the 
war whites would ask Parrish, “How do Negroes fl y?” His answer was con-
sistent: “Negroes fl y very much like everyone else fl ies.”41

Parrish returned to Randolph Field as a fl ight instructor, and by the late 
1930s he was working as the AAC supervisor of a civilian fl ight school at 
Glenview, Illinois, with additional supervisory responsibility for the CPT 
program being operated by the Coffey School in Chicago. In the summer 
of 1941, because (he believed) he was “the only Air Force offi cer who had 
any direct contact with the blacks,” Parrish transferred to Maxwell Field 
to develop plans for the new school at Tuskegee under the direction of 
Maj. Luke S. Smith, director of training at the Southeast Army Air Forces 
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Training Center at Maxwell Field. Washington considered Smith an excep-
tionally fair-minded advocate for the Tuskegee program and apportioned 
a great deal of credit for the training program’s eventual success to Smith 
and Parrish.42

When he transferred to Tuskegee, Parrish observed, as he wrote in a let-
ter to his mother, that local whites were obsessed with “trying to convince 
themselves and everybody else that they are better than the Negroes and 
have little interest in anything else. . . . Being sensible in this kind of situa-
tion really puts you in the middle.” Parrish acknowledged the complexity 
of the assignment, which was a result of all of the attention the black press 
was paying to it, the very public advocacy of the NAACP, the high hopes 
black Americans had for the program, and the nearly complete reluctance 
to train black pilots on the part of the AAF brass. He later understood that 
most offi cers in his position would have regarded the assignment as a 
dead end, but, he said, the “goal seemed important enough to justify going 
ahead with it without worrying too much about my personal career at the 
time. I thought all of that would take care of itself later.” In fact, Parrish’s 
superiors promised him that if he did a good job with the development of 
the controversial Tuskegee program he would be given command of a P-51 
combat squadron in the European Theater within a year.43

Parrish understood exactly how complicated and diffi cult his assign-
ment at Tuskegee would be. “It became a matter of setting up, at least for 
training, a new air training force,” he wrote. “You would have inside the 
white Air Force a miniature . . . black Air Force which would, of course, be 
serviced and supplied, commanded, led, and everything by the Air Force 
itself.” The proposed program “would be a separate training unit and a 
separate combat unit and, in a sense, a separate training command under 
the regular Air Force command. All of this was so complex that it was a 
wonder it ever worked at all.”44

There was, of course, an alternative. “[I]ntegration would have been a 
simpler thing all the way around,” he later said, but “there was no chance of 
that happening at the time for a number of reasons.” The idea that the AAF 
could implement integrated training, especially in the South, without elicit-
ing intense and noisy opposition from Southern elected offi cials, Parrish 
believed at the time, “was just visionary. How long that would take, nobody 
could predict at that time. [But] wars changed things, and they do change 
things. World War II changed things more rapidly than anyone had reason 
to predict before the war.”45

To Parrish’s unending dismay, his superiors in the AAF insisted on 
referring to the fl ight school at Tuskegee as an “experiment” and continued 
to do so throughout the war. The concept turned out “not to be fatal, but 
it was a handicap,” in his judgment, particularly when Parrish attempted 
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to cherry-pick the most academically accomplished and experienced black 
fl yers for the fi rst classes of pilot cadets at Tuskegee. That was not the way 
other cadet applicants were classifi ed and placed in training courses in the 
regular AAF, but Parrish recognized that this group had a better chance of 
succeeding with a cadre that would “graduate fi rst and be leaders, automat-
ically, and be senior in military rank.” “[F]rom somewhere in the depths of 
the classifi cation department of the Air Staff ” came the answer that such 
skimming would “invalidate the experiment,” which, he gathered, “was 
designed to fi nd out something about blacks” rather than train black pilots 
for the war effort.46

Parrish took command of the primary school at Moton Field in August 
1941. The instructors there were all civilian employees of Tuskegee Insti-
tute, most of them African American. There was a popular saying in the 
wartime AAF: “There are three ways to fl y. There’s the right way, the 
wrong way, and the Army way.” Parrish was responsible for enforcing 
the standards of the third way. Soon after the fi rst class graduated from 
primary training, Parrish, now a major, transferred with them to TAAF 
in December 1941 and became responsible for the basic and advanced 
phases of fl ight school under commanding offi cer Maj. James A. Ellison. 
Lt. William T. Smith, a 1939 West Point graduate, replaced Parrish at 
Moton. Ellison, an AAC man with more than thirty years of service, saw 
the construction of TAAF and the creation of the fl ight school through 
to completion but did not last long in the command; he was replaced 
less than a year later by Col. Frederick von Kimble. Within a year Parrish 
would replace Kimble.

The thirteen men of the fi rst class of fl ight cadets at Tuskegee, Class 42-C 
(so named because they were scheduled to graduate in the third month of 
1942; a class scheduled to graduate in January 1942 would have been desig-
nated 42-A), offi cially entered the U.S. Army Air Corps in July 1941. At the 
same time, a cadre of 271 enlisted men entered training schools at Chanute 
Field in Rantoul, Illinois, under more or less desegregated conditions. The 
trainees at Chanute lived in separate barracks and ate in a separate mess, 
but trained with white instructors in mechanics, welding, armoring, para-
chute rigging, communications, weather observation and forecasting, and 
clerk and supply courses. In some cases they interacted with white trainees. 
Upon completion of training these men would transfer to TAAF as the 
99th Pursuit Squadron’s ground crew. There had been internal discus-
sions within the Southeastern Training Command over possibly creating a 
stand-alone training complex on the campus of Tuskegee Institute for this 
purpose, but it was generally agreed that it would be impossible to duplicate 
the facilities and expertise Chanute could offer, especially on short notice. 
Five of the men were being trained as non-fl ying offi cers for the ground 



58 FREEDOM FLYERS

contingent of the 99th; two of them, Elmer D. Jones and Elcan R. Ward, 
had graduated from Tuskegee Institute’s advanced CPT programs.47

African Americans’ pride in the cadets and technicians in training was 
tempered by the knowledge that the 99th would need thirty-three trained 
pilots to fi ll out its full complement. With a typical “washout” rate of at 
least 40 percent, if the Tuskegee program could only admit twelve or 
thirteen cadets a month, it would take at least a year to train and graduate 
the full squadron of pilots—and this at a time when the outcome of the 
war was very much in doubt. The cadets entered ground school train-
ing on the Tuskegee Institute campus and took their fi rst prefl ight and 
fl ight lessons at the CPT program’s facilities at Kennedy Field. Flight 
instruction began at brand-new Moton Field in September. The class of 
42-C included John C. Anderson Jr. of Toledo, Ohio; Charles D. Brown of 
Abbeville, S.C.; Theodore E. Brown of New York, N.Y.; Marion A. Carter 
of Chicago; Lemuel R. Custis of Hartford, Conn.; Charles H. DeBow Jr. 
of Indianapolis; Frederick H. Moore of Sommerville, N.J.; Ulysses S. 
 Pannell of Reagan, Texas; George S. “Spanky” Roberts of Fairmount, 
W.V.; Mac Ross of Dayton, Ohio; William H. Slade of Raleigh, N.C.; Rod-
erick C. Williams of Chicago; and Capt. Benjamin O. Davis Jr., originally 
of Washington, D.C.48

When the aviation cadets began training in July 1941, the entire U.S. 
military had exactly two black offi cers other than chaplains on active duty. 
Brig. Gen. Benjamin O. Davis Sr., a veteran of a “Buffalo Soldier” cavalry 
regiment, the Philippine occupation, and several ROTC assignments at 
historically black colleges including Tuskegee (which he abhorred because 
of its sharply segregated atmosphere), was working at the War Department 
as an assistant to the inspector general. Davis had been promoted to the 
rank of general offi cer by Franklin Roosevelt as part of the October sur-
prise that accompanied the announcement of the 99th’s creation when 
Roosevelt needed black votes to ensure a third term as president. His son, 
Capt. Benjamin O. Davis Jr., was every bit as remarkable a fi gure. A 1936 
graduate of West Point, Davis had endured four years of the silent treat-
ment from his classmates. He entered the academy fi rm in the belief that 
“I was better than anybody else in the things I was interested in doing. No 
doubt in my mind whatsoever.” But on his third day as a plebe (a freshman 
at the academy), the only African American on campus, he had “the biggest 
disappointment in my life.” Sitting in his room by himself, Davis heard a 
knock on the door announcing a meeting to take place in the basement 
of his dormitory in fi ve minutes. By the time he arrived the meeting had 
started. “The fi rst thing I heard was a question from one of the BCT [Basic 
Cadet Training] detail, that was the detail that ran the plebes: ‘What are we 
going to do about this nigger?’ ”49
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Davis never had a roommate at the U.S. Military Academy, always ate 
alone in the mess hall, never shared a word with fellow cadets except in the 
line of duty. He knew that the practice of silencing “had been applied in 
the past to certain cadets who were considered to have violated the honor 
code and refused to resign.” But Davis had committed no such violation; 
he “was to be silenced solely because cadets did not want blacks at West 
Point.” What his fellow cadets failed to realize, he later wrote, “was that 
I was stubborn enough to put up with their treatment to reach the goal 
I had come to attain. . . . I refused to buckle in any way. I maintained my 
self-respect.” In fact, he emerged from the experience feeling “a hell of a 
lot superior, morally,” to his classmates.50

Davis Jr. had requested assignment to the AAC and passed the ser-
vice’s physical entrance examination in his senior year at West Point, but 
he received the same answer that all black Americans received in those 
years: The AAC is not accepting Negroes at this time. Upon graduation 
Davis, then a second lieutenant, married Agatha Scott, a teacher from New 
Haven, Connecticut. They reported to the 24th Infantry Regiment at Fort 
Benning, Georgia, where they found that “[s]egregation was complete and 
absolute” and received the silent treatment all over again. In 1938 Davis 
Jr. was transferred to Tuskegee, where he replaced his father as professor 
of military science and tactics with responsibility for the ROTC program. 
Davis received quick promotions while at Tuskegee; he was a captain by 
1940. But, he remembered, “My job at Tuskegee was as close to nothing 
as it could be and still be called a job.” Agatha Davis helped fi ll the hours 
of what Benjamin Davis called “the essentially nonproductive, even useless 
existence we lived at Tuskegee” by organizing under-the-radar boycotts of 
white merchants who mistreated blacks in town. When his father was pro-
moted to brigadier general and given command of a cavalry brigade at Fort 
Riley, Kansas, Davis Jr. jumped at the chance to transfer out of Tuskegee 
as the general’s aide.51

Davis Jr. had been at Fort Riley for a short time when he received the 
surprising word that the chief of the AAC, Maj. Gen. George Brett, wanted 
him to transfer into the branch. Brett expected that Davis would take com-
mand of the newly created 99th after completing pilot training. The AAC 
brass thereby acceded to requests from Parrish and from Tuskegee’s Pat-
terson for at least one handpicked leader in the fi rst class of cadets; once 
again, the planners could not possibly have chosen a better leader for the 
cadets. Davis relished the chance to realize his Air Corps dream but looked 
to returning to Tuskegee with ambivalence.52

Davis turned out not to have a natural aptitude for fl ying. To Parrish’s 
frustration, instructors must have reported that Davis did not “have it” as 
a pilot cadet, because Parrish assigned him extra instruction from Chief 
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Anderson. Davis’s problems, Parrish recalled, stemmed from the same 
attributes that made him an exemplary West Point cadet and infantry offi -
cer. Parrish found Davis “overly conscientious in everything he did . . . cau-
tiously precise in everything he did in the air.” In this particular case, 
military discipline may have proved a hindrance: “If you told him to make 
a right turn, instead of feeling it out, he would just walk the stick over and 
make a right turn as though he was maneuvering on a parade ground to 
a precision of a specifi c angle.” West Pointers who undertook fl ight train-
ing “did have a rather surprisingly high elimination rate” for this reason, 
according to Parrish, but Davis was able to develop the skills and attitude 
he needed to become a successful pilot.53

Davis was surrounded at Tuskegee by a small handful of accomplished 
pilots. George S. “Spanky” Roberts, another of the 42-C class, was a gradu-
ate of the fi rst CPT class at West Virginia State College who, like Parrish, 
had also graduated from college at the age of eighteen; he distinguished 
himself as the best fl yer of the group. Lemuel R. Custis graduated from 
Howard University before it initiated the CPT program. Cadets like Roberts 
and Custis who were assigned to Tuskegee typically attended basic Army 
training at Keesler Field near Biloxi, Mississippi, or at a handful of other 
bases in Dixie fi rst. The pilots and ground crew members came from every 
corner of the country and for many, the trip was their fi rst to the strictly 
segregated South. Maurice Thomas, a native New Yorker who had never 
before been south, recalled, “I’ll tell you the God’s honest truth: When I got 
into the South, I thought I was in a loony bin.”54 Alexander Jefferson, a 
pilot cadet who had grown up in Detroit in a Great Migration family, had 
a slightly different perspective on the experience. “I have run up against 
racism,” he said.

A lot of the Tuskegee Airmen from New York and other places say that 
on their fi rst trip to the South, they were completely afraid, completely 
bamboozled. Me, I knew about the South. I’d been going down there 
every summer all my life, and I spent four years [as a college student] 
in Atlanta. I knew racism. Never went downtown to Atlanta to a depart-
ment store. Get on the streetcar, you go to the back, automatically. This is 
something that I just took for granted as the way of doing things. It didn’t 
mean that I acquiesced to it; I hated it. But understand the system, which 
means that we were part of the change. I lived to be part of the fantastic 
system that helped to change it.55

Tuskegee did not have a train station on the Western Railway of Ala-
bama line, the main line between Montgomery and Atlanta, so cadets 
disembarked at the small Macon County community of Chehaw. The 
train station was unremarkable and the surrounding vicinity even less so. 
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Nonetheless, Chehaw made an impression on nearly everyone who passed 
through Tuskegee in the course of the war—apparently because the train’s 
conductor had an unforgettable way of announcing the upcoming stop. 
 Jefferson mused, “I can remember the conductor: ‘Cheee-haw!’ Oh my 
God.” There was nothing to see from the Chehaw platform save cotton 
fi elds and scrubby pine trees, and many arrived when it was pitch-black 
anyway, so the cadets, enlisted men, and others who traveled to Tuskegee 
with such high hopes had to have experienced an anticlimax when they 
arrived.56

In July 1941, TAAF’s living facilities were still months away from being 
completed, so Custis and the other cadets in the inaugural class bunked in 
a renovated bathhouse on the Tuskegee campus. (B.O. and Agatha Davis 
lived in cramped quarters in a campus building next door.) Custis found it 
diffi cult to adjust to military discipline, but the instruction was compara-
tively easy—in part, he believed, because the civilian instructors, including 
the white ground school instructors, were so helpful and eager to see the 
cadets succeed. “My understanding was that most of the white personnel 
that was involved in this had volunteered, so they wanted this thing to suc-
ceed,” he said. “It wasn’t a bunch of white guys being sent there to do 
something they didn’t want to do.” His fellow cadets, nearly all of whom 
had completed CPT, helped Custis overcome the diffi culties he faced in 
learning to fl y.57

Lewis J. Lynch was “elated” to be accepted into the cadet corps. “Going 
to Tuskegee was the culmination of my aspirations. I thought, ‘Boy, this is 
it. I’m going to go down there, and I’m going to learn how to fl y, and I’m 
going to be a big hero, and I’m going to come back with a Distinguished 
Flying Cross and girls are all going to fall at my feet.’ ” But he realized 
almost from the beginning of his training at Moton that he was not grasp-
ing something basic. Lynch “damn near killed my instructor” and himself 
in one lesson; the instructor scheduled him for a check ride with Director 
of Training Lewis Jackson.58

“I knew the procedures. I knew all that. But I was doing [everything] 
by rote,” Lynch said. “After we’d been up maybe ten minutes, Jackson 
said, ‘OK, I’ve got it. You follow me through,’ which means get on the 
controls with him and feel everything he does with the controls; so I did 
that.” To teach Lynch to fl y, Jackson would have to help him develop an 
experiential understanding, not just textbook knowledge, of how to oper-
ate the Stearman trainer aircraft. “One of the fi rst things he did was roll 
the airplane upside down, and we were hanging on our seatbelts, and 
he’s pushing the stick way up in the corner; he’s pushing the rudders; 
and I can see how far you have to push this thing, and how you can man-
handle that airplane,” Lynch said. “It’s not a nice, smooth, comfortable 
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ride. [Jackson] said, ‘Now, follow me through. Look at the wings.’ I could 
see, ‘Shoot, you push the rudder all the way in. You do this with the stick. 
It’s not comfortable, but you do it.’ I could see how you could kick this 
airplane around. Finally I’m fl ying the airplane. Now I know that I can 
throw this airplane around and that I really have to be in charge.” (Lynch 
graduated from TAFS and fl ew forty-two missions in the war.)59

There were originally four civilian instructors at Moton Field, all of 
them with deep Tuskegee connections. Milton Crenchaw, a Little Rock 
native, had graduated from Dunbar Junior College in that city and trans-
ferred to Tuskegee Institute to study auto mechanics. He entered the 
fi rst CPT class there and helped build the facilities at Kennedy Field, 
walking the 7 miles to the airfi eld every day from his dormitory. Cren-
chaw hitchhiked to Birmingham and passed the CAA examination that 
allowed him to instruct pilot cadets on Dec. 8, 1941. As a fl ight instructor 
in the college’s CPT program, he earned $250 a month, roughly double 
what professors who had been at Tuskegee for decades were paid at the 
time. He soon transferred into the program at Moton Field where the 
course of instruction differed little from that of the CPT program.60

Crenchaw compared the process of teaching a cadet to fl y to breaking a 
wild horse:

You size a guy up. . . . The Indians had a certain technique, and it wasn’t 
beating them, but trying to be the horse’s friend: cultivate friendship and an 
understanding between the wild horse and you. Well, we would do the same 
thing. We would cultivate a friendship with the cadet, and you kind of cool 
him down and tell him about so and so. And then we’re going to take a ride.

We go through the different steps. And the steps are the same 
whether you’re teaching a fellow in the fi rst grade or whether you’re 
teaching a horse to stay in the corral or whether you are teaching a 
cadet. All of them are the same. So you teach basic things: How to 
fl y straight and level. How to make turns, left and right. How to go 
up and come down. And you give him a little easy training in those 
four elements: what controls are in charge at certain positions. And as 
you graduate from one to the other, then you start combining maneu-
vers—like a chandelle; it’s where you make a dive, make a turn and 
then make a pullout. There are three different controls you have to 
operate to perform this maneuver. All of the maneuvers are basically 
the same, and they all [start] from straight and level turns, either div-
ing or climbing. That’s all aviation is about, those four things.61

Alongside Crenchaw as instructors at Moton were Chief Anderson; Charles 
Foxx, generally regarded as the most gifted graduate of the Tuskegee CPT 
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program; and Forrest Shelton, one of the three local white pilots who had 
constructed Kennedy Field.

Herb Flowers became the fi fth instructor at Moton. The son of a North 
Carolina farmer, he had attended North Carolina A&T as a pre-med 
major for two years, but when his scholarship ran out in the midst of the 
Great Depression he left school, migrated to Baltimore, and found work 
as a chauffeur. Flowers read about the campaign to pressure the AAC to 
admit blacks in Baltimore’s venerable black newspaper, The Afro-Ameri-
can, in 1941 and volunteered. He was ordered to report to Tuskegee that 
September as one of ten members of the third training class, 42-E.62

Flowers excelled under Crenchaw’s instruction and was the fi rst of his 
class to solo. Five of Flowers’s ten original classmates graduated with him 
from the ten-week primary program at Moton to basic training at TAAF. 
All six graduated from the basic to advanced phase of training. Flowers 
did not speak of it, but according to several other sources he progressed 
so far into the advanced program that he had already bought his second 
lieutenant’s uniform and mailed invitations for his graduation ceremony 
to his family when he was informed that he would not graduate. Others 
saw in this event proof of a quota system at Tuskegee: if the AAC washed 
out a great pilot like Flowers for no good reason, it could only have been 
because racists there wanted to keep the number of black pilot graduates 
in a given month arbitrarily low. Flowers, on the other hand, suggested 
that he was reassigned to the corps of civilian instructors simply because 
the primary program was ramping up and needed additional instructors. 
In any case, he was eliminated from the military program and sent to a 
civilian instructor’s course soon before he was scheduled to graduate; he 
began working at Moton late in 1943. Yet he betrayed no bitterness about 
the experience. “I enjoyed it tremendously,” he said.63

The corps of civilian instructors at Moton did expand dramatically 
after 1942 as outside pressure forced the Air Forces to increase the num-
ber of black pilots in training. Philip Lee, a graduate of the Hampton 
Institute CPT program who had been employed as a CPT instructor at 
Kennedy Field since 1940, was one of the next civilian instructors to 
arrive. His college sweetheart, Theophia Hicks, worked at Moton as the 
secretary to Tuskegee Institute’s physical plant engineer, G. A. Reed; 
they were married in the historic chapel on Tuskegee’s campus in 1943. 
The civilian instructor corps continued to add members from the tiny 
elite of black aviators. From Pennsylvania came Roscoe Draper, who 
had left Chief Anderson’s hometown of Bryn Mawr for the CPT pro-
gram at Hampton, and James Plinton, a graduate of Lincoln University 
who would go on to organize airlines in Ecuador and Haiti and become 
the fi rst and for many years only black executive of a major American 
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 airline.64 “These guys were like little gods for us as cadets,” one of their 
pupils remembered.65

The Tuskegee CPT program contributed James “Muscles” Wright, a 
Georgian; Claude Platte, a Texan; and Linkwood Williams of Louisiana to 
the Moton Field instructor corps. Alexander Wilkerson, another Hamp-
ton man, joined Wendell Lipscomb, a native Californian, and Jack Johnson 
from Chicago. Matthew Plummer, a primary fl ight instructor from Hous-
ton, Texas, who would later become an attorney, on at least one occasion 
organized several of the Moton Field civilian workers to attempt to register 
to vote at the Macon County courthouse in the town of Tuskegee. (None of 
them succeeded in registering.) Charles Johnson Jr. was the son of one of 
the most important American sociologists of the twentieth century. John-
son Jr. graduated from Fisk University in 1942 and volunteered for the 
Air Forces. A hearing problem kept him from entering the cadet corps, 
and military disorganization ended the training program for service pilots 
that he did enter midway through his training. He ended up at Moton as 
a civilian instructor in 1943 and trained cadets there through the end of 
the war.66

As the training program at Moton expanded during the course of the 
war, the pool of available men dwindled, and Washington hired an increas-
ing number of women to run the maintenance operations at Moton Field—
jobs that women had been denied before the war emergency. Mildred 
Hanson, one of two female graduates of Tuskegee’s CPT program, and 
Alice Dungey Gray rigged the cadets’ and instructors’ parachutes. Ruby 
Washington maintained fl ight logs. At least three wives of fl ight instructors 
worked as secretaries at Moton. There was little turnover at Moton among 
either AAC personnel, civilians, or Tuskegee Institute administrators.67

More signifi cantly, Washington hired a number of women as mechan-
ics. Somewhat to his surprise, they did excellent work. Fannie R. Gunn was 
representative of the women who responded to the openings created by the 
crisis. “During World War II, I imagine they took most of the able men and 
carried them to the Army,” she said. “They were short of manpower down 
at Moton Field. So they announced that they would like to have as many 
women to come and take a test and have about three months of training at 
the fi eld.” Gunn was one of seven children in a farming family in Hickory 
Grove, a Macon County community, and completed the twelfth grade at 
Tuskegee Institute. She was twenty-fi ve years old in 1941.68

As a girl, Gunn had been interested in the automotive mechanical work 
she saw her brothers doing—especially when they built the family’s fi rst 
automobile, a Model-T Ford, out of parts scavenged from other cars—but 
never had a chance to do it herself before the war came. “Mr. Austin H. 
Humbles, the head of the maintenance department, wanted some women 
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to go into aircraft maintenance,” she recalled. “I [studied] under him for 
about three months of training. They gave us classes every day, and we 
graduated after we had those classes. Then they gave us a test, and I passed 
and I was selected one of the ones to work at Moton Field. I was there for 
three years. I worked there until the base closed.”69

Gunn and the other women mechanics performed routine maintenance 
on dozens of Stearman PT-17s, the workhorse open-cockpit biplanes train-
ers used at Moton. “We used to do a checkup on the airplanes before the 
cadets would fl y. Then we’d have what you called a twenty-fi ve-hour check, 
a fi fty-hour check and a one hundred-hour check on each airplane. Then 
Mr. Humbles would have to come in behind us and check them to see 
that we had done the type of work that needed to be done.” Given the local 
manpower shortage, operations at Moton Field could not have continued 
without female labor. Every morning Gunn and her crew “would have to 
take [the trainers] out on the fi eld for the cadets to fl y. All the ladies would 
take them out on the fi eld, warm them up, and have them ready for the 
cadets to fl y.” Gunn was let go soon after V-J Day and married a returning 
soldier. They purchased and ran a convenience store, and she provided day 
care for local children for years afterward, so she was never again able to 
use the wartime training she received from Humbles. But she cherished 
her service. “It was quite an experience for the women,” she recalled. “This 
was really the fi rst time that I have heard of women being connected with 
this type of work.”70

Tuskegee Institute’s original contract with the War Department called 
for the college to provide primary instruction at Moton Field for a class of 
ten students every fi ve weeks. With an estimated washout rate of 40 to 60 
percent, Washington expected to have an average of sixteen cadets in train-
ing at a given time. Moton Field was built to accommodate this number, 
and the institute provided mess and barracks facilities for that many cadets, 
plus transportation between the campus and the fi eld. However, class sizes 
far exceeded initial estimates from the actual start of the program; the aver-
age incoming class had nineteen members during the program’s fi rst nine 
months. The Air Force’s training program expanded across the board after 
Pearl Harbor and African Americans’ lobbying campaign pressured the 
force to admit ever more cadets. By 1944 incoming classes were as large as 
eighty in number. Tuskegee had to expand Moton Field beginning in 1942, 
adding a second hangar with needed offi ce and meeting space, additional 
landing space on the increasingly crowded fi eld, and a lunchroom serv-
ing what was now a large civilian workforce, all of which were in place by 
1943.71

The co-educational campus of Tuskegee Institute provided an unusually 
rich social life for the cadets. “The preponderance of women students at the 
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institute, because of the war, met important social needs of the cadets dur-
ing their off-hours and on occasions when dances or other social events we 
scheduled for them,” Washington noted. “This was a feature that cadets at 
our Army Primary enjoyed that was not in the contract or provided at other 
primary schools [for whites] so handily.”72 Women students were attracted 
to fl ying cadets in uniform, and there were fewer male students on campus 
during the war, so the cadets faced comparatively little competition from 
Tuskegee men. (According to two observers, however, there were still as 
many as four or fi ve college-aged men on campus during the war for every 
college-aged woman.) Cadets did not have the luxury of free time, and the 
institute’s “matrons” kept close watch over their charges in any case, so 
there was little opportunity for untoward behavior. It was, in fact, against 
regulations for cadets to be seen speaking unsupervised with women on 
campus. But the atmosphere was nurturing, and the cadets did have an 
unusual variety of cultural and social outlets available to them.73

After Pearl Harbor the massive expansion of training programs neces-
sitated less restrictive entrance standards for aviation cadets, and the Air 
Forces soon opened the programs to men with a high school education 
who could pass a rigorous entrance exam. Black cadets who entered the 
Air Forces without college diplomas fi rst attended the College Training 
Detachment (CTD) at Tuskegee Institute. For hundreds of cadets, CTD 
provided them their fi rst opportunity to set foot on a college campus, and it 
put them on the eventual road to college degrees, wider horizons, and bet-
ter paying careers. Herbert Thorpe, a high school graduate, was accepted 
into cadet training in 1944 and entered the CTD program. The experience 
was formative for him: “It was really an eye-opener to me to see how things 
went on a college campus. I was really impressed to be on a college campus 
and go to college classes and take instruction from college professors,” he 
remembered, “particularly black college professors. I was proud to be there. 
I was impressed that there was such a thing, and I was really proud to be in 
that kind of an environment. I guess the other thing I was impressed with 
was the level of expertise and education of some of my fellow cadets. It was 
both intimidating and humbling.”74

As supportive as the atmosphere of the Moton Field program was for 
cadets, it was at the end of the day a military training program. Cadets 
might fi nd that Tuskegee Institute students wanted desperately for them to 
succeed, that their classmates stayed up late at night to help laggards learn 
their lessons, and that civilian instructors were willing to do anything they 
could to help the cadets learn to fl y. But if cadets could not learn to fl y to mil-
itary specifi cations such that they could “solo” within twenty hours of fl ight 
time, instructors eliminated them from the program. “Washing out” was of 
course the overriding fear of every cadet, a terror tied up in a  complicated 
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web of race pride, self-esteem, and patriotism. “It was a devastating expe-
rience to be washed out,” Custis said. “I know if I had been washed out, 
I guess I would have jumped off a bridge somewhere or something.” The 
cadets dealt with and remembered the fear in interesting ways.75

Maj. Harold C. (“Scottie”) Magoon, one of the original AAC offi cers at 
the Moton Field facility, rose to the position of Army supervisor of the Pri-
mary Flying School, the job fi rst held by Noel Parrish, in 1942. As such 
he was responsible for eliminating the cadets who could not demonstrate 
fl ying profi ciency within a short period of time, and the cadets did not 
remember him fondly. Magoon occupied a diffi cult historical position. In 
the Tuskegee Airmen oral histories he is remembered as the personifi ca-
tion of the AAF’s institutional racism, the point of the spear at which blacks 
were driven from fl ight training.76

The reality of fl ight training in wartime was that some cadets who could 
have been taught to be perfectly competent pilots, if instructors had pos-
sessed the luxury of time to get through to them, were not afforded the 
chance. Students in CPT programs had that luxury, but the military was 
a less forgiving environment. The responsibility for washing out cadets 
fell to offi cers like Magoon. And because of the history behind the estab-
lishment of the Tuskegee program, it was all too easy for the cadets, both 
those who were eliminated and those who remained in the program, to 
attribute eliminations to blatant racism. The War Department had limited 
black opportunities in military aviation by creating a single all-black pur-
suit squadron in 1941 (and three additional squadrons in 1942), confi ning 
trainees to the comparatively small facility at Tuskegee, and prohibiting 
integrated units.

These decisions and the accumulation of institutionalized racism that 
undergirded them, along with the reality of fl ight training in wartime, 
limited the number of available slots for black pilots and ensured that the 
elimination rate at Tuskegee would remain higher than that of white train-
ing facilities throughout the war. (Several former cadets recalled Parrish 
telling them that Tuskegee washed out better pilots than graduated from 
the all-white programs he had been part of at Randolph and Kelly fi elds.) 
There can be no doubt that individual offi cers in the Air Forces considered 
blacks to be naturally inferior and that the institution as a whole limited 
their opportunities, but personalized racism was not responsible for the 
quota system at Tuskegee.77

G.L. Washington remembered Magoon, a native of Buffalo, N.Y., as “a 
fi ne offi cer and person to work with,” but the Tuskegee Airmen recalled him 
via doggerel that attributed racism to his elimination practices. It seemed 
to them that Magoon spent as much time as possible alone in his offi ce in 
Hangar One at Moton Field, and they whispered that he did so because 
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he was afraid of black people. To the tune of a popular song of the day, 
“The Sleepy Lagoon,” they crooned, “Major Magoon will get him a coon by 
noon.” Magoon certainly made an impression on the cadets by eliminat-
ing many of them, but the endurance of his place in collective memory is 
surely due in part to the major’s exotic surname. No one wrote songs about 
his predecessor in the position, Maj. William T. Smith.78

The Air Force’s paper trail indicates that this collective memory of 
Magoon may have been unwarranted. In a foreword to the offi cial history 
of the 66th AAF Flying Training Detachment, Magoon expressed evident 
pride in having participated in a program that had “surpassed the hopes 
of even its most enthusiastic supporters.” Noting that civilian and military 
observers had considered the program “experimental . . . at best” when it 
was conceived, Magoon credited his predecessors Parrish and Smith with 
having put systems in place that allowed for the program’s rapid expansion 
without sacrifi cing high standards, and civilian employees and enlisted 
men for keeping the program on course. In fact, the annual number of 
trainees accommodated by the training program at Moton Field expanded 
by 700 percent between 1941 and 1944. Managing the expansion would 
have been a daunting task for anyone; it could perhaps account for why 
Magoon spent so much time in his offi ce.79

For some, washing out from the program was crushing. For others, it 
provided relief. In this respect Crawford Dowdell, a pilot cadet from Geor-
gia in the class of 43-F, may have been representative of more airmen than 
one might expect. “I wasn’t a gung-ho pilot person,” he candidly admit-
ted later, confessing that he had volunteered for the AAF because a pilot 
cadet’s monthly pay was $25 higher than an infantryman’s: “Not ever hav-
ing had much money, I thought it would be a good boost.” But he found 
that he enjoyed fl ying. Dowdell had nearly completed primary and looked 
forward to graduation when he received the call to fl y a check ride with 
Maj. Magoon. Unfortunately, it was obvious even to Dowdell that he could 
not put the airplane through the necessary maneuvers to military specifi ca-
tions, and he held no ill will toward the supervisor of the fl ying school for 
eliminating him from the program. “Some of the guys got upset if they 
washed out,” he recalled, “but I fi gured if I wasn’t going to be a good pilot, 
I didn’t want to be out there. I said, ‘Well, if I’m not supposed to fl y, I guess 
I’m not supposed to fl y.’ ”80

Dowdell was among the fortunate. In the early months of the Tuskegee 
program washouts went back to the Army, and many ended up in labor or 
infantry units. After the War Department announced the creation of the 
100th, 301st, and 302nd pursuit squadrons and the 477th Bombardment 
Group beginning in 1942, however, hundreds of specialist spots opened up 
for blacks in the AAF. Cadets who were eliminated from the fl ight program 
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after this point had the opportunity to train as radio operators, bombardiers, 
navigators, or in dozens of other job categories. After he was eliminated, 
Dowdell trained in desegregated classes in radio communications at Boca 
Raton, Florida, and Yale University, earned his commission as a second 
lieutenant, and returned to Tuskegee as an offi cer in the 477th.81

The washout rate at Tuskegee was higher than at comparable all-white 
institutions, but these statistics were not necessarily indicators of the qual-
ity of the program’s instruction. According to Washington, roughly forty 
contract facilities provided primary fl ight training for the Southeast Train-
ing Center. After the center began monthly evaluations of the facilities, 
Moton Field’s operation was “No. 1 on the list more than once, and was 
generally near the top, but never at the very bottom.”82

The Moton Field program’s triumphs seemed to validate Tuskegee 
Institute’s approach to “racial uplift.” Having proved themselves capable 
of working in partnership with the AAF, the institute’s leaders built on 
a long-standing culture of achievement to create a training program that 
whites who had previously been indifferent toward blacks’ aspirations, at 
best, had no choice but to consider a success. In so doing they not only 
burnished their institution’s national image, but they also created dozens 
of remunerative jobs for black professionals in a career fi eld from which 
they had previously been excluded and brought bright, young, energetic 
minds to Tuskegee. Wartime changes altered the town of Tuskegee in 
these important ways, but it did little to upset traditional racial hierarchies. 
Blacks who could risk their lives training to defend their country at Moton 
Field and nearby TAAF still could not vote in Macon County or be served 
in white-owned Tuskegee businesses on an equal basis. Nonetheless, the 
creation of the Moton Field-TAAF complex itself provided a new model of 
black achievement and helped to shorten the reign of white supremacy in 
Alabama and beyond. Between 1941 and 1945 TAAF became something 
very close to the equivalent of a small, highly functional, all-black city.
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3The Experiment

In 1941 Clarence C. Jamison had fi nished two years at the 
University of Chicago majoring in bacteriology, but his family was having 
a hard time scraping up enough money for him to continue his educa-
tion. When he saw a War Department advertisement announcing the fl ight 
training program for blacks, he thought, “Hell, that’s made for me!” He 
and another African American friend had already completed the univer-
sity’s CPT course. “I remember the ad,” he said. “As an aviation cadet, 
you’d get $75 a month, I think. And you fi nished, and then if you became a 
second lieutenant, you got $245 a month base pay, plus an extra half of that, 
over $100, for fl ying pay. And then a subsistence [allowance]. That’s about 
$400 a month. I said, ‘Nothing wrong with that. I can go back to school 
later.’ ” On top of the pay, Jamison relished the thought of responding to “a 
great opportunity. I knew we were being pioneers.”1

The War Department built hundreds of new training facilities across 
the United States between 1940 and 1945, but the base Jamison went to 
for his training, Tuskegee Army Air Field (TAAF), was unique. No other 
base attracted nearly the attention from any segment of the population 
as TAAF did from African Americans. Most white Americans paid little 
attention to TAAF if they even knew of its existence (and most did not), 
but planners in the Army Air Forces openly referred to the base and the 
effort to train black pilots there as “the experiment.” They knew the base 
and the training program it housed were signifi cant, and they knew they 
were being watched.2

“The experiment” would turn on a series of questions. Would the War 
Department force blacks at TAAF to live and work under segregated condi-
tions, or could integrationists use the experience at the base to convince 
the department that segregation was incompatible with war aims? Would 
the War Department devote the necessary resources to the facility for those 
participating in “the experiment” to succeed and thrive? If it did, could 
African Americans prove equal to the responsibility of developing and 
maintaining their own base and training program? Even the staunchest 
white supremacist had to admit by 1941 that at least some blacks could in 
fact be taught to fl y airplanes. But could they be taught to rebuild airplane 
engines and operate communications systems? Could they manage com-
plex administrative structures?



THE EXPERIMENT 71

If black Americans could make “the experiment” work, they would give 
the lie to Jim Crow and lend momentum to a growing movement to disman-
tle segregation and win new opportunities for American blacks. The task 
at TAAF, as one Tuskegee Airman put it, was “to prove to people around 
the world and particularly the people in the United States of America that 
black people could do something besides unload boxes, that we could fl y 
the most sophisticated aircraft and fi x the most sophisticated equipment 
and [perform] all kinds of activities.”3

The debate played out fi rst in Washington, where William H. Hastie, 
civilian aide to Secretary of War Henry Stimson, ensured that debates 
over TAAF’s creation and management reached the highest levels of the 
executive branch of the federal government. He was an auspicious choice 
as Stimson’s aide. Hastie had been educated in the black public schools 
of Washington, D.C., and graduated fi rst in his class from Amherst Col-
lege, where he was also president of the campus Phi Beta Kappa chapter. 
By 1932 he had earned multiple law degrees from Harvard Law School 
and joined the faculty of Howard University Law School in Washington. 
At the same time Hastie worked in private practice with the prestigious 
fi rm of Houston and Houston in the nation’s capital and became increas-
ingly active in the NAACP.4

With Franklin Roosevelt’s inauguration in 1933, Hastie accepted a gov-
ernment job and joined the new president’s “black cabinet,” a  quasi-offi cial 
group of African Americans employed by the federal government that 
advised the president on policy issues. Hastie served as assistant solicitor 
in the Interior Department—where he personally desegregated the agen-
cy’s lunchroom—from 1933 until 1937, when Roosevelt appointed him as a 
judge of the Federal District Court of the U.S. Virgin Islands, making him 
the fi rst African American federal judge in the history of the United States. 
He returned to Washington in 1937 to accept the deanship of the Howard 
Law School, the institution that trained the generation of black attorneys 
who successfully dismantled Jim Crow’s legal underpinnings in the ensu-
ing decades. As a member of the NAACP’s National Legal Committee, he 
argued the suit that forced the state of Virginia to equalize pay for black 
teachers and played a major advisory role in forming the strategies that 
later resulted in the landmark Brown v. Board victory.5

Hastie was an uncompromising integrationist. In his June 1940 com-
mencement address to the students of historically black Morgan State 
College he contended, “In this present war, we have got to insist as never 
before that we’re anxious to do our part, but only if equal justice is meted 
out to us during this period with the prospect of the same thing continuing 
afterward.” He continued, “I believe that while training an army to fi ght 
Hitler, we should not let up one bit in our effort to prevent discrimination 
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in the army right here.” Hastie was also an NAACP insider upon whom 
Executive Secretary Walter White depended heavily both before and after 
the judge began his service at the War Department in 1940.6

Hastie’s appointment as Stimson’s civilian aide was a knee-jerk attempt 
by the Roosevelt administration to defl ect attention from an embarrassing 
situation that befell FDR’s unprecedented campaign for a third term in 
October 1940. Roosevelt’s press aide, Stephen Early, objected when a black 
New York City police offi cer ordered him away from the protective line 
the police had set up outside Madison Square Garden during a Roosevelt 
campaign speech. According to Hastie’s biographer, Early “drove his knee 
into [the] policeman’s groin.” Roosevelt worried that the resulting publicity 
could put black votes in play; indeed, the GOP immediately began urging 
black voters to reward “this kick in the groin [with] a punch in the eye to all 
New Dealers on election day.” Whether or not the embarrassing Early inci-
dent was responsible for it, Hastie’s appointment was part of the “October 
surprise” in which Roosevelt also announced the creation of the Tuskegee 
fl ight program and Benjamin O. Davis Sr.’s promotion to the general offi -
cer ranks. Hastie worried that if he accepted the post he might be seen as 
appeasing the administration’s intention to fi ght the war against fascism 
with Jim Crow forces, but he decided to join the battle for full, immediate 
integration and full opportunity for blacks from within the system.7

Hastie chose as his own assistant a young Chicago lawyer, Truman 
K. Gibson Jr. Gibson was born in Atlanta to a Harvard-educated father who 
worked in the Alonzo Herndon insurance empire, one of the most profi t-
able black businesses in the South. Gibson grew up in Columbus, Ohio, 
and Chicago, and then earned a BA in political science and a law degree 
from the University of Chicago. His family was Talented Tenth and well 
connected. (For instance, Benjamin Davis Jr. had lived in the Gibsons’ 
Southside Chicago home to establish residency in Rep. Oscar De Priest’s 
congressional district so that De Priest could write his letter of appoint-
ment to West Point.) He had originally attracted Hastie’s notice when they 
worked together on Hansberry v. Lee, the case in which the U.S. Supreme 
Court ruled in 1940 that Illinois’s racially restrictive housing covenants 
violated the Constitution.8

Hastie did not shrink from the combat he would have to wage against 
the dominant segregationist culture at the War Department. From the 
beginning of his service at the Munitions Building he bristled at the gener-
als’ argument that the Army in wartime was no time or place to experiment 
with “social theories.” Any changes that could lead to racial integration, 
were, Chief of Staff Gen. George C. Marshall believed, “fraught with dan-
ger to effi ciency, discipline, and morale.” Of Gen. H. E. Ely, the offi cer who 
had approvingly forwarded the infamous 1925 War College report “The 
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Use of Negro Manpower in War” to the War Department, Hastie sneered, 
“A man so misinformed and having such convictions about the Negro can-
not possibly judge wisely the considerations involved in the issue now in 
controversy.” The military men responded in kind; one complained that 
the civilian aide was trying “to advance the colored race at the expense of 
the Army,” and no small number of memoranda circulated through War 
Department channels with the cover note, “Not to be shown to Judge 
Hastie.”9

Hastie was the ultimate bureaucratic warrior in these debates, pressing 
the secretary of war—and every civilian and military offi cial who served 
beneath Stimson on the organizational chart—at every turn to afford blacks 
fair opportunities in the armed services. He served as a communications 
channel from black America to the War Department, which proved espe-
cially helpful when Stimson announced the Tuskegee program’s creation. 
It caused an uptick in the number of blacks applying for aviation training 
that, Hastie warned, was destined to lead to disappointment because the 
program could accommodate only a small number of cadets at a time. “The 
narrow and arbitrary limitations upon aviation cadet training for Negroes 
continue to be a source of widespread complaint and dissatisfaction with 
hurtful effect upon morale” among African Americans as a whole, he wrote 
in a 1942 memorandum for the AAF’s civilian leaders.10

TAAF could never be large or well enough equipped to accommodate all 
of the training that would be necessary to bring the black fi ghter squadron 
to combat readiness. The fact that a truly separate-but-equal air base could 
not be created placed stresses on the AAF and previously all-white facili-
ties throughout the nation. Hastie and others concentrated their attention 
on those pressure points. The 332nd needed fl ight surgeons, for instance, 
and the only school of aviation medicine in the service was at Randolph 
Field in San Antonio; it had never admitted black residents before 1943. 
 Qualifi ed black offi cers at TAAF studied via correspondence courses and 
trained  part-time as their regular duties permitted at a Maxwell Field 
branch school. White fl ight surgeons in training faced no such obstacles. 
Hastie was able to force the Air Forces to create a similar training regime 
for blacks, which had the practical effect of desegregating the program at 
Randolph. He succeeded in creating opportunities for blacks in other job 
categories as well, so that the TAAF program Hastie and those in his camp 
had initially criticized as incorrigibly Jim-Crowed created a momentum 
that resulted in at least small-scale integration throughout the Air Forces 
during the war.11

When an early study found that black aviation cadets graduated at a rate 
lower than white cadets (42 percent against 59 percent), Hastie pointed out 
that black cadets were permitted only to become pursuit pilots, the most 
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demanding specialization, and a role that could be fi lled only by pilots of 
a certain body type. On the other hand, white cadets who might not reach 
the level demanded of pursuit pilots or might be too large to fi t comfortably 
into a pursuit fi ghter’s cockpit “had an opportunity to qualify for commis-
sions as fl ying offi cers in several categories . . . There is no way of telling 
how many of the colored cadets who were eliminated would have gradu-
ated in another type of fl ight training.”12

Assessing the 1942 Troop Basis, the War Department’s most funda-
mental planning document for the calculation of manpower needs, Hastie 
found that blacks were assigned disproportionately to sanitary companies 
(janitorial units) in the medical corps, labor units in ammunition compa-
nies in the ordinance department, and service battalions in the quartermas-
ter corps. He argued, “Certainly, the Negro soldier should do his full share 
of manual, unskilled labor, but . . . [I note the] unreasonable preponderance, 
in some places the exclusive assignment, of Negroes to functions of this 
type.” Yet even Hastie was forced to admit that the War Department was 
hamstrung by the quality of Negro draftees as measured by the Army’s 
Intelligence Classifi cation Test. Only .5 percent of blacks inducted into the 
Army in a three-month period of 1941 tested in the highest intelligence 
classifi cation, compared with 11.3 percent of whites. More than half of the 
black inductees tested in the lowest classifi cation, compared with 7.7. per-
cent of whites.13

Hastie was patronized at the highest levels of the War Department. When 
a friend of Stimson wrote the secretary in January 1942 with the complaint 
that the Army was not treating blacks fairly, Stimson replied candidly. “We 
are taking Negroes in the Army in exactly the same ratio as they exist in 
the population,” he wrote. “We are also trying to do our best by them after 
they get in and in this effort I have myself been personally active.” But the 
Army still faced obstacles in managing Negro units—obstacles that had 
everything to do, Stimson believed, with inherent defi ciencies in the Negro 
character. “The Negro still lacks the particular initiative which a command-
ing offi cer of men needs in war,” he informed his friend. “Negro troops do 
infi nitely better when offi cered by white men than they do when offi cered 
by their own, and the best Negro soldiers have always admitted this.” Stim-
son went further. “We would be having a much easier time if it were not 
for a comparatively small group of Negro radical leaders who are agitating 
for complete social equality,” he wrote. “Incidentally,” Stimson assured his 
friend, “I myself have a Negro aide and have appointed a Negro brigadier 
general. But I have tried to make very careful selections in each.”14

Some of Hastie’s proposals were so grounded in common sense that 
they overcame resistance in the War Department. When he pointed out 
that the Army might defuse some of its racial tensions by encouraging 
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members of all-white and all-black units on the same bases to engage 
in informal discussions that would inevitably have to lead to increased 
mutual understanding, the Morale Branch initially dismissed his idea. 
Yet Gen. Dwight D. Eisenhower instituted a more or less identical pro-
gram in Europe. That was a rare victory for Hastie; the War Department’s 
experts in bureaucratic procedure stonewalled the majority of his sugges-
tions, and its leaders rejected Hastie’s overarching arguments. Stimson 
deemed most of Hastie’s complaints “trivial.” Assistant Secretary of War 
John J. McCloy wrote Hastie, “Frankly, I do not think that the basic issues 
of this war are involved in the question of whether Colored troops serve 
in segregated or mixed units, and I doubt whether you can convince the 
people of the United States that the basic issue of freedom are involved 
in such a question.”15

Racism took many forms in War Department policies, some of which 
were merely theoretical and others of which rose to the level of life-and-
death. One of the most galling for Hastie was the Army Medical Corps’s 
age-old practice of segregating donated blood. Never one to mince words, he 
charged in 1942 that the ideology behind it was identical to the one Ameri-
can boys were fi ghting against in Europe. Why should the Army draw a 
distinction between blood from whites and blood from  “non-Aryans”? Even 
the army’s surgeon general was forced to admit that there was no “bio-
logically convincing” basis for the practice. The Army segregated the blood 
drawn from white and black soldiers, he said, solely for reasons “commonly 
recognized as psychologically important in America.” Hastie drew on the 
expertise of an old friend from Washington and Amherst, Dr. Charles 
Drew, a pioneer in the storage and battlefi eld use of plasma and a former 
director of the American Red Cross Blood Bank, in developing his criticism 
of the program. It was “indefensible from any point of view,” Drew said. 
Drew had resigned from his position with the American Red Cross because 
he refused to cooperate with the War Department’s segregated blood bank. 
Now Hastie offered his own resignation over the issue. Stimson refused to 
accept it, and he reversed the War Department’s policy.16

By far the most vexing issue for Hastie—and the one over which he 
would eventually break from the War Department—was that of segrega-
tion in the nation’s fl ying forces. Hastie “had seen ingrained racism in the 
Army,” his biographer explained, and “ ‘outright fascism’ in the Navy, but 
in the Air Corps he saw some hope for democracy.”17 Hastie hoped that the 
comparatively new military wing would be open to new ideas, but in 1941 
its top ranks were peopled with career Army men who were not in the habit 
of questioning received wisdom. Many were Southerners and all of course 
were white. They had what Hastie considered the supremely annoying 
habit of referring to the Tuskegee training program as an “experiment.” 
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Hastie summed up the attitude of the Air Corps’s general offi cers toward 
his efforts in a single word: “Hostile!”18

If he accomplished nothing else, however, Hastie provided a conduit 
for black public opinion on the war effort in general and the Air Corps 
in particular to the Munitions Building. Hastie made it very diffi cult for 
Stimson and others at the War Department to ignore African Americans’ 
concerns—not that Stimson, other civilian leaders, and the generals did 
not try to do just that. “The narrow and arbitrary limitations [placed] upon 
aviation training for Negroes continue to be a source of widespread com-
plaint and dissatisfaction with hurtful effect upon community morale,” he 
informed the AAC’s civilian leadership in March 1942.19 Hastie’s longest-
running bureaucratic battle, the issue closest to his heart, was the treat-
ment of blacks in the fl ying program. He protested vigorously when he fi rst 
learned that the Air Corps planned to create a separate but equal air base 
in the fi rst place. “[W]hy in the name of common sense should all of this 
elaborate special machinery be set up to train Negro fl yers?” he asked.20

When he learned that not only would the Tuskegee Army Flying School 
be segregated from the rest of the AAC, but that blacks and whites would be 
separated from one another when they ate and slept at TAAF, he protested 
again. “The establishment of a separate training school for colored fl ying 
cadets has already evoked widespread criticism . . . I know that many indi-
viduals and groups have withheld protests and criticism which they have 
felt to be justifi ed, because of their desire to see Negroes obtain an opportu-
nity to become Army fl yers,” he informed Assistant Secretary of War (Air) 
Robert Lovett in 1941. Lovett replied that practices at TAAF “conform[ed] 
to regularly established practice and that there is no departure in the case 
of Air Corps establishments,” but Hastie found that explanation “not per-
suasive.” He wrote, “As I see it, the question is not what is [being done] or 
has been done in other circumstances, but whether this is the correct thing 
to do under the peculiar circumstances of the present case. I feel strongly 
as I indicated before, that the present proposal is a serious mistake.” But 
Hastie’s lonely objections could not change plans for or policy at TAAF.21

Air Corps construction documents reveal that base facilities built Jim 
Crow into the fabric of the base. Quartermaster and commissary facilities 
that employed black and white civilians, male and female, were thoroughly 
segregated. One such document called for the installation of:

. . . toilets, lavatories, and drinking facilities in each of the four (4) SH-9 
type buildings to be used as technical warehouses at [TAAF] as follows:

1 toilet and lavatory (colored male)

1 toilet and lavatory (colored female)
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1 toilet and lavatory (white male)

1 drinking fountain (colored)

1 drinking fountain (white)22

Judge Hastie warned against such construction. “I can assure you,” he 
wrote again to Lovett,

that if in addition to the segregated training school, the Army insists 
upon the proposed separation of white and colored personnel attached 
to the same unit such a nation-wide storm of protest and resentment 
will arise as to destroy all of the good-will and support of the Negro pub-
lic with reference to the Army program. No single enterprise is being 
watched as closely by Negroes as is the Air Corps training program. 
I cannot over-emphasize the catastrophic effect of the arrangement now 
proposed upon morale.23

Building any airfi eld from scratch was diffi cult enough for the Air Forces; 
the close scrutiny of the War Department and black press made the pros-
pect that much more daunting, even if Hastie’s prophesied “storm of pro-
test and resentment” never quite materialized.

Despite the War Department’s close attention to the developing air base, 
TAAF’s fi rst year in operation confi rmed many of Hastie’s and other crit-
ics’ worst fears. Maj. Edward C. Ambler, TAAF’s intelligence offi cer and 
author of the airfi eld’s offi cial history, dryly noted in his narrative of the 
base’s development, “The early set up at the Tuskegee Army Air Field 
could hardly be dignifi ed by the term organization,” and wondered at “the 
fact that it did not fl y apart from its own centrifugal force.”24

TAAF’s commanders faced a nearly impossible administrative task. The 
commanding offi cer of any other army airfi eld the size of TAAF, even in 
the midst of chaotic wartime expansion, could expect to be responsible for 
one, perhaps two, phases of pilot training. TAAF, in contrast, housed pre-
fl ight, basic, and advanced fi ghter training programs and an artillery liaison 
pilot training program. Whereas most other bases of its size either taught 
pilots to fl y or trained pilots for combat—an important distinction—in the 
fi rst two years of its existence TAAF would be responsible for organizing 
a fi ghter squadron and sending it directly into combat. After late 1942, 
when the War Department created the all-black 100th, 301st, and 302nd 
fi ghter squadrons to join the 99th in the 332nd Fighter Group, TAAF was 
forced to accommodate even more cadets and the support personnel nec-
essary to train and equip them. That announcement helped to solve one 
problem, by creating openings for the men who had qualifi ed for fl ight 
training. (According to the NAACP, by 1942 blacks had to wait an average 
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of eighteen months before they were called to fl ight cadet training, whereas 
the average wait for whites was ninety days.) But the addition of the three 
squadrons also made it necessary for the combat crew training phase to be 
moved to another base—in this case Selfridge Field, Michigan.25

In addition, the base was home to signal corps detachments, a medi-
cal corps, quartermaster cadres, and various air service units—all of which 
TAAF personnel were responsible for organizing, training, and processing. 
After 1943 the base also trained bomber pilots for the newly conceived, 
all-black 477th Medium Bombardment Group, which, among other com-
plications, meant that TAAF’s aircraft mechanics became responsible for 
the maintenance of at least half a dozen different types of aircraft. By the 
end of that year and likely much sooner, TAAF had on top of everything 
else become a catch-all for the classifi cation and training of blacks in the 
Air Forces for any conceivable specialty, and base historian Ambler wrote, 
“Other stations were inclined to send troops to Tuskegee just to get rid of 
them.” “Tuskegee would also have to play the role of furnishing trained 
personnel for replacements in the tactical outfi ts,” Ambler noted. He 
described TAAF as “a classifi cation center for all Negro personnel in the 
Air Forces.” On an administrative level alone the Jim Crow air force proved 
a logistical nightmare.26

Brig. Gen. Walter R. Weaver’s initial plan for the Tuskegee Flying School 
envisioned a maintenance crew of eleven white offi cers and fi fteen white 
noncommissioned offi cers to be based at TAAF “until a suffi cient num-
ber of Negro offi cers were trained for their replacement.” The members of 
TAAF’s initial all-white offi cer corps either volunteered for the assignment 
or were promised their respective choice of assignment after getting the 
base up and running, and the base was fortunate to receive the men it did 
among the initial cadre.27

According to offi cial sources, TAAF’s original executive offi cer, Lt. 
Col. John T. Hazard, and post adjutant, Capt. Clyde H. Bynum, provided 
the pragmatic approach needed to operate TAAF effi ciently. Hazard, 
a graduate of the ROTC program at Georgetown University, had been 
 commissioned in 1931 and spent nearly his entire prewar military career 
building, organizing, and supervising Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) 
camps before being assigned to Tuskegee—excellent preparation for the 
duties he faced at TAAF. (On the other hand, another source described 
him as “an impoverished, not-well-trained former Civilian Conservation 
Corps offi cer . . . given to explosive cursing tantrums of temper.”) Hazard 
and Bynum were in place in their positions by October 1941, joined by 
a group of young offi cers who found themselves thrown directly into the 
deep end of base administration. Lt. Carl Luetcke Jr., for example, reported 
for duty on August 1, 1941, and found himself appointed simultaneously to 
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the duties of  summary court offi cer, acting post quartermaster, acting post 
signal offi cer, acting post utilities offi cer, acting air corps supply offi cer, 
project offi cer for malaria control, and project offi cer for the establishment 
of an auxiliary airfi eld; at other times over the next year he served as the 
post weather offi cer, post communications offi cer, post operations offi cer, 
and post technical inspector.28

Because infrastructure was so limited in Macon County, the Army had 
to build an entirely new system of municipal utilities to serve the airfi eld. 
The chosen site was heavily forested, subject to fl ooding, and required 
major grading work. That work began in the early summer of 1941 even as 
the War Department chose the fi rst class of trainees to be trained at Moton 
Field and TAAF. The development progressed on schedule, but an unusu-
ally wet autumn and winter combined with the recently denuded landscape 
to produce a “bottomless morass” of mud and delayed the project. Then 
again, the base itself was expected to last no longer than the war itself, 
so buildings on the base would be built to a Spartan construction code. 
Builders could make up for lost time by throwing up temporary, unheated 
wooden buildings.29

When an AAC engineer’s report indicated in August that the construc-
tion project was in danger of lagging, the Air Corps Southeastern Training 
Command reminded the engineer: “The project at Tuskegee is considered 
by the War Department as No. 1 priority due to political pressure that was 
brought to bear upon the White House and War Department to provide 
pilot training for colored applicants. . . . For this reason training must be 
initiated on schedule regardless of cost.” Another thorough inspection of 
the progress of construction at TAAF in September led Commanding Gen. 
of the Air Forces Henry H. (“Hap”) Arnold to the reluctant conclusion that 
the fi eld would not be ready in time to accommodate the fi rst class of cadets 
on schedule. “In view of the fact that this is the fi rst class of Negro Avia-
tion Cadets to ever receive fl ying training in the Military Establishment,” 
he assured the War Department’s inspector general—none other than 
 Benjamin O. Davis Sr.—“every phase of their training, administration, and 
other factors are [sic] being very seriously scrutinized by this offi ce.”30

In fact, the six men in Class 42-C who passed the primary phase of fl ight 
training at Moton Field began basic fl ight training at TAAF on November 
8, 1941, as scheduled, even though the facility was only two-thirds com-
plete. The cadets lived in a hastily constructed tent city, and another cluster 
of tents served as their Corps of Cadets headquarters, day room, and class-
room. When the Japanese attacked Pearl Harbor and brought the United 
States into the war there were 156 men, only twenty-fi ve of them white, 
stationed at TAAF. Gen. Weaver’s plan to replace whites in lower-level job 
categories with blacks as the latter gained experience ran into resistance 
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from local whites, however. When black military policemen arrived to pro-
vide base security, they replaced civilian employees who then “objected 
strenuously and in a threatening manner to being replaced by Negro per-
sonnel.”31

The training of support crews continued on schedule. The AAC acti-
vated the 99th Pursuit Squadron at Chanute Field in Illinois, on March 22, 
1941, as construction at TAAF proceeded. The AAC fi lled the squadron by 
assigning quotas to various regions of the country; the Southeast met its 
quota almost immediately, with enlistees mainly from the Atlanta area. In 
contrast, the AAC had to advertise heavily in Chicago newspapers to drum 
up enough enlistees from that region, a problem that the Chicago Defender 
attributed to northern African Americans’ refusal to volunteer for segre-
gated units.32

The initial cadre of 268 black enlisted men and offi cers trained at 
Chanute in specialties such as aircraft maintenance and repair, armor-
ing, communications, weather observation, and administration alongside 
white trainees under white instructors. Training classes may have been 
integrated, but living conditions were not. While white trainees lived in 
brand-new barracks, blacks bunked in World War-I era buildings. The 
men of the 99th who graduated from the Chanute training programs, 90 
percent of whom had graduated from high school and many of whom had 
attended or graduated from college, hailed from every part of the United 
States. They approached their work with an amount of pride not unlike 
the pilot cadets’ and similar consciousness of the publicity their service 
was generating.33

Elmer Jones, a graduate of Howard University where he had been a CPT 
classmate of Yancey Williams and a protégé of Judge Hastie, trained in the 
engineering and mechanics courses at Chanute and became the 99th’s 
engineering offi cer and later commander of its service squadron. While 
he acknowledged the historic nature of the opportunity, he described his 
own motivations for pursuing the training in individualistic terms. “I think 
I can speak for most of [my comrades],” he added. “We were doing it for 
ourselves. I mean, we were proud people, most of us with college degrees. 
When we were overseas or in the states, we hardly ever talked about, ‘Well, 
we’ve got to do this. We’ve got to be better than the average to make it,’ that 
we’re doing this to uplift our race. None of that. All of that thought and dis-
cussion has come about since we’ve matured. We wanted an opportunity 
to do a good job, not to pull up our people. Of course, it’s good that we did 
it as we did, but we were individuals.” They transferred to Maxwell Field, 
where they lived in a tent complex separate from whites on the base, in 
mid-November 1941 and arrived at Tuskegee later that month. Another 324 
enlisted men arrived at TAAF in January 1942.34
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Training programs ramped up at TAAF in 1942 to accommodate every-
thing from a medical detachment to the all-black 313th Army Air Forces 
Band. Maj. DeHaven Hinkson supervised six black medical offi cers, fi ve 
black nurses, and a twenty-fi ve-bed hospital with an operating room. P. D. 
Davis, a civilian clerk at the base and formerly the director of the Tuskegee 
Institute student band, began rehearsing the band, but he was soon relieved 
by Lt. Frank Drye, another former director of the campus outfi t. Drye ran a 
tight ship and explained his approach in much the same terms that a check 
pilot on the base might have: “It is my duty to see that you soldier and that 
you play music and when you fail in either of these it becomes my duty to 
take disciplinary action,” he told his charges. “As I perform my duty with 
pleasure, I am as happy at assigning you to hard labor in the guardhouse as 
I am in granting you a three day pass.”35

The growing base employed an increasing number of civilians, many of 
them women from the area like Mildred Hemmons, a native of Tuskegee 
whose father worked at the VA Hospital. Hemmons had been a Tuskegee Insti-
tute student, a majorette in the marching band, and the fi rst female graduate 
of the school’s CPT program. After graduation she applied for the Women’s 
Air Service Pilots (WASPs) program. She exceeded the  program’s entrance 
requirements but was turned down because, she was informed, there were “no 
plans to train Negro women.”36

Intent on fi nding work in aviation, Hemmons worked as the building 
contractor’s secretary at Moton Field. With construction at Moton com-
pleted, she was hired as the fi rst civilian employee of the Quartermaster 
Corps at TAAF. She later worked in the offi ces of the commandant of 
cadets and the signal corps, and recruited other Tuskegee alumnae to work 
at the base. During the period she kept up a unique courtship with Herbert 
Eugene Carter, whom she had fi rst known as a Tuskegee Institute football 
player. Carter, too, was a graduate of the Tuskegee Institute CPT program, 
and he was accepted as a fl ight cadet in the class of 42-F.37

Cadets had almost no free time, so the couple had to be creative. She 
recalled, “He would call me up and say, ‘Are you going to fl y this weekend?’ 
I’d say, ‘Yes, I plan to fl y Saturday,’ ” even though she had to scrimp and 
save to come up with the $5 she would need to rent the CPT program’s 
Piper Cub. “He’d say, ‘OK, I’ll meet you over Lake Martin at two o’clock.’ 
We could see each other and wave at each other. We didn’t really get to see 
much of each other [otherwise], and that was the way we kept in touch.” 
They married soon after Lt. Carter’s graduation in the summer of 1942. 
Everything—the courtship, the work at TAAF, the association with so many 
bright minds from all over the country—was, she said, “quite exciting.”38

As TAAF expanded, the mechanics and radio technicians who had grad-
uated from the original technical training school at Chanute had to train an 
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increasing number of their counterparts. A few were given temporary duty 
assignments to attend specialized training schools at other bases, where 
they sometimes took classes in integrated settings, and some received their 
training at other bases and transferred directly into service groups assist-
ing the 332nd or 477th without ever setting foot on the base in Tuskegee. 
But the bulk of the new mechanics’ instruction took the form of on-the-job 
training at TAAF.39

Leslie Edwards was one of the mechanics who graduated directly from 
training at another base into service in the 477th. Though he was never 
stationed at Tuskegee, his story is emblematic of the importance of the 
instruction that went on there for the trainees themselves. Edwards was 
a Tennessee native whose family had moved to Cincinnati when he was 
very young. His father died soon thereafter, leaving Edwards’s mother 
alone to raise three children in an unfamiliar city. The family suffered ter-
ribly through the Great Depression; for Edwards “there wasn’t any sort 
of thing like lunch money. Wasn’t no such thing. I went to school bare-
footed.” So he dropped out of school and got a job washing dishes in a 
segregated restaurant. Edwards was working for a meatpacker and had just 
gotten married when he was drafted into the Army. After induction he was 
to be sent to cooks’ and bakers’ school, but an offi cer noticed something 
unusual in Edwards’s test results and tested him again. Based on his new 
test results, Edwards was reassigned to the Air Forces and transferred to 
aircraft mechanics school at Sheppard Field, Texas. Edwards remembered 
this training—he was in an all-black group living under thoroughly segre-
gated base conditions, but they trained under white instructors alongside 
all-white classes—as having made all the difference in his life.40

“I didn’t know a screw from a wrench,” Edwards said. He fell behind 
his classmates, “and now they’re telling me if I don’t learn all this, I’ll be 
sent over to Europe [in the infantry], and I’m thinking about how I may 
not see my pregnant wife again. I became so nervous and everything, so 
upset. I broke out in shingles, my nerves were so bad. But the fellows that 
I met—from Detroit, New York, Chicago, Los Angeles, Florida, Alabama—
the fellows I met, they rallied around me, and they said, ‘Edwards, we can 
learn this. We can get this.’ They said, ‘You can do it.’41

“We would stay up all night studying,” he continued. “It was a good feel-
ing among the fellows; we were going to do this. And I found some of the 
fellows were exceptionally good at studying. I was amazed at how much 
they could retain. And as I studied I began to fi nd out that I could retain as 
much as they could! I felt like this is something that I can handle. When we 
fi nally fi nished up, I was at the top of the class. They had me doing things 
I never did before. I began to build a certain amount of confi dence in Leslie 
Edwards.” He transferred directly into the 617th Bomb Squadron of the 
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477th at Selfridge Field, Michigan, and worked his way up to fl ight chief of 
the squadron.42

The fl ight cadets who graduated from the Moton Field primary phase 
of training transferred into the basic training course at TAAF; if they 
made it through that phase they remained at the base for advanced 
training. In basic and advanced training they fl ew increasingly powerful 
aircraft with increasingly complex instrumentation and learned forma-
tion fl ying, long-distance navigation, gunnery, combat tactics, and other 
increasingly specialized skills. Charles E. McGee described the essence 
of the training at TAAF. Whereas the primary phase had introduced 
cadets to developing a “feel” for fl ying in the open-cockpit Stearmans, 
in the BT-13s and AT-6s cadets fl ew at the AAF base, “You have higher 
speed capability, so your thinking processes are advanced. If you’re going 
to keep ahead of your aircraft, you’re going to think about a few more 
things on different [levels], because things happen a little faster.”43

Just as Tuskegee Airmen folklore blamed Lt. Magoon for the high 
washout rate at Moton, it blamed the director of basic training at TAAF, 
Capt. Gabe (“The Hawk”) Hawkins, for the high standards TAFS offi -
cers enforced in the more advanced phase. Horace Bohannon summed 
it up: “Gabe Hawkins was a nigger hater. He didn’t like no niggers. 
[He] was somebody who would chew you up and spit you out. Everybody 
was afraid to fl y with him.” Cadet Charles Kerford recalled, “That’s what 
everybody said: ‘If you draw Capt. Hawkins, you can forget getting your 
wings,’ because he was a man that was designated to wash us out. I drew 
Capt. Hawkins, and I got washed. A lot of [cadets] got knocked out with 
the Hawk, Capt. Hawkins.”44

A terrifi c legend grew around the Hawk. There are many different ver-
sions of the story, but Sgt. George D. Abercrombie, a clerk who worked 
under Hawkins, offered this account:

Major Hawkins was a Mississippian. At that time, Alabama was neck 
and neck with Mississippi in lynching. And Hawkins was a fairly large, 
rugged Southerner. In fact, he struck fear into most of the people who 
came in contact with him because he spoke with a lot of authority and 
he spoke loudly. I mean, he had a directness, and that was a time in the 
South and especially in the military, where if you’re a black soldier and 
a white major ordered, “Shit,” you started farting. If you were caught 
disobeying an order from an offi cer, there could be a shooting and all 
that stuff. I mean, it was a tough time.

Before I came to Tuskegee, it had been rumored to me that Maj. 
 Hawkins had been involved in a plane crash. He had done some maneuver 
where he crashed. Now, of course, it’s all hearsay to me, but I  understand 
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that he was just near dead. They had to scrape him up with a shovel. But 
they took him over to the hospital, which was staffed with black doctors 
and nurses. That’s at Tuskegee. And they put him back together.

I understand that his wife at that time said, “If the only blood you have 
on this base is black, don’t give him a transfusion, let him die.” I under-
stand that when he came to, he said the same thing. But they went ahead. 
They had to do the right thing, and they went ahead, and he recovered. 
But I understand his wife divorced him.45

In another version of the legend, the Hawkinses remained married, and 
Mrs. Hawkins had a daughter a year after the accident. In this version the 
black men on base kidded the Hawk that his daughter had a darker complex-
ion than either he or his wife and wondered out loud how that could be.

The legend personalized an impersonal reality: black would-be pilots 
had a harder time earning their wings than their white counterparts did. 
The washout rate was higher at TAFS than at other AAF training pro-
grams, but the real quota system existed on the front end. By restrict-
ing black involvement in its fl ying forces to the minuscule numbers that 
could be accommodated by the 99th (and later the 332nd and 477th) and 
confi ning their training to a single complex in central Alabama, the AAF 
determined that it would not offer African Americans equal opportunity 
or equal treatment.

It would be diffi cult to overstate the enormity of the challenge TAAF 
trainers and administrators faced; fl ight training was the raison d’être for 
the base, but only a fraction of the men assigned to the base worked in 
immediate connection to it. Since the rapid expansion of the post-Pearl 
Harbor Air Forces resulted in raw recruits being inducted and assigned 
in large numbers directly to TAAF, the post had to create a basic training 
detachment in 1942. On top of all its other challenges, TAAF had to deal 
with the failures of the American educational system. Black students 
were crowded into inferior schools in northern and Midwestern cities, 
and the South—where the majority of African Americans lived—did not 
provide black schoolchildren with anything approaching an adequate 
education. In 1940 the state of Alabama, for example, reported spending 
nearly six times more per white public school student than black. The 
nation’s black schools were separate enough, but they did not provide an 
equal, much less meaningful, education for the young men who ended 
up being drafted into the AAF. Many of those men required remedial 
education in the technical specializations to which they were assigned 
at TAAF. “Since the Negro men who manned this station had not been 
accorded any opportunity en masse to become engaged in the technical 
phases of aviation,” base  historian Ambler wrote, “there was no source 
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in civilian life from which these men could be drawn. They had to be 
trained here.”46

Oversight of all of these training programs and base operations fell to 
Col. Frederick von Kimble, who succeeded Ellison as post commander in 
January 1942. Von Kimble called on his previous experience in the Air 
Corps’s Division of Buildings and Grounds to expedite the remaining con-
struction at the base.47 He succeeded in this regard, but ultimately proved 
unequal to the greater task of commanding TAAF and providing leadership 
to the black air force. Von Kimble did have something of an excuse: War 
Department policy on race relations and racial segregation was inherently 
self-contradictory and left TAAF’s commanders standing on shaky ground. 
A 1940 policy maintained that “the service of negroes will be utilized on 
a fair and equitable basis” throughout the Army, and “The strength of the 
negro personnel . . . will be maintained on the general basis of proportion 
of the negro population of the country.” Black offi cers were to be trained to 
command all-black units, combatant and noncombatant, in every branch 
of the service, including the Air Corps. However, it was also War Depart-
ment policy to segregate African American and white personnel into sepa-
rate regimental organizations. “This policy has been proven satisfactory 
over a long period of years and to make changes would produce situations 
destructive to the morale and detrimental to the preparation for national 
defense,” Adj. Gen. E.S. Adams, the author of the policy, added. “It is the 
opinion of the War Department that no experiments should be tried with 
the organizational set-up of these units at this critical time.”48

Von Kimble interpreted the policy as a prohibition on desegregated facil-
ities of any sort. But the black enlisted men who trained at Chanute Field 
had done so under effectively integrated conditions with white enlisted 
men on the Illinois base. They expected to continue the practice after they 
were transferred to Tuskegee. “A large percentage of us who were from 
the north and didn’t have the same attitude about our rights as people who 
had been culturally conditioned in the South,” said LeRoy Gillead, a New 
Yorker and veteran of the Chanute training. “Therefore, there was a lot of 
friction going on at Tuskegee Army at the time, to integrate the PX [post 
exchange].” In May 1942 two enlisted men staged a sit-in in the “whites 
only” section of the PX restaurant and left only after ordered to do so by a 
white offi cer. There were many other attempts to desegregate base facilities 
forcibly. Von Kimble insisted to his superiors at the Southeastern Train-
ing Command that his practice of segregating facilities on the base was in 
line with War Department policy. If, however, the commanding offi cers 
of bases in the north allowed integration, he could understand why black 
soldiers might be confused after being transferred to TAAF. “Such incon-
sistency is diffi cult to explain,” he wrote. “At present there are 1100 enlisted 
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men on this station and some 150 Civil Service employees. . . . A consider-
able portion of these men are from the north and inconsistencies in policy 
to them appear them as sectional prejudices.”49

Von Kimble went further and attempted sociological analysis. “Should 
the War Department be pressed to remove the separation of the races at 
messes and in quarters by legislation or order[,] this cannot expect to affect 
the established practices of a people,” he continued. “Any mixture of the 
races, particularly in the southern stations, will have not only a tremen-
dously adverse reaction throughout this entire section of the country, but 
will undoubtedly lead toward an attempt on the part of certain colored 
individuals or groups to encroach on established customs within local civil 
communities.” Von Kimble concluded, “It is felt that the result would be 
immediate friction and probably strife,” and recommended that the War 
Department clarify its policies and force all installations to segregate the 
races in all facilities—in effect, to nationalize the Deep South’s approach 
to race relations.50

Maj. Gen. George E. Stratemeyer, commander of the Southeastern Train-
ing Command, backed von Kimble aggressively, blaming TAAF’s troubles 
on “Commanding Offi cers of stations and activities in other sections of 
the country” and “a very small minority” of radical agitators on the base. 
But the rank and fi le of men under von Kimble’s command considered his 
position unjust and openly challenged the strict segregation of base facili-
ties. Von Kimble’s policies were, one pilot recalled, “very abrasive as far 
as we were concerned. We just didn’t like the guy.” Hundreds would have 
agreed with an enlisted man who served under von Kimble and remem-
bered him in essentialist terms: “He was a racist.”51

Von Kimble was not an inspired choice for the command of TAAF, to 
say the least. Parrish considered his commanding offi cer’s attitude toward 
the entire effort “rather diffi cult,” “strange,” and “ambiguous.” As a career 
military man (von Kimble graduated from West Point in 1918), Parrish 
thought, von Kimble was determined to do his duty at Tuskegee and please 
his superiors. But von Kimble, Parrish suggested, must have received 
mixed messages from those superiors as to what that duty entailed. He 
“wasn’t quite clear in his mind,” Parrish said, “as to whether his duty con-
sisted of trying to make this thing a success, and therefore saddle the Air 
Force with the problem of what to do with the graduates, or whether he 
could inconspicuously allow it not to succeed, and therefore do everybody 
a favor.” New War Department regulations, for instance, forbade the seg-
regation of base facilities such as restrooms and drinking fountains. But 
according to Parrish, “Von Kimble was encouraged to feel, I suppose by 
some offi cers in the Air Corps, higher ranking plus some political people, 
that these rules were just made for political reasons”—in other words, to 
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mollify the civil rights organizations—“and it would be wise not to enforce 
them too strictly in the South.”52

G. L. Washington attributed von Kimble’s diffi culties to “the manner in 
which he catered to southern prejudices in fostering and maintaining seg-
regation at the Base. Considering that Colonel von Kimble was an Orego-
nian one would not expect this. But our own experience in the south did 
not support such expectation.” He observed, “Too often northerners would 
lean further backwards in the practice of discrimination than the southern-
ers themselves.” Parrish lost all faith in von Kimble as a leader when Secre-
tary of War Stimson visited Tuskegee in 1942 to discuss the uses to which 
the black pilots might be put in the war after graduation. “Von Kimble 
hadn’t fl own with any of them,” Parrish remembered. “[H]e didn’t really 
know anything about them, but he did not lack opinions” and did “a great 
deal of generalizing about blacks which I found tedious.”53

Von Kimble’s control of TAAF began to break down in the spring of 
1942 amidst racial and military-civilian tensions. In early April, mili-
tary police from the base clashed with civilian authorities for at least the 
third time that year. In the fi rst instance, civilian police had arrested an 
enlisted man from the base on charges of public drunkenness in the town 
of Tuskegee and then refused to release the prisoner to TAAF authorities. 
In the second, Tuskegee police had arrested a base sentinel who had been 
detailed to guard a quartermaster’s warehouse in town and had for some 
reason taken it upon himself to direct traffi c in front of the facility. (White 
drivers objected to being told what to do by an armed black.) In the third 
incident, which took place on April 1, Tuskegee policemen demanded cus-
tody of a soldier whom a TAAF military policeman had placed under arrest 
for disturbing the peace in the town of Tuskegee. The MP brandished a 
pistol in the resulting fracas and refused to surrender the soldier. A crowd 
of approximately fi fteen heavily armed white civilians and a larger num-
ber of black soldiers and civilians gathered and threatened to escalate the 
situation into a full-blown race riot. A Macon County deputy sheriff and 
two members of the Alabama Highway Patrol arrived to control the crowd; 
they then helped the civilian policemen disarm the MP and beat him badly 
enough that he required treatment at the local VA hospital. Airmen from 
TAAF armed themselves, boarded a truck, and started for town, but Parrish 
intervened and was able to convince them to return to the base.54

Benjamin O. Davis Sr.’s report for the War Department’s inspector 
general blamed the incident on the MP’s poor judgment, and von Kimble 
impressed upon all base personnel, and the military police detachment in 
particular, the importance of cooperation with, even submission to, civil 
authorities. He instituted a top-to-bottom review of TAAF offi cers and non-
commissioned offi cers “whose ability, leadership, and personality might 
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be considered as being such as to render them unqualifi ed to perform the 
duties assigned to them.” In case that cryptic sentence left anything to the 
imagination of his superiors, von Kimble assured them that “a small minor-
ity of personnel on duty at the station concerned are radically inclined and 
are participating in agitation to keep alive race questions and questions of 
social equality.” He continued, “Steps have been taken . . . to ferret out these 
individuals and eliminate them as a disturbing source to the morale of the 
personnel assigned to that station and as an antagonizing element to the 
civilians within areas surrounding the reservation.”55

Black newspapers exaggerated the threat. A screaming headline in the 
Los Angeles-based California Eagle was typical in this regard. “TUSKEGEE 
RIOTS! MOB ATTACKS NEGRO FLYING FIELD,” the paper reported 
in the wake of the incident. Hyperbole aside, the local atmosphere was 
unquestionably charged. Local whites responded to rumors that the War 
Department was considering additional bases for the training of black 
Americans with outraged letters to Gov. Frank Dixon, petition drives, and 
an attempt to pass a resolution (known as “The Tuskegee Resolution”) in 
the state legislature demanding that the War Department cease and desist 
creating Negro camps in the state. The problem was not confi ned to the 
Deep South; internal War Department deliberations over the 1942 Troop 
Basis candidly acknowledged the “diffi culty of fi nding suitable stations” for 
large black training units anywhere in the country. “Should this reluctance 
not be overcome and should more Negro units [not] be added, a consider-
able part of our Army will become a strictly home force contributing little 
if anything to winning the war,” it concluded.56

An attempt to expand the Tuskegee program with an auxiliary facil-
ity near the community of Fort Davis in Macon County elicited an espe-
cially spirited response. After Gov. Dixon succeeded in killing the project 
through quiet consultation with the War Department, a Tuskegee attorney 
wrote to “express the thanks of the Mayor and the Council, and the people 
generally, for your splendid efforts on our behalf.” Richard H. Powell Jr. 
gushed, “We all recognize that in these matters that tend to protect our 
white citizens from the determined encroachment of our colored popula-
tion, you have promptly taken the lead, and we know that it is due to your 
bold, outspoken, and unhesitating stand in matters of this kind that White 
Supremacy and all that it stands for still controls in Alabama.” Such senti-
ments ignored the reality that at its peak TAAF had a population as large 
or larger than the town of Tuskegee, and its monthly civilian payroll alone 
exceeded $100,000—this, in one of the most economically ravaged coun-
ties of the most hard-hit region of the country in the Great Depression.57

Soon after the near race riot, Parrish was named base commander, replac-
ing von Kimble, who received a promotion and a new command  elsewhere. 
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When he assumed command of TAAF, Parrish later wrote, “There existed 
no precedent, no set of customs, no established procedures to guide mili-
tary men in their efforts to build a functioning military organization in the 
midst of endless theorizing and uninformed discussion concerning racial 
characteristics and social proprieties.”58 He would surround himself with 
professional, pragmatic military men and make the best of the situation, 
but it was Parrish’s individual attitude and his approach to the men he 
commanded that ultimately won him respect. In contrast to von Kimble 
and others, Parrish “thought of you as a man, just like he was a man,” pilot 
John W. Rogers remembered. “He wasn’t like one of these guys that are 
going to look down on you because you were black. That was the thing.” 
Parrish quietly integrated TAAF’s facilities within his fi rst several months 
in command, backed by a new War Department policy that outlawed segre-
gation in all base recreational facilities.59

In September 1942, Lt. Nora Green, a nurse at TAAF, travelled to Mont-
gomery to go shopping before she was to ship overseas herself. Wearing 
civilian clothes, she bought a bus ticket to return to Tuskegee and boarded 
the bus. When the driver informed her the bus was for whites only, she 
refused to leave because, she told him, she was due back on duty at TAAF, 
and waiting for a later bus would make her late. Montgomery policemen 
beat and arrested her, then turned her over to TAAF authorities. If the 
MP incident offered the impression that the world outside TAAF’s front 
gate was enemy territory, Green’s experience only solidifi ed it. Blacks sta-
tioned at TAAF did not leave the friendly confi nes of the base and Tuskegee 
Institute’s campus unless they had to. Under Parrish’s command, TAAF 
became a small, self-contained city.60

Robert L. Carter, a supply offi cer with the 96th Air Service Group, 
remembered his brief time at the base fondly. Carter had grown up in New 
Jersey and attended Lincoln University, Howard Law, and Columbia Law, 
and he was reunited at TAAF with several friends from his college days. He 
enjoyed his time at the station: “When I was on the base, I didn’t have any 
diffi culties,” he recalled. “I was reunited with people I had known for some 
time, and we were just having fun because we were all preparing to go off 
to war, and you didn’t know what was going to happen to you. So you’re 
living your life at a very intense time there.”61

In contrast, he explained, “The negative experiences would come from 
when you went off-duty.” Carter found that when he went to Atlanta or 
“places like that, cops would try and prey on you. When you were coming 
back [to TAAF], they realized that you probably had liquor. If they caught 
you or stopped you, they would try to threaten you with jail, and then if you 
got out, they would try to shake you down for some money.” Carter empha-
sized that he never had this experience personally. “I do remember being 
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stopped, but fortunately we didn’t have any liquor in the car, so they were 
frustrated,” he said. But many others did have the displeasure of dealing 
with Pat Evans, the sheriff of Macon County, and they recounted similar 
experiences.62

Parrish assembled an upper echelon of white offi cers who were com-
petent professionals and who, no matter what they personally thought 
about African Americans or the merits of segregation, proved that they 
could complete the mission they had been assigned. “I had some people 
working for me who were basically segregationist in their attitude, but they 
did their job,” he recalled. “They did what was agreed necessary to make a 
contribution toward winning the war[.]” Speaking of the white offi cers who 
served under him at TAAF, Parrish said, “Nobody [was] assigned there who 
didn’t want to serve there.” Most volunteered for the assignment because 
they were originally from the area and wanted to be stationed near fam-
ily, he recalled. “They were good men; they did a good job and were quite 
conscientious.” Parrish tapped as his director of advanced training Maj. 
Robert Long, of the fi rst family of Louisiana politics. Known affectionately 
as “Mother” Long (behind his back, at least) because his fl ock thought he 
watched over them like a mother hen, Long won respect from the pilots 
that placed him in a category with Parrish. Pilot Lee Archer concluded that 
Parrish and Long “were as fair as they could be under the system. They 
were crackers and rednecks, but they were fair.”63

Fair or not, Parrish and Long worked within a system that continued 
to treat African Americans separately and unequally. Hastie had fought 
for two years to change the system from the inside, but in early January 
1943 he again attempted to resign from his position at the War Depart-
ment. He offered as his sole reason for the resignation the treatment of 
African Americans in the AAF. No longer could Hastie advocate effectively 
for democracy within the armed services, he felt; his “future usefulness” 
to the war effort, he wrote, “is greater as a private citizen who can express 
himself freely and publicly.” Hastie objected specifi cally to eleven disparate 
instances of discrimination in the Air Forces, including the service’s cre-
ation of a segregated offi cer candidate school; its refusal to acknowledge 
the excellent results that had accrued from the initial training program 
under relatively desegregated conditions at Chanute Field; and its refusal 
to admit blacks to specialized training programs such as those for weather 
observers and fl ight surgeons.64

Most importantly, Hastie charged that it had become impossible for him 
to reconcile the ideals that had once led him to support the war effort so 
totally with the present situation on the ground at Tuskegee. “The racial 
impositions upon Negro personnel at Tuskegee have become so severe and 
demoralizing that, in my judgment, they jeopardize the entire future of the 
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Negro in combat aviation,” he wrote to the secretary of war. “Men cannot 
be humiliated over a long period of time without a shattering of morale and 
a destroying of combat effi ciency.” At the time of Hastie’s memorandum, 
the 99th had been fully staffed, trained, and rated ready for combat for 
more than three months, but continued to fl y the skies of central Alabama 
with no plans for overseas deployment.65

The AAF could offer no substantive answer to Hastie’s charges. Stim-
son had refused Hastie’s offers to resign in the past, but had little choice 
but to accept this time. He did so on January 31, 1943, and Hastie returned 
to Howard Law. Truman Gibson was named acting civilian aide, and he 
assumed the role permanently later that year. Gibson was an effective 
advocate in many ways that his predecessor had not been, his work made 
easier by the very public criticism Hastie leveled at the War Department. 
Indeed, Hastie’s resignation had exactly the desired effect, spotlighting 
the effects of white supremacist attitudes in the AAF much more suc-
cessfully than his work from within the system ever had. In 1946 Robert 
Patterson, who had been one of the few offi cials to work collegially with 
Hastie in the War Department before succeeding Stimson as secretary 
of war, said that advances in “[d]emocracy in the Army during the war 
[were] due largely to the effective, brilliant and sincere work done by 
Mr. Hastie.”66

Hastie had told Stimson that he wanted to return to being “a private citi-
zen who can express himself freely and publicly,” but the secretary of war 
could not have imagined quite how free and public Hastie’s expressions 
would be once he returned to civilian life. The judge made several pub-
lished statements concerning the treatment of blacks in the armed forces 
and later in 1943 published a pamphlet titled On Clipped Wings: The Story 
of Jim Crow in the Army Air Corps under the auspices of the NAACP. He 
pulled no punches.67

He accused the Air Corps of having created the Tuskegee program and 
the separate, all-black pursuit squadrons only under duress. Three years 
after Roosevelt’s surprise announcement in October 1940, the AAF still 
had not managed to defi ne a function for the squadrons. The Tuskegee pro-
gram had proved itself successful beyond doubt in preparing black aviators 
for service, but the AAF had only recently agreed to expand the program, 
and the 99th Pursuit Squadron still had not fl own in combat.68

Hastie pitched his arguments in favor of a fully integrated Air Forces to 
the emergency at hand, but he was simultaneously speaking to the future. 
“It is simply impossible to maintain racial segregation of pilots in a combat 
area,” he reasoned. “[T]he only sensible thing to do is to . . . [provide] inter-
racial associations in training such as [pilots of every ethnicity] are bound 
to have later on.”69
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Hastie’s incendiary pamphlet brought unwanted attention to TAAF. 
Among the most pressing of Parrish’s duties in his fi rst several months 
as commanding offi cer of TAAF was managing the press coverage of 
the base and its programs that resulted. Following soon on the heels of 
Hastie’s resignation, the Pittsburgh Courier published a charge by an anon-
ymous reporter who had recently visited TAAF that America’s black air 
force was “not the splendidly functioning unit it ought to be.” TAAF’s 
 commanders had created a beautiful new base of which all who worked 
there were  justifi ably proud, the Courier reported. But “offi cers and 
enlisted men [were] smoldering with resentment” that led to “dangerously 
lowered morale.” All because “they feel that the Command at the post has 
tried to placate the hatred of a poor, insignifi cant little Southern town like 
Tuskegee, rather than assert the authority of the United States Army and 
protect the men at any cost.”70

The sentiment surely existed in quantity, but Sgt. Charles M. Bowden, 
a Chicago native who had been at TAAF for fourteen months, objected to 
Hastie’s actions and the black press’s coverage of the Tuskegee program 
in general. Bowden wrote in a letter to the editor of the Chicago Defender, 
“I enlisted in the U.S. Army Air Corps . . . I never expected to conquer the 
universe. I just wanted to be a plain, ordinary American.” Bowden under-
stood that the editors of the Defender objected to racial segregation, but 
challenged them to stop “doing your d—est [sic] to tear down” the TAAF 
program just because “we of the Tuskegee Army Flying School are not 
going into town and tearing up everything in sight.” He called out Hastie 
by name. “Your manner, to my estimation, is strictly un-American,” 
Bowden charged. “Who do you think you are? The ‘Liberator’ of the Ameri-
can Negro? Don’t make us laugh. How you, to whom this country has given 
so much, can desert your post in these critical times, beats me beyond all 
human understanding.”71

During his assignment at the Coffey School in Chicago, Parrish had culti-
vated a personal friendship with Claude A. Barnett, the director of the National 
Negro Press Association. Barnett now introduced Parrish to the publishers of 
black newspapers, and Parrish invited several of them to the base to see its 
operations fi rsthand. In time he was able to turn the tide of negative press 
coverage.72

Even a cursory look at black newspapers of the period makes it clear 
that TAAF shouldered the hopes and dreams of literally millions of black 
Americans. Few weeks went by in the war years in which the major black 
press outlets did not contain some report of activities at TAAF or the 
combat exploits of the black Air Forces. The reports generated interest-
ing responses from the public. For instance, a group of underprivileged 
black boys at the Wissahickon Boys Club of Germantown, Pennsylvania, 
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learned of the pilots in late 1941 and insisted on sending the airmen hand-
made Christmas gifts. According to the club’s director, the thank-you notes 
the boys received in return from the men of the 99th impressed the lads 
beyond words. “If you could have witnessed the delight of the youngsters 
when those letters arrived! . . . Thanks again for helping us stress the idea of 
service to others,” Laura M. Coleman wrote to TAAF. “My boys always end 
the story [hour] now with the prayer, ‘God bless the soldiers everywhere.’ 
Now they add, ‘Especially the 99th Fighter Squadron.’ ”73

Despite the protests from men like Elmer Jones and Charles Bowden 
who insisted on being treated as individuals who could rise or fall on their 
own personal merits, the men and women of TAAF knew they were being 
watched by the wider black world. Roy Chappell recalled what the Tuskegee 
program meant for black civilians in personal, poignant terms. “There was 
one thing that happened to me that I didn’t understand completely until 
maybe ten years or more after it happened. I went home to Monroe, Michi-
gan, the fi rst time I had a furlough. I went home in my uniform and every-
thing. Here’s this second lieutenant. And I had an older brother. He had a 
heart murmur and couldn’t get in the service, and he was crazy about me 
and crazy about this idea that I was a lieutenant in the Army.74

“He says, ‘Come on, I want to take you downtown. I want to see some 
of those folks salute you. We’ve got to go. We’ve got to go.’ I didn’t even 
want to do it. I said, ‘Oh, that’s just wasting my time.’ But he insisted, so 
I said OK. We got downtown. And we’d run into white soldiers. They would 
salute and I would salute and everything. If he would see somebody across 
the street he’d say, ‘Cross the street and make them salute.’ Every time he 
would just fall out: ‘Oh, that was good!’ See another one, salute. Oh, he’d 
have a good fi t.75

“What I realized later is that this meant so much to him, he was so 
proud of his brother, the things that I had accomplished and everything. 
He was really proud of it. The longer I live, the more I realize what that 
meant to him. At that time, anywhere we would go, seeing a black offi cer 
with wings was really unusual; people were really looking. That was one of 
the things that was driving all the guys to be successful, because it meant 
so much to everybody, to an entire race, to be successful. See, we can’t be 
failing. Here we are with this great big chance to do something and fail? 
No. We had to be successful.”76

Such mundane factors as providing basic living amenities for the men 
and women who worked at TAAF made achieving that success more 
diffi cult than it needed to be. The base faced a critical housing shortage 
throughout its short life. Initial plans called for roughly fi ve hundred Air 
Corps personnel to be stationed at TAAF, but by 1943 nearly twice that 
many were fi ghting for living space on the base. Civilian employees were 
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even more crowded, having found few rental options available in the black 
community of Tuskegee. The Federal Works Agency commenced construc-
tion on a thirty-unit “defense housing project” just to the west of Tuskegee 
Institute in 1942, though the entire project was not completed until 1944. 
TAAF completed a dormitory-style facility to house 145 civilian employees 
in 1943 and a one hundred-unit development, Mitchell Village, for civilian 
workers’ families in 1944, but still could not meet demand. Like thousands 
of other American communities, Tuskegee was a very crowded place in the 
war years.77

Pearl Harbor was the turning point. Every one of the military branches 
expanded rapidly after the attack, the Army Air Forces most dramatically of 
all. For TAAF, which had been designed as a small fl ying school that would 
also serve as a base squadron, rapid expansion meant that the 99th would 
be joined by three additional fi ghter squadrons and a bomber group, all of 
which would have to be staffed by pilots and service crews trained at the air-
fi eld. What was initially planned as a relatively small facility with no more 
than fi ve hundred men assigned to the base at any one time would have to 
expand, and in a hurry. By the end of 1942 TAAF was home to nearly 3,500 
offi cers, enlisted men, pilot cadets, and civilian employees—a more than 
twenty-fold increase in one year’s time—and it was still growing.78

TAAF expanded according to no discernable logic save that of Jim Crow. 
Had the base’s sole reason for being been the training of combat pilots, it 
would have developed much differently than it did. Maj. Ambler’s offi cial 
history of the base’s evolving organization put it plainly: “For a fl ying train-
ing station the Tuskegee Army Air Field has probably had the strangest 
aggregation of units imaginable.” Not all of the units on the base fell under 
the post commander’s direct supervision. Even worse, the post’s adminis-
trative diffi culties were complicated by what Ambler termed the “tendency” 
of every other command in the Army Air Forces “to drop their Negro prob-
lems in the lap of the Post Commander and then try to forget them.”79

From an administrative standpoint, the base’s two most intractable 
problems by 1943 were the presence of too many offi cers and too many 
washouts from the fl ight training program. Parrish and his executive staff 
engaged in a constant juggling act. At times twice as many offi cers had 
been assigned to TAAF as there were jobs available. Ambler wrote, “[I]t is 
impossible to fi nd work for them so they are a constant liability.”80

The problem of the 286 washouts who remained on the base in Septem-
ber 1943 was an especially prickly one. White cadets who were eliminated 
from fl ight training could be shifted into one of several other AAF special-
ties, but until then, for blacks it was service in the fi ghter group, the base 
command, or nothing, an arrangement that the black press portrayed as a 
grievous injustice. TAAF administrators worried that the washouts, few of 
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whom could be put to productive work, posed an additional morale risk. 
Ambler wrote, “Vitally interested in all phases of fl ying . . . [t]hese men were 
living on a hope that some day something would be done to get them [back] 
into the air.” Their hopes were realized in September 1943 when the Army 
Air Forces authorized the creation of an all-black bombardment group. The 
group’s pilots were to be trained at TAAF. But the 477th would also need 
navigators, bombardiers, communications technicians, and any number of 
mechanical specialists, and the men who had been eliminated from fl ight 
training could be slotted into the new positions in training programs at 
TAAF and other bases. Of course, while activating the 477th solved one 
problem, it only added to the predicament of overcrowding on the base.81

Original War Department plans had called for TAAF to be staffed by a 
white commanding offi cer and white offi cers and non-commissioned offi -
cers at the highest echelons of the specialty training units. “All other duties 
will be fi lled by Negroes,” the plans stipulated, “and [white] instructors will 
be relieved at such time as is found the Negroes may replace them.” Hastie 
anguished in 1942—more than a year after the base’s establishment—
over the fact that not only were the white offi cers who had originally been 
considered temporary assignments to the base still there, but others had 
been transferred in to join them. TAAF had a surfeit of black offi cers, but 
the Air Forces demonstrated little urgency in moving them into positions 
of responsibility. The situation rankled black offi cers who perceived little 
opportunity for advancement.82

The problem was especially apparent in the Tuskegee-trained bomber 
group. By 1944 the offi cers of the 477th bombardment group had made so 
many complaints about offi cer advancement through offi cial channels that 
the First Air Force launched an investigation into the group’s poor morale. 
The problems, the investigation found, stemmed from black offi cers’ belief 
that “Negro offi cers are qualifi ed and should be advanced to [command] 
positions; that the stage of training has arrived when a minimum of super-
vision is required” by white offi cers. Col. Robert R. Selway, commander of 
the 477th, dismissed the complaints and received the full backing of his 
superior, Gen. Frank O’D. Hunter. The resentments simmered and would 
boil over the following year.83

Base facilities were desegregated soon after Parrish took command of 
TAAF, but complaints about overcrowding and delays in training black 
offi cers for supervisory roles could conceivably have damaged morale at 
TAAF overall. Instead, spirits generally remained high. The top-fl ight 
entertainment that passed through TAAF added to the community’s cohe-
sion. Many black performing artists toured the United States to entertain 
African American troops during the war, sometimes under the auspices of 
a black auxiliary to the United Service Organizations (USO), and a black 
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soldier in a unit attached to an otherwise all-white base might see one of the 
acts once a year, if that often. Few other military bases in the country would 
have been able to offer the large, enthusiastic black audiences TAAF had 
on hand, so the base was a popular destination for entertainers.

World heavyweight champ Joe Louis, comedian Eddie “Rochester” 
Anderson, actor and singer Paul Robeson, and Hollywood star Lena Horne 
made visits. Highlights of the base’s morale program in the fi rst two years 
of its existence included concerts by Earl “Fatha” Hines and the Count Basie 
and Jimmie Lunceford orchestras. A national radio network broadcast the 
Louis Armstrong Band’s performance from Hangar Two on the base as an 
episode of the Coca-Cola “Spot Light Band” program. The performers were 
impressed with what they saw at TAAF, too. Actress and singer Etta Moten, 
who was best known for her portrayal of Bess in George Gershwin’s “Porgy 
and Bess” on Broadway, performed at the base in March 1942. “I had no 
idea that the fi eld was so large,” she told reporters. “This is the fi nest group 
of young men I have ever seen. I am so proud of them and am certain they 
will uphold the fi nest traditions of the air corps and the reputation for brav-
ery which the American Negro soldier has always held.”84

By the summer of 1943 the base also had its own dance orchestra, The 
Imperial Wings of Rhythm, and a well-appointed service club that served 
as the orchestra’s home. (Shows at the service club must have swung. 
The Imperial Wings’ drummer, Private First Class Arthur Herbert, for-
merly a member of the Coleman Hawkins Orchestra, was named one of 
the nation’s seven best drummers in Esquire Magazine’s 1943 readers poll 
before he was drafted into the AAF.) When they were not entertaining the 
troops, the Imperial Wings of Rhythm and Lt. Drye’s 313th Army Band 
toured the South to support war bond drives and showcase the Tuskegee 
program before all-black audiences.85

Yvonne Plummer Terrelongue, a Tuskegee Institute graduate who 
spent many hours at TAAF in an offi cial capacity as an assistant to local 
photographer P. K. Polk, also “went there almost every evening” for vari-
ous social affairs or to shop. The base post exchange, she claimed, had a 
better selection of groceries and consumer goods for sale than any store in 
town. She reminisced about TAAF as though the social calendar there were 
always full. “A lot of people came there to entertain. We had everything,” 
she said. “They were a lot of fun! Gosh, wouldn’t you come and dance to 
Earl Hines?”86

TAAF had graduated enough pilots and trained enough specialists that 
the 99th Pursuit Squadron reached full strength by August 1942. A month 
later the squadron was placed on full alert and expected to be deployed 
at any moment. Awaiting overseas assignment, the pilots trained some 
more. And then some more. “The waiting got tiresome,” Davis wrote. “The 
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on-again, off-again deployment situation created confusion and inconve-
nience.” While on alert the offi cers could not go on furlough, and quali-
fi ed enlisted men could not enroll in offi cer candidate school. Both pilots 
and enlisted men had developed an intense pride in their bustling airbase, 
and their respective bonds grew even closer. As Charles Dryden, one of 
the original pilots of the 99th, remembered this period, “To me life at 
Tuskegee was mighty sweet.” He referred to it as “the glory days in the nest 
of Black eagles.”87

But six months passed, and morale among the pilots did suffer. “We 
trained and trained,” Dryden’s classmate Clarence Jamison recalled. “I had 
three hundred hours in the P-40. I’d take that fi ghter plane and do anything 
with it. We were good. We were fl ying some bad formations and acrobat-
ics, practicing dogfi ghting, and everything.” If anything, he said, “We were 
over-trained. The white classes were fi nishing, and they were sending them 
to the Pacifi c, to Europe, because they needed the pilots. But, hell, nobody 
seemed to want us.”88

“Spratmo,” the base grapevine, hummed with reports that the squadron 
would ship out any day now—or maybe in two months—to the Caribbean 
or for the air defense of Brazil or Liberia or to the China-Burma-India The-
ater or,—actually the men had no clue where they were headed. But the 
constant hurry-up-and-waiting, the uncertainty and fear, weighed on them. 
Davis worried that it would affect their readiness. Finally, word reached the 
base that the 99th would ship out via train to New York for deployment on 
April 1, 1943.89
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4Combat on 
Several Fronts

After fl ying on alert for roughly fi ve months, the 99th 
Fighter Squadron and its support personnel fi nally received orders to leave 
TAAF in late March 1943—nearly two full years after the fi rst cadet class 
began its training. Lemuel Custis knew that he and the other pilots were 
capable of fi nally putting their instruction to use, but when the orders 
arrived, he candidly admitted later, he was fearful. “At that time, the squad-
ron’s TO [table of organization] had been established, and we were up to 
strength as far as the TO was concerned. We had the personnel. We all knew 
that we were going, at some point in time, but we didn’t know when. But 
when the offi cial word came down, it was pretty traumatic.” Their training 
had given them almost everything they would need to be successful over-
seas: the pilots of the 99th had amassed much more fl ying time than a typi-
cal white fi ghter pilot would have gained before being sent to combat, and 
they had achieved remarkable unit cohesion. “I felt a strong sense of being 
a part of a special group,” Charles Dryden reminisced. “I felt an unusually 
strong bond, a linkage with each and every man of the squadron. . . . I was 
extremely proud to be a member of the 99th!” The one thing they lacked 
was experience. A typical pursuit squadron deployed overseas with at least 
a few combat veterans mixed in with the rookies, but because no black 
combat veterans were available and the War Department would not inte-
grate squadrons, the new pilots of the 99th would be on their own.1

The squadron’s 287 enlisted men and forty-two offi cers arrived by train 
at Camp Shanks, New York, on April 4, and disembarked by ship for North 
Africa on April 15. Col. Davis was ranking offi cer on the U.S.S. Mariposa, 
which in all likelihood made him the fi rst African American offi cer in his-
tory to be responsible for white troops, of whom there were more than 
three thousand on board. “When he was introduced as the executive offi cer 
in charge of the ship, it looked like some of them could have just dropped,” 
the 99th’s adjutant offi cer, Bernard Proctor, recalled. The Mariposa had a 
relatively short, uneventful crossing to Casablanca, French Morocco, and 
before the month ended, the 99th’s airplanes had arrived and the pilots 
had fl own their fi rst practice missions over North African territory.2

They fl ew in combat conditions for the fi rst time two months later. In 
the meantime the men of the 99th hosted several curious visitors at their 
base on the outskirts of the town of Oued N’Ja and were the toast of nearby 
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Fez, where they socialized with the expatriate African American entertainer 
Josephine Baker. They trained with an unlikely mentor, Maj. Phillip G. 
Cochran, the prototype of Flip Corkin, swashbuckling hero of the popular 
“Terry and the Pirates” comic strip. Having fl own against the Luftwaffe in 
the North African campaign, Cochran taught the airmen about German 
pilots’ tendencies in combat along with several dogfi ghting maneuvers the 
pilots would use to great effect in the coming months.3

After moving to a new base at Cape Bon, Tunisia, in early June, the 
99th fl ew its fi rst tactical reconnaissance missions in brand-new P-40s. 
This was months after the Allied forces had pushed German forces under 
Field Marshall Erwin J. E. Rommel off the continent. “Where we were in 
North Africa, there was no fi ghting at that time,” said pilot George Bol-
ling of the 99th, “so it was ideal for training.” Attached to the 33rd Fighter 
Group, 12th Air Force, under the command of Col. William (“Spike”) 
Momyer, the squadron was slowly introduced to combat situations. The 
black pilots received minimal guidance from Momyer’s outfi t. Lt. Spann 
Watson, a pilot of the 99th, remembered the fi rst and only set of prefl ight 
instructions he received from the 33rd before a combat mission: “ ‘You boys 
keep up.’ That was our briefi ng.” The enlisted men of the 96th Air Service 
Squadron, the 99th’s maintenance cadre, so distinguished themselves in 
readying the brand-new P-40s for combat missions that several received 
Bronze Stars within months of their arrival.4

Lts. William A. Campbell, Charles B. Hall, James T. Wiley, and Clar-
ence C. Jamison fl ew the squadron’s fi rst combat sorties alongside white 
pilots of the 33rd in dive-bombing missions against German installations 
on the Mediterranean island of Pantelleria as part of the Allies’ Operation 
Corkscrew. After pushing the Axis armies from North Africa, the Allies 
intended to hopscotch across the Mediterranean and into Italy from the 
south. Neutralizing the heavy Italian and German fortifi cations on Pantel-
leria, midway between Tunisia and Sicily, would be a crucial fi rst step in 
that effort. On July 2 Hall, who had interrupted his pre-med curriculum 
at Eastern Illinois Teachers College to join the AAC, became the fi rst Afri-
can American pilot to shoot down an enemy plane, a Focke-Wulf 190, in 
a dogfi ght over Sicily. Upon return to base he consumed the squadron’s 
prize possession: the iced-down bottle of Coca-Cola that fellow pilot Lt. 
Louis Purnell had saved for weeks in the squadron safe for the occasion of 
the fi rst enemy kill. The celebration was tempered, however, by the news 
that two pilots of the 99th, Lts. James L. McCullin of St. Louis, Missouri, 
and Sherman White of Montgomery, Alabama, did not return from the 
mission.5

Charles Dryden described the adrenaline rush and physical sense of 
relief he felt upon his “baptism by fi re” in those fi rst missions: “Up until 
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that very moment I had harbored a fear deep within myself. . . . [but] I knew 
I had conquered my fear of possibly turning yellow and turning tail at the 
fi rst sight of the enemy.” On June 9 he was one of thirteen pilots of the 
99th escorting American bombers back from targets on Pantelleria when 
several Messerschmitt 109s engaged them. At least eight of the pilots of 
the 99th remained with the bombers, but Dryden led a group of fi ve who 
turned and attacked in formation, scattering soon thereafter to follow the 
retreating Germans in hopes of registering their fi rst “kills.” They did not 
shoot down any Germans that day. Breaking off to attack the enemy was 
an entirely common thing for rookie pilots to do, but the decision would 
reverberate over the months to come.6

In training Charles Dryden had spent countless hours wondering if he 
would be “a tiger or a pussycat,” as he put it, when the time came to face 
the enemy. He later explained that the life of a fi ghter pilot was “boring, 
unless you are under attack by fl ak along the way or enemy fi ghters, and in 
those seconds you can experience terror depending on your circumstances. 
If you’re on his tail, then it’s sheer joy. They’re very murderous thoughts, 
but that’s the life of a soldier.” He continued, “In no way can you think it’s 
fun. War is terrible, war is horrible. There is nothing glamorous about it; 
it looks like it, but it is not. Especially in hindsight when you think about 
the fact if you have been involved in killing people, if you have any kind of 
human sensitivity, you begin to have some second thoughts about it.”7

Dryden found the need to rationalize his actions. “At the time patriotism 
takes over. You’re saying, ‘I’m going to fi ght for my country, I’m going to 
defeat those so-and-so’s.’ ” Fighting in the air, as opposed to in the trenches 
with all of the accompanying sights, sounds, and smells, had its advan-
tages. “Even if I could see him, it was very impersonal because you’re try-
ing to shoot down a machine, you’re not even thinking that there’s a pilot 
in that machine. You’re trying to down him before he downs you.”8

The 99th saw much heavier action in support of the Allies’ invasion of 
Sicily beginning in July, fl ying strafi ng and, with increasing frequency, 
bomber-escort missions in the 33rd Fighter Group as the Allied Forces 
aimed toward opening a front on the mainland of Italy. George Bolling 
was the victim of a friendly-fi re accident in the Sicily campaign and ejected 
over the water; he spent nearly twenty-four hours in a dinghy. “Here I 
am in the Mediterranean,” Bolling said. “In all directions:  nothing! You 
have a lot of time to think, and you think about your mortality, and you 
think about your past experience, and you think about your friends. And 
you think about, most of all, God. So from that point of view, it was an 
eye-opener for me and a worthwhile experience. I learned a lot from it.” 
He hitched a ride on an infantry landing craft that returned from Sicily 
to Tunisia a few days later.9
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The 99th moved to a new airstrip on the Sicily beachhead; by August 
the Allies controlled the island. Momyer now assigned the all-white squad-
rons under his command to missions over the Italian mainland, leaving 
the 99th to patrol the Sicilian airspace that had been vacated by German 
fi ghters. The white squadrons racked up “kills” that the 99th had no oppor-
tunity to gain. “We went for months without seeing enemy aircraft,” Spann 
Watson claimed. “Col. Momyer knew it. He waited until all of his squad-
rons had gained victories in the invasion of Italy, then criticized us” for 
lack of aggression. That criticism would nearly stop “the experiment” in 
its tracks.10

The following month Davis was transferred stateside to take command 
of the newly created 332nd Fighter Group, leaving Capt. George S. “Spanky” 
Roberts in command of the 99th. Truman Gibson, who had begun to hear 
reports of dissatisfaction with the 99th’s performance from white com-
manders in theater, arranged for Davis to meet with the Washington press 
corps on September 10. Davis lauded his men for their performance in 
combat and the AAF for the excellent training the pilots had received. Davis 
surely went overboard in his praise of the latter; he told the assembled 
reporters that no unit had gone into combat with better training or better 
equipment than the 99th. He would come to regret those words. Above 
all, however, he emphasized the heavy sense of duty the men under his 
command shared. “All members of this organization were impressed at 
all times with the knowledge that the future of the Negro in the Air Corps 
probably would be dependent largely upon the manner in which they car-
ried out their mission,” Davis said at the press conference. “Hence, the 
importance of the work done by this squadron, the responsibility carried by 
every man, be he ground crewman or pilot, meant that very little pleasure 
was to be had by anyone until the experiment was deemed an unqualifi ed 
success.”11

The reports of the generals’ dissatisfaction with the 99th that Gibson 
had heard leaked onto the pages of Time magazine on September 20. 
A news item tellingly titled “Experiment Proved?” reported on Davis’s 
press conference and praised his military bearing but contradicted Davis’s 
opinion of his men’s fi ghting prowess. The 99th “has apparently seen little 
action, compared to many other units, and seems to have done fairly well; 
that is as far as anyone [in the Air Forces chain of command] would go,” 
Time reported. “But unoffi cial reports from the Mediterranean theater have 
suggested that the top air command was not altogether satisfi ed with the 
99th’s performance.”12

The news article prompted a response that Davis might have wished 
his wife could just keep to herself. “Are you justifi ed in saying that the 
record of the 99th Fighter Squadron is only fair?” she asked in a letter to 
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the editor. “My husband tells me that his judgment . . . is that the record 
of the 99th Fighter Squadron is at least worthy of favorable comment.” 
Agatha Scott Davis charged that “by publishing an article based on ‘unof-
fi cial reports’ you have created unfavorable public opinion about an orga-
nization to which all Negroes point with pride.” The editors responded, 
“TIME’s ‘unoffi cial reports’ came from responsible sources which could 
not be quoted. Those reports—on operational results—raised no question 
about the Negro’s fi ghting ability. If the 99th’s record has been only fair, 
the blame must at least be shared by the Army Command responsible for 
the squadron’s segregated training and operation. Perhaps too much was 
expected of such an experiment.”13

Col. Momyer’s report on the 99th—clearly the source of Time’s item—
reached the War Department’s Advisory Committee on Negro Troop Poli-
cies, better known as the McCloy Committee after its chairman, Assistant 
Secretary of War John J. McCloy, in early October. It portrayed the pilots 
of the 99th as wholly ineffective, even cowardly. “Their formation fl ying 
has been very satisfactory until jumped by enemy aircraft, when the squad-
ron seems to disintegrate. Attempts to cover this defi ciency so far have 
been unfruitful,” Momyer claimed, though he based his sweeping conclu-
sions on an alarmingly small sample size. He pointed to a single mission, 
Dryden’s fl ight in which he and others “allowed themselves to become 
engaged” with German fi ghters when they should have been escorting 
American bombers back from Pantelleria, as evidence that the 99th pilots 
were undisciplined. “It is my opinion that they are not of the fi ghting cali-
ber of any squadron in the group,” he concluded. “They have failed to dis-
play the aggressiveness and desire for combat that are necessary to a fi rst 
class fi ghting organization.”14

Momyer’s report, which had been channeled through Gens. Edwin 
J. House and Carl Spaatz in Europe on its way to Gen. Arnold’s offi ce in 
Washington, did not give Davis the chance to rebut the charges. House 
editorialized, “On many discussions held with offi cers of all professions, 
including medical, the consensus of opinion seems to be that the negro 
type has not the proper refl exes to make a fi rst-class fi ghter pilot.” He rec-
ommended reassigning 99th to coastal patrol in northwest Africa. Arnold 
was only too happy to share Momyer’s report and House’s recommenda-
tions with the McCloy Committee. He proposed that the 99th be removed 
from combat, that the entire 332nd be assigned to coastal patrol, and that 
the plans for the 477th be scrapped. The “experiment,” in his mind, had 
been completed, and not successfully.15

Gibson arranged for Davis to testify before the McCloy Committee on 
October 16. He began by contradicting what he had previously said about 
the unit’s training: “The squadron was handicapped in that no one in the 
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squadron had combat experience” and was operating under a shortage of 
manpower. Davis expressed his dismay at the way Momyer’s charges had 
come to his attention: “The report is a surprise to me—that the squadron 
disintegrates when jumped was brought to my attention only one time. . . . 
The reason for that failure was inexperience.” But that criticism no longer 
held true. The pilots of the 99th were no longer greenhorns. “If there was 
a lack of experience, it was at fi rst; later we had it,” he claimed. “What’s so 
disturbing,” he continued, was that “this impression was not given me over 
there. I carried out my mission—if given a mission to bomb a target, I went 
ahead and bombed it.”16

Davis’s testimony refocused the black press’s attention on the War 
Department’s use of the 99th and galvanized black public opinion behind 
the squadron. The resulting publicity forced the War Department to 
acknowledge that Momyer’s opinion was not the last word on the subject 
and that the 99th deserved an objective assessment of its performance. Gen. 
Marshall commissioned a study on the 99th’s effectiveness. It concluded 
that there was “no signifi cant general difference” between the 99th’s per-
formance and that of other fi ghter squadrons in the Mediterranean Theater 
of Operations. Meanwhile, Arnold was forced to admit that Momyer had 
denied the 99th signifi cant opportunities to display the squadron’s collec-
tive abilities in combat and that it would be unfair to kill the “experiment” 
based on a single combat mission.17

The War Department dictated that there would be no coastal patrol for 
the 99th. Instead, the squadron transferred to Foggia Air Field on the Ital-
ian peninsula near the Adriatic coast, attached to the 79th Fighter Group, 
in which its pilots more often fl ew alongside whites in combined actions.18 
In stark contrast to Momyer, group commander Col. Earl E. Bates saw to it 
that the offi cers of the 99th were integrated into the work of the group and 
treated them as equals. Bernard Proctor said, “We administrators met [in 
an integrated group with counterparts from the 79th] every day, and then 
the pilots fl ew together. For the fi rst time, we were not black. We func-
tioned, visited, did everything that the normal group would do.”19

Walter White had a chance to witness the work of the 99th—and 
the difference that the squadron’s attachment to the 79th made—at 
close hand when he toured widely through the European Theater of 
Operations as a war correspondent for the New York Post in 1944. White 
observed thousands of African American troops in Italy, the vast major-
ity of whom were menial laborers, “unloading ships, repairing airfields, 
and driving trucks.” He had talked with hundreds of disaffected black 
troops who chafed under discriminatory conditions nearly everywhere 
he went. (He would repeat the experience the following year when he 
toured the Pacific Theater.) But morale among the black laborers in 
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Italy was different, better than that of the troops he had seen elsewhere. 
“[T]here was a new pride among them because of the 99th Pursuit 
Squadron,” he wrote. “Negroes were being given an opportunity to do 
something more than menial army chores,” and the pilots of the 99th 
became symbols for other blacks in the service of what blacks could 
accomplish if offered a fair chance.20

“But to me,” White reported, “the most remarkable development was 
the total obliteration of consciousness of difference in skin color among 
both white and black fl yers of the 79th Group.” He documented a 1944 
incident in which white pilots of the 79th disobeyed an order from Lt. Gen. 
Jacob L. Devers, commander of the Mediterranean Theater of Operations 
for the AAF, and held a desegregated dinner party with dancing to cel-
ebrate the anniversary of the 79th’s entrance into combat. “We have fought 
together for a year, some of our members have died together, and when we 
celebrate we are going to do it together no matter what the top brass says,” 
White quoted the white pilots as saying. His observation of the 79th led 
him to develop a theory explaining why race relations were so much better 
at the front lines of the war. “I became convinced in Italy of the soundness 
of the formula which has almost mathematical exactitude,” he explained, 
“that race prejudice fl ourishes in inverse ratio to proximity to actual fi ght-
ing. The pettiness of race and creedal differences are sloughed off when 
men face sudden death.”21

The 99th moved with Allied forces up the boot of Italy toward Rome. As 
late as January 1944, when the unit stationed at an airfi eld in Capodichino, 
near Naples on the Mediterranean coast, the 99th had still not particularly 
distinguished itself in combat. Charles B. Hall’s remained the squadron’s 
only kill. The late winter season of 1943–44 was an especially rainy one, 
and the men of the 99th spent more time in the mud than they did in the 
air. An eruption from nearby Mount Vesuvius further deteriorated fl ying 
conditions.

As quickly as it had appeared that Momyer’s report would end the 
“experiment,” however, the squadron’s fortunes changed. With the other 
squadrons of the 79th Fighter Group, the 99th fl ew air cover in the 
Allies’ Operation Shingle, the amphibious invasion of the central Medi-
terranean coast near Anzio. The assignment gave the pilots more chances 
to engage German fi ghters and the opportunity to earn recognition for 
the unit. The pilots of the 99th shot down twelve German airplanes over 
two January days. Robert Deiz, who would soon be immortalized on a 
poster encouraging black Americans to buy war bonds, and Buster Hall 
got credit for two kills each; Vash Eagleson and Lemuel Custis downed 
one apiece. They silenced for good the critics who had questioned the 
squadron’s effectiveness. Even Gen. Arnold congratulated the 99th for 
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its “very commendable” performance. But the increased opportunity for 
glory brought with it a new level of danger. The bulk of these missions 
involved dive-bombing defensive harbor fortifi cations. In addition to the 
Luftwaffe, the 99th had to contend with massive anti-aircraft installa-
tions. Lt. Samuel M. Bruce of Seattle died while attempting to crash-land 
his damaged P-40 on the Nettuno beachhead. He was the third of sixty-six 
Tuskegee-trained pilots who would die in combat in the Mediterranean-
European Theater.22

Time gave the 99th due credit after the outburst: “Any outfi t would have 
been proud of the record. These victories stamped the fi nal seal of com-
bat excellence on one of the most controversial outfi ts in the Army, the 
all-Negro 99th Fighter Squadron.” Maj. Roberts spoke sagely of what the 
99th’s record in the Anzio campaign had proven: “We have not turned 
out to be super-duper pilots—but as good as the U.S. Army turns out,” he 
told a magazine reporter. “That’s important. Because we had one handi-
cap: people assumed we were not producing because we were Negroes. . . . 
But now that we have produced, things have changed.” Time also quoted a 
white pilot of the 79th, a Missourian: “They are a fi rst-rate bunch, fi ghting 
the same war that we are.” Lemuel Custis told a reporter from the New York 
Times a short time later, “When the Ninty-ninth fi rst went over the general 
impression was that it was an experiment. Now I think the record shows 
that it was a successful experiment.”23

Having at least achieved some combat experience and the respect of 
their peers, if not quite the glory they had aimed for, small groups of pilots 
from the 99th began rotating back to the states in the spring to provide 
combat crew training for the newly formed 100th, 301st, and 302nd pursuit 
squadrons at Selfridge Field, Michigan. (Along with the 99th, the three 
new squadrons made up the 332nd Fighter Group, commanded by Davis.) 
After the three new squadrons deployed overseas in January 1944, several 
of the combat veterans remained at Selfridge to work with the Tuskegee-
trained pilots assigned to the 553rd Replacement Squadron who would 
replace the original pilots as they rotated back to the states. (AAF fi ghter 
pilots were supposed to rotate out of combat after fi fty missions, but TAFS 
could not graduate a suffi cient number of pilots quickly enough to make 
that possible for the 99th. Many of them fl ew more than one hundred mis-
sions before returning stateside.) “Our job was to teach these people com-
ing out of fl ying school at Tuskegee what things you run into in combat: 
maneuvers and so forth and so on,” recalled William A. Campbell, one of 
the fi rst fl yers to return to the states.24

Campbell and the others came back to the United States changed men. 
Lucius Theus, a personnel offi cer who remained stateside through the war, 
explained the transformation as he saw it:
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What was very noticeable to me was a comfort in their position in life; 
in other words, knowing that they had succeeded and demonstrated that 
they could do their jobs well. They could point proudly to their records 
that clearly demonstrated that they were as good as anyone else, and so 
I think they exuded, if you will, a more confi dent attitude toward things.

We did not see the anxiety that you see in a new recruit, a person just 
coming in, wondering if they were going to make it and so forth. These 
young men had already . . . engaged in combat, they knew they were good, 
they were of course happy to have gotten back alive and all of that. So 
I think that the word would be they were much more confi dent in them-
selves.25

But the base commander at Selfridge, Col. William Boyd, insisted on clas-
sifying every black pilot on the base, including Campbell and the other 
combat veterans, as “trainees” or “transient personnel.” Boyd was new in 
command of Selfridge; his predecessor had been abruptly court-martialed, 
reduced in rank, and removed from command of the base after he got 
drunk and shot his black chauffeur. The investigation into that scandal also 
revealed that base offi cers had arranged for powerful local whites (including 
Henry Ford’s grandson Benson) to be transferred to Selfridge for “cream 
puff ” duty, that noncommissioned offi cers engaged in widespread bribery 
and appropriation of government property, and that drunkenness was ram-
pant in the base offi cer corps.26

The men who had trained at TAAF under professional conditions and 
effective leadership found Selfridge inferior in comparison. The return-
ing pilots’ anger over Boyd’s classifi cation scheme, a bald rationalization 
that allowed him to keep the base offi cers’ club segregated, was especially 
intense. Campbell tired of arguing with Boyd and Lt. Col. Robert R. Selway 
Jr., the commanding offi cer of both the replacement squadron and (as of 
January 1944) the newly formed 477th Medium Bombardment Group, and 
volunteered to return overseas. He rejoined the 99th, rose quickly to the 
rank of captain, and had assumed command of the squadron by the time 
the war ended in Europe.27

Selfridge was roughly 25 miles from the racial tinderbox of Detroit. War 
industries brought more than two hundred thousand new residents to the 
city, more than half of whom were black, during the 1940s. The new black 
migrants moved into already crowded neighborhoods such as Paradise Val-
ley and Black Bottom, whose dilapidated housing stock had, one former 
Detroit resident wrote, “a defi nite shortage of indoor plumbing.” When 
they sought better living conditions in previously all-white public housing 
projects and neighborhoods, racial tensions began to boil. “Detroit is Dyna-
mite,” Life magazine reported in 1942. “It can either blow up Hitler or blow 
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up the U.S.” Those disputes erupted into a full-blown race riot in the sum-
mer of 1943, which resulted in the deaths of twenty-fi ve blacks, seventeen 
of whom were killed by police, and nine whites, along with 675 serious 
injuries and nearly two thousand arrests. The riot cost Detroit an estimated 
$2 million in property losses and a million hours of absenteeism by war 
industry workers. Generals in the AAF began worrying about the danger 
posed by black airmen stationed so close to the city.28

At least one Tuskegee Airman, however, was glad to have been sta-
tioned at Selfridge. Alexander Jefferson grew up in a racially and ethnically 
mixed, mostly Polish American, working-class neighborhood of Detroit. 
After graduating from Chadsey High School in 1938 at the age of fi fteen, 
he enrolled at Clark University in Atlanta, where he excelled academically. 
 Jefferson graduated from Clark with a double major in chemistry and biol-
ogy and minors in physics and mathematics. In 1942 he narrowly passed 
the AAF’s physical exam—he had to guzzle water and devour bananas to 
meet the minimum weight requirement of 117 pounds—and was sworn 
into the Army Reserves. He arrived in Tuskegee in April 1943 as a mem-
ber of the class of 44-A and graduated the following January. Jefferson’s 
maternal grandfather, who had been born a slave in Georgia, lived to see 
his grandson in an offi cer’s uniform of the Army Air Forces.29

Jefferson was assigned to the 553rd Replacement Squadron and trans-
ferred to Selfridge Field for advanced training in the P-39 Airacobra. He 
and his fellow pilot-offi cers made frequent visits to Detroit’s black enter-
tainment districts in Paradise Valley and Black Bottom. They were glad to 
have that outlet, mainly because “There were . . . beautiful young women to 
be found in the Valley . . . who found a group of cocky young fi ghter pilots, 
full of vim, vigor, and vitality, to be quite attractive.” But Jefferson and his 
comrades also resented being prohibited from entering Lufbery Hall, the 
Selfridge offi cers’ club. It was restricted to base personnel, but they were 
classifi ed as transient personnel, as were all fi fty of the men of the 332nd 
and their trainers, the combat veterans of the 99th, and the newly arrived 
members of the 477th Medium Bombardment Group. Nevertheless, they 
had to pay dues of $6 a month for the upkeep of an offi cers’ club they could 
not enter.30

The pilots clearly chafed under the conditions they found at Selfridge. If 
the northerners among them expected that once they returned to the safe 
side of the Mason-Dixon line they would fi nd less white supremacism and 
less segregation, that expectation went unmet. “[M]uch of the good South 
‘Nigger Discipline’ has been carried over into the groups by men (White) 
who were appointed as supervisors of the fi ghter training,” Milton Henry, 
a TAFS graduate and now an offi cer-pilot of the 332nd, complained in a 
report to the Philadelphia chapter of the NAACP. “For most of us who, 
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like myself, are aggressive individuals capable of living competitive, free 
lives, this southern aggression theory is infuriating, and is only serving to 
retain [sic] the progress of the groups, and lessen any desire for any contact 
with the enemy.” Henry made a laundry list of complaints on behalf of 
the pilots of the 332nd: they were occasionally forced to fl y in bad weather 
or in aircraft they deemed unsafe, even though they routinely witnessed 
white pilots refusing to fl y in such conditions. They were treated as enlisted 
men, with bed check at 10 p.m. and roll call every morning at the crack of 
dawn.31

Henry reached the breaking point when the AAF court-martialed and 
convicted Lt. Leroy Bowman for refusing an order to extend a night fl ight 
by twenty minutes after he had already fl own for fi ve and a half hours 
and developed back pain. Henry claimed that Bowman was well within 
his rights under AAF regulations. Court-martialing Bowman and placing 
him in a cell for such a minor infraction was, Henry charged, “positively 
unheard of in the history of the Army Air Forces,” and asked the NAACP to 
take up Bowman’s defense. He placed the incident in a larger context: “We 
want, and are trying as best we can, to prevent a rupture in our fi ghting 
effectiveness. We know their aim is to make it appear that we weren’t worth 
a damn . . . [but] [w]e fi nd it hard to fi ght against Tyranny in the midst of Tyr-
anny.” Bowman’s case would drag on for more than a year before his sen-
tence was commuted by President Roosevelt; Henry would be drummed 
out of the Air Forces within the year.32

Henry was hardly the only AAF offi cer to fi ght discriminatory treatment 
in Michigan and pay the ultimate price. Robert L. Carter was another. 
Carter was drafted in 1941, graduated from the Offi cer Candidate School 
of the Army’s Quartermaster Corps, and received his commission as a 
second lieutenant in May 1942. In 1943 he asked for and received a re-
assignment to the 96th Air Service Group because he anticipated that it 
would soon be transferred overseas in support of the 99th, and he wanted 
to fi ght the Nazis. Carter joined the 96th at TAAF and soon moved with 
the unit to Michigan. In Carter’s fi rst eighteen months as an offi cer, he 
received one effi ciency rating of “Superior,” two of “Very Superior,” and 
one of “Excellent.” His duties in this period were various; in addition to 
his service as a supply offi cer for the 96th, he was a platoon commander, 
administrative inspector, and trial judge advocate. However, the group’s 
treatment at Selfridge Field and an auxiliary fi eld, Oscoda, complicated 
his plans for overseas service. Carter’s insistence on equal treatment for 
blacks in the AAF earned him a reputation as a troublemaker. Rather 
than going overseas as planned with the 332nd, he was instead trans-
ferred into a dead-end position under Major Arthur P. Hayes at Alpena 
Air Base in Michigan.33
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Hayes deemed Carter’s service from October 1943 to January 1944 
so unacceptable that he recommended the AAF decommission and dis-
miss the second lieutenant. The AAF court-martialed Carter on the basis 
of Hayes’s bizarre allegations against him. (These included: “Lt. Carter 
complains of segregation and prejudice against the colored race. . . . It is 
reported that Lt. Carter has told enlisted men to ‘do as little to get by as 
you can, and no more.’ . . . The undersigned by chance caught a remark by 
another offi cer to the effect that after the war Lt. Carter planned to be ‘An 
ambulance chaser.’ ”) Carter’s civilian defense attorney—none other than 
William H. Hastie—challenged the allegations and returned some wild 
ones of his own: “Major Hayes has represented his race as ‘white’ or as 
‘colored’ as has served his convenience. . . . [This] reveal[s] traits of char-
acter to be considered in an issue of credibility between Major Hayes and 
another offi cer.”34

The court-martial convicted Carter and discharged him from the service, 
but the Air Forces’ loss was the nation’s gain. The experience “made a mili-
tant of me and instilled in me a fi erce determination to fi ght against racism 
with all my intellectual and physical strength,” Carter remembered. Follow-
ing his exit from the service, Carter went to work as an assistant counsel to 
Thurgood Marshall at the NAACP’s Legal Defense Fund (LDF). He worked 
as a lead attorney on the LDF’s landmark cases of the following two decades, 
including Sweatt v. Painter and Brown v. Board of Education. When Marshall 
left the LDF, Carter succeeded him as general counsel, a position he held 
until 1968. Carter won a remarkable twenty-one of the twenty-two cases he 
argued before the U.S. Supreme Court as an attorney for the LDF. In 1972 
he followed Marshall to the federal bench, accepting an appointment to the 
U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York.35

The unrest at Selfridge continued. Spurred on by active Detroit chapters 
of the NAACP and the Urban League, and by reporters from the local black 
newspaper, the Michigan Chronicle, the black offi cers at Selfridge tried to 
enter Lufbery Hall several days in a row; each time they were turned away 
physically. When it became apparent that they would not stop trying to use 
the club, Col. Boyd closed it and called for backup. On Thursday, May 4, 
Jefferson and several other trainees had their aerial gunnery practice inter-
rupted by a radio announcement: “All offi cers report to the post theater, as 
you are, on the double!” The commander of the First Air Force, Maj. Gen. 
Frank O’D. (“Monk”) Hunter had fl own in to read the black offi cers of Sel-
fridge Field the riot act. The men were restricted to base. Within forty-eight 
hours, the 332nd had been transferred, and the men were on a train headed 
for they knew not where. Charles Dryden, who had returned from Italy to 
Selfridge as a trainer, actually wondered, “Are we going to be interned the 
way the Japanese-Americans . . . had been only recently[?]”36
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The troop train arrived the next day at what Dryden called “Godforsaken 
Walterboro Army Air Base” on the coastal plain of South Carolina. “When 
our train backed onto the base, we were greeted by white soldiers in full 
battle dress,” Jefferson recalled. “There they stood, one every 30 feet along 
both sides of the train, with rifl es and bayonets at the ready.” Dryden and 
Lt. Spann Watson, native northerners who had swallowed their pride and 
allowed themselves to be Jim Crowed in Alabama because they had their 
eyes on larger prizes, who had risked their lives in the skies over North 
Africa and Italy then refused to abide by segregation as combat training 
instructors in Michigan, cracked at Walterboro.37

Segregation of base facilities was no better or worse, no more or less 
rigidly enforced, at Walterboro than it had been at Selfridge. What differed 
were the whites who could use the all-white facilities in South Carolina that 
were denied the combat veterans. Watson and Dryden were fi rst perplexed, 
and then outraged, to see whites in uniforms with “PW” stenciled on the 
backs entering the whites-only area of the post exchange cafeteria. It slowly 
dawned on the instructors that the men were German prisoners of war 
housed on the base. “WE WERE INSULTED AND HUMILIATED IN OUR 
OWN NATIVE LAND!” Dryden later wrote.38

Dryden got himself in trouble over the course of a weekend after spend-
ing his fi rst week at Walterboro stewing over the German POWs he saw 
using base facilities he could not. On a Saturday morning in June 1944 he 
demonstrated for his pupils in the 553rd the landing maneuver that Horace 
Bohannon so enjoyed showing off in Atlanta. It was strictly forbidden at 
Walterboro. Early the next morning he led a fl ight of four on a low-level nav-
igation mission that ended with the aircraft “buzzing” the town’s business 
district. Dryden’s superiors charged him with violating the 96th Article of 
War—“conduct of a nature to bring discredit upon the military service.” He 
was able to talk his way out of punishment for the buzzing incident, but the 
previous day’s “grass-cutting” display had endangered troops and facilities 
at the air base. The guilty verdict in Dryden’s fi rst trial carried a sentence of 
dismissal from the service, but he got the sentence reduced on appeal. He 
would have to remain on base for three months, pay a hefty fi ne, and forego 
any promotions for a year.39

Watson got himself into an even more dangerous predicament. He 
had the local Ford dealership repair his personal car in January 1945 and 
somehow got into a dispute with the owner of the dealership. According to 
Watson, the dealer found Watson’s attitude overly “uppity,” so the dealer 
slapped him. Watson responded by punching the man. “He got up, and 
I fl oored him again,” Watson recalled. “I beat the hell out of him.” It was 
Watson’s bad luck that the man he had beaten turned out to be the town’s 
mayor. An angry mob assembled, MPs arrived, and Watson made it back 
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to the relative safety of the base. The base commander gave him a choice: 
He could ship out for Italy with the next group of replacement pilots or he 
could transfer to the 477th, but he could not stay at Walterboro. Watson 
joined the 477th and transferred out the next day.40

Several enlisted men of the 96th Air Service Group had similar expe-
riences while stationed stateside. Edmund L. Wilkinson, a native New 
Yorker, dropped his studies at the City College of New York in 1942 to 
enroll in a training program for aircraft mechanics. He trained and worked 
in programs in New York and New Jersey where he was one of a small 
handful of African Americans. Wilkinson was drafted in 1943 and assigned 
to Rome (N.Y.) Air Depot as an army private. Despite having already gained 
expertise in maintaining aircraft hydraulics, Wilkinson was assigned to a 
labor battalion that dug ditches and cleared forest areas around the base. 
When the opportunity to volunteer for the 96th ASG arose, Wilkinson 
took advantage of it and transferred to Oscoda. He was assigned to base 
 accounting—“and I hate accounting,” he said. Being so close to the mem-
bers of the 332nd combat crew fl ying airplanes and the other members of 
the 96th ASG who got to work on them was agonizing. But after a month 
Wilkinson was able to transfer again, into the 367th Air Service Squadron 
of the 96th. “Ah boy,” he said, “I was home then. They couldn’t hurt me 
no more.” The 332nd was preparing to ship out for Italy and transferred 
to Camp Patrick Henry in Virginia, the port of embarkation, shortly after 
Wilkinson joined the maintenance squadron in December 1943.41

Wilkinson recalled an incident at Camp Patrick Henry that Davis glossed 
over in his memoirs, in which the enlisted men of the 96th and several 
 offi cers of the 332nd nearly rioted when they refused to be segregated 
at the base movie theater, and authorities used violence to disperse them. 
“[T]he general feeling,” he said, “was that if that was the way we were going 
to be treated going overseas, we’d stay here and fi ght the war.” Wilkinson 
recalled that the enlisted men stayed up late one night discussing how they 
might obtain ammunition for the empty rifl es they had been issued, but 
an offi cer made an impassioned plea: “Don’t do this. Whatever it is we’re 
going to do when we get overseas, it will vindicate the black people. It will 
make this incident seem stupid.”42

“I guess at about 1:30 in the morning we heard a bullhorn, and we looked 
outside, and here was the base provost martial with a bullhorn on a 6-by-6 
truck with a .50 caliber machine gun on it, mounted on a swivel rack,” 
Wilkinson remembered. “And he’s telling us that we are restricted to quar-
ters and anybody that leaves the quarters is subject to get shot. And that was 
the end of our insurrection.” Their ship, the S.S. Josiah Bartlett, embarked 
the next day. The incident did not “come as a culture shock,” Wilkinson 
said. People had told him he would be treated that way in the South. But 



112 FREEDOM FLYERS

that knowledge “didn’t take away the pain; it didn’t take away the hurt or 
the anger. It just made you—I wouldn’t even say it made you resolved to do 
better or do something about it. All it did was make you want to get away 
from that situation. Frankly, we were glad to get overseas because we fi g-
ured it couldn’t be any worse over there than where we were.”43

Wilkinson was aware of Double-V ideology that combined patriotism 
with civil rights consciousness, but because of incidents like the one at 
Camp Patrick Henry, he said, “That didn’t operate for us. Whatever we did, 
we did out of our own inner pride of self [and out of] being happy that we 
did have black pilots and we wanted their planes to be absolutely perfect. 
We did it out of that kind of a thing. Not patriotism, if you would call it that. 
We were not patriotic because they took that away from us. How could you 
be patriotic to a country that did that to you?”44

The 100th, 301st, and 302nd fi ghter squadrons and their accompany-
ing service squadrons arrived at full strength in Italy in February 1944, 
making the 332nd Fighter Group operational. The group moved to Rami-
telli Airfi eld on the Adriatic coast and joined the 15th Air Force late in 
May. Flying brand-new P-51 Mustangs with distinctive bright red tail 
markings from Ramitelli’s pierced steel-planked runways, the group fl ew 
bomber escorts for the 15th Air Force, the missions for which the pilots 
of the 332nd would later achieve some measure of fame, for the fi rst time 
in July 1944.

Gen. Nathan Twining, commander of the 15th Air Force, oversaw a 
strategy that used U.S. bombers based in Italy to pound away at German 
industrial targets, and he believed that the attrition rate was too high in his 
bomber groups as they fl ew deep into Axis-held territory. He impressed 
upon Davis the importance of providing fi ghter escort, as opposed to “happy 
hunting”—seeking out individual German fi ghters to rack up “kills.” (It was 
a typical maneuver for an individual German fi ghter to draw escorts away 
from the bomber stream so that others could ambush the bombers.) Wood-
row Crockett, a pilot of the 100th Fighter Squadron, explained the calculus:

A fi ghter, German or U.S., only cost $50,000 [and] one man. A B-24 or 
B-25—it costs $225,000, with ten, eleven people in it. Late in the war one 
outfi t one day went out and shot down nine enemy Focke-Wulf 109’s: 
$50,000 times nine and only nine people. [However, at the same time] 
they lost seven B-17s with eleven fully combat-ready people in each air-
plane. [That’s] no kind of tradeoff, and [there is] no way you could ever 
win anything with that kind of ratio.45

Davis, in turn, demanded that his pilots provide the effective shepherd-
ing. Several pilots recalled him advising, “Don’t come back if you lose a 
bomber.”
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In February 1944 the 99th separated from the 79th and joined the three 
other all-black squadrons of the 332nd; not everyone in the squadron was 
happy to be leaving an effectively integrated group to be segregated again. 
By the end of the year the pilots of the 332nd had impressed their counter-
parts in all-white bomber crews. “Unoffi cially you are known by an untold 
number of bomber crews as the Red Tails who can be depended upon and 
whose appearance means certain protection from enemy fi ghters,” Col. 
Davis informed the pilots of the 332nd that December. “The bomber crews 
have told others about your accomplishments, and your good reputation 
has preceded you into many parts where you may think you are unknown.” 
He continued, “The Commanding General of our Fighter Command has 
stated that we are doing a good job and that he will so inform the Air Force 
Commander. Thus, the offi cial report of our operations is a creditable one.” 
When not providing bomber escort, the pilots of the 332nd typically struck 
at rail traffi c and infrastructure throughout Central Europe; they also pro-
vided air cover for invasions of southern France and Greece.46

Alex Jefferson’s group of replacement pilots arrived just in time for the 
332nd’s transition to the brand-new red-tailed P-51s. Jefferson remembered 
some of his bomber escort missions in great detail, but by the time he 
published his memoir in 2005 he had forgotten most of the particulars of 
his fi rst eighteen missions. In contrast, his nineteenth, his fi rst strafi ng 
mission, was more than memorable enough. A German antiaircraft battery 
shot Jefferson and at least two other pilots of the 332nd down while they 
were attempting to take out radar stations at Toulon, on the southern coast 
of France. The other pilots on the mission had seen Jefferson’s aircraft go 
down but they did not see him exit; in Detroit his parents received a tele-
gram that he had been killed in action. But Jefferson escaped his burning 
aircraft and parachuted to dry land—“right in the middle of the 20-mm 
gun crew that had shot me down.” He spent the next nine months in Ger-
man POW camps.47

The German intelligence offi cer who debriefed Jefferson at a central 
interrogation center surprised him by producing a thick fi le on the 332nd 
Fighter Group. According to Jefferson, the offi cer picked Jefferson’s face 
out of a group photograph of his graduating class at TAAF; told him how 
much Jefferson’s father earned as a laborer at the Detroit Lubricator Co. 
and how much he paid in property taxes for the family’s home; and even 
remarked on Jefferson’s college grades. He was shocked to learn that the 
Germans had a copy of the ten-hour inspection report for his P-51 Margo, 
which had been completed the morning of the day he was shot down 
over France. “The Germans had to have had somebody at Ramitelli Air 
Base or higher up the line who was giving them information,” he ruefully 
assumed.48
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Jefferson persevered through nine months in POW camps and kept 
notes and a sketch pad that served him well when he later reconstructed 
the ordeal. Two experiences stood out in his memory. The fi rst occurred 
on his fi rst day at Stalag Luft III, a camp holding fi ve thousand American 
and British air offi cers who had been shot down over German-occupied 
territory and where the inmates were allowed to choose who would live in 
their barracks. Jefferson was picked out of a lineup by a “dyed-in-the-wool-
cracker with the deepest southern drawl imaginable” with these words: “Ah 
think I’ll take this boy.” Jefferson soon learned why: His new roommates 
hid escape materials in the barracks, and they wanted to make sure that 
they were not bringing a German spy into their midst. “At home,” Jeffer-
son mused, “black soldiers caught hell from SOBs just like the guy who 
had selected me. Now, fi ve thousand miles from home, they can trust a 
black man because they are scared to death of a strange white face. Ain’t 
that a bitch!”49

The second event brought Jefferson closer to the majority of the offi cers 
with whom he was confi ned, men who “had been prisoners for more than 
two years and had no idea that blacks were now pilots and offi cers in the 
Army Air Corps.” One day a crewmember of a B-17 that had recently been 
shot down arrived in camp and embraced Jefferson. “You’re a Red Tail!” 
the man enthused. “If the Red Tails had been with us [on our last mission], 
we’d have made it back home! You guys saved our asses so many times!” 
Following the encounter, Jefferson, wrote, he and the eleven other mem-
bers of the 332nd in the camp were treated more or less as equals.50

Accounts from members of other bomber crews corroborate the B-17 
crewman’s claim. Larry Fleischer, a New York Jew who was drafted at the 
age of eighteen, trained as a navigator-bombardier and joined an all-white, 
ten-man crew in the 777th Bomb Squadron based just south of Ramitelli, 
recalled his experiences fl ying under the protection of the 332nd. Com-
pared with other all-white squadrons who provided bomber escort, the 
pilots of the 332nd “stayed up close,” he said. “They didn’t get way out. A 
lot of times, those [other] guys were so far out that if some aircraft came out 
of the clouds, they wouldn’t have been able to get over there quick enough. 
[But] they escorted us.”51

Fleischer and his crewmates discussed what made the Red Tails differ-
ent. “I mean, you can’t tell what the color of the pilot is when he’s got his 
helmet on and everything, but we never knew that they were black. We 
just knew that they were there,” he remembered. “We couldn’t fi gure out 
why are these guys so damn good, and all the [other] guys just come out 
there, they leave early, before we’re not completely out of enemy territory. 
And here are these guys—I mean, when we would see them we’d say, 
‘Man, we’ve got it made today,’ because they were right there, all the time. 
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They were our lifesavers.” The co-pilot of Fleischer’s crew, George G. 
Barnett, concurred: “They just gave us comfort, where the other escorts 
didn’t. You know, we were glad to have the other escorts, but we would 
have preferred to have the Red Tails escorting us. But goodness, there 
were a dozen fi ghter groups [operating out of the area]. We couldn’t get 
Red Tails all the time. They went with other groups some of the other 
times.”52

Fleischer’s crew learned of one signifi cant factor, the color of their skin, 
that made the Red Tails different when the crew was forced to make an 
emergency landing following a bombing run on industrial targets on Jan-
uary 20, 1945. “The mission was to Linz, Austria,” Fleischer recounted. 
“Linz sits at the [northern] base of the Alps. In other words, from there on, 
going south, it’s all Alps,” he said. “We got hit by antiaircraft fl ak going 
over the target; they hit us in the bomb bays. We couldn’t close the bomb 
bay doors. Two of the four engines were hit.” Because of the damage to the 
bomb bays, it fell to Fleischer to release the bomber’s payload manually. 
The plane was fl ying at roughly 150 miles per hour, 25,000 feet over the 
Alps, so the temperature of the air coming through the bays was approxi-
mately 60 below 0. Fleischer had to make several attempts at jettisoning 
the 100-pound bombs, and in the course of his efforts he lost a boot; the 
resulting case of frostbite continued to bother him at the time of his 2001 
interview.53

The crippled B-24 made it back over the Alps and crossed over Yugosla-
via and the Adriatic, but could not summon the power to make it all the 
back way to the crew’s base. Pilot Murl D. Brown spotted an unknown air-
base just off the Italian coast and successfully landed the damaged plane. 
Fleischer said, “Before the plane hit down, we really were expecting it to 
be [an abandoned] German fi eld because [otherwise] why wouldn’t it be on 
one of our maps? I mean, it was so secret they didn’t even have it on our 
map, and we were supposed to have the latest maps.” To the crew’s unend-
ing surprise, “here were all these Red Tail P-51’s” parked off the runway. 
Brown had landed at Ramitelli.54

“So when we land there at Ramitelli and see those Red Tails—man! And 
these are all black guys! It was complete shock,” Fleischer recalled. He was 
stunned, “Because in my experiences up to that time, as far as black people, 
the only black people I ever saw in the military was when I was at Ellington 
Field [Texas]. They were in the kitchen. They were cooks, and they served 
the food, and that’s the only black guys I ever encountered in the mili-
tary. And here they were.” The existence of black pilots in the Army Air 
Forces was, he said, “more secret than the atom bomb! I mean, nobody 
knew about it.” Francis X. Connolly, a gunner in the crew, was equally 
surprised: “All these trucks and jeeps came up with black men in them, in 
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American uniforms. All these black men spoke English. We didn’t know 
exactly where we were.”55

Fleischer entered the Ramitelli base hospital to have his foot treated, and 
the crew’s remaining enlisted men moved into six-man tents with members 
of the Ramitelli ground crew. The offi cers—Brown, Barnett, and navigator 
Stan Kay—were shown to offi cers’ quarters and offered beds. According 
to Barnett, Brown asked, “Who sleeps here?” Their escort from the 332nd 
answered, “One of the pilots who’s on R&R.” Brown (again, according to 
Barnett) replied, “I’m not sleeping in any bed a nigger’s slept in.”56

Fleischer continued, “I didn’t fi nd out until years later that Murl D. 
Brown went out and slept in the airplane that night, which I can tell you 
was pretty cold. And the next night he decided it wasn’t that bad, and he 
actually did sleep in that bed.” Unlike Brown, Barnett loved the accommo-
dations, in contrast to those at his regular base. There, he said, “We didn’t 
even have heat in the tent we lived in in the wintertime. We just slept in 
our clothes and slept in as many blankets as we could get on us.” The men 
at Ramitelli had built their own heaters and made life more bearable in 
other ways. “They had an old Italian barn that they converted to a theater,” 
Barnett remembered. “And about every night of the week you’d go over 
there, and anybody who could do anything got up on stage and performed. 
They had a small orchestra, comedians.” He mused, “They knew how to 
live better than we did. Their food was a notch better than ours. I think they 
must have traded with the local Italians for eggs and beef and things like 
that. They had things that we never had that I wished we had.” Even Brown 
came around. The crew spent nine days at Ramitelli, and as they loaded up 
in the back of a troop-carrier truck to return to their base, Barnett remem-
bered that Brown turned to him and said, “You know, George, they’re not 
so bad after all, are they?”57

Of course, not all stories of forced intimacy between white and black 
Airmen had such happy endings. Inclement weather had forced a differ-
ent bomber crew to spend the 1944 Christmas season at Ramitelli. The 
Tuskegee Airmen did not remember that visit pleasantly. Louis Purnell 
was the base censor at Ramitelli, and when he read one of the crew mem-
ber’s letters home he found the words, “Dear . . . The most sentimental time 
of the year is approaching. It makes my heart bleed to know that I’ll not 
be with you at Christmas. May God speed the end of this war. . . . [I]t’s bad 
enough I’m not on my own base. I’m stranded at a nigger base, eating nig-
ger food and sleeping in a nigger bed.”58

But in general, emergency landings did have the unintended effect of 
breaking down segregation. Edmund Wilkinson’s service squadron joined 
up with the 332nd at Capodichino. Rather than moving to Ramitelli when 
the group moved there, however, he was assigned to a detachment at an 
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emergency fi eld at Falconara, roughly 200 miles up the Adriatic coast. 
“[O]ur role was to make a place for these planes to land and then do what-
ever we needed to do to treat the crew if they were injured or the plane 
was busted or whatever the heck happened. If it was fi xable we’d fi x it. 
If it crashed and burned, well, we’d just use the parts for part supply or 
whatever.” The group serviced planes from the 332nd and all-white fi ghter 
squadrons of the 15th Air Force, but also crippled bombers that could not 
make it back to their bases, along with the occasional British or Canadian 
airplane.59

“Now, we were dumped cold into planes—B-17s, B-24s, B-25s, A-26s—
dumped cold into that and expected to fi x them,” Wilkinson said. “And 
we did fi x them! It was a very rewarding experience to be able to translate 
out of your head. Of course, we had the tech manuals—you could always 
get the tech manual; if there was something confusing, you could go look 
it up. But you had that basic skill. All the guys, the propeller specialists, 
the engine specialists, sheet metal man, whatever it was they learned, they 
learned well.” A black medical detachment patched up any injuries the 
pilots and crewmen might have sustained, and the quartermaster corps 
fed and housed them until the mechanics could get their aircraft fl ying 
again. “And so that turned out to be a very interesting thing,” Wilkinson 
said, “because there you have integration under war conditions.”60 Walter 
White’s mathematical formula—“race prejudice fl ourishes in inverse ratio 
to proximity to actual fi ghting”—proved accurate again.

Segregation broke down in Europe in many ways. “The life of enlisted 
personnel of the ground crew in the U.S. Army Air Corps is very drab 
at times,” a unit history recorded, but the rare trip to one of the Italian 
hotels or resort areas that had been requisitioned for rest and relaxation 
camps could go a long way toward relieving the tedium. This was so in 
part because “[t]he esprit de corps that existed among the negro and white 
troops” in the camps “was admirable.” Another sort of esprit de corps 
seems to have been apparent in the camps as well: the group’s fl ight sur-
geon, Dr. Vance Marchbanks, dispensed thousands of condoms between 
the 332nd’s arrival in Italy and VE Day, but venereal diseases remained a 
challenge to the group’s effectiveness.61 Offi cers could wangle leave for an 
R&R camp near Naples. Joe Louis, the heavyweight champion of the world, 
visited the camp, and the men found other ways to pass the time. Enlisted 
men traveled to Rome and points beyond. William Surcey and a group of 
resourceful airplane mechanics and welders even made a boat out of spare 
parts in their downtime. The Miss Adriatic fl oated on excess fuel tanks and 
had an air compressor for a power plant.62

The men needed such outlets, because their work was grueling. 
Charles E. McGee, a replacement pilot of the 302nd Squadron who 
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joined the 332nd in Italy in January 1944, fl ew more than fi fty bomber-
escort missions (out of the 136 total missions he fl ew in the war) in a 
little more than eighteen months. He described an escort mission from 
Ramitelli to the Ploesti oil fi elds in present-day Romania that fed the 
German industrial machine, an immensely valuable target at this point 
of the war, from the perspective of a fi ghter pilot. “Your day starts pretty 
early,” he said. “The wake-up call for the pilots would be, say, 5:30 in 
the morning. You’d have a half hour to get up, throw some water on 
your face, get coffee, go get food and so on, so that you could report to 
 operations, say, by 6:15.”63

A short intelligence briefi ng provided information on the composition 
of ground forces in the area. “You’d get your operations briefi ng,” McGee 
said. “By 6:30 you’re going to personal equipment and putting on your gear 
that you’re going to need for your mission. And by 6:45 you’re at the fl ight 
line with all your information.” A conversation followed with the airplane’s 
crew chief. “And of course he probably got awakened at 4 to go get the pre-
fl ight done and begin to get the aircraft ready and be sure the armament 
and all of that’s done.” He continued, “You’re strapped in the aircraft at fi ve 
minutes of seven, and get the signal, and your fl ight starts up and taxis out 
so that by 7:10 the takeoff rolls start.”

Under normal operations pilots took off in pairs and circled the fi eld 
once. As a given squadron’s entire fl ight of eighteen aircraft (two of whom 
were spares) took off, “The lead would make a great big circle. By the 
time he made a circle around the fi eld, heading out in the direction of the 
bombers, everybody is pulling in.” He continued, “As you’re climbing out 
you’re in fairly loose formation, but everybody is keeping an eye out as you 
approach the rendezvous point. We’d climb out across the Adriatic, but our 
rendezvous point with the bombers might be along a river just into Yugo-
slavia or the Yugoslav-Romanian border.” McGee explained, “You’d begin 
to look for your bomber stream, and, of course, you’re at the rendezvous 
point to be with them, based on the intelligence you’ve been given and 
what they might expect from the enemy.”

If all four squadrons participated in a given mission, “We’d have sixty 
aircraft in the air. But you might have one squadron on one side of the 
bomber stream, and, of course, they’re strung out for miles in their fl ights, 
because there could be more than one bomb group going.” One squadron 
might have responsibility for defending Luftwaffe attacks from the side; 
another might have top cover. “If you ever heard the term ‘swivel neck,’ 
McGee said, “that’s a fi ghter pilot.”

McGee was never relaxed on the missions, he claimed, but “I didn’t fi nd 
any fright in it because the training pretty well set you up for what you 
wanted to do. We had good briefi ng leadership and great respect for Ben 
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Davis. These were folks that we respected. And we were ready. We had 
been trained to do the job. Let’s have at it. Let’s do it.”

McGee recalled B. O. Davis’s directions regarding bomber protection. 
“Davis said, ‘If you go happy hunting and haven’t been dispatched, you’re 
going to be in trouble if you come back before me. Our job is to protect the 
bombers.’ ‘Happy hunting’ is if you get a report that there’s enemy aircraft 
in the air and you go leave your bombers, trying to fi nd the enemy. You 
don’t know where they are. That’s just what the Germans wanted in some 
cases, because they could have somebody just sitting there, waiting for you 
to leave and go on. They used decoys.”

By that point in the war the Luftwaffe had been all but crippled, but 
“Every once in awhile you did have a dogfi ght. Combat happens pretty rap-
idly, because once you start after somebody and see him, you’re trying to 
maneuver. You’re also looking. You hope your wing man is keeping your 
tail clear. And suddenly you’re diving or climbing.” McGee described one 
instance in detail:

In this one particular case I chose to dive down, and of course I’m fol-
lowing him, trying to get a bead on him, and the next thing I know, we’re 
down right over his airfi eld. In fact, that’s my last memory as I got a shot 
into him. He’s turning. The airfi eld had already been bombed. There 
were a number of fi res. A hangar was on fi re. And as I’m coming in and 
got a shot on him, he went off in a right turn into the ground, and I’m 
gone, and only a couple of minutes had passed from the time when the 
whole thing started. Maybe two and a half. I didn’t put a stopwatch on 
it. But, again, you’re on the move. Again, you don’t know whether some-
body’s on your tail. So you climb immediately back out, and you’re jink-
ing around to avoid any ground fi re if there is any, and climb back out to 
altitude and join back up if they haven’t gone too far, or head for home. 
In my case I ended up heading for home. After I got up to altitude and 
the bomber stream, everybody had moved on too far for me to be able to 
climb back up and catch them. Head for home.

“The average mission was four and a half hours,” he said. “It’s a pretty 
small working area to spend that much time there. But you learned 
to shift around. In fact, I used a British parachute because their seat 
packs were much more comfortable than ours were. I’ve spent six and a 
half hours in a P-51 cockpit.” A few of the 332nd’s missions took them 
deep into  German-held territory. “Some of the missions were very tiring. 
When you come back, you’ve sweated a bit. I mean, it’s a working mission. 
When you come [home], it might be 1, 1:30, something like that.” The post-
fl ight routine amounted to prefl ight in reverse. “When you land, you go 
fi ll out your form on the aircraft, tell the crew chief if anything was wrong, 
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then you go to get rid of your personal equipment, hang it back up, and go 
to intelligence. That’s where you get the debriefi ng, the critique of the mis-
sion, and they go through the whole mission, from your takeoff all the way 
through—if you had anything to report, any problems, they’d critique it all 
the way through. Do a mission report on that. Get through the intelligence 
briefi ng, get your shot of liquor, and you’re free.”

Roscoe Brown, a pilot who earned his wings at Tuskegee in March 1944, 
was assigned to the 100th Pursuit Squadron. He joined the group as a 
replacement pilot at Ramitelli and fl ew his fi rst combat missions in August 
1944. The son of a dentist who was responsible for overseeing the U.S. 
Public Health Service’s programs for black Americans during the Roosevelt 
administration, Brown had attended the same Washington, D.C., public 
schools that educated such members of the Talented Tenth as Judge Hastie 
and Dr. Charles Drew. He entered the Army Air Forces the day after he 
graduated at the head of his class from Springfi eld College in Massachu-
setts. Brown had been exposed to segregation in Washington, he recalled, 
but never internalized its messages. “That’s what they taught you at Dun-
bar High School: that you had to be better to be equal, and that you can be 
good and you’ve got a long history and heritage of being good. Every day in 
my school was Black History Day.” Speaking of his fellow pilots who had 
grown up in similar environments, he said, “We were a pretty cocky group 
of people—confi dent bordering on cocky—but you almost had to be.”64

When Brown joined the 332nd at Ramitelli, the Allied air forces were 
pounding away at the German interior. Following the successful  invasion 
of the Italian peninsula, Allied troops had invaded France and were push-
ing toward Germany from the west; the Soviets had turned the tide on the 
eastern front and begun their own offensive. The 15th Air Force, based in 
Italy, was streaming up from the south to bomb industrial targets within 
Germany and in occupied areas in an effort to destroy the German empire’s 
war economy and hasten its surrender. By mid-1944 the German Luft-
waffe was a shell of its powerful former self, but it still provided effective 
defense. The bombing runs remained dangerous for Brown and his fellow 
escort pilots. “The way we saw it, our job was to protect the bombers, not 
to become heroes,” he said. “We knew that if we let the bombers get shot 
down, even if we shot down a lot of fi ghters, we would probably lose our 
opportunity to fl y. The race factor was there all the time.”65

Brown proved to be a gifted airman. On March 24, 1945, he and other 
pilots of the 332nd participated in the longest mission in the history 
of the 15th Air Force, rendezvousing with B-17 bomber groups based 
in Italy and escorting them the 1,600 miles to Berlin. After the bomb-
ers had unloaded their payload on their intended target, the Daimler-
Benz tank factory, Brown turned around to escort them home when he 
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noticed unidentifiable “streaks” overhead. They turned out to be Mess-
erschmitt 262s, the first jet aircraft deployed in combat. Brown’s P-51 
could not climb fast enough to engage the jets on their own terms, so 
he dove. When a Me-262 followed, Brown was able to engage it from 
underneath, fire, and destroy it. He was one of the first American pilots 
to shoot down a jet.66

What most Tuskegee Airmen remembered about the mission was not 
Brown’s prowess in the air, however, but the derring-do of the maintenance 
crews that made it possible. The 332nd learned of the “max effort” mission 
at 10:30 the evening before it was to take place, less than nine hours before 
takeoff. The P-51s’ combined inboard fuel tanks and standard 75-gallon 
auxiliary tanks limited their fl ying range to far less than 1,600 miles and 
would not have allowed the 332nd to fl y the mission. So several members 
of the 96th Air Service Group found and stopped a train hauling 110-gallon 
auxiliary tanks, brandished their weapons, and “requisitioned” the larger 
tanks. The fl ight crews worked overnight to deploy the tanks, making the 
332nd operational for the mission, and the so-called “Great Train Robbery” 
was memorialized in Tuskegee Airmen lore.67

The 332nd flew its last combat mission on April 26, 1945, when six 
pilots of the 100th and 301st fighter squadrons shot down four Ger-
man airplanes. The Germans surrendered two weeks later. The pilots 
of the 99th and 332nd had flown more than 15,000 individual sorties in 
1,500 missions in their two years in combat, including the 311 bomber 
escort missions that did so much to hasten the German surrender. They 
destroyed or damaged 136 German planes in the air and another 237 on 
the ground, along with nearly a thousand rail cars and transport vehicles 
and, most incredibly, a German destroyer.  Thirty-two Tuskegee-trained 
pilots were shot down and captured as prisoners of war; sixty-six were 
killed in action.68

One of the latter was Lt. Walter D. Westmoreland of Atlanta. “He 
was a Georgia boy, the youngest of four children,” Walter White wrote 
of his nephew and namesake in a moving remembrance. “He, like me, 
could have passed for a white man.” Westmoreland, who had earned a 
master’s degree in economics from Atlanta University before joining 
the AAF in 1942, “hated war, he loathed killing,” White wrote. “But he 
believed that Hitler and Mussolini represented the kind of hate he had 
seen exhibited in Georgia by the Ku Klux Klan and the degenerate politi-
cal demagogues. He believed that the war would bring all of that hate 
to an end.” Westmoreland had been shot down in the Anzio invasion, 
bailing out and breaking his leg in two places. He refused an opportu-
nity to return home, recuperated in a field hospital, and resumed flying. 
Westmoreland was shot down again over Hungary in a bomber-escort 
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mission in October 1944; his comrades last saw his airplane striking a 
tree and bursting into flames.69

The War Department recognized how successfully the Tuskegee Air-
men had protected the bombers; one press release credited the fi ghter 
group with having fl own more than two hundred escort missions without 
ever having lost a bomber under its care to enemy fi ghters. The “Never lost 
a bomber” claim would develop a life of its own. Later, historians ques-
tioned the assertion, but the Airmen had demonstrated objectively that 
they performed every bit as well on average as all-white groups. Based on 
that performance, the Tuskegee Airmen did not expect to return home to a 
United States that had changed dramatically, but they did expect that their 
service would be honored. They knew that they had not killed Jim Crow, 
but many took it as a given that they would receive a greater measure of 
respect within the fl awed system. After all, they had earned it by risking 
their lives for their country. Many, like Charles Hall, hoped that at the very 
least they would be able to pursue their dreams of careers in the fl ying busi-
ness. “Some of us are interested in military aviation and others in commer-
cial, but we all want as broad a span of opportunity as we can get,” he said. 
Lemuel Custis concurred and suggested that the returning black veterans 
would not just ask politely for what they believed they had earned. “When 
they come home they expect to get some of the things they’ve been hearing 
about and fi ghting for,” he told a reporter in June 1944. “I believe they will 
be both aggressive and progressive about it all.”70

Alex Jefferson certainly did not remember his experience as a POW 
fondly, but he did recall that the German offi cers he encountered were 
infi nitely more respectful toward him than average whites in the Army Air 
Forces were. Patton’s army liberated Stalag Luft VIIA, to which Jefferson 
had been moved when the Russians approached Stalag Luft III from the 
east, in April 1945, and he made his way home. When his troop ship, the 
U.S.S. Lejeune, arrived in New York Harbor, Jefferson was fi lled with intense 
patriotism and “indescribable jubilation.” Then he disembarked. “Whites 
to the right, Negroes to the left,” the private at the bottom of the gangplank 
instructed. “Back to the so-called good old days,” Jefferson thought to him-
self. “Back to the United States.”71
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The Trials of the 477th5 “[C]onditions at this base are deplorable for colored 
 soldiers . . . The whole camp here is rotten with prejudice and discrimina-
tion,” Pvt. John S. Lyons wrote from Army Air Base Alamagordo (N.M.) to 
the NAACP. “I would appreciate it very much if you would kindly look into 
a big problem that confronts the negro soldiers here in Sioux Falls, South 
Dakota,” Pvt. William Bryant petitioned from an AAF Technical Training 
School. “We are not being treated as human beings here.” Black servicemen 
at Carlsbad Army Air Field in New Mexico lodged a formal complaint with 
the War Department because the base theater, post exchange, and buses 
had been divided into whites-only and colored-only sections. The massive 
social disruptions of the war led to similar confl icts at bases throughout the 
United States, proving that the problem of unequal treatment on the basis 
of race was not confi ned to the South.1

Through the course of the war the NAACP continued the campaign it 
had begun before 1941, loudly advocating for equal treatment for blacks 
in every branch of the military. When individual blacks believed they had 
been mistreated and sought redress, they were as likely to appeal to what 
was by then the nation’s unquestioned premier civil rights organization 
as they were to the War Department or First Lady Eleanor Roosevelt—and 
their appeals to those two institutions arrived by the bagful. The NAACP 
claimed that thousands of new dues-paying members joined during the 
war years, which gave the association a larger budget for investigations 
into discriminatory treatment and for publicity. The NAACP fi elded what 
would seem to be a disproportionate number of complaints from offi cers 
and enlisted men of the AAF.

Forcing the AAF to train black Americans as fi ghter pilots was a signifi -
cant victory in the civil rights coalition’s campaign for equal opportunity, 
but it was an incomplete one. The formation of the 99th Pursuit Squad-
ron opened the door for three dozen aspiring African American pilots and 
hundreds of technical specialists; the creation of the 332nd tripled those 
opportunities. But there were nearly 13 million blacks in the United States 
at the time; making available one hundred slots for fi ghter pilots (all of 
whom had to be shorter than 5 feet 10 inches tall and weigh less than 
170 pounds) could not take full advantage of the contributions blacks 
wanted to make in the air war. If African Americans were to realize their 
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aspirations and achieve a condition even approaching equality in the fl ying 
forces, they would have to be trained in all the areas whites were, although 
in reduced numbers. Within the context of the segregated AAF, that neces-
sitated the creation of all-black bomber crews, and the coalition that had 
forced the War Department to create the 99th continued its efforts to force 
the department to deploy blacks in multi-engine bombers.

In 1942 Roy Wilkins, assistant secretary of the NAACP and editor of The 
Crisis, asked the War Department whether it planned to train blacks for 
bomber crews. The response he received late that year was dispiriting: “War 
Department policy precludes the training of Negroes as navigators, bom-
bardiers, et cetera, until such time as the feasibility of organizing medium 
and heavy bombardment squadrons of all negro personnel is proved.” Act-
ing Adjutant Gen. H. B. Lewis candidly admitted that the department was 
waiting to see whether the Tuskegee-trained fi ghter pilot could “prove his 
worth as a combat aviator” before it would commit to devoting the training 
resources for a bombardment unit. (At the same time, of course, the gener-
als in the AAF were denying the pilots of the 99th the opportunity to prove 
their collective worth as combat aviators.) The War Department intended to 
stall the development of such a program for as long as was politically pos-
sible and the AAF for longer than that.2

Leaders of the War Department had signed off on plans for the develop-
ment of an all-Negro combined fi ghter-bomber group by May 1943, but 
civilian aide Truman Gibson reported that the AAF was doing nothing to 
train ground crew personnel and was still insisting that the fi ghter pilots 
had to prove themselves before it would organize such a group. Gibson 
argued that the creation of a normal bombardment group, as opposed to 
the fi ghter-bomber hybrid, was much more feasible in an organizational 
sense and more likely to be effective in combat and thereby prove the 
“experiment” a success.3

The AAF fi nally bowed to the civil rights coalition’s pressure from with-
out, and Hastie’s and Gibson’s from within, in 1943 and announced the 
creation of the all-black 477th Medium Bombardment Group; the group 
was activated in January 1944. Typical—that is, all-white—bomber groups 
were manned, trained, and sent off to combat in a matter of three to four 
months in the wartime AAF, but commanding offi cer Col. Robert R.  Selway 
Jr. had to build the 477th from scratch. Because TAFS was the only train-
ing school in the country producing black pilots, the 477th would have to 
compete with the 332nd for the limited number of pilots graduating each 
month, and the AAF had never yet trained a black navigator or bombardier. 
Training programs for those specialties would either have to be built from 
the ground up at the already overcrowded TAAF or appended to previously 
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all-white programs throughout the states. The AAF decided on the latter 
course, which initiated other, more serious problems.4

The effort was doomed from the start. The AAF just could not get the 
numbers to work: the branch would now pay the price for strictly limiting 
the numbers of black pilot cadets it had admitted to training since 1940 
and for refusing to train African Americans in other technical specialties. 
TAAF could not train pilots and specialists at a fast enough rate to resup-
ply the 332nd and build the 477th at the same time. The plan to staff the 
black group’s leadership with experienced fi ghter pilots after they returned 
from combat overseas, which would require them to be retrained to fl y the 
group’s multi-engine B-25 bombers, delayed the group’s formation further. 
Something had to give.5

The AAF fi rst chose to lower aptitude requirements for the 477th’s 
pilots, bombardiers, and navigators. White applicants required a score of at 
least seven on a nine-point scale on an aptitude test to enter such training 
programs; after 1944 the AAF felt the need to accept blacks with scores as 
low as four on the same scale just to get warm bodies into the 477th’s open-
ings. Training for these specialists was, moreover, chaotic; they trained in 
small groups at bases throughout the country, which ensured that they 
would never develop the esprit de corps that characterized the 99th. Ele-
ments of the 477th moved more than thirty times in the twenty months 
between the group’s inception and the end of the war. Nine months after 
the group’s activation—more than twice the time it took to ready white 
groups for combat—only twenty-three of the group’s authorized 128 navi-
gators and navigator-bombardiers and half of its authorized 176 pilots had 
joined the black bomber group.6

The group fi nally assembled enough trained crew members to begin 
combat crew training just short of the fi rst anniversary of its activation. The 
477th achieved a remarkably profi cient safety record in that year of routine 
fl ying: 17,875 fl ying hours with only two minor accidents, which won the 
group two commendations from the commander of the First Air Force. 
But the slow pace of training gave the men of the 477th even more time 
to dwell on the treatment they received from their white superior offi cers. 
They were entitled to better as offi cers and gentlemen, they believed, and 
as the months wore on they became increasingly determined to receive the 
respectful treatment they had earned. Most galling of all was commanding 
offi cers’ practice of defi ning the offi cers of the 477th as “trainees,” who were 
therefore denied entrance to offi cers’ clubs at a series of stateside bases that 
had been restricted to supervisory personnel, all of whom were white. “For 
many of us, and mostly those from the north, this was just something they 
were going to fi ght,” said Lt. LeRoy F. Gillead, a  navigator-bombardier of 
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the 477th from New York. “That was something I was going to fi ght. . . . I 
had a right to go to the offi cers’ club.”7

The 99th had been in combat for six months by this point, and the 
remaining squadrons of the 332nd had just arrived in Europe. They had 
not produced nearly the number of combat-tested offi cers the 477th would 
need to form the group into a profi cient fi ghting force under the original 
plan; so Selway staffed the 477th with white leadership, with the pledge 
that as more black offi cers gained experience they would be rotated in. He 
never fulfi lled that promise. Rather, Selway devised what blacks derisively 
called a “promotion mill” that ensured that black offi cers never commanded 
whites, and whites without combat experience moved into supervisory posi-
tions over black combat veterans.8

The 477th had foundational morale problems dating back to its very acti-
vation, in January 1944 at Selfridge Field, Michigan, where replacement 
pilots for the 332nd were also training. One member of the 477th, a career 
Air Force offi cer, later charged that throughout its history the bomber 
group “was subverted by the very persons responsible for its success.” The 
477th would not be considered combat-ready until more than a year and 
half after its activation. The numbers game surely hampered the develop-
ment of the 477th, but the experience of the 332nd would seem to prove 
that with effective leadership the bomber group could have been trained 
into an effective fi ghting unit despite that obstacle. Instead, the group was 
crippled by morale problems that fl owed from resentment on the part of 
black junior offi cers toward white senior offi cers’ insistence on rigid racial 
segregation, and the black offi cers’ equally fi rm determination to fi ght the 
injustice.9

At Selfridge the offi cers of the 332nd and 477th petitioned the base com-
mander, Col. William Boyd, for equal access to the lone offi cers’ club on 
base. Lt. Milton Henry, the pilot who had already gotten in trouble for defy-
ing Jim Crow on a Montgomery bus and complained about conditions at 
Selfridge, went so far as to physically enter the offi cers’ club and demand 
his rightful privileges. Boyd denied the petition and Henry’s demands, 
and his superior offi cer, Maj. Gen. Frank O’D. Hunter, backed him to the 
hilt. Hunter, a Georgian, had been a World War I fl ying ace, and he vastly 
preferred the lily-white Army Air Corps of his early career to the increas-
ingly heterogeneous force he commanded in World War II. If anything, he 
proved even more determined than Boyd to segregate the offi cers under 
his command when he traveled to Selfridge Field to address the men of 
the 477th. “The country is not ready to accept white offi cers and colored 
offi cers at the same social level,” he said. “I base that opinion on the history 
of this country for the past 125 years.”10
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Hunter was not shy in expressing his theories and opinions on Ameri-
can race relations, of which he had many. “I recognize no racial diffi culty 
at Selfridge Field,” he told the men. “We are in the army to win a war and 
not to settle the race issue. . . . This thing here [the attempt to desegregate 
the club] is caused only by downtown [Detroit] agitators, some from among 
you. I will weed out all of the agitators in this command and lop them 
off.” Boyd’s actions clearly violated Army Regulation 210–10, issued in 
1940, which prohibited the racial segregation of base recreational facilities, 
but Hunter went even further, arranging for the creation of a nominally 
separate-but-equal offi cers’ club for blacks at Selfridge. However, the AAF 
transferred the group to Godman Field, Kentucky, before the club could be 
completed.11

Hunter’s support for Boyd’s segregation policy was total, but the secre-
tary of war reprimanded the base commander harshly. In Gen. Benjamin 
O. Davis Sr.’s report to the War Department on Boyd’s conduct, he informed 
the colonel, “Investigation by the Offi ce of the Inspector General has dis-
closed that racial discrimination against colored offi cers was due to your 
conduct in denying to colored offi cers the right to use the Offi cers Club. 
Such action is in violation of Army regulations and explicit War Depart-
ment instructions on this subject.” Davis recommended that Boyd and 
another offi cer who had performed poorly in the crisis be court-martialed 
and removed from their respective commands, though the AAF declined 
to act on those recommendations. (Instead, it court-martialed Lt. Henry 
and discharged him from the service.) The AAF’s investigations into the 
incident concluded that black newspaper reporters, racial agitators, and 
“communisitic elements” in nearby Detroit, not Boyd and Hunter, were 
ultimately responsible for the problems. The service’s fi rst offi cial response 
to the Davis report concluded: “[W]hite and colored offi cers jointly using a 
club and drinking there together or jointly attending dances would create 
an intolerable situation and one which is fraught with the possibility of the 
greatest danger.”12

Those sentiments were unacceptable to civilian leaders in the War 
Department because the civilians were susceptible to public pressure. 
(The incident at Selfridge Field had appeared on the radar screen of the 
War Department in the fi rst place after the ladies of a Chicago civic club 
wrote Eleanor Roosevelt to ask her to look into reports from the base they 
had read in a black Detroit newspaper.) Boyd and Hunter’s actions at Sel-
fridge forced the War Department’s hands and resulted in service-wide 
reforms ensuring that “the designation of recreational facilities for the use 
of a  particular race or color group would not be permitted.” The Selfridge 
Field crisis made the War Department much less likely to tolerate further 
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 incidents from the AAF and proved a watershed event in the history of 
blacks in the service.13

In the wake of the confrontation AAF Commanding General Henry H. 
(“Hap”) Arnold left little room for his generals’ personal interpretations of 
the policies governing the treatment of African Americans in the service. 
He let it be known that he was under intense pressure from civilian leaders 
in the War Department to resolve the situation. “Recent racial diffi culties 
within the Army Air Forces, particularly at Selfridge Field, have brought to 
light the fact that some War Department agencies feel that the Army Air 
Forces are not complying and do not desire to comply with War Depart-
ment policy as affects handling of Negro troops,” he announced in a mem-
orandum for the chiefs of all Air Forces headquarters offi ces. “I personally 
was not conscious of this fact,” he continued—which might not have been 
a lie, but only if he had been able to ignore Hastie entirely over the previous 
two years—“however, in the event that there is a feeling in the Army Air 
Forces anywhere which is in opposition to War Department policy it must 
be immediately stamped out.” The matter should have ended there, but it 
did not. Gen. Hunter was a stubborn man.14

The generals of the AAF now believed that they needed to fi nd new 
places for the 332nd and 477th to train; Selfridge Field and nearby Detroit 
had become racial tinderboxes. The Air Forces recommended transferring 
the black groups to the Caribbean island of Antigua, where “good fl ying 
weather would prevail and [more importantly,] where it would be too far 
away for newspaper reporters to interfere with personnel and training 
activities and all outgoing mail would be censored.”15

But the War Department could not allow the political fi restorm this 
would have caused. Instead, when the fi ghter pilots moved from Selfridge 
to Walterboro, the 477th transferred to Godman Field, a small AAF facility 
adjacent to the army’s Fort Knox on the outskirts of Louisville with inad-
equate housing and minimal training and operational facilities. Its short, 
deteriorating runways could not safely accommodate the B-25J, the aircraft 
the 477th was supposed to be training to fl y in combat and the heaviest in 
the AAF’s inventory. The offi cers of the 477th could therefore be forgiven 
for thinking that they were being transferred to Kentucky because of the 
incidents at the Selfridge offi cers’ club and not because they could be bet-
ter trained for combat at Godman. Godman was simply inadequate for the 
purposes of a medium bombardment group in training—almost laughably 
so. Unlike Selfridge, it had no air-to-ground gunnery range. As compared 
with the group’s previous home base, it had one-quarter the hangar space, 
one-seventh the total acreage, and one-fi fth the gasoline storage capacity.16

The 477th’s commanding offi cer, Robert Selway, was made command-
ing offi cer of Godman as well. He immediately made clear why the 477th 
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had been transferred to such an inferior facility when he turned over the 
base offi cers’ club entirely to blacks; white offi cers on base could use Fort 
Knox’s facility, but blacks could not. This was not good enough for the 
men who had already forced the issue of equal treatment at Selfridge. If 
the clubs at Fort Knox were available to white offi cers stationed at God-
man, they contended in full voice, they should be available to every offi cer 
stationed at Godman. Selway rebuffed these arguments.17

The unequal treatment of black offi cers in the 477th extended to other 
areas of the base. When a white private at Godman refused to salute Capt. 
Clarence G. Southall because, he explained, “he was from the South and did 
not salute Negroes,” Southall attempted to bring the man up on charges in 
a court martial. The private was transferred from the base, and Southall’s 
superior offi cers threatened to charge him with inciting a race riot.18

Members of the 477th in training at other stations throughout the coun-
try faced similar obstacles. In September 1944 a group of twenty-two black 
offi cers stationed at Midland Army Air Base, Texas, for bombardier train-
ing lodged a formal complaint with the War Department over the base 
commander’s segregation of recreational and mess facilities. “This group 
fi nds the treatment accorded them, and the deprivation of limited recre-
ational facilities to make it extremely and unwarrantedly diffi cult to main-
tain morale,” they wrote in a scathing statement of their grievances. “The 
continuance of such a policy in force is hardly in accord with the struggle 
to which our nation has committed itself. We feel that it makes a travesty 
of ‘the four freedoms,’ fi nding, as we do, that to be a Chinese American, a 
Canadian student, a member of the Free French, to be anything, is better 
than being an American Negro seeking decent treatment in America.”19

The men had used the base offi cers’ club without incident for approxi-
mately two weeks before the base commander decided that a race riot was 
imminent—perhaps because the club was planning a dance at which white 
women would be present—and redefi ned the club as off-limits to the black 
offi cers. They could not be denied service entirely, so now they were the 
only offi cers in the Air Forces with access to room service: “We could call 
up, and they would deliver us a hamburger and a milk shake and all that,” 
bombardier-navigator Roy Chappell remembered with a chuckle. “Gimme 
a scotch and soda!” James C. Warren of the 477th impishly recalled telling 
the offi cers’ club employees over the phone. “ ‘I’ll have a martini!’ And here 
comes this dude.” “But at the same time,” Chappell said, “we started writ-
ing everybody and calling everybody that we knew that had something to 
do with this.”20

A confi dential War Department investigation pinned the blame for 
the Midland protests on Lt. Coleman A. Young, whom the investigation 
deemed an “agitator . . . who has been under investigation at Midland Army 
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Air Field since 16 August 1944 for engaging in Communistic activities 
prior to his induction into the Armed Forces.” (Warren recalled Young as 
the author of the complaint that drew the War Department’s attention.) 
Young, the anonymous investigator reported, “has been the organizer of 
a colored ‘equality movement’ at the station. He has called on the Com-
manding Offi cer on three occasions entering complaints of not having the 
liberties and concessions that were afforded white personnel.” Young, it 
was alleged, had told a colored Women’s Army Corps offi cer that “he had 
called all colored offi cers together at meetings on several occasions for the 
good of the colored race,” which branded him a racial agitator. He had also 
“engaged in an altercation with a white cashier and a white sergeant as to 
where he would sit in the Post Cafeteria. Upon his departure, he remarked 
that ‘he would have to start some action, if his race was ever to be accorded 
equality.’ ”21

The AAF investigation into the problems at Midland revealed that the 
source of the problem was base commander Col. Charles Dowman’s insis-
tence on defi ning all black offi cers as trainees and all white offi cers as 
instructors even if they were detailed there to receive instruction. Dowman 
had allowed black offi cers to use the base offi cers’ club until that Septem-
ber, “at which time the Commanding Offi cer determined that an emer-
gency had arisen which might result in riot and bloodshed, and placed a 
temporary restriction on the use of the offi cers’ club by student offi cers 
(colored).” He claimed to have kept all other base recreational facilities 
open for the use of black offi cers, though the black offi cers disputed this.22

The investigation backed Dowman, who in any case had reopened 
the club to the black offi cers soon after the supposed emergency passed, 
apparently at the insistence of white offi cers on the base. James Warren 
believed that white instructors who had fl own overseas alongside the 
332nd convinced Dowman the black offi cers were worthy of inclusion. In 
fact, he believed that black offi cers enjoyed an unusually close relation-
ship with their white counterparts at Midland, in part because blacks 
held a relatively equal level of power within the base’s specifi c environ-
ment. Pilots on the base could log fl ying time in B-25s on the weekends 
to visit friends and families, but AAF regulations stipulated that if the 
destination was more than 500 miles away the pilot had to fl y with a 
rated navigator. The men of the 477th were the only rated navigators on 
the base, so they could pick and choose their weekend destinations. “I’d 
go home and visit my family [in Chicago] overnight, then come back,” 
said Warren, who emphasized that he and other navigators of the 477th 
had close contact and strong working relationships with their white fel-
low offi cers on those long journeys.23
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By May 1944 dissatisfaction among the offi cers of the 477th at Godman 
over issues of equal treatment and, perhaps even more signifi cantly, com-
mand structure and promotion, had reached a critical stage. A confi dential 
investigation for the AAF’s Air Inspector found “general resentment” on 
the part of the men of the 477th at having been “transferred below the 
Mason-Dixon line where the law is not in their favor.” The group’s chaplain 
reported dangerously tense conditions: the offi cers resented being blocked 
by whites in the upper ranks of the group; the enlisted men considered 
their superiors incompetent. “Colonel Selway has forfeited the respect of 
his offi cers,” the chaplain reported. He regretted the existence of a “ ‘lack of 
unity’ stemming from the disparity between the white and Negro offi cers 
of the Group.” Rather than investigate the chaplain’s charges, however, the 
inspector shot the messenger. “Chaplain Clanton impressed me as lacking 
in sincerity and as harboring an active dislike for Colonel Selway which 
borders on disloyalty.” All of the warning signs of a dysfunctional unit were 
plainly there for the AAF to see and act upon, but the leaders of the ser-
vice chose to ignore them. “The Negro personnel at Godman Field are well 
provided for and have no just cause for complaint,” Col. John E. Harris’s 
investigation concluded. “Colonel Selway enjoys the confi dence of his staff 
and is reputed to be alert to his responsibilities. There is nothing in the 
immediate situation to cause alarm; however, the activities of the chaplain 
will bear watching.”24

A later investigation by the NAACP disputed that assertion, fi nding that 
the black offi cers, to say nothing of enlisted men, chafed under Selway’s 
leadership structure. More than a year after the group’s activation, each of 
its four squadrons was still structured so that white offi cers held every sin-
gle position requiring command responsibilities. “Not only do they ques-
tion the competence of many of the white offi cers holding key positions in 
the squadrons,” Walter White reported to Secretary of War Stimson, “but 
they indicate that most of the so-called supervisory personnel do not have 
much more fl ying experience than they themselves have.” The 477th’s fl y-
ing offi cers had by their count an average of seven hundred hours experi-
ence in the air, yet not one of them had been entrusted with a command 
position. They also claimed that whites classifi ed as “instructors” at Free-
man had an average of only two hundred fl ying hours.25

The black offi cers grumbled that their outfi t had become a promotion 
mill for “second-rate” whites. They cited the case of twenty-two-year-old 
Robert F. Mattern, who was transferred to the 477th just days after being 
promoted from the rank of lieutenant to captain. After a month in a squad-
ron command position, he was promoted to the rank of major and trans-
ferred out; another young white offi cer replaced him. The men of the 477th 
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saw this happen again and again; they estimated that squadron command 
positions turned over once every four months. As soon as whites had gained 
experience as squadron commanders in the 477th, they transferred out to 
commands in white units, and other whites moved in to replace them. The 
NAACP’s report on the 477th’s troubles concluded, “[S]ince the simplest 
way of obtaining a promotion is by being assigned a higher function, Negro 
Squadron Offi cers are never able to secure such promotions because the 
Squadron Command is limited to white personnel.”26

The War Department took no action on the NAACP complaint, but in 
March 1945 the AAF did transfer the 477th from Godman Field to a better 
facility, Freeman Field on the outskirts of Seymour, Indiana. Freeman had 
longer runways, a fi ring range, and other amenities that made it far supe-
rior to Godman for the purposes of the group. Black offi cers and enlisted 
men would work in close proximity with white personnel on the base, and 
the offi cers would live alongside whites in a public housing project imme-
diately adjacent to the airfi eld.

The town of Seymour was no Shangri La for African Americans, how-
ever; the populace was less than 1 percent black, and local businesses began 
displaying “Colored will not be served” signs for the fi rst time as soon as 
the black airmen arrived. (“Great fi eld! Great facilities! But the town was 
lousy,” remembered one Airman.) Seymour was little different from hun-
dreds of towns throughout the United States in this regard. By 1945 the 
War Department’s fi les bulged with correspondence from white people 
throughout the country who objected to having blacks stationed in their 
respective communities. When the Rapid City, S.D., city commission dis-
cussed the possibility of black troops being stationed at the local air base 
in December 1942, City Manager J. H. Lake wrote U.S. Rep. Francis Case 
to complain, “Colored troops in Rapid City would present a problem that 
I cannot, at this time, see how we could handle.” Case forwarded the 
concerns to the War Department. Representatives of the Albuquerque, 
N.M., Chamber of Commerce petitioned the War Department not to trans-
fer a black unit to Albuquerque Air Base, as did the city fathers of Bangor, 
Maine, and dozens of other communities.27

The arrival of the 477th would strain Freeman Field’s facilities, increas-
ing the number of offi cers on base, for instance, from fewer than three 
hundred to more than seven hundred. Selway arranged for the reclassi-
fi cation of Club No. 1, the noncommissioned offi cers’ club, into a second 
offi cers’ club at Freeman in anticipation of the group’s arrival. He classifi ed 
all the black offi cers of the Combat Crew Training Squadron, or Overseas 
Training Unit, as trainees, even though some of the “trainees” had been in 
the service for nearly four years by this point and at least four had already 
served in combat with the 332nd in Europe. Four others had completed 
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training as pilots, bombardiers, and navigators, possibly making them the 
only triple-rated offi cers in the Air Forces. Several of the pilots in the group 
had logged more than nine hundred hours of fl ight time, and the group’s 
surgeon, Dr. James Ramsey, had reached the rank of major in the Army Air 
Forces Medical Corps. At the same time, Selway classifi ed all white offi cers 
among the base personnel and the white offi cers of the Overseas Training 
Unit as instructors. When the men of the 477th learned that Club No. 1 had 
been designated for the use of trainees and the much better appointed Offi -
cers’ Club No. 2 for “supervisory and instructor personnel,” they under-
stood the basis of the decision. They quickly dubbed Club No. 1 “Uncle 
Tom’s Cabin” and refused to patronize it.28

In public statements, Selway attributed his decision to the belief that 
fraternization between instructors and trainees would have an ill effect on 
the group’s training. In truth, the effort was a transparent attempt to cir-
cumvent both the letter and the law of War Department Memorandum 
No. 97 and Army Regulation 210–10, which prohibited segregation of base 
facilities by race, and which Selway mistakenly interpreted as having no 
application to “Club facilities on training stations.”29

In early April the bulk of the 477th and the personnel of the group’s asso-
ciated 118th Base Unit, whose offi cers held special orders designating them 
as base personnel, as opposed to trainees, made the move from Godman 
to Freeman. Selway received a tip from a black offi cer of the 477th that his 
comrades were planning something for Offi cers’ Club No. 2 on the evening 
of April 5. (“Some traitor—that’s all I can call him—called ahead,” James 
C. Warren recalled disgustedly.) Selway stationed Lt. J.D. Rogers, the fi eld’s 
assistant provost marshal, and Maj. A. N. White, base mess and billeting 
offi cer, at the club. Rogers was prepared to physically block any blacks’ 
entrance to the club. When thirty-six black offi cers entered in small groups 
and refused White’s direct order to leave, White placed them under arrest 
in quarters and closed the club. Selway was apparently convinced that these 
thirty-six were the only “agitators” on the base, so the club opened normally 
the following night. Then another thirty-fi ve black offi cers entered in small 
groups. Major White ordered the men to leave, arrested them when they 
refused, and, under Selway’s orders, closed the club indefi nitely, and held 
three of the arrested offi cers in confi nement.30

Following the arrests, 110 men of the 477th signed an appeal to the 
Army’s inspector general asking for an investigation of what they believed 
were violations of Army and War Department regulations at Freeman 
Field. “The continuance of this policy can hardly be reconciled with the 
world wide struggle for freedom for which we are asked, and are willing, to 
lay down our lives,” they wrote. In an effort to clarify base facility policies, 
Selway issued Base Regulation 85–2, which spoke to the assignment of 
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housing, mess, and recreational facilities for offi cers on the base. The regu-
lation reinforced Selway’s previous policy separating facilities for supervi-
sors and trainees, and stated that it was fully in line with the standards of 
the Army Air Forces.31

When Leslie S. Perry of the Washington, D.C., branch of the NAACP 
arrived in late April to investigate the incident, he was able to meet infor-
mally with several black offi cers of the 477th and had an offi cial audience 
with Selway. Selway freely admitted that he had instituted curfews and other 
policies that tended to separate blacks from whites on the base. He consid-
ered these reasonable applications of the lessons he had learned while at 
Selfridge during the 1943 Detroit race riot. Before the colonel instituted the 
reforms, he claimed, “white and colored personnel spent most of their time 
standing about in groups glaring at one another.” But with the new policies 
in place fl ying time had increased, and the accident rate had decreased dra-
matically. Selway also maintained that it was standard operating procedure 
in the AAF to separate instructors and trainees in offi cers’ clubs, but he 
was unable to name another base where such a policy was in use.32

Having put the policy in writing, Selway then elevated the confronta-
tion by providing each offi cer assigned to the base with a copy of Base 
Regulation 85–2 along with a form that read, “I have read and understand 
the above order” and included a line for the offi cer’s signature. He had to 
have known that many of the black offi cers would refuse to comply. Selway 
must have welcomed the confrontation as a way of weeding out perceived 
“agitators” from the 477th. He may not have expected the extent of the 
black offi cers’ resistance, but he precipitated a full-blown challenge to his 
command.

Several participants insisted later that the revolt had not been planned in 
advance—in part, one suspects, because they knew that if there had been 
evidence of conspiracy at the time they could have faced additional prosecu-
tion under the 66th Article of War. “Everybody really was on their own. 
There was no leadership telling you what to do or what to say,” LeRoy Gil-
lead later insisted. Nonetheless, the events at the offi cers’ club were clearly 
organized beforehand; the participants certainly behaved in a disciplined 
fashion at the time of the protests that indicated prior planning. When the 
order came to sign the acknowledgement of Selway’s policy, they were not 
quite as unifi ed. “There was no collaboration in terms of what you should 
do,” Gillead said. “[It was] left up to you whether you would agree to sign or 
not sign. You didn’t know what anyone else would do.”33

Not surprisingly, an offi cer with extensive organizing experience found 
himself at the center of the protest effort. Coleman Young, a bombardier 
who had also graduated from Infantry Offi cers Training School at Fort 
Benning, had worked as a United Auto Workers organizer in Detroit before 



THE TRIALS OF THE 477TH 135

the war and learned the tactics of mass action. He had also led the 1944 
protest at Midland Army Air Field that resulted in the desegregation of that 
base’s offi cers’ club. Young was “the most vocal person” among the offi cers 
who challenged Selway, according to Gillead; in meetings with fellow offi -
cers of the 477th, he discussed possible tactics for the challenge and what 
their legal ramifi cations would be. For his part, however, Selway found it 
impossible throughout the ordeal even to imagine that the offi cers of the 
477th could have conceived and acted on the plan themselves. As Boyd and 
Hunter did in the confl ict at Selfridge, he blamed the mutiny on “outside 
agitators.” Selway singled out for blame Lowell M. Trice, a journalist for 
the Indianapolis Recorder, a black newspaper. Also an offi cial in the nearby 
Indianapolis branch of the NAACP, Trice had visited the base on April 5 
and other occasions.34

Selway convened a board of six offi cers to conduct a punitive ritual. 
One by one, every other offi cer on the base would be led into a room and 
ordered to sign the form attesting that he had read and would abide by Base 
Regulation 85–2. (He went through the pretense of treating every offi cer 
at Freeman Field equally for once, ordering whites to sign the form, too. 
All 292 did.) Selway designed the procedure in a way that made organized 
resistance diffi cult, quarantining the offi cers who had gone through the 
process from those who had not and thus had no idea what the others had 
decided to do. The board proceeded by rank with highest-ranking offi cers 
going fi rst, and leaving the second lieutenants and fl ight offi cers who were 
presumably more likely to protest for last. Though direct communication 
among the offi cers was limited by the quarantine, a strength-in-numbers 
strategy suggested itself. The offi cers had read the document and had an 
idea what to expect Selway would order them to do behind closed doors. 
They reasoned that if one man refused to sign, he would be court-martialed, 
but gambled that Selway would not risk the public relations problems that 
would result if he sent dozens of them to jail.35

They appeared individually before the board and were ordered to read 
the policy and to sign the statement attesting to their understanding of the 
policy. Those who hesitated to sign were given the chance to amend the form 
or to add personal statements attesting to their disagreement with the policy 
below their signature. Many took advantage of that loophole, but 101 others 
still refused to sign. To these Selway read the 64th Article of War, which 
forbids the willful disobeying of a lawful direct order from a superior in war-
time and can be enforced with penalties up to and including death. He then 
placed the 101 under arrest and arranged for their transfer back to Godman 
Field, with the rest of the 477th soon to follow. It bears mentioning that if 
only 101 of 422 refused to sign, more than three-fourths of the black offi -
cers who had been segregated into the separate and unequal “Uncle Tom’s 
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Cabin” found a way to rationalize the treatment and signed the regulation. 
“Some people, for whatever reasons, signed,” LeRoy Gillead said. “I resented 
that originally, but [now] I can understand why.” They wanted careers in the 
postwar Air Force.36

The decision whether to sign was a wrenching one for each offi cer, 
and the 101 who refused had almost as many reasons for doing so. For 
Gillead, the decision hinged on what kind of example he wanted to dem-
onstrate as a parent. “My wife and fi rst son were living in the housing 
compound there,” he remembered. “I recall quite defi nitely when I was 
given a direct order to sign the regulation or suffer the punishment of 
death if I disobeyed my immediate commanding offi cer. I was trembling 
in fear, but I had the feeling that my son would at least know his father 
was not afraid to stand up for what he believed in. That was a turning 
point in my entire life.”37

Lt. Quentin P. Smith, a pilot and an imposing man with a booming 
voice, recalled the theater of the signing ceremony. “Are you familiar with 
the 64th Article of War?” a major asked him. “The 64th says failure to obey 
a direct order of a commanding offi cer is punishable up to and including 
death. And the major stands up and says, ‘I order you to sign.’ My tran-
script said, ‘He shook his head.’ They sucked the air out of me.” Ordered 
to answer the command verbally, Smith remembered, “I said [in a high-
pitched, squeaky voice]: ‘No.’ ” Smith returned to the barracks under arrest. 
All he could think about was how much more money he was making in the 
AAF than he had as a schoolteacher in Gary, Indiana. Had he ruined his 
chances to make a career of the service?38

Lt. LeRoy Battle, a bombardier-navigator, had a simpler explanation for 
his refusal to sign: “I was just young enough not to give a damn!” The vast 
majority of the offi cers were in their early twenties, yet they were forced to 
make a decision that would resonate throughout their military careers, and 
in some cases beyond. Flight Offi cer Haydel White had grown up with seg-
regation in New Orleans, but had never accepted or internalized its lessons. 
The overseas cap he was issued with his offi cer’s wings at TAAF was the 
fi rst one he ever wore, he said, because a black man who wore a hat in Loui-
siana was expected to remove it when talking to a white. “It showed, to me, 
submission, and I wasn’t about to kowtow or be submissive to anybody, so 
then I didn’t wear a hat.” For the same reason he refused to bow to Selway’s 
regulations, because that would constitute “re-segregating myself.” White 
refused to sign. He recounted proudly, “I wasn’t infl uenced by anybody. 
I was infl uenced by myself.”39

Hiram Little was a son of central Georgia who had worked his way into 
Morehouse College, the elite all-black school for men in Atlanta. While at 
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Morehouse he had responded to an Air Corps offi cer’s recruiting pitch, 
he said, “Not because I loved fl ying, not because I was extra-patriotic, but 
because I didn’t want to be drafted” into the army. He trained at Chanute 
Field as an armorer and transferred to TAAF in 1942. He “loved every min-
ute of ” his time at TAAF, he said. “I got a chance to meet people from all 
over the U.S.A., and meeting these guys was something I probably would 
have never had a chance to do.” But after the 477th was created, Little 
decided he “wanted to try the fl ying end of the Air Force” and was able 
to become reclassifi ed for bombardier-navigator training. He completed 
training programs at TAAF, Eglin Field in Florida, and Midland Army Air 
Base in Texas, earned a commission as a fl ight offi cer, and transferred to 
Godman Field in December 1944 to join the unit.40

Little transferred with the rest of the 477th to Freeman Field in 1945 and 
immediately found himself caught up in the offi cers’ club controversy. He 
was among the 101 who refused to sign and in retrospect made his deci-
sion seem like the most natural one he had ever made in his life, hardly 
even a decision at all. But Little was not a rebel: he had never been arrested 
before, he had been a good student, and he had never challenged authority 
fi gures: “I got along with all of them because I did what they told me to do. 
I was used to it. Taking orders just never bothered me, never bothered me 
at all.” His decision to challenge the camp policy came down to the fact that 
the instructor/trainee designation “was a lie everybody saw through,” and 
Little could not abide it. “So we all decided at the mess hall and where we 
gathered that we’re going to force this issue.”41

Little could not have cared less about socializing with white offi cers. He 
had enjoyed being at Godman on the outskirts of Louisville because the city 
was “just full of beautiful [African American] women, all kind of bars, all 
kind of restaurants. You can do anything you want in Louisville.” The Ken-
tucky city was less than an hour from Freeman by bus. Given those nearby 
attractions, he asked, “Why would I want to worry about going up here in 
this offi cers’ club with these white people? I ain’t particularly enamored of 
them, particularly fond of them. They’re just somebody that are on the earth 
as far as I’m concerned.” Little objected to the policy not because he wanted 
to patronize the club, but because he perceived that Selway and Hunter 
“decided they were going to put these black people in their place.”42

In fact, Little never did set foot in the Freeman offi cers’ club. But when 
he was called into Selway’s signing ceremony, “before I even went in there, 
I knew I wasn’t going to sign that order. I didn’t talk to anybody about it, but I 
knew I wasn’t going to sign that order that I was going to bow down willingly 
to segregation, because I’d been doing that all my life, and I was sick of it.” He 
had only one worry: “I hope my mama doesn’t read the paper. It’s going to get 
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in the paper, and they’ll print the names of all these black people who were up 
here mutinying—and that’s what they said: ‘mutiny’—she’s going to see my 
name, and she’s going to be disturbed.”43

Little decided that defying the order was worth the risk. “I’ve got to do it 
sooner or later,” he reasoned. “I might end up in jail, I might end up out 
yonder in federal prison. I’ll still get out with a dishonorable discharge, but 
I’ll never get a government job. I’ll probably end up working at somebody’s 
grocery store or drugstore somewhere. I don’t know what will happen, but 
I have to go through with it.” In fact, before he defi ed the order and refused 
to sign, Little had planned on making a career of the Air Force. But he feared 
that the incident would follow him anywhere he went in the service. “Every 
time I come up for promotion,” he thought, “somebody’s going to open my 
fi le, and this is what they’re going to say: ‘This nigger is a troublemaker.’ ” 
Little left the service after the war, but he need not have worried about fi nd-
ing government employment. He worked for the postal service for the next 
thirty-three years.44

On the night he sent the 101 to Godman, Selway received another tele-
phone tip from a member of the 477th. He had re-opened Club No. 2. His 
informant told him that “the Negro offi cers of the base had resolved to make 
an issue” of his segregationist policies and to cause a commotion that could 
not help but attract national attention. “[T]he proposed action was backed by 
approximately 100% of the Negro offi cer personnel,” the informant told Sel-
way, and it threatened to mushroom into something much larger than the 
previous protests. It would include, he said,

1. Cancellation of the Negro training program.
2. Grounding all aircraft at the base.
3.  Precipitation of a mass incident which would result in a mass arrest 

and a mass trial.

Selway closed the club.45

He held three remaining offi cers of the 477th, lieutenants Roger C. 
“Bill” Terry, Marsden A. Thomson, and Shirley R. Clinton, at Freeman for 
a few more days and prepared their courts-martial based on Lt. Rogers’s 
testimony that the three had “jostled” him as they entered Club No. 2 on 
April 5. Terry did not dispute that he could be classifi ed as a “trainee” on 
the base, but Thomson and Clinton had special orders classifying them 
as base personnel. Both Thomson and Clinton had been in the service for 
more than three years and had completed the training for their respective 
MOS (Military Occupation Specialty); Thomson had held the position of 
executive offi cer of the 618th Squadron for several months and had served 
as billeting and club offi cer at Godman. He was no more a trainee than 
Rogers or Selway.46
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Terry was held in solitary confi nement as he awaited trial. “If I wanted 
to go to the bathroom, I’d have to ask the guard,” Terry recalled. “He would 
have to get the offi cer of the day, and he would go with me down to the bath-
room, and then I’d use the bathroom because they only had one  bathroom 
in these barracks,” he said. “And then I ate alone. I had three books. I 
had Pilgrim’s Progress, The Rise and Fall of the Roman Empire, and a Bible. 
I read the thing from one end to the other. I threw my knife at the door. 
I painted a circle and put a target up there. Just anything to keep from going 
crazy.47

“You become anxious after a few weeks,” Terry said. “I was looking for 
some help because I was in custody for eighty days or so. I came to the 
conclusion that they weren’t playing with me, that they wanted their pound 
of fl esh.” He was held incommunicado. “My mother, Edith Terry, had been 
trying to get in touch with me, as had my brother, and various friends [of 
the 477th], like A. Philip Randolph. The guys from the Committee Against 
Jim Crow in Military Service were trying to get in touch with me, but they 
couldn’t.”48

The 101 whom Selway had arrested for refusing to sign had a frightening 
initial experience when they returned to Godman. “We were very appre-
hensive. It was a hell of a feeling,” one of the arrestees, Mitchell Higgin-
botham, said. “We didn’t get it really impressed upon us until our arrival at 
Godman Field, when we were met by these huge vehicles, like buses with 
bars on the windows, and armed troops with bayonets and so forth, and 
transported back to the barracks. They had equipped the whole area with 
huge fl oodlights. So then it dawned on us that we were in prison, and this 
was a serious situation.” Worse, said Wardell Polk, “Just across the tracks 
[from Godman] was Fort Knox, and they had German and Italian POWs 
there. They jeered at us and whatnot until the administration declared the 
area off limits to them.”49 “We could not in our wildest imagination believe 
that a group of United States Army Air Force offi cers were being treated in 
this manner,” wrote one of the 101, but “I have never seen morale so high 
in a group of men who were under such great stress.”50

The facilities at Godman made it impossible for a multi-engine unit 
to put in the training hours necessary to achieve combat readiness. By all 
appearances, the AAF acceded to Selway’s request to transfer the entire 
group simply because Selway had 104 offi cers under arrest (the 101 who 
refused to sign, plus the three who remained under arrest for the “jos-
tling” incident) and felt he needed the large cadre of white MPs stationed 
at Fort Knox available in case of race riot. The transfer signaled beyond 
doubt that the service had given up on training the 477th for combat 
readiness. James Warren, one of the 101, later charged, “Hunter was 
far more dedicated to seeing his racist policies enforced than he was 
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concerned with the training of the bomb group to fi ght the enemy.” Fitz-
roy (“Buck”) Newsum, a pilot in the 477th, put it another way: Hunter 
and Selway prioritized their “personal desires” over the nation’s needs. 
“[They said,] ‘It doesn’t make any difference that guys are fi ghting and 
dying overseas. No way. Our personal desires come fi rst.’ ” Warren also 
uncovered later what he called “the smoking gun,” the transcript of a 
telephone conversation between Col. Malcolm N. Stewart, acting chief 
of training, First Air Force, and Gen. William W. Welsh, chief of staff of 
the Air Force for Training. In discussing the 477th’s move to Godman, 
Gen. Welsh admitted, “If we can stave it off in some way for a period of 
time . . . maybe we can eliminate the program gradually and accomplish 
our end.”51

Lt. William T. Coleman Jr., an administrative offi cer in the group 
(though not one of the 101) who had interrupted his studies at Harvard Law 
School to join the AAF, thought he knew the reason for the transfer, and 
it had nothing to do with preparing the group for combat. “The Air Forces 
struck back,” he wrote to the NAACP. The “sole purpose” for the transfer, 
he reported, was

the avoidance of letting us frequent the white offi cers club and to punish 
us, by sending us away from Freeman with its housing project and north-
ern location, for our fi ght to get equality. The manner of the move (short 
notice, secret destination, etc.), indicates that it was made without the 
approval of the War Dept [sic] or if they did approve it they were rushing 
it so public opinion could not form against it. Everything at Godman is at 
a standstill. . . . The Group, defi nitely, has not had the training necessary 
for overseas service as an effective combat unit.

There was no question that morale was so terrible in the 477th and the 
training so far behind schedule that it could not be deployed in the Pacifi c 
by the summer of 1945 as had been planned.52

Selway’s stubborn mismanagement of the situation necessitated 
 attention from the highest levels of the chain of command. Army Chief 
of Staff Gen. George C. Marshall ordered the 101 released from arrest on 
April 23, though Hunter did arrange for letters of reprimand to remain in 
their personnel fi les and insisted that the three remaining arrested offi -
cers be court-martialed. At the War Department’s insistence, Gen. Arnold 
reassigned Benjamin O. Davis Jr. to command of the 477th and Godman 
Field, and decreed that the group would have all-black offi cers by its new 
 readiness date of August 1. Gen. Hunter boycotted the ceremony at God-
man in which Selway transferred command to Col. Davis.53

Davis became the fi rst black commanding offi cer of a stateside U.S. 
military base just in time to preside over the fi rst all-black court-martial 
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board in history. Whether the courts-martial of Clinton, Terry, and Thomp-
son should even take place had been the subject of intense debate within 
and between the Air Forces and War Department for weeks. Hunter was 
adamant that the breaches in discipline could not be tolerated and must be 
punished harshly. On the other hand, Col. R.E. Kunkel, chief of the Mili-
tary Justice Division of the Army Air Forces, concluded, “[L]ong-range pub-
lic interest does not appear to warrant a trial by courts-martial on charges 
growing out of the incident described.”54 Hunter would have preferred to 
court-martial all 104 but settled for trials of the three. Clinton and Thomp-
son would be tried together in one trial, Terry by himself in another.

On July 2, 1945, Selway and his junior offi cers testifi ed in the fi rst trial 
that Clinton and Thompson had entered the offi cers’ club against orders 
and in the process laid hands on Offi cer of the Day Lt. J. D. Rogers. Sel-
way was a hostile witness and came very close to committing perjury, but 
the prosecution was unable to present suffi ciently compelling evidence to 
convict the pair. After a short deliberation the board returned a verdict of 
not guilty.55 Terry faced a slightly more serious charge, “offering violence 
against Lt. Rogers.” “I didn’t hit him,” Terry said later. “Well, anyway, they 
said that I couldn’t get around him without touching him. But I didn’t 
touch him.”56

As expected, the courts-martial drew intense media scrutiny, particu-
larly from the black press, and Selway and Hunter’s superiors at the War 
Department could ill afford to let those two manage the proceedings on 
their own terms. The AAF saw to it that the courts-martial would be per-
ceived as fair by blacks. Six black offi cers of the 477th sat in judgment at the 
courts-martial (defense motions removed Davis from the proceedings). Yet 
Terry claimed that he was given little time to plan or participate in his own 
defense. “I felt it was quite confusing. However, they sent the man that later 
became my counsel, Theodore Berry. He was a fraternity brother, and he 
was with the NAACP Legal Defense Fund [sic]. I met him the day that I was 
tried. I don’t feel that that was adequate. However, he did an excellent job.” 
Berry was in fact an exceptionally able attorney with a strong interest in the 
fate of blacks in the military. He had worked for nine months in 1942 as a 
morale offi cer for the Offi ce of War Information, where he was responsible 
for encouraging African Americans to put up with segregation on behalf 
of the larger war effort. However, Berry determined, “They wanted to play 
games with words without making fundamental changes.” He resigned the 
position and returned to his job as a Hamilton County, Ohio, prosecutor 
and also served as president of the Cincinnati branch of the NAACP. He 
took on the trio’s defense at Thurgood Marshall’s request.57

Edith Terry, Walter White, and others succeeded in forcing the “mutiny” 
into the political arena. The NAACP encouraged local chapter members 
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to bombard their elected representatives with requests for information 
on what had happened at Freeman Field, and at least eighteen U.S. con-
gressmen lodged formal requests with the War Department. The inquiries 
were, of course, designed not to elicit information, but to impress upon the 
department the intense interest African Americans had in the case.58

When Clinton and Thomson were acquitted of all charges following 
their trials on July 2, Terry let his guard down. “It was quite disquieting 
when you think about it. If the case had any importance at all, I should have 
had more time to prepare. But, of course, I didn’t feel I had anything to 
prepare for because the other guys had been acquitted.” Terry would soon 
understand that he was wrong to underestimate the seriousness of his situ-
ation: “Little did I know that they had to get somebody. It was me.59

“They started the court, and the guy asked for death on all of the counts, 
and that shocked me. In fact, the guys say I turned pale every time they 
asked for death, and they thought they were trying the wrong guy. It was 
quite disquieting. They went through it. My attorney was quite eloquent, 
and [William Robert] ‘Bob’ Ming was the court offi cer, and he was helpful. 
They found me guilty and fi ned me $150 and confi ned me to the base for 
three months. They found me guilty of jostling. That means I couldn’t get 
by the offi cer in the doorway of the club; that I hit him. I didn’t hit him, but 
that’s neither here nor there. Then they set me free.”60

The mixed judgment—acquittal on the charge of disobeying an offi cer but 
guilty of jostling and a $150 fi ne—had to be reviewed and approved by Davis 
and Hunter. Terry continued, “It went forward, and Frank O’Driscoll Hunter 
was quite bitter about it. He said the whole damn case was a farce, that I 
should have been convicted of disobeying a direct order, and all that kind of 
stuff, but he reluctantly signed it. As far as I’m concerned, he just was a die-
hard racist.”61 In signing off on the trial verdict Hunter concluded: “The sen-
tence, although grossly inadequate, is approved, and will be duly exercised.”62

But Terry deemed the experience worthwhile, all things considered. “It 
happened to be the one incident that broke the camel’s back” of Jim Crow 
segregation in the armed forces, he said, and then spoke of the collective 
judgment of the Tuskegee Airmen.

We think that it broke the camel’s back because they had to recognize the 
fact that 104 offi cers were arrested, and that they all defi ed this order, and 
the order was said to be illegal. We feel, and I think I speak for most of 
the guys, that it was our advantage that we gave to the Negro people, that 
there would be no discrimination in the Army Air Force from that time 
on. Up until that time, they treated us like children. As long as we were 
fl ying airplanes and minding our own business and helping them, it was 
OK, but if we wanted to manifest our own destiny, that was verboten.
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And one thing I will say: The guys stood by me. I expected to be left 
alone, but they stood by me. All of them. A lot of them didn’t go to town 
while I was confi ned to the base. They also took up a collection and paid 
the $150. That was nice of them.63

When Gen. Arnold named Davis as Selway’s replacement, he also sup-
planted every other white offi cer in the 477th with a qualifi ed black. Morale 
improved immediately. The AAF disbanded two of the group’s four squad-
rons in order to concentrate its strengths, and it reassigned two pursuit squad-
rons from the 332nd, remaking the force into the 477th Composite Group. By 
May the new group was on track for a planned September deployment to the 
Pacifi c Theater. But not even Davis could wave a magic wand and make all of 
the 477th’s problems disappear. He requested housing quarters at Fort Knox 
for the top cadre of his offi cers, just as Selway had done. Selway’s request 
had been honored without incident, but Davis’s request caused concern. Fort 
Knox’s commanding offi cer called Hunter’s First Air Force Headquarters to 
deny the request. “I don’t know whether you are familiar with Fort Knox or 
not,” he said, “but . . . we have four General Offi cers living here . . . [and] by God, 
they just don’t want a bunch of coons moving in next door to them.” Davis 
would remember it as the worst insult in a career full of them.64

Resolution of the Freeman Field “mutiny” now became a matter of pol-
icy. The AAF asked the War Department to bring Army Regulation 210–10, 
which fl atly prohibited racial segregation in base recreation facilities, in line 
with War Department Pamphlet 20–6, which allowed much more leeway for 
base commanders to establish segregated practices. The Secretary of War’s 
Committee on Special Troop Policies (known as the McCloy Committee after 
its chairman), the body responsible for setting policy affecting blacks in the 
armed services, offered its report in May, and the news was bad for the Frank 
Hunters throughout the military. In sharp contrast to the old-guard AAF gen-
erals’ wishes, the committee—which included, in addition to its chairman, 
Assistant Secretary of War John J. McCloy, AAF Brig. Gen. Idwal Edwards, 
Gen. Benjamin O. Davis Sr., and Truman Gibson—recommended that Army 
Regulation 210–10 should remain the law of the land, and all other regula-
tions and pamphlets should be brought into compliance with it.

The War Department’s clear and decisive response to the Freeman Field 
affair should have settled the question of racial segregation at individual base 
facilities, but it did not. The AAF continued to resist the inevitable momen-
tum of desegregation for months. Gen. Barney M. Giles’s response was rep-
resentative of the push-back: “It is believed that the greatest over-all harmony 
between the white and Negro races will be maintained within the Army,” he 
argued, “if the Army follows as closely as practicable the usages and social 
customs which prevail in this country with respect to recreational facilities.”65 
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Another AAF response concluded, “As a practical matter regulation of this 
problem must be handled in coordination with accepted social custom. For 
the War Department to attempt the solution by regulation of a complicated 
social problem which has perplexed this country for a number of years is 
bound to produce diversion that may go so far as to affect the full effective-
ness of our war effort.”66

But McCloy had none of it. In an important statement of civilian control 
of the armed forces, his decision stood. The Freeman 104 forced the War 
Department to defi ne racial segregation as a discriminatory act by defi nition, 
and they placed the institution squarely on the side of integration. The move-
ment toward full integration of the armed forces might be gradual and halting 
from that point forward, but there would be no going back.

The conclusion of the 477th’s troubles coincided with the conclusion of 
combat in World War II. Benjamin O. Davis Jr. remained in command of 
the composite group at the end of the war, and he oversaw its move to Lock-
bourne Air Base, Ohio, soon thereafter. Concurrently, the War Department 
ordered military induction centers throughout the country to stop enlisting 
blacks for the AAF. The following year the War Department lifted the ban 
and rechristened the 477th as the understaffed 332nd Fighter Wing, reacti-
vating the 100th and 301st squadrons and eliminating the bomber squad-
rons. Bomber pilots could not transfer into other, all-white groups, so they 
transitioned into fi ghter squadrons if they were able. Navigator-bombardiers 
remained on fl ight status at Lockbourne by crewing C-47 transports, but they 
performed no essential duties.67

For some of the men stationed there, Lockbourne under the command 
of the man they called “B.O. the C.O.” was the best of all possible worlds 
in a segregated Air Force. Charles Dryden remembered it as “Camelot”: 
“[A]ll activities were conducted with precision and pride. . . . everywhere on the 
base there was evidence of striving for perfection,” he wrote. Lockbourne was 
“ ‘our’ base, run, from top to bottom and all in between, by ‘us.’ . . . And, what’s 
more, we had fun doing so.”68 Many of the men of the 332nd and 477th who 
had worked so hard to create a space for African Americans in the AAF con-
sidered Lockbourne their just reward: the world they made for themselves 
there came closer to making the “equal” in “separate-but-equal” a reality than 
even TAAF had. But the forces they had unleashed also ensured that separate-
but-equal’s days were numbered.



145

Integrating the Air Force6 When a young musician named Willie Ruff enlisted at 
 Lockbourne Army Airfi eld to play French horn in the 766th Army Air Forces 
Band, he learned “what a special place it was and [heard about] the high qual-
ity of its offi cers, doctors, nurses, engineers, and pilots.” His mentor told him, 
“Some of the most accomplished people in all of America are right here on 
this base.” The 766th’s leader, Chief Warrant Offi cer John Brice, dreamed of 
competing against the all-white Army Air Forces Band and demanded noth-
ing short of perfection from his charges. The band included the drummer 
Elvin Jones (later a member of the John Coltrane Quartet) and the pianist 
Ivory (“Dwike”) Mitchell Jr., with whom Ruff would later tour the world in the 
Mitchell-Ruff Duo; in their down time, several members of the band studied 
with musicians in the Columbus Philharmonic. Ruff remembered the educa-
tion he earned at Lockbourne as having been every bit as valuable as the one 
he subsequently gained at Yale.1

That all of the base’s operations aspired to such levels of excellence was 
a source of tremendous pride for the men stationed there. But, Dryden 
acknowledged, “With that situation you have one full colonel and four lieu-
tenant colonels and maybe twenty or thirty majors and the rest are captains, 
lieutenants, and so forth.” Only one person at a time could gain command 
experience, and “not until he retires or dies will anybody else get a chance to 
do that. So we were in a prison, so to speak. Apart from promotions, train-
ing opportunities, all sorts of perks that go with the freedom to move about 
through the Air Force: assignment to the War College, the Pentagon, and all 
those sorts of things escape you.” To make matters worse, the postwar 477th 
Composite Group and its successor, the 332nd Fighter Wing, faced constant 
practical problems, the results of personnel mismatches that had dogged the 
all-black fl ying groups from their inception. By early 1948 the situation had 
not improved; thirty-fi ve of forty-eight offi cer positions in the 332nd were 
unfi lled because Jim Crow prevented black offi cers from achieving particular 
specialties. By almost any defi nition, the 332nd had to be considered an inef-
fective fi ghting force. The service would have to admit blacks piecemeal to 
specialist training schools to which they had until then been denied, staff the 
wing’s tactical units with white offi cers (a decision that would be guaranteed to 
bring down condemnation from the civil rights coalition), or desegregate 
once and for all.2
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African Americans served the Army credibly during the war in segregated 
infantry, tanker, and quartermaster units in addition to the aviation group 
upon which their community had pinned so many hopes. But their wartime 
service produced few immediate breakthroughs; they found it especially dif-
fi cult to break into the offi cer ranks. Two years after the war ended there was 
only one black offi cer for every seventy enlisted black men in the Army—this 
at a time when the ratio for whites was one to seven. The numbers were even 
more inequitable in the Navy, Marines, and Coast Guard. But in the war years 
black Americans had forced national debates on the fundamental immorality 
of segregating the men and women who were willing to sacrifi ce their lives 
in the world battle against fascism. As those debates proceeded through the 
courts of public opinion, the armed forces considered the issue on their own 
terms.3

Blacks had an ally in Noel Parrish, who by 1945 wanted desperately to rid 
the service of a policy that he knew hampered the institution’s abilities to 
function and fi ght as effectively as it needed to. He deplored what he called 
the “terribly expensive[,] disturbing aspects of trying to operate an Air Force 
within an Air Force with a separate personnel system, a separate training sys-
tem, a separate everything.” Parrish calculated that segregation “made it cost 
several times what it would have cost to have integrated systems.” Tuskegee-
trained pilots would have had to be worth “three or four white pilots, at least,” 
he estimated, to justify the expense of the entire training facility on a per-pilot 
basis. Parrish’s experience at TAAF would inform the rest of his career in the 
Air Force.4

When he was selected to attend the Air Command and Staff School as a 
member of its inaugural class in 1946, Parrish was suffi ciently concerned 
about the issue that he devoted his thesis research to racial discrimination’s 
deleterious effects on training, readiness, and morale in the AAF. He con-
cluded his thesis, “The Segregation of Negroes in the Army Air Forces,” with 
this observation: “In the administration of segregated units there is no rou-
tine. There can be no consistent segregation policy because segregation is 
itself inconsistent and contradictory [emphasis in original].” According to 
Parrish, racial segregation in the armed forces had to end not because it was 
immoral but because it was wasteful and impossible to implement logically 
and consistently. That it was unjust attracted a constituency that fought Jim 
Crow in the arena of public relations, but it was Parrish’s argument regarding 
productivity and economy that ultimately won the day at the Pentagon.5

Parrish’s thesis project grew from an ironic fear: The Tuskegee program 
had been so widely expected to fail that he worried its success could “be used as 
a further excuse for continuing [segregation] policies which we had overcome 
with only the greatest diffi culty.” Parrish received no training in researching 
and writing a thesis, so he used what he considered the best academic study 
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he could fi nd on the subject of race relations in the United States, Gunnar 
Myrdal’s An American Dilemma, as a template. Parrish fi lled the thesis with 
anecdotes from his own experience and data from academic and military 
studies. In contrast to military reports on the performance of black troops in 
the First World War, it was thoroughly researched and fi rmly grounded both 
in academic theory and in practical lived experience.6

Parrish focused on the operational problems segregation presented 
for military commanders, but he also allowed himself the freedom to 
consider a wide range of topics, including the implications of racial seg-
regation for American religious groups and the folklore that whites had 
constructed about blacks. He began with a very modern understanding 
of the concept of “race”: that the very concept was socially constructed, 
not biologically determined. Parrish marveled at one phenomenon in 
particular. For every stereotype whites had devised about African Amer-
icans over the years, he found, they had also devised another equally 
deeply held, though absolutely contradictory, stereotype. “Negroes are 
gay—Negroes are melancholy; Negroes are devilish—Negroes are deeply 
religious; Negroes who succeed do so because of white ‘blood’—Negroes 
of mixed ‘blood’ are worthless; Negroes are loyal—Negroes are unde-
pendable.” “These beliefs appear trivial, many of them ridiculous,” Par-
rish concluded, but they also informed policies and actions on the part 
of the AAF. That, he argued, would have to change.7

When the United States entered the Cold War contest against Soviet 
totalitarianism, racial discrimination began to appear even more an embar-
rassment to the nation as it engaged in a new geopolitical  struggle. Parrish 
related a telling anecdote from his Tuskegee experience, including a debate 
that was replayed throughout the world after the war ended:

Mr. Abol Amini, member of the parliament of Iran, and Mr. Majid 
Movaqar, publisher of the daily newspaper Mehre Iran [sic], visited 
Tuskegee Air Field with a party of Iranians under the guidance of 
the State Department in 1945. Mr. Moqavar was pro-American and 
 pro-British, Mr. Amini was pro-Russian. The former tried to argue that 
the effective and expensive Negro training program was an example of 
democracy in action. His pro-Russian companion asked embarrassing 
questions: “Why were negro pilots and offi cers kept apart for the rest 
of the Air Forces? Were they not also citizens of a democracy? Could 
the reason be that their complexions were dark?”

There were other visitors from time to time, from Africa, from 
India. They asked the same questions in various forms. . . . Most Amer-
icans in authority seem to forget that foreign visitors have read our 
Constitution.”8



148 FREEDOM FLYERS

Jim Crow segregation was not only an embarrassment to U.S. interests in 
this context, but it also actively aided the Soviet Union’s propaganda efforts 
in the Cold War contest to lure non-aligned nations such as Iran, India, and 
the newly independent nations of Africa into the Soviet orbit.

In fact, the military services did desegregate within a remarkably short 
period of time after the war’s end. But the Pentagon did not do so because 
racial segregation was morally wrong or for Cold War rhetorical reasons, 
nor because the Tuskegee Airmen and other all-black fi ghting units had 
proved so capable in combat. As compelling as these arguments for deseg-
regation were, the changes came for reasons of operational self-interest on 
the part of the military. Parrish wrote, “As any administrator knows, stan-
dardization of personnel procedures is as important to an organization as 
standardization of parts is to a factory. Segregation prevents standardized 
personnel procedures.” This practical consideration ultimately doomed 
Jim Crow in the Air Force. In 1939 the Army Air Corps’s chief of person-
nel responded to black advocacy by complaining, “The War Department 
is not an agency which can solve national questions relating to the social 
or economic position of the various racial groups composing our nation.” 
Yet this is precisely what occurred in the service between 1940 and 1949. 
What had been one of the institutions in American life most indifferent to 
the aspirations of blacks before the war and a rigidly segregated institution 
during the war became one of the very fi rst institutions to desegregate after 
the war.9

Tracing that development requires a return to the bureaucratic war-
fare waged by William Hastie, Truman Gibson, and others, because after 
the war came the committee work. During the war white Americans 
directed so much violence toward black soldiers, and blacks responded 
with so much direct action against segregation, that Secretary Stimson 
appointed a special committee to look into incidents as they occurred 
and to make recommendations to avoid similar incidents in the future. 
The McCloy Committee was a natural enough creation. It would have 
been the logical mechanism through which Hastie could voice his con-
cerns within the War Department and work toward solutions. But Hastie 
was not informed of the committee’s creation and did not learn of its 
existence until more than a month after the committee held its fi rst 
meeting in the Munitions Building. The slight, which was all too typical 
of his experience there, hastened the judge’s resignation from the War 
Department.10

The committee’s purpose was to consider “social questions . . . personnel 
problems and training, and use of Negro troops.” Even McCloy admitted 
that he was not quite sure what that meant, but his most visible committee 
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member, Gen. Benjamin O. Davis Sr., had a clearer understanding. The 
advisory committee’s overriding goal, he wrote, should be “the breaking 
down of the so-called ‘Jim Crow’ practices within the War Department and 
on the military [bases], and the securing of the cooperation of the commu-
nities near [bases] to that end. . . . [M]ilitary necessity requires a closer unity 
and comradeship among all races.” In March 1943, nearly three months 
after he assumed the position of civilian aide following Hastie’s resigna-
tion, Truman Gibson joined the committee and became its most active 
member.11

Gibson was in a precarious position. The NAACP’s Roy Wilkins pub-
licly criticized him and other civilians in the War Department in 1943 
for “pussy foot[ing,] . . . cater[ing] to civilian prejudices.” But Gibson sol-
diered on. “Being the African American advocate in the War Department 
required nimble instincts,” he later observed. “One moment you were on 
the defense, struggling to overcome some antediluvian directive or to push 
back against Jim Crow tradition.” Or protecting your fl ank from desegre-
gationist activists, he might have added. “The next moment found you on 
the offense, pushing the envelope to modify army policy to overcome the 
military’s ingrained tendency to opt for segregation on every occasion.”12

Gibson’s greatest test had come in 1943, when he arranged for Benja-
min O. Davis Jr.’s testimony before the McCloy Committee to defend the 
pilots of the 99th. He continued the fi ght through the end of the war, visit-
ing black troops at training bases throughout the United States and in war 
zones, reporting his fi ndings to the advisory committee, and pushing war 
planners to use black units in combat. Though Gibson followed the prog-
ress of the 99th and 332nd closely, he did not consider the service of those 
units to have been the decisive action of the war as far as the argument for 
desegregation went. Instead, he believed, it was the wartime experience of 
the all-black 92nd Infantry Division in northern Italy that ultimately pro-
vided the best argument for desegregating the Army. Gibson also believed 
that combat in meeting rooms at the newly built Pentagon, not combat on 
the battlefi eld and in the skies, would fi nally determine what blacks did and 
did not gain from the war. “The battles  producing what little progress that 
had fi nally been achieved in World War II would have to be fought again” 
after the war ended, he later wrote.13

In 1945 the McCloy Committee paid particular attention to the skirmish 
at Freeman Field. Gibson recognized that the AAF had created for itself 
“a ludicrous position. They couldn’t have defended it.” As a result of the 
committee’s investigation, the War Department rebuked the commanding 
offi cer of the 477th, Col. Robert Selway, and insisted that the Army enforce 
policies prohibiting the segregation of base facilities. The clearest outcome 
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of the “mutiny,” then, was the War Department’s restatement of a policy 
that placed the military fi rmly on the side of desegregation.14

“Participation of Negro Troops in the Post-War Military Establishment,” 
a landmark 1945 study and the fi rst major research endeavor after the war’s 
end to take up the question that had concerned the offi cers of the War 
College in 1925, grew out of the work of the McCloy Committee. It aimed 
to consolidate the committee’s investigations of how blacks were perform-
ing in the fi eld, with an eye toward creating policies on how black troops 
should be employed in the postwar military and utilized in the next war. In 
the course of its deliberations, the committee examined extant research and 
heard expert testimony from high-ranking, experienced offi cers in each of 
the services. One of the strongest proponents of complete desegregation 
turned out to be the war hero Col. James H. Doolittle, who acknowledged 
that blacks were forcing desegregation on private industry and before long 
would force it on the military as well. “You are merely postponing the inevi-
table, and you might as well take it gracefully,” he testifi ed.15

The AAF’s contributions to the study refl ected the prejudicial attitudes 
of its wartime leaders—in one notable case, quite literally. Each division 
of the force was responsible for completing its own research into the per-
formance of African Americans in the war, which it then forwarded to the 
Pentagon for review and compilation into the fi nal document. The First Air 
Force commissioned its research, Gen. Hunter wrote in a cover letter to 
Gen. Arnold, from “those who have actually had the most intimate connec-
tion with the training of Negro air organizations.” Its unidentifi ed author 
was none other than Robert Selway, who focused the review on the wartime 
performance of the 477th.16

Selway criticized the group for having taken so long to achieve combat 
readiness, the result (he argued) of blacks’ general inability to meet the 
AAF’s high standards. This was of course a wildly unfair charge, given the 
force’s refusal before 1943 to train the black navigators and bombardiers 
the 477th needed. Instead, Selway concluded that the delay in achievement 
of combat readiness was due to black Americans’ general lack of initiative 
and inability to perform without strict supervision by whites. He further 
charged that blacks had no “desire to go to combat” and offered as proof for 
the indictment a May 1945 survey of the 477th that found that more than 
90 percent of the 477th’s enlisted men and approximately 80 percent of its 
offi cers wished “to be relieved from the Army without delay.” In the midst 
of the Freeman Field “mutiny,” a direct result of Selway’s incompetent 
leadership, these results should have surprised no one. When he forwarded 
the report to the War Department under Arnold’s signature, Lt. Col. Louis 
Nippert of Gen. Arnold’s staff watered down or ignored Selway’s analyses, 
but the AAF recommended that segregation continue nonetheless.17
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Col. Parrish offered an eloquent dissenting opinion. He praised the work 
of black mechanics and administrative personnel, in addition to pilots, at 
TAAF, and wrote:

It is a discouraging fact that Offi cers of the Army Air Forces whose scien-
tifi c achievements are unsurpassed, and whose scientifi c skill is unques-
tioned in mechanical matters and in many personnel matters, should 
generally approach the problem of races and minorities with the most 
unscientifi c, dogmatic, and arbitrary attitudes. . . .

Whether we like or dislike Negroes and whether they like or dislike 
us, under the Constitution of the United States, which we are all sworn 
to uphold, they are citizens of the United States having the same rights 
and privileges of other citizens and entitled to the same applications and 
protection of the laws.

He had a single, simple recommendation for the employment of Negro 
troops moving forward: The only consideration should be the “employment 
and treatment of Negroes as individuals which the war requires and which 
military effi ciency demands.” That was a minority opinion in 1945, but the 
Air Force would come around to Parrish’s shockingly modern approach to 
race relations in a short period of time.18

The McCloy Committee disbanded at the end of the war, having 
brought attention to the mistreatment of black troops and laid the 
groundwork for desegregation, but the need for consideration of “the 
Negro question” continued at the Pentagon. In 1945 a new committee, 
known as the Gillem Board after its chairman, Gen. Alvan C. Gillem 
Jr., began holding hearings on the Army’s racial policies and planned 
to make recommendations on how the radically restructured postwar 
force could best utilize blacks’ service. The board heard expert testimony 
from a familiar cast of characters. William Hastie argued for immedi-
ate desegregation, but in something of a twist he acknowledged that the 
Army was closer to desegregating than other national institutions.

Benjamin O. Davis Sr. offered withering criticism of any policy that 
subordinated military effectiveness to questions of who should or should 
not sit next to whom in a mess hall. He wondered how “foreign people 
such as the French, Russians and Brazilians” would interpret such poli-
cies in a Cold War context. His son recommended gradual integration 
with more attention paid to the quality of leadership at the unit level. If 
the leaders were competent, he argued, integration of troops could occur 
without incident. In his testimony Parrish made no secret of his disgust 
with segregation on grounds of morality and military effi ciency, but sug-
gested that the military could avoid the problem altogether by ignoring 
the concept of racial integration and insisting instead on “assignment by 
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qualifi cation”—in other words, true color-blindness. The rest, he said, 
would take care of itself.19

Apart from Parrish, every white offi cer with experience commanding 
black troops in combat testifi ed that even the limited and gradual desegre-
gation of troops was inadvisable. In April 1946 the Gillem Board seemed 
to privilege the testimony of non-combat commanders like Parrish and 
civilian advocates such as Walter White and William Hastie, and it recom-
mended the integration of forces—but only gradually and only during duty 
hours. Parrish considered the recommendations too timid. “[T]he breaking 
up of the big segregated units into smaller segregated units,” he wrote, 
“does not seem a signifi cant step.”20

The National Security Act of 1947 merged the Department of War and 
Department of the Navy into the National Military Establishment, which 
would shortly thereafter be renamed the Department of Defense. The act 
also created an independent U.S. Air Force. The timing was signifi cant: 
the reorganization of the Army Air Forces into the newly autonomous Air 
Force meant that new civilian leadership came on board just as new mili-
tary leaders emerged to replace Gen. Arnold following the successful con-
clusion of wartime operations. Advocates of desegregation recognized a 
window of opportunity. At this point the Air Force was little closer to practi-
cal integration than it had been before the war, but the policies developed 
by the McCloy and Gillem committees had laid the groundwork necessary 
for a radical restructuring of the force.

The major civilian fi gure in the movement toward desegregation was 
the fi rst secretary of the Air Force, W. Stuart Symington, a Missouri busi-
nessman and longtime Truman supporter who had transformed Emerson 
Electric Co. into a major defense contractor and integrated its professional 
workforce during the war. Symington had military allies in Gen. Carl 
A. Spaatz, the fi rst chief of staff of the Air Force; and Lt. Gen. Idwal Edwards, 
Air Force deputy chief of staff for personnel, who had also been a member of 
the McCloy Committee. Edwards did not consider the 332nd Fighter Wing, 
much less the 477th, to have been an effective fi ghting unit, but he did not 
blame blacks for the groups’ shortcomings. Edwards was most responsible 
for the desegregation policies the service would embrace in short order. He 
and Symington would come to be considered the new service’s staunchest 
advocates of desegregation—on grounds of military effi ciency, Cold War ide-
ology, and morality, in that order. They came to understand segregation as 
unworkable because no military unit was stronger than its weakest members, 
and segregation illogically bunched together the strong and the weak.21

Inter-service rivalry surely played a role in the Air Force leaders’ decision 
to move ahead with integration plans. This was an opportunity for the Air 
Force to prove it was more forward-looking than the Army and Navy, more 
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professional and less bound by tradition. Besides, as Parrish wrote in his 
thesis, “The advantages, to the Air Forces, of getting ahead of pressure in 
its personnel and assignment policies would be well worth the effort. At 
least the seizing of the initiative in this fi eld would be a new experience.” 
By 1947 Symington, Spaatz, and Edwards had convinced themselves that 
the Air Force would have to desegregate and were on the edge of creating 
policy to accomplish it, but they waited for a signal from the commander-
in-chief before proceeding further.22

They did not have to wait long. President Harry S. Truman created the 
President’s Committee on Civil Rights (PCCR) in December 1946 with his 
Executive Order 9808, and the PCCR began studying the problem of racial 
discrimination in the United States in 1947. Truman, a Missourian with 
ideas about race that were typical of whites in the border South of his time, 
had nonetheless developed a decent civil rights record as a U.S. senator 
and had proved sympathetic to efforts to desegregate air training before the 
war. After ascending to the presidency, by all reports, Truman was moved 
to action by news from the South of black veterans being brutalized by 
white authorities. According to one account, in the city of Birmingham, 
Alabama, alone, Police Commissioner T. Eugene (“Bull”) Connor’s force 
killed as many as fi ve black war veterans in the fi rst two months of 1946.23

There were similar incidents reported in Louisiana, Texas, Georgia, Flor-
ida, and Tennessee, but the most notorious case was that of Isaac Woodard, 
an Army veteran who returned from fi fteen months’ service in the South 
Pacifi c to be honorably discharged at Camp Gordon, Georgia, in February 
1946. Woodard immediately boarded a Greyhound bus bound for North 
Carolina, where he planned to meet his wife and then make a visit home 
to New York. But Woodard, still in uniform, had words with the white bus 
driver over a perceived racial transgression soon after the bus crossed into 
South Carolina. The two argued in the town of Aiken, and the driver radi-
oed ahead to the police of Batesburg. When the bus arrived in Batesburg, 
Police Chief Lynwood L. Shull and a deputy removed Woodard from the 
bus, arrested him, and beat him savagely while in their custody. When 
Woodard fi nally received medical care the next day, doctors determined 
that the chief and deputy had damaged Woodard’s eyes with their night-
sticks so severely that he would never see again. Confronted with the news 
of this and other outrages, Truman reportedly exclaimed, “My God! I had 
no idea it was as terrible as that! We have to do something.” He wrote an 
acquaintance, “When [local authorities] can take a Negro sergeant off a bus, 
beat him and put out one of his eyes, and nothing is done about it by State 
Authorities, then something is radically wrong with the system.”24

Creating the PCCR was Truman’s response. It was one of his most bril-
liant political moves, arguably his master stroke. The PCCR would educate 
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the white public about what Truman and others saw as the need to extend 
constitutional protections to African American citizens and align his politi-
cal interests with those of civil rights advocates, but in a way that minimized 
the damage done to his reputation among white southern Democrats. It set 
in motion a chain of events that resulted in the immediate desegregation of 
the U.S. military—a decade before the U.S. Supreme Court’s Brown deci-
sion began to desegregate the nation’s schools “with all deliberate speed.” 
The PCCR’s infl uential committee report set the agenda for the civil rights 
movement into the mid-1960s, but it would be another twenty years before 
direct action campaigns fi nally forced Congress to outlaw Jim Crow segre-
gation in public accommodations and guarantee their voting rights.25

Facing a tough 1948 re-election campaign, Truman walked a politi-
cal tightrope in giving the PCCR its mandate. He had real reason to fear 
alienating white Southerners; as it happened, in 1948 the previously sol-
idly Democratic South did abandon Truman for the States Rights, or “Dix-
iecrat,” party and its standard bearer, Gov. J. Strom Thurmond of South 
Carolina. Truman also worried about losing support from his left to the 
New Dealer Henry A. Wallace, who became the candidate of the Progres-
sive Party in the midst of Truman’s tough campaign against Republican 
Thomas A. Dewey, the popular governor of New York. At the same time, 
as they had in 1944, black voters were signaling that they needed new, con-
crete reasons to turn out in numbers for the Democrats.26

PCCR Director Robert K. Carr, a professor of government at Dartmouth, 
led a small staff that held public hearings with testimony from forty wit-
nesses, corresponded with more than two hundred private organizations 
and individuals, and solicited data from twenty-fi ve federal agencies over 
a span of several months in 1947. In the public hearings government 
witnesses tended to make the case for a greater effort on the part of the 
national government to educate the white public about blacks’ lives and the 
contributions they could make to American society if given a fair chance. 
Civil rights advocates such as Walter White argued the need for greater 
federal intervention on behalf of blacks’ citizenship rights. The members 
of the PCCR were evidently swayed by the latter.27

Events moved astonishingly fast throughout 1947. In the midst of the 
PCCR’s deliberations, Truman became the fi rst American president to 
address the annual meeting of the NAACP. Speaking from the steps of 
the Lincoln Memorial before an audience estimated at ten thousand and a 
national radio audience of millions on June 29, Truman said that the time 
had come for the United States “to put our own house in order.” The federal 
government, he pledged, would become the “friendly vigilant defender of 
the rights and equalities of all Americans.” At least one Tuskegee Airman 
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was in the audience. A former pilot cadet and intelligence offi cer for the 
332nd, twenty-seven-year-old Percy Sutton, took a break from his graduate 
studies (he was enrolled simultaneously in programs at Columbia Univer-
sity and Brooklyn Law School) to attend the NAACP’s thirty-eighth annual 
conference in the segregated capital. “All around me,” he recalled, “blacks 
in the audience were reacting with uh huhs and God bless yous as Presi-
dent Truman repeated his words pledging civil rights equality for all Amer-
icans.” Walter White compared the speech to the Gettysburg Address.28

The NAACP kept up the pressure on the administration, however. Just 
days before the PCCR released its report, the organization submitted a 
petition of grievances on behalf of black Americans to the United Nations 
Commission on Human Rights. Authored by W.E.B. DuBois, the petition 
announced: “This protest is a frank and earnest appeal to all the world for 
elemental justice against the treatment which the United States has visited 
upon us for three centuries. . . . It is to induce the nations of the world to per-
suade this nation to be just to its own people, that we . . . now present to you 
this document.” The United States successfully blunted the Soviet Union’s 
proposal that the commission take up an investigation into the petition’s 
charges, but the entire episode damaged the nation’s international reputa-
tion in the early days of the Cold War. U.S. Attorney General Tom Clark 
admitted to being “humiliated” not just by the international incident but by 
the truths the petition contained. In any case, the petition’s timing ensured 
that the PCCR’s report would receive maximum publicity and would result 
in concrete, practical action from the Truman administration, which was 
anxious to avoid such public displays of black disaffection.29

The PCCR’s report, titled To Secure These Rights and released in October 
1947, hewed closely to sociologist Gunnar Myrdal’s thesis in the landmark 
book that had so infl uenced Parrish, An American Dilemma, published 
in 1944. Myrdal conceived of America’s race-relations problem as hav-
ing resulted from a gap between national ideals of equal opportunity and 
the realities of racial discrimination. He prescribed a blend of popular 
 education programs and federal intervention that the PCCR would follow 
closely in its own recommendations, although the PCCR’s report went fur-
ther in suggesting specifi c, concrete ways in which various apparatuses 
of the federal government might protect individuals from racial discrimi-
nation. To Secure These Rights was elegantly and persuasively written. It 
achieved Truman’s goals for the PCCR, attracting millions of readers and 
drawing attention to the problem of racial discrimination in a way that not 
even the NAACP’s decades’ worth of advocacy had.30

To Secure These Rights never once mentioned the Tuskegee Airmen, but 
its most substantive recommendation fl owed from their experience. The 
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committee report traced the development of basic constitutional rights as 
various ethnic and racial minority groups had exercised them over time in 
the United States, but it paid special attention to the experience of African 
Americans, and it portrayed World War II as a turning point. The report 
objected in especially strenuous language to discriminatory treatment 
toward black war veterans, concluded that discrimination within the mili-
tary was unacceptable, and recommended vigorous action on the part of 
the federal government to remedy the wrong. “[A]ny discrimination which, 
while imposing an obligation, prevents members of minority groups from 
rendering full military service in defense of their country is for them a 
peculiarly humiliating badge of inferiority,” the committee wrote. “The 
nation also suffers a loss of manpower and is unable to marshal maximum 
strength at a moment when such strength is most needed.”31

The PCCR found most compelling the evidence that segregation of the 
armed forces provided rhetorical ammunition to the nation’s enemies on 
the one hand and caused costly ineffi ciencies on the other. “The injustice 
of calling men to fi ght for freedom while subjecting them to humiliating 
discrimination within the fi ghting forces is at once apparent,” the PCCR 
asserted in one of its most strongly worded conclusions. “Furthermore, by 
preventing entire groups from making their maximum contribution to the 
national defense, we weaken our defense to that extent and impose heavier 
burdens on the remainder of the population.” To Secure These Rights recom-
mended that Congress immediately use powers that the Constitution had 
clearly granted to the legislative branch “to end immediately all discrimi-
nation and segregation based on race, color, creed, or national origin, in 
the organization and activities of all branches of the Armed Services.” In 
addition, the committee recommended a concerted effort to recruit, assign, 
and train troops without regard to race, and to prevent the segregation of 
military men traveling in uniform within the United States. (This last point 
should have been moot; the U.S. Supreme Court had already ruled in the 
1947 Morgan v. Commonwealth of Virginia decision that racial segregation 
of passengers in interstate travel was unconstitutional. But in a pattern that 
would repeat itself several times over through the next two decades, federal 
lassitude left it up to African American activists to see to it that the decision 
was implemented.)32

Somewhere in the White House a closet is full to overfl owing with 
reports from presidential commissions that presidents have chosen to 
ignore. To Secure These Rights would not be one of those reports. The 
committee supported its recommendations with readings of the Con-
stitution that sanctioned Congressional action on desegregation. But 
Truman and the commissioners themselves knew full well that South-
ern Democrats with seniority in the House and Senate would not allow 
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such legislation to proceed, so the recommendations gave Truman the 
political cover he needed to act decisively if he chose to do so. Truman’s 
prospects for re-election in 1948 made the action more likely: his advis-
ers estimated that black voters could provide the balance of power in 
New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Ohio, Michigan, and Illinois, and 
they encouraged Truman to make “a fresh commitment to the Negro 
cause.” He delivered an unprecedented special message to Congress in 
February 1948 calling for the enactment of several of the PCCR’s recom-
mendations. These included the creation of a permanent Commission 
on Civil Rights and a Civil Rights Division in the Department of Justice, 
stronger federal civil rights and voting rights statutes, protection against 
lynching, and other reforms. The message concluded with a bombshell: 
Truman informed the Congress that he was directing the Secretary of 
Defense to eliminate “the remaining instances of discrimination in the 
armed services . . . as rapidly as possible.”33

That order was dramatic, but three months later the Department of 
Defense was still unable to put forth a comprehensive desegregation 
plan. A. Philip Randolph again threatened to lead a march of tens of 
thousands of black Americans through the streets of Washington and 
pledged that he would personally counsel blacks to avoid conscription 
into the Jim Crow military by any means necessary. The Air Force and 
Navy submitted plans to desegregate, but the Army dragged its feet 
through the spring. Truman fi nally broke the logjam in July with the 
release of Executive Order 9981, which announced:

It is hereby declared to be the policy of the President that there shall 
be equality of treatment and opportunity for all persons in the armed 
services without regard to race, color, or religion or national origin. This 
policy shall be put into effect as rapidly as possible, having due regard to 
the time required to effectuate any necessary changes without impairing 
effi ciency or morale.

Army Chief of Staff Gen. Omar Bradley bucked the order, using language 
that already sounded antique. Bradley pronounced, “The Army is not out 
to make any social reforms. The Army will put men of different races in 
different companies. It will change that policy when the Nation as a whole 
changes it.” Truman reiterated, however, that though the order called for 
gradual desegregation of the armed forces, the armed forces would deseg-
regate. He forced Bradley to issue a public apology.34

Truman’s request for stronger civil rights legislation was dead on arrival 
on Capitol Hill, but his actions had at least one desired effect. Blacks and 
white liberals lined up in large enough numbers behind the president in 
the November election to assure his re-election. Two of every three black 
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votes in the election went to Truman, and they were decisive in California, 
Ohio, and Illinois. Had Dewey carried any two of those states, he would 
have won the election.

Even aside from electoral politics, it would be hard to exaggerate the 
impact of Executive Order 9981, for exactly the reasons Bradley voiced. By  
desegregating the armed forces Truman did push the executive branch of 
the federal government ahead of public opinion. By changing Army policy 
he did change national policy. And once Truman had placed the agents of 
federal power on the side of desegregation and forced them to offer black 
Americans fully equal opportunities, how could there possibly be any going 
back? Dorothy Height, longtime chairwoman of the National Council of 
Negro Women, considered the “integration of the armed services . . . the 
most signifi cant institutional advance for the civil rights of black Ameri-
cans since President Lincoln issued the Emancipation Proclamation.”35

The Air Force fi nalized its decision to desegregate in the period between 
the creation of the PCCR and the issuance of Executive Order 9981. It 
was the swiftest of the armed forces to carry out its plans; the Air Force 
made substantial progress toward real integration within ten months of 
Truman’s order, whereas it took the Army and Navy another two years to 
begin even token efforts at integration. Gen. Edwards justifi ed his actions 
matter-of-factly: “The Commander-in-Chief said that this should be done 
and so we did it.” Symington recalled that Truman had demanded of the 
Air Force, “I want concrete results—that’s what I’m after—not publicity on 
it. I want the job done.”36

A major hurdle remained, however. Parrish reported in 1947 that he 
had “yet to encounter the white Army offi cer who has found time ever to 
examine Myrdal’s classic summary, or any dependable source of funda-
mental information” on the subject of race relations or the lives of African 
Americans. Nonetheless, he had “spent hundreds of hours listening to pre-
sentations of limited knowledge and experience that passed for wisdom [on 
the subject]” over drinks in offi cers’ clubs. The order came down from the 
Pentagon that black Americans in the Air Force would be treated fairly, as 
individuals, but it would take years to change this crucial aspect of institu-
tional culture among the overwhelmingly white offi cer corps.37

The Air Force planned to initiate integration by dispersing the offi cer 
corps at Lockbourne; so, as it did in every other American institution, 
the work of desegregating the Air Force fell hardest on blacks. By 1948 
 three-fourths of all the black offi cers in the Air Force and every single one 
of the active pilots in the Tactical Air Command were stationed at Lock-
bourne. Many of the offi cers liked it that way, and not all of them went 
along willingly with the Air Force’s plan. Charles Dryden, the pilot who 
described life in the all-black Air Force at Lockbourne as “Camelot,” led an 
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effort among junior offi cers on the base in early 1949 to challenge the Air 
Force’s plans.38

Those plans had not yet been released to the public. Dryden and his fel-
low challengers had not actually seen the plans’ details, so they were left to 
imagine the worst. It is understandable that they would do so. Having served 
under Col. Selway and Gen. Hunter during the war, they could be forgiven 
for assuming that their superiors in the Air Force did not have their best 
interests at heart. The group lodged a complaint with the NAACP, which 
sent their former comrade Robert L. Carter to Lockbourne to investigate 
their concerns. Carter learned that the group’s “general sentiment seems 
to be in favor of integration. . . . Generally the men feel that if integration 
occurs, it will be the best thing for all concerned.” At the same time, “There 
are doubts, of course, of being given ample opportunity to advance and 
prove their profi ciency if they are removed from Lockbourne Air Base. . . . 
[T]hey present the general cry of professional persons in a segregated unit 
who believe their careers are safest under a segregated set up.”39

Dryden’s group assumed that under the Air Force’s plans the majority 
of the offi cers who held command responsibilities at Lockbourne would 
be transferred out to dead-end assignments commanding black labor 
battalions at other bases, and that others would be transferred into light-
duty positions that prevented them from commanding whites. As an 
alternative fi rst step they suggested that the Air Force should leave the 
332nd in place at an expanded Lockbourne. The Air Force could integrate 
the base by keeping the existing leadership structure intact and trans-
ferring whites in to serve in junior roles. The Air Force had heretofore 
resisted any arrangements under which whites had to follow the orders 
of black offi cers; this scenario offered a chance for the Air Force to prove 
that it was serious about offering black offi cers real opportunities in the 
new service.40

For once, however, Dryden and his group underestimated the leader-
ship of the Air Force. On paper, the service’s integration plans did offer a 
fair shot to black offi cers and enlisted men to rise as high as their talents 
could take them, and the service’s leadership seemed determined to make 
the plans a reality. If the Air Force leadership could convince the service’s 
middle managers that white offi cers who did not offer fully equal oppor-
tunity to blacks would not advance their careers—if they could change 
the institutional culture Parrish found so tedious—the plans could work. 
The NAACP elected to take the service at its word and declined to pursue 
Dryden’s grievance. The 332nd would be disbanded and the Tuskegee Air-
men who remained in the service dispersed to other units.

Of the 192 offi cers of the 332nd at Lockbourne in 1949, 158 were reas-
signed in their already established occupational specialties to previously 
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all-white units. Twenty-four were assigned for additional training before 
transferring to other units, and ten were separated from the service as part 
of a reduction in force. Leaving the 332nd and spreading out to the four 
winds was a bittersweet experience for the offi cers of the all-black unit. 
Pilot Lewis Lynch was of two minds about the breakup. He recalled, “In 
the segregated Air Force you knew everybody. You didn’t have anything to 
prove in terms of could you fl y or couldn’t you fl y. The people around you 
knew. You had been marked, for good or for bad. You had a reputation.” 
He was quick to mention a down side to the arrangement, however: “The 
bad part about the segregated Air Force was that if you’re on somebody’s 
shit list, you’re on their list forever because you didn’t have any chance to 
convince him otherwise.” He continued, “But the worst thing was there 
was no place to go. The rank structure was fi xed. We had a colonel, who 
was the wing commander, Col. Davis. There was no place for those guys 
who were aspiring to go further. The squadron commanders were fi xed. 
The fl ight commanders weren’t going anyplace, so you were stuck. You’re 
not going to move.”41

After the desegregation decision came down, “I was glad,” Dryden later 
claimed, “that we could be assigned to other units and be promoted accord-
ing to—to quote Dr. King—the ‘content of our character and not the color 
of our skin.’ ” But Dryden and the other men of the 332nd, many of whom 
had been together now for seven years, gave up a lot to desegregate the 
service. “We had gotten to the point where in the air, we knew just how to 
fl y with each other. You knew what the other guy was going to do and what 
you could depend on him to do, and we had had seven years experience 
with our own mechanics and instrument people and parachute riggers and 
all the rest. We had total confi dence in all segments of the operation.” Now 
the pilots would be transferring into units where each was the only black or 
maybe one of a pair. Members of the group that “had become like family” 
would now be disconnected and redistributed to bases literally around the 
globe.42

Harry T. Stewart, a combat pilot who left the Air Force just before the 
332nd disbanded, was candid in his assessment of integration’s cost. “I’m 
not too sure how well I would have fared in a so-called integrated Air Force, 
because I had the support while I was in Tuskegee,” Ramitelli, and Lock-
bourne, he said. “I was in a group, and we gave each other support. When 
they integrated, a lot of people went out on their own, and they no longer 
had that kind of support there. It must have been a struggle and a lonely 
existence for a lot of them.”43

What Stewart called the 332nd’s “last hurrah” came in May 1949, just 
before the diaspora commenced. The Air Force held its inaugural ten-day 
“William Tell” gunnery meet at Nellis Air Force Base in Nevada. Stewart, 



INTEGRATING THE AIR FORCE 161

Alva N. Temple, and James H. Harvey represented the 332nd (along with 
an alternate, Halbert L. Alexander) and competed in dive-bombing, skip-
bombing, strafi ng, and aerial target shooting competitions against pilots 
from all-white fi ghter groups. When the fi nal scores were tallied, Alva Tem-
ple had placed second overall and the 332nd won the team competition. 
“They didn’t expect us to win, naturally, but we did win. Won by a large 
margin,” Harvey remembered. “They thought they were better than us, and 
we were just as—well, I say we were better. That’s all I ever say: We’re bet-
ter. Not just as good; we’re better. And we proved we were better.”44

For whatever reason, however, the Air Force found it diffi cult to acknowl-
edge the 332nd’s victory. “The Air Force Association puts out an almanac 
once a year,” Harvey noted. “One of the items in the almanac is the win-
ners of the gunnery meets, from 1949 through the present day. For 1949, 
each year the almanac was published, it would say, ‘Unknown.’ ” In 1993, 
Col. William Campbell, the president of Tuskegee Airmen Inc. (TAI), an 
alumni group, “got all the data together, presented it to the Air Force, and 
as of April of 1995 the almanac shows the 332nd as the winners of the 1949 
weapons meet. Now, forty-some years, that’s a long time. They knew who 
won. They just didn’t want to recognize us.”45

Harvey cherished the victory in part because it had truly been a team 
effort. The 332nd fl ew outdated P-47s against the other teams’ P-51 Mus-
tangs and F-82s. “We took four aircraft, [but] we fl ew the same three air-
craft for two weeks,” he said. “That’s how good our maintenance [crew] 
was. They were excellent.” Alva Temple explained that each group’s entire 
operations team was tested, “in that if an airplane didn’t make that mis-
sion for any reason, if the guns weren’t operating properly, that counted 
against you” in the competition. “If the engines weren’t right and you had 
to come in [for repairs], that was counted against you. In other words, it was 
an overall test of the capability of a unit.” Harry Stewart recalled, “We only 
fl ew in the competition for, at the very most, an hour and a half a day. The 
rest of the time these planes were being kept in fi ne tune by the crew chiefs 
and the maintenance people with our group, and they worked all through 
the night and part of the day in keeping those planes in tip-top shape. And 
we were so proud because we never had a malfunction all the time we were 
out there, and we think this contributed so much to our victories there. 
We owe our victories to those enlisted men.” When the men of the main-
tenance cadre went out to celebrate the victory, they were denied entry to a 
Las Vegas casino that served whites only.46

The group’s fi nal breakup came two months later. Harvey and Lt. Edward 
P. Drummond of the 332nd were assigned to the 35th Fighter Wing at 
 Misawa Air Base in Japan. “We met with the wing commander when we got 
there,” Harvey remembered, and then described the kind of experience that 
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the men of the 332nd had at bases all over the world. “We had a little chit-
chat, and then the commander”—who had apparently never spent much 
time around black Americans—“said, ‘What do you want us to call you?’ It’s 
a military outfi t! ‘What do you want us to call you?!’ I said, ‘Well, I’m a fi rst 
lieutenant. Eddie Drummond is a second lieutenant. How about ‘Lt. Harvey’ 
and ‘Lt. Drummond?’ He said, ‘OK.’ He realized he had screwed up.”47

Conditions throughout the Air Force certainly did not change overnight, 
but the service made tremendous strides by the time Truman reinstituted 
the draft for the Korean War in 1950. Percy Sutton volunteered to return 
to service in 1950. He considered the Korean War-era Air Force “dramati-
cally different” from the one he had served in World War II. Sutton was 
named chief legal offi cer at the newly integrated Andrews Air Force Base 
in Maryland, a position that required real leadership as it placed him in a 
command position over black and white offi cers and servicemen; a black 
dental offi cer and a black medical offi cer joined him at Andrews.48

Some men who remained in the Air Force reported that conditions 
changed gradually enough after the war that Truman’s executive order made 
little substantive difference in their day-to-day lives when it came down. 
William Gray, a bombardier-navigator of the 477th who had mustered out 
after the war but then re-enlisted in 1947 as a communications specialist, 
remembered that blacks and whites worked alongside one another in so 
many capacities at Randolph Field in Texas that his squadron’s softball 
and bowling teams integrated after the presidential order came down, but 
beyond that little else changed. Gray earned low-level responsibilities that 
put him in charge of whites for the fi rst time after Truman’s order, but he 
recalled that he “[n]ever had any problem with attitudes. Those that didn’t 
like me before still didn’t like me, and those that liked me before still liked 
me.”49 Lucius Theus, a personnel administrator who served directly under 
Davis at Lockbourne, was already so used to having to achieve perfection in 
everything he did that when he transferred into a previously all-white unit 
“the transition was not really diffi cult at all.” His new commander could 
hardly expect more of him than Davis had, Theus thought.50

Others found that little changed with Truman’s order, but for different 
reasons. Theopolis W. (“Ted”) Johnson, a pilot with the 477th, was recalled 
to service for the Korean War. “What I found,” he said, “is that people 
paid more lip service to the instructions from the White House and to the 
instructions from Air Force headquarters than they did to actually trying to 
make it go. I got the feeling that I was always on trial, that I was always on 
center stage.” Johnson continued,

It was rough, because I was one of two black offi cers in a fi ghter wing, 
which had a complement of maybe three thousand individuals and 
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maybe 150 offi cers altogether. I remember I considered myself always 
being tested to see what I could do or to see what I would do in response 
to a certain situation. So from my view, I was given the dirtiest jobs. I was 
given the jobs that nobody else would tackle.

It was a constant test to see if I would break. For me, it was a constant 
test to prove to them that I would not. I don’t know if they enjoyed it, but 
I enjoyed it. I had a ball, proving that I could do what I said I could do. I 
enjoyed that.

Socially—there were times when, at the club, at a function, they would 
make comments. Sometimes I ignored them. Sometimes I didn’t. Fre-
quently there was the “n” word and the “m-f ” word and the “m-f-n” word 
and so forth and so on. It depends upon how I felt at the time. Most 
of the time I simply ignored it. But occasionally I would rear up and 
say [gritting teeth and speaking very deliberately], “Please don’t use that 
term where I can hear it.” But that seemed to make things worse.51

James Warren, one of the 101 men arrested at Freeman, left the Air 
Forces in 1945, graduated from the University of Illinois and worked 
for an architectural fi rm in Chicago. He was recalled to service for the 
Korean War and assigned to Mather Field in California. His trip from 
Chicago to the West Coast provided unwelcome memories of the last 
war. Hotels in New Mexico refused to serve him, and he and his wife 
“damn near froze [sleeping] in the car.” The couple attempted to enter 
a Las Vegas casino, but “a guy with the biggest gun I’d ever seen” inter-
cepted them and warned, “No, your people have a place over on the west 
side.”52

When Warren was transferred to Langley Air Force Base in southeast-
ern Virginia for combat crew training, he tried to use the base swimming 
pool but was informed, “The colonel wishes you wouldn’t use the pool.” 
 Warren wearily asked to see the base commander, who told him, “Well, 
you know, we’re not quite set up down here for integration.” “It’s not 
a matter whether you’re set up or not,” Warren, a lieutenant, said he 
informed his superior offi cer. “And by the way, I have more experience 
in this than you do. I was arrested in World War II protesting just the 
type of thing that you’re trying to do. Does that give you an indication of 
what’s going to happen?” Warren received his pool privileges. “I wasn’t a 
very enthusiastic swimmer” until then, he remembered, but he became 
one, and he brought guests from nearby Hampton Institute to the pool 
every chance he got. He went on to fl y fi fty combat missions as a naviga-
tor in Korea and earned the Distinguished Flying Cross.53

Warren elected to make a career of the Air Force. He faced few instances 
of discrimination in the post-integration service that were as blatant as those 
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he had endured under Selway’s command. But there were cases that made 
him suspicious: the promotion paperwork that always seemed to get lost or 
misfi led; the many superior offi cers who made sure he remembered that he 
was the only black offi cer under their respective commands; the constant 
questioning of his qualifi cations. In the late 1960s, when he transferred 
to Travis Air Force Base in California and put down earnest money on a 
house, the seller’s commanding offi cer tried to force him to back out of the 
sale because the neighbors—fellow offi cers at Travis—did not want a black 
in their midst. But Warren remained in the service long enough to witness 
the Air Force’s slow evolution into something like a meritocracy.54

The private sector was slow to catch up to the Air Force. The coalition of 
black newspapers, historically black colleges, and civil rights organizations 
that pushed for anti-segregation and anti-discrimination reforms in the 
AAC before the war did so in part because its members expected aviation 
would be a red-hot fi eld after the war. The assumption was correct. Unfor-
tunately, however, the momentum of wartime change did not carry over 
into peacetime, and blacks were not permitted to fi ll the new jobs created 
in the industry’s postwar expansion. Black Americans were largely denied 
the chance to make careers for themselves in aviation.

Not for lack of trying. As he had before the war, Walter White of the 
NAACP initiated a broad letter-writing campaign intended to win airline 
jobs for blacks who had been trained at Tuskegee. “During the past two 
years I have had the opportunity of visiting battlefronts in both the Euro-
pean and Pacifi c Theatres of War as a war correspondent,” he wrote to the 
presidents of the major airline companies late in 1945. “One of the ques-
tions most frequently and anxiously asked me by Negro fl iers and mem-
bers of ground crews was whether an opportunity to use their training and 
experience would be given them by commercial airlines after the war. It 
will be a source of great encouragement to these men to know that such 
opportunities will be afforded.” Pilots and service crew members of the 
332nd and 477th assured White that they wanted to put their training to 
use as civilians. “Through various sources I have heard that the NAACP is 
fi ghting to place Negro pilots on Commercial Airlines,” Lloyd S. Hathcock 
wrote White, hoping the organization could help him secure a job. “I have 
been overseas with the 332nd Fighter Group as a pilot, and I am very inter-
ested in commercial fl ying.”55

The response from Linus C. Glotzbach, president of Northwest Airlines, 
was representative of the airlines’ reaction to White’s efforts: “It is our 
policy to employ our personnel without regard to race, creed or color. . . . 
We are working on an extensive training program for all our personnel, 
but it is not designed to give any special consideration to any particular 
group.”56 But Northwest would not hire a Tuskegee-trained pilot after the 
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war.  Neither did Delta, American, United, Trans World, or any of the other 
major passenger carriers. Charles “Buster” Hall, winner of the Distin-
guished Flying Cross and the fi rst black American to shoot down an enemy 
plane in combat, applied for jobs with all of them after the war, but the only 
work he could fi nd was managing a restaurant. In fact, of all the pilots affi li-
ated with the Tuskegee program, only James O. Plinton Jr., a Moton Field 
fl ight instructor, found employment with a major airline in the immediate 
postwar years, and he worked not as a pilot but an administrator, beginning 
with Trans World Airlines in 1957 and rising fi nally to the position of vice 
president for marketing of Eastern Airlines. The Red Tails who piloted so 
many white bomber crew members to safety never had the chance to put 
those skills to work in the civilian world.57

Tuskegee Airmen offi cers who made a career of the Air Force tended to 
fare better. Benjamin O. Davis Jr. became the Air Force’s fi rst black general 
offi cer in 1954. He held several high-profi le commands at bases through-
out the world through the Cold War and Korean and Vietnam confl icts, and 
ultimately retired with a third star. Davis had a second career as the city of 
Cleveland’s director of public safety and then as an assistant secretary in the 
Carter-era U.S. Department of Transportation (following in the footsteps of 
William T. Coleman, an offi cer in the 477th and Gerald Ford’s secretary of 
transportation), where he was responsible for anti-terrorist efforts and civil 
aviation security. President Bill Clinton awarded Davis a fourth star, mak-
ing him the nation’s second black full general, in 1998.

Charles Dryden excelled in the new Air Force, although he always wor-
ried that his display of frustration at Walterboro would come back to haunt 
him. It never did. “Every time there was a reduction in force, I just knew, 
‘Well, I’m gone; they’re going to get me,’ ” he said. “But I survived them 
all and fi nally retired a lieutenant colonel, which people are amazed at and 
so am I.” Charles McGee, the pilot who described his missions escorting 
bombers over the Romanian oil fi elds, remained an active combat pilot in 
the Air Force through the Korean and Vietnam wars, racking up more than 
six thousand fl ight hours. He “got along fi ne on base” through a series 
of stateside and overseas commands, he said, but found after-hours base 
facilities slower to desegregate and found housing his family a constant 
struggle into the 1960s. He retired in 1972 as the commanding offi cer of 
Richards-Gebaur Air Base outside Kansas City.58

Daniel (“Chappie”) James Jr., one of the most gifted graduates of the 
Tuskegee Institute CPT program, who had fi rst instructed pilots at Moton 
Field and then talked his way into the TAFS program, graduated into the 
477th and rose steadily through the ranks after the war. A large man at 
6 feet 4 inches tall and well more than 200 pounds (“I don’t climb into 
an airplane, I strap it on,” he was supposedly fond of saying), James was 
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literally a poor fi t for the 332nd. Had the Air Force not been forced to cre-
ate the 477th and generate openings for pilots of James’s stature, it would 
have been denied the service of a man who became of its most effective 
Cold War-era leaders. The bomber group allowed James to remain in the 
service until the introduction of the postwar jet fi ghter aircraft that were 
large enough to accommodate his size; he was one of the most decorated 
fi ghter pilots of the Korean and Vietnam wars.59

James became a general offi cer and after a series of successful state-
side and overseas commands became the fi rst African American awarded a 
fourth star. He ascended to the command of North American Air Defense 
(NORAD), making him responsible for all strategic aerospace defense 
forces for the United States and Canada. A gifted public speaker, James 
delivered countless addresses extolling the virtues of the United States 
and calling on all Americans—black Americans especially—to be more 
vocally and proudly patriotic. In the ears of black critics of the Vietnam 
War, James’s preaching sounded all too much like blind apologias for the 
American mistake in Southeast Asia. James’s controversial and sometimes 
bombastic public pronouncements may have defl ected attention from his 
gifts as an administrator, but they also provided cover for other blacks in 
the military. With Chappie James manning the public relations hustings, 
other blacks did not have to give as much voice to their own patriotism.60

The Air Force facility that made those careers possible fared less well. 
Training bases like TAAF closed by the dozens throughout the country as 
the Army Air Forces demobilized at war’s end. TAAF remained open into 
1946, training diminishing numbers of aviation cadets and providing a 
temporary home base for black offi cers who wanted to make a career of 
the service. Sheer numbers—the same problem that had bedeviled TAAF 
administrators from the outset—made it increasingly diffi cult to operate 
the base. Returning combat veterans found fl ying time diffi cult to come 
by at the base, and they chafed in their make-work assignments. “I was the 
assistant-assistant-assistant base message center offi cer, which is just a job, 
just someplace to go when you’re not fl ying,” recalled Lewis Lynch, one of 
the returned veterans of the 332nd. “I was just there, wasting time.”61

Frederick D. Patterson sought to save TAAF by lobbying the Air Force 
to keep the base open as a training school and headquarters for all-black 
tactical units. But an outcry from the black community, particularly in the 
form of Pittsburgh Courier editorials and NAACP press releases, was so 
loud and withering that it forced Patterson to withdraw a formal appeal he 
made to Gen. Marshall to spare the base. The Norfolk Journal and Guide, 
among other black newspapers, repeated Hastie’s earlier accusation, accus-
ing Patterson of placing Tuskegee Institute’s interests above those of black 
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Americans. Black elites still regarded TAAF not as a showpiece of black 
achievement but an embarrassing Jim Crow relic.62

Local whites shed few tears at TAAF’s disappearing act. The base histo-
rian reported at the end of the war that local “white people are willing . . .  
that the station remain in its present location provided it is always under 
command of a white offi cer and [has] white offi cers in positions of control.” 
A few local white merchants, he wrote, “realize that the fi eld is a great 
source of revenue, but even these would prefer that the colored personnel 
send their money to town and not come with it.” The Army Air Forces 
formally deactivated TAAF in April 1946. Thereafter black cadets quietly 
entered fl ight training at Randolph Air Force Base in San Antonio.63

Along with dozens of fellow offi cers, Lewis Lynch transferred from 
TAAF to Lockbourne, in his hometown of Columbus. He was fl ying at 
Lockbourne when the Air Force desegregated. When the 332nd disbanded, 
he spent several years at Williams Air Force Base in Arizona as an instruc-
tor, imparting the knowledge he had fi rst gleaned years before from Lewis 
Jackson at Moton Field to fl ight cadets from NATO nations. “When they 
integrated the Air Force,” Lynch said, “I found that we had to prove all 
over again that we could fl y. I was surprised when I got to Williams how 
few people knew that there were black pilots in the Air Force. Hardly any-
one knew anything. The 332nd itself was the best-kept secret in the Air 
Force. Nobody knew that we existed except those few bombers that we had 
escorted.” When he was forcibly retired from fl ying in 1964 because of 
recurring migraines, Lynch went straight to work for the Air Force as a 
civilian contracting offi cer. By then the service’s colorblind ethic had begun 
to take hold, making his civilian career possible.64

It is diffi cult to make broad generalizations about the postwar careers of the 
Tuskegee Airmen and impossible to list all of their later  accomplishments, 
but by and large they made disproportionately large contributions in civil-
ian life. A few of them continued their trajectory as civil rights crusaders. 
Robert L. Carter, the legal offi cer who was drummed out of the Air Forces, 
and William T. Coleman joined the NAACP’s Legal Defense and Educa-
tion Fund and helped litigate the landmark Brown v. Board of Education, 
among many other cases. Percy Sutton risked his life as a Freedom Rider in 
1961 and as an attorney went on to represent scores of civil rights activists 
who found themselves in southern jails. Sutton was an active leader in the 
Manhattan NAACP for several years and served as the borough’s elected 
president from 1965 to 1977. Along the way he made millions in the broad-
casting industry. Coleman Young, the labor organizer who had also been at 
the center of the 477th’s protests, became mayor of Detroit and one of the 
most powerful black elected offi cials in the United States in the 1970s.65
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Roscoe Brown returned home and entered graduate school at New York 
University almost immediately, using GI Bill benefi ts to earn a PhD in 
 education. He remained active in the NAACP and had a long and distin-
guished career as an administrator at the City University of New York 
(CUNY). Many other Tuskegee Airmen, including John B. Turner, the 
longtime dean of the School of Social Work at Case Western Reserve Uni-
versity, excelled in academe. Turner retired as Kenan Professor of social 
work at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, where the school 
of social work’s building is now named for him. A few, like the black ace 
Lee Archer, made millions in the corporate world. Hundreds of others had 
long careers in government service at one level or another.66

None of which is to say that racism disappeared after the Tuskegee Air-
men helped desegregate the military. Countless enlisted men had experi-
ences like those of mechanic William Surcey, whose work had earned him a 
Bronze Star overseas. Surcey asked for a discharge as soon as the Germans 
surrendered; he wanted to return to the college studies he had interrupted 
in the spring of 1941. Surcey returned home in 1945 and made his way to a 
base in Atlanta. “I was feeling pretty good about being discharged,” he said. 
“I went into the offi ce, and here’s a lieutenant colonel. So he said to me, 
‘Well, you all can go home and pick cotton now.’ So I looked at him. I said, 
‘I don’t understand you, sir.’ He said it again. I said, ‘I don’t understand 
you, sir.’ He didn’t say anything else.”67

TAAF’s leader had an interesting postwar career. Noel Parrish’s Air 
Command and Staff School thesis attracted so much attention that he was 
chosen for the second class of the Air War College, a program for colonels 
thought to be on the fast track to the general ranks. Parrish transferred to 
Air Force headquarters at the Pentagon in 1948, made general in 1954, 
and transferred again into a highly visible NATO posting in Europe. After 
returning to the Pentagon, he took on public relations responsibilities and 
found himself in the middle of Air Force debates regarding the use of 
nuclear weapons. This position, he said, mainly consisted of “trying to play 
down the notion that we were just enthusiastically preparing to blow up the 
planet because that seemed to be the easiest way to fi ght a war.”68

Parrish never lost the intellectual curiosity that had attracted him to pilot 
instruction in the fi rst place. Parrish retired from the Air Force in 1964 
and returned to Rice University for graduate study in history. He wrote a 
master’s thesis and PhD dissertation on aspects of U.S. atomic weaponry 
policy and taught military history for several years at Trinity University in 
San Antonio, not far from Randolph Field. He died in 1987.69

True integration did not develop in the Air Force as quickly as policy 
makers in 1948 might have hoped. Fighting forces and service groups were 
desegregated during the Korea confl ict, and on-base living and  recreational 
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facilities had already been integrated, at least on paper. But blacks con-
tinued to fi nd opportunities limited in the Air Force. As late as 1954, the 
year of the Brown decision, African Americans made up only 7.6 percent 
of the entire enlisted force although they comprised 10 percent of the 
nation’s total population. The number of blacks in the Air Force did not 
correspond with that of blacks in the total population until 1971, and in that 
year black offi cers in the Air Force made up only 1.8 percent of the total 
offi cer corps—an increase from 1941 levels, but not a signifi cant enough 
change. Throughout the period, moreover, black airmen complained that 
the Air Force as an institution did not do enough to combat off-base racial 
discrimination.70

Much of the integrationist momentum produced in the Truman admin-
istration was wasted. The Air Force was slow to produce proactive policies 
that showed an appreciation for the intensity of blacks’ frustrations in the 
service. The service treaded water through the Eisenhower years, but policy 
makers in the Kennedy and Johnson administrations did initiate equal-
opportunity programs that pushed the service closer to the goal of fully 
equal treatment and outcome.71

An accumulation of petty grievances over job assignments, base hous-
ing, and other issues exploded into a full-blown race riot at Travis Air Force 
Base in California in 1971, and white and black enlisted men and noncom-
missioned offi cers battled for four days. The crisis provided an alarm bell 
to which the service responded with a major expansion of equal opportu-
nity programs, training programs in cross-cultural communication, and 
a review of racial disparities in the administration of military justice. The 
Defense Department turned to Lucius Theus, the Tuskegee Airman who 
had cut his teeth in personnel administration under Benjamin O. Davis Jr. 
and was now a brigadier general, to administer the programs. They were 
designed, he said, to modify behavior rather than attitudes. If a racial sen-
sitivity course could change a given white offi cer or enlisted man’s feel-
ings about blacks, all the better. But if the courses only convinced whites 
that their careers would suffer if they behaved in a racially discriminatory 
manner, that was good enough for the armed services. Indeed, it was this 
change in institutional culture that ultimately solidifi ed the progress within 
the Air Force that had been set in motion by the Tuskegee Airmen a gen-
eration earlier.72

The successful efforts on the part of the civil rights coalition that led to 
the creation of the Tuskegee program provided a useful model that activists 
would replicate in the coming years. The NAACP’s assault on Jim Crow 
through the federal courts proceeded in the years immediately after the 
war’s end and gave the growing movement its most important victories 
of the period. Other institutions would continue to pressure the federal 
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 government to protect black citizens’ constitutional privileges and make 
more opportunities available.

Massive direct action, a new—and arguably the most consequen-
tial—tactic of the postwar civil rights movement, emerged from TAAF’s 
environs a decade after the war ended. Black residents of Montgomery 
continued to resent the kind of treatment Milton Henry had experienced 
in 1943 on a municipal bus. In December 1955 they organized to protest 
the indignities that the city’s segregation laws had forced them to bear 
and refused to endure them any longer. The newly formed Montgomery 
Improvement Association orchestrated a direct-action bus boycott over 
the next thirteen months that launched the public career of Rev. Martin 
Luther King Jr. and resulted in a U.S. Supreme Court decision striking 
down Montgomery’s segregation statute. King, his comrades in the newly 
created Southern Christian Leadership Conference, and a new genera-
tion of African American college students organizing under the banners 
of the Congress of Racial Equality and the Student Nonviolent Coordi-
nating Committee employed the tactics of massive nonviolent resistance 
in Alabama and beyond to great effect over the coming years.73

The experience of the Tuskegee Airmen did not lead directly to these 
movements, and the Airmen themselves did not participate in all, or even 
most, of them. Theirs was a conservative revolution when compared with 
those that came later. But by forcing an instrument of national power 
to desegregate, by making the federal government take the side of those 
fi ghting for racial integration and full opportunity, black Americans in the 
World War II era handed over to the modern civil rights movement the one 
lever of power without which it could not have succeeded.
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Assessing the training program while it was still in exis-
tence at TAAF, Col. Noel Parrish observed, “The purpose of the fi eld made 
it a focal point for one of the major social and governmental problems of 
the nation. There existed no precedent, no set of customs, no established 
procedures to guide military men in their efforts to build a functioning 
military organization in the midst of endless theorizing and uninformed 
discussion concerning racial characteristics and social proprieties.” That 
such an unusual program could succeed disproved the War Department’s 
1941 statement of what was at the time conventional wisdom, “The Army is 
not a sociological laboratory.” Gen. Marshall and others at the War Depart-
ment thought the military could not and should not be expected to solve 
“a social problem that has perplexed the American people throughout the 
history of this nation.” The AAF’s “experiment” at Tuskegee proved them 
wrong.1

“Negro personnel [at TAAF] have proved their value and capacity far 
beyond the expectations of skeptics, and white personnel of varied back-
grounds have developed a good-humored adaptability and an easy-going 
effectiveness which is sometimes bewildering to visitors,” Parrish wrote in 
1944. It was possible for the AAF to operate an integrated program and for 
the program to succeed by the AAF’s standards. “Emphasis upon results 
rather than on methodology, on patient insistence rather than impressive 
ultimatums, on optimistic effort rather than fretful complaining about 
minor setbacks have become a tradition at Tuskegee. By such means have 
the objectives set forth in that direction been attained,” Parrish concluded.2

The program succeeded for the reasons Parrish outlined and a few oth-
ers. After the program was created, and especially after Parrish took com-
mand of TAAF, it was the quiet and insistent “emphasis on results” that he 
and Benjamin O. Davis Jr. championed that allowed the Airmen to prove 
to the AAF that they belonged. Military institutions under civilian control 
are social laboratories, and successful ones must be fundamentally meri-
tocratic. Individuals and groups who can prove themselves able to help the 
military fi ght more effi ciently and cost-effectively should eventually win 
acceptance and rise on that basis. It took pressure from outside forces to 

Epilogue
“Let’s Make It a Holy Crusade 
All the Way Around”
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challenge the racial attitudes of Air Corps leaders before 1941. Wartime 
conditions combined with continued outside pressure to assure that black 
Americans were given the chance to prove themselves, and they took full 
advantage of the opportunity. To the extent that the postwar Air Force was 
indeed a meritocracy, it became one exactly because the Tuskegee Airmen 
had forced a change in its institutional culture.

It took most Americans quite a while to realize how signifi cant the 
Tuskegee Airmen’s contributions had been. While the black press covered 
events at Tuskegee throughout the program’s existence, the rest of Amer-
ica knew little of the program, during or after the war. It may not quite 
have been, as white bomber crew member Larry Fleischer said, “more 
secret than the atom bomb,” but most Americans would not learn of the 
Tuskegee program until fi fty years after the war ended.3 How historical 
memory of the Tuskegee Airmen developed and reached a wide audience 
is fascinating in its own right.

Home Box Offi ce (HBO) produced a fi ctionalized treatment of the expe-
rience titled The Tuskegee Airmen that fi rst aired in 1995. The project was 
the brainchild of Robert W. Williams, a Tuskegee-trained pilot. His wife, 
Joan, whom he met shortly after he returned home to Southern California 
after the war, remembered him jotting down memories from his Tuskegee 
experience in the early 1950s and saying, “There should be a movie about 
this. That way more people would learn about it.” He wrote the original 
script and worked for decades to get the movie produced. Joan Williams 
lost track of the number of studio executives who rejected the idea over 
the years, telling her husband that people were tired of war movies or fl atly 
denying that blacks had fl own airplanes in the war. But “he never, never 
gave up on it,” she remembered.4

As the fi ftieth anniversary of the milestones of World War II approached 
in the early 1990s, American popular culture rediscovered what was by 
now being remembered as “The Good War.” Hollywood produced a slew 
of television specials and motion pictures on World War II subjects in the 
early and mid-1990s, but Williams noticed that in the productions, “all you 
see is white faces.” It was as if black Americans had not fought at all for 
their country. Fortunately, in the midst of the national rediscovery of the 
war and its meanings, Williams received a call from an HBO executive: 
“We understand you have a story, and we’d like to do it.” When he took the 
call, Williams had just been diagnosed with prostate cancer; his doctors 
gave him fi ve years to live.5

From that point, Williams apparently had an experience that few oth-
ers ever have in Hollywood: He gave up control of his story, but then 
watched as the production team made exactly the movie he wanted made. 
They assembled a magnifi cent cast: Laurence Fishburne played the lead 
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character, a pilot named Hannibal Lee (probably a composite of two actual 
 Airmen, Hannibal Cox and Lee Archer), and was joined by Cuba Gooding 
Jr.,  Malcolm Jamal Warner, André Braugher (as B.O. Davis Jr.), and Mekhi 
Phifer, among others. The fi lm followed a few would-be pilots from their 
hometowns of Harlem; Ottumwa, Iowa; and points in between to Moton 
Field and TAAF (where, in one of the many liberties the fi lm took with 
the historical record, Hannibal Lee piloted an airplane ride for Eleanor 
Roosevelt), and fi nally to North Africa and Italy. It explored the competition 
and camaraderie among the cadets and the relationship between pilot-offi -
cers and enlisted support personnel to great effect. (When Hannibal Lee 
referred to “my own plane,” his crew chief responded, “It’s not yours, lieu-
tenant, it’s mine. I put your name on it so you’d think it’s yours.”) White 
bomber pilots who came to Italy with typical white supremacist ideas fl ew 
alongside the Red Tails and had their attitudes transformed by the black 
pilots’ superior fl ying skills. If the fi lm glossed over, confl ated, or omitted 
important historical facts, it was at least emotionally true.6

The fi lm’s release touched the surviving Tuskegee Airmen and publi-
cized their collective story in a way that they themselves could not. In the 
early 1970s alumni of the experience then living in Detroit had begun orga-
nizing fellow veterans with the explicit goal of preserving and publicizing 
their shared history. They formed a nonprofi t group, Tuskegee Airmen Inc. 
(TAI), with local chapters and regional groups in 1973. It has since grown 
into a national organization with thousands of members, fewer than half of 
whom are original Tuskegee Airmen. Since 1973 TAI has placed hundreds 
of speakers before public schools and civic groups each year to tell a version 
of the Tuskegee Airmen story, sponsored local fl ight programs for minority 
youth, and raised money for college scholarships. (According to the group, 
the TAI Scholarship Foundation has provided young men and women with 
more than $1.2 million in college scholarships since 1978.) But TAI speak-
ers could not hope to reach nearly as many people as a motion picture 
could.7

“I’m glad that it happened when it did,” Joan Williams said. “I think that 
if it had happened at an earlier time, it wouldn’t have had the impact.” The 
civil rights movement of the 1960s had made other groups of Americans 
more aware of the indignities and injustices African Americans had faced 
throughout their history, she believed. The movement made it possible for 
Williams’s story to make a real impact on whites’ understanding of the 
black experience when it fi nally appeared. Because the fi lm premiered at 
a time when more Americans were thinking about the legacies of World 
War II, its infl uence was doubly great. HBO fi rst showed the fi lm in 1995 
at TAI’s 24th annual convention in Atlanta, with a red carpet and all the 
trappings of a major Hollywood premiere. A caterer prepared vernacular 
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dishes from Alabama, North Africa, and Italy for the soiree, where media 
coverage was intense. The Tuskegee Airmen, now in their seventies and 
eighties, became overnight celebrities.8

For better or worse, The Tuskegee Airmen created and solidifi ed a collec-
tive memory of the experience that will never be dislodged. It set in place a 
narrative that veterans of the experience and interested observers alike all 
appropriated as their own. People who have never been to Italy now report 
that white bomber pilots requested escort from the Red Tails as if they had 
been eyewitnesses to the conversations, because they saw a white charac-
ter in The Tuskegee Airmen do just that. Hundreds of the narratives in the 
Tuskegee Airmen Oral History Project recorded between 2000 and 2005 
followed the fi lm’s story arc closely, and the vast majority of the intervie-
wees referenced the fi lm in one way or another; the movie itself became an 
artifact in the history of the Tuskegee Airmen. Of course, it is impossible 
to judge to what degree the fi lm infl uenced these memories, because all of 
the National Park Service’s interviews were recorded after the fi lm made 
its impact. There is no large body of oral histories with Airmen that were 
recorded before the fi lm’s release, so there is little to compare against the 
interviews recorded after 2000. It is entirely possible, too, that the fi lm just 
got the story right—that it accurately captured the collective narrative of the 
experience as remembered by the people who lived through it.

The reporters in attendance for the fi lm’s premiere at the TAI conven-
tion covered another milestone. On the evening of August 12, Assistant 
Secretary of the Air Force Rodney A. Coleman and Air Force Chief of 
Staff Gen. Ronald R. Fogleman announced at the convention’s black-tie 
banquet that the service was removing the letters of reprimand from the 
personnel fi les of men who had been arrested at Freeman Field. They also 
surprised the sitting TAI president, Roger C. Terry, with the news that the 
Air Force was setting aside his court-martial conviction and refunding his 
$150 fi ne.9

Even these decisions were not without controversy, however. The Air 
Force removed the reprimands only from the records of those who had 
lodged formal requests to have their records expunged; the ceremony 
applied to only fi fteen of the 104; thirteen others had already had the repri-
mands removed. Members of the 104 who had already died did not receive 
posthumous pardons, and many who could have made the request refused 
to do so on principle. Coleman Young’s response to the Air Force’s offer to 
remove his reprimand was, one suspects, a common one. Fellow Detroiter 
and Freeman Field arrestee Wardell Polk paraphrased Young’s response in 
his own oral history interview: “They can take their ‘graciousness’ and stick 
it in their asses!” Polk, too, refused to request a removal. “I think most of 
us wore that thing as a badge of honor,” he said.10
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The story of the Tuskegee Airmen received national exposure again in 
December 2006 when William Holton, TAI’s historian, dropped a fi gura-
tive bombshell. With Daniel Haulman, an archivist-historian for the Air 
Force Historical Research Agency, Holton had uncovered troubling post-
mission reports in the agency’s archives. The documents seemed to indi-
cate that at least a handful of U.S. Air Force bombers fl ying under the 
protection of 332nd fi ghters had been shot down by German airplanes in 
the summer of 1944. Holton suspected that a more thorough review of 
the thousands of post-mission reports he had not yet been able to wade 
through would reveal additional losses.11

Holton and Haulman exposed the “Never lost a bomber” claim for what 
it was and had been since the end of the war: a myth. They had traced its 
origins to a May 1945 letter from Col. Buck Taylor, who congratulated B. O. 
Davis and the 332nd for their perfect record in escort missions. A June 21, 
1945, War Department press release stated that as of February of that year, 
the 332nd “had completed 200 combat missions with the 15th Air Force 
and had served as escort to heavy bombers without losing a single bomber 
to enemy fi ghters.” A military public relations offi cial repeated the claim 
in Gen. Davis’s offi cial Air Force biography, and Davis retold it in his 1991 
memoir.12

By 2006 the phrases “Tuskegee Airmen” and “Never lost a bomber” 
were all but inseparable, especially among TAI members. Holton’s discov-
eries were more than a year old by this point, and he had privately been 
telling Tuskegee Airmen to drop the claim from their public presentations 
since 2004. When newspapers around the country carried an Associated 
Press story detailing the fi ndings on December 12, they had the effect of 
bursting a cherished balloon for thousands of black Americans. A follow-
up story on the AP wire days later carried the claims of Warren Ludlum, an 
eighty-three-year old retiree in Old Tappan, New Jersey. Ludlum reported 
that German fi ghters had shot down the B-24 he co-piloted on July 25 or 
26, 1944, while it was being escorted by Red Tails. Ludlum parachuted to 
safety but was soon captured and sent to a POW camp. He said he was posi-
tive he had fl own the mission under the Tuskegee Airmen’s escort because 
at the prison camp he met Starling Penn, a pilot of the 332nd, class of 43-H, 
who was shot down on the same mission. Holton said that his archival 
research backed Ludlum’s claims.13

The mission reports Holton and Haulman cited were all but completely 
conclusive by themselves. Then again, in 1944 the AAF was sending mas-
sive formations with hundreds of bombers, from multiple bomber groups, 
on missions into Nazi-held territory with hundreds of fi ghter escorts from 
multiple fi ghter groups (including the 332nd) to protect them. These for-
mations spread miles wide. A bomber shot down from one part of a forma-
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tion might not have been the responsibility of any single fi ghter group, and 
Penn might have been escorting bombers far away from Ludlum’s when 
German fi ghters shot their respective planes down. Historians might never 
prove decisively that a given plane fl ying under the direct protection of the 
Tuskegee Airmen fell under enemy aircraft fi re, but it seems indisputable 
that the “Never lost a bomber” claim is and has always been untenable.

Nonetheless, the reaction from original Tuskegee Airmen and their 
legions of fans was predictable. One could practically hear afi cionados 
throughout the country protesting, “But they didn’t ever lose a bomber! It 
says so right here on my T-shirt!” “This is outrageous. I think they are try-
ing to destroy our record,” responded Carroll Woods, a combat veteran of 
the 332nd and a classmate of Penn’s at TAFS. He asked, “What’s the point 
now?” A letter to the editor of the Montgomery Advertiser, the newspaper 
that broke the story, concurred with Woods: “ ‘Outrageous’ is totally cor-
rect. . . . This is past history and should remain so. I see no reason to tarnish 
the records of these black heroes.”14

Holton protested that he was only trying to set the record straight on 
behalf of his organization, lest a later historian look at the same documents 
and conclude that the Tuskegee Airmen had willfully perpetrated a lie. 
“Over the past 60 years, well-meaning, sincere and highly placed speakers 
have beguiled audiences” with the “Never lost a bomber” claim, Holton 
said. Anyone who did so was not lying intentionally, “but rather parroting 
to the listener information he internalized from past speakers.” Holton saw 
himself as performing an intervention in history, and he was at least suc-
cessful on the local level. Subsequent letters to the Montgomery Advertiser 
challenged the notion that Holton and Haulman had tarnished anyone’s 
record. “Why would truth tarnish the magnifi cent record of these coura-
geous men? Consequently, why is image more important than truth?” 
asked one reader. “Research, regardless of what it shows, will not change 
the record of their bravery, especially to those whose lives were saved. Even 
if their accomplishments were less than perfect, the accolades that they 
have received are well deserved.” Another averred, “The Tuskegee Airmen 
overcame tremendous obstacles to fl y in combat against their nation’s 
enemy and for that they should be considered heroic. They do not need 
their exemplary combat record embellished by myth.”15

This latter approach to the exposure of the myth was probably the minor-
ity opinion among the general public. Unfortunately, in collective memory 
the Tuskegee Airmen’s story was in danger of becoming too precious to 
withstand critical inquiry. This reality became all too apparent on the Janu-
ary 31, 2007, broadcast of Jon Stewart’s “The Daily Show.” Speaking on 
what he called “Black History Month Eve,” Larry Wilmore, identifi ed as the 
fake newscast’s “Senior Black Historian,” braced himself for February’s 
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commemorative period. Wilmore joked that Black History Month served 
the sole purpose of “making up for centuries of oppression with twenty-
eight days of trivia,” calling it a time when the American people “bow our 
heads in solemn reverence for Harriet Tubman and the Tuskegee Air-
men.” As if on cue, four days later the Coca-Cola Co. ran an advertisement 
during the television broadcast of Super Bowl XLI. In the advertisement, 
“Tuskegee 1941” served as one of exactly six moments worth celebrating 
in the combined history of black Americans and their preferred soft drink. 
“Tuskegee 1941: Pilots prove heroism has no color,” ran the legend next to 
the image of a Coke bottle. But if the extent of public understanding of the 
Tuskegee Airmen had progressed from complete ignorance to “Blacks can 
be great pilots” or “Blacks can be heroic” over the previous sixty years, it 
had not progressed much at all.16

Wilmore’s satire struck deep. By the time he spoke, the Tuskegee Air-
men had come to represent a feel-good story that Americans of all races and 
ethnicities could tell themselves during the one month of the year when 
they were encouraged to think of black history as American history. The 
oversimplifi cation of their experience threatened to reduce the Tuskegee 
Airmen to a collective cliché. The “Never lost a bomber” myth packaged 
their experience neatly and made it safe for mass consumption—just the 
thing for Black History Month.

That the news of the lost bombers broke shortly before the U.S. Con-
gress honored the Tuskegee Airmen with the Congressional Gold Medal, 
the highest honor that body can award to civilians, was fortunate. When 
more than three hundred of the original pilots and members of support 
crews gathered in the Capitol Rotunda in March 2007 to receive the honor, 
the emphasis in speeches from President George W. Bush, former Secre-
tary of State Colin Powell, and others was on the Airmen’s record in help-
ing their country overcome white supremacy, not on the (mythical) record 
of the 332nd in combat. “I thank you for what you have done for African-
Americans, but more, I thank you for what you have done for America,” 
Powell told them. “You caused America to look into the mirror of its soul, 
and you showed America that there was nothing a black person couldn’t do, 
there was nothing a human being couldn’t do, if given a sense of purpose, 
if given the opportunity.” The Airmen took another bow on the national 
stage when more than two hundred members attended the inauguration of 
President Barack Obama as honored guests, providing a poignant link to 
the historical struggles that had made his election possible.17

The question of whether the pilots of the 332nd did or did not lose bomb-
ers under their protection is not irrelevant, but it cannot speak to the larger 
signifi cance of the Tuskegee Airmen’s collective experience. Everyone who 
has considered this question agrees that the combat record of the 332nd 
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was impressive, even if it was not perfect. But the combat record can tell us 
very little about the 1938–41 lobbying campaign that opened fl ight training 
opportunities to African Americans for the fi rst time, or the feud between 
Tuskegee Institute and the NAACP. It tells us nothing about the creation 
of a nearly all-black military base at Tuskegee and the culture of achieve-
ment that was nurtured there. It cannot teach us about the massive social 
change of the World War II era of which the Tuskegee Airmen experience 
was but a part.

The Tuskegee Airmen themselves can teach us about these changes. 
Their individual stories highlight the social transformation the United 
States underwent during the war, and they show us how individual men 
and women made the choices that produced those changes. They can teach 
us about the differences those transformations made in individual lives 
and the effects they had on the collective history of the American people. 
The postwar lives of the four men whose personal stories opened this book 
demonstrate how these transformations developed. John Roach, Roy Chap-
pell, Milton Henry, and Horace Bohannon established careers and public 
lives after the war that built on the culture of achievement from which they 
had gained so much at Tuskegee. Their postwar careers were emblematic 
of the many directions the civil rights struggle took after the war and dem-
onstrated the possibilities for protest and advancement that the wartime 
experience had created, but also the limits placed on African American 
men of their generation.

John Roach graduated from B-25 training in the class of 45-E and was 
stationed at Godman Field preparing to be deployed to the Pacifi c when 
another bomber, the B-29 Enola Gay, dropped an atomic weapon on the 
city of Hiroshima. When Japan surrendered days later, Roach remem-
bered, “You never saw a more upset bunch of young bomber pilots than we 
were. We just didn’t know any better. But that’s young kids. I was what? 
Twenty-and-a-half-years old. We just wanted to get over there and defend 
the country and at least use our training.” Roach did not get to use that 
training in World War II, but the United States got its money’s worth out 
of his education later on. He left the service in 1946 but was called back to 
active duty during the Korean and Vietnam Wars, and fl ew sensitive mis-
sions during the Cuban Missile Crisis. He retired from the Air Force as a 
full colonel.18

In 1969 Roach began working for the Federal Aviation Administration 
(FAA) as an air carrier operations inspector at Logan Airport in Boston, the 
facility he had visited as a boy. By 1976 he was the chief of the FAA’s Boston 
offi ce, and by 1979 he had risen to deputy regional director, making him 
responsible for commercial fl ight standards throughout New  England. Not 
coincidentally, he was at that time the highest-ranking African  American 
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in the agency’s history. Roach was not a civil rights activist as most would 
understand that term. He recognized the racial prejudice he faced through-
out his career, particularly in the World War II Air Forces, but he “left it 
to the legal department,” as he put it, to deal with those problems and did 
his best to dispel the notions behind them through his personal conduct. 
Roach did not march in civil rights protests, and he did not sue anyone 
for violating his constitutional rights. Instead, he worked hard and made 
it as diffi cult as possible for anyone to discriminate against him. In that 
sense Roach’s postwar career was probably representative of the Airmen 
as a whole. He never accepted inferior treatment and refused to be denied 
career opportunities because he was black, but he fought his battles with a 
sense of stoic dignity.19

Roach credited his career success to four factors: his family’s support, the 
lessons he learned from growing up in an ethnically diverse neighborhood, 
the training he received at Tuskegee, and the relationships with people 
from other backgrounds he was later able to develop in the Air Force. From 
his instructors at Tuskegee, Roach learned how to apply exacting standards 
in his fl ying. He said, “If you did something that was not proper or correct 
as a Tuskegee Airman, why, right across the country people would be say-
ing, ‘See that? Those black guys can’t handle that.’ ” Roach was determined 
never to give anyone an excuse to say that about him.20

What seems to have stuck with Roy Chappell the most from his Tuskegee 
experience was the pride other black Americans derived from it. Being a 
Tuskegee Airman and doing well in the role was important to Chappell 
because it seemed as if the Airmen’s success or failure was a matter of life 
and death for his larger community. His enduring memories of the experi-
ence all involved the way others reacted to him as an offi cer in uniform—be 
they the black churchwomen on trains who shared their meals with him, 
black civilians who never let him pay for a drink when he entered a friendly 
bar, or white strangers who were forced to respect his rank even if they did 
not honor his humanity. He used the visibility he gained as a Tuskegee Air-
man in later years to repay the sustaining acts of generosity he had received 
from black civilians during the war.21

Chappell wanted to make a career of the Air Force, but was told bluntly 
at war’s end that African Americans were not welcome in his chosen fi eld 
of air traffi c control. He left the service, moved to Chicago, used his GI Bill 
benefi ts to enroll at Roosevelt College, and worked nights at the postal ser-
vice. He earned a bachelor’s degree in psychology and got a job doing what 
he had decided in the meantime he really wanted to do, which was teaching 
elementary school. Chappell did that for thirty years.22

As president of the Chicago “Dodo” chapter of Tuskegee Airmen Inc., 
he created the Young Eagles program, which by 2001 had taken more than 
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fi ve thousand inner-city Chicago schoolchildren on their fi rst airplane 
fl ights. Before he died in 2002, his fellow Tuskegee Airmen had recog-
nized him with their highest honors, the National President’s Award and 
the Noel Parrish Award. Chappell made it his life’s work to widen chil-
dren’s horizons. In the Young Eagles program, he said, “We chat about the 
opportunities in aviation and try to tell them about staying in school and 
doing the things they’re supposed to do. When the kids come down out 
of those airplanes after their fi rst fl ight, oh, it’s something else. It’s some-
thing else, boy. They’re so happy. They’re not even touching the ground,” 
Chappell said.

“I had one little girl, and she didn’t want to fl y,” he remembered. “She 
was afraid to fl y. And so I took her out and talked to her and walked her 
around the airplane. Had her touch all the parts of the airplane. Opened up 
the door, let her look in the airplane and all that. She went up. And when 
she came back down, I said, ‘How do you feel?’ ” The girl answered, ‘I feel 
like I’m still in heaven.’ ”23

Higher-ups interpreted Milton Henry’s challenges to Jim Crow at 
bases in Alabama and Michigan as conduct unbecoming an offi cer. He 
was court-martialed and discharged from the AAF in 1944, at the height 
of the war. Henry remained defi ant six decades later. “My major job 
wasn’t just to fi ght; it was to declare for human dignity everywhere,” he 
said in 2002. “I just couldn’t see letting the government off the hook. If 
you’re engaged in a holy crusade, then let’s make it a holy crusade all the 
way around. The government has to be held up to the standards that it 
professes.”24

As compared with the postwar civil rights struggles of other Tuskegee 
Airmen, Henry took the road less traveled—to say the least. After the war 
he joined the League for Non-Violent Civil Disobedience to a Segregated 
Army, for which he canvassed black neighborhoods in Philadelphia. Under 
the guidance of the league’s leaders, A. Philip Randolph and Bayard Rus-
tin, Henry patrolled the streets of the City of Brotherly Love in a sound 
truck, urging passersby to refuse to register for the Selective Service Sys-
tem. Henry’s harangues “sounded like a shocking heresy even to blacks,” 
one listener later recalled.25

Henry decided to pursue a legal career and applied to Temple Univer-
sity’s law school, but his application was rejected because of the dishonor-
able discharge. He accompanied a friend to New Haven, Connecticut, for 
the admissions test to Yale Law School. Henry took the exam on a lark and 
scored well enough to win not only acceptance but a full scholarship. After 
graduation he returned to Pennsylvania to take the state bar exam. Because 
he refused to accede to a restriction on defending civil rights cases, the state 
bar rejected him.26
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Henry moved to Pontiac, Michigan, married and had a daughter, and 
won a seat on the city commission. Dismayed to fi nd that the city’s public 
schools were racially segregated, he fi led one of the fi rst school desegre-
gation suits in the urban north. From that point on he would combine a 
career of political activism, some of it at the very edges of militant violence, 
with a thriving legal practice.27

Henry watched approvingly as a new brand of black activism swept 
the South in the late 1950s and early 1960s, but found that the push for 
equal civil rights did not speak to the daily realities of blacks in the north-
ern cities. He rejected the philosophy of nonviolence, advocating greater 
militancy and a faster pace of change. Henry developed ties to several of 
the major civil rights fi gures and organizations of the day, in addition to 
socialists, radical trade unionists, and black nationalists. At the same time 
he gravitated toward militant Black Power politics, lending his name and 
organizing talents to the radical Group on Advanced Leadership (GOAL). 
GOAL cosponsored a 1963 march in which Martin Luther King Jr. led an 
estimated crowd of 125,000 through the streets of Detroit. Henry also pro-
vided legal advice and bail money to members of the Student Non-violent 
Coordinating Committee who found themselves in Southern jails because 
they had challenged Jim Crow.28

Concurrently, Henry explored ties with Detroit’s Garvey-ite black-nation-
alist groups and found a kindred spirit in the fi ery Nation of Islam minis-
ter Malcolm X. Henry was an organizer for the multi-generational 1963 
Grassroots Leadership Conference in Detroit at which Malcolm delivered 
his infl uential “Message to the Grassroots,” a landmark speech in the his-
tory of black nationalism in the United States. Henry, who enjoyed tinker-
ing with radios and tape recorders and ran a community radio station in his 
spare time, recorded the address and distributed it widely. Henry became 
one of Malcolm X’s closest political allies, traveling with him abroad to 
Egypt, among many other places, and remembered the activist as a man 
who “saw the humanity in all people . . . he really was determined to love 
humanity.”29

In 1964 Henry ran for a seat in the U.S. Congress on the Freedom Now 
ticket, hoping to mobilize the black masses as a third-party candidate. John 
Conyers Jr. trounced him in the election. That same year, according to an 
FBI informant, Henry delivered a fi ery lecture to Detroit’s Friday Night 
Socialist Forum in which he hypothesized “that a well disciplined under-
ground of all black guerillas [sic] could cause pandemonium and in this 
way let everyone know that the Negro aims to gain his absolute, complete 
freedom.” In 1965 he served as a pallbearer at Malcolm’s funeral.30

In 1968 Henry renounced integrationist civil rights organizing and 
black electoral strategies as too incrementalist and changed his name to 
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Gaidi Obadele. With his brother Richard, who now called himself Imari 
Abubakari Obadele, he proclaimed the existence of the sovereign Repub-
lic of New Africa (RNA) to be carved out of the states of Louisiana, Mis-
sissippi, Alabama, Georgia, and South Carolina. The Obadeles demanded 
$400 billion in reparations from the United States, which would be used 
to create the new government and repatriate the descendants of slaves who 
had moved north in the Great Migration. Gaidi Obadele was the republic’s 
fi rst vice president, and Betty Shabazz, Malcolm X’s widow, was named 
second vice president. Imari Obadele assumed the duties of the RNA’s 
Minister of Information and opened a consulate in Jackson, Mississippi.31

The Obadele brothers began organizing to hold a plebiscite in the RNA’s 
newly declared lands to let black people know they had a right to self-
determination, they said, and offered to open negotiations with the Nixon 
administration over territorial transfer and reparations. (Strangely enough, 
they received no response from the White House.) The brothers established 
the capital of what they called “the still unliberated nation” in Mississippi 
under the leadership of the more charismatic Imari, but one has to wonder 
how Milton Henry/Gaidi Obadele would have approached the possibility of 
returning to Alabama as a conquering RNA offi cial.32

Henry had severe second thoughts about militant black nationalism in 
1969 when he witnessed at close hand a gun battle between RNA asso-
ciates and Detroit police at the New Bethel Baptist Church that left the 
neighborhood looking like “a war zone.” Perhaps the Quaker infl uence of 
Henry’s Philadelphia childhood re-exerted itself. Maybe he remembered 
the aversion to “bayonets and rifl es” that led him to volunteer for the Army 
Air Corps. Whatever his reason, the “very traumatic experience” at New 
Bethel led Milton Henry to stop calling himself Gaidi Obadele and disavow 
militant black nationalism. His brother learned a different lesson from the 
experience: the RNA needed to raise, arm, and train one hundred thousand 
troops to defend the republic, he argued. The two drifted apart.33

When Henry recorded an oral history interview with the Tuskegee Air-
men Oral History Project in 2002, he was still practicing law in Detroit; as 
an attorney he was perhaps best known for his work on the University of 
Michigan affi rmative action cases that were eventually decided by the U.S. 
Supreme Court in 2003. At the time he was also Rev. Milton Henry, the 
pastor of Christ Presbyterian Church in Southfi eld, Michigan. In the 1970s, 
while on a drive through the countryside of Ghana, he had happened upon 
a rural church. Henry read the words of the apostle Paul on the church’s 
sign: “Know ye not but you are not your own, you’ve been born with a price, 
even the blood of our Lord Jesus Christ.” It was, he later remembered, 
“an existential moment”—his Christian upbringing apparently reasserting 
itself. Henry returned home immediately and entered Ashland Theological 
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Seminary in Ohio. Upon graduation with a master’s degree in religious 
studies, he founded the Metropolitan Jail Ministry in Detroit and founded 
Christ Presbyterian Church in 1992. When Milton Henry’s remarkable life 
ended in 2006, a perceptive obituary in the New York Times Magazine men-
tioned that his funeral ceremony “included representatives of the Tuskegee 
Airmen, an honor guard of the Republic of New Africa, and a phalanx of 
prominent lawyers, judges and clergy. All claimed him.”34

Horace Bohannon returned to Atlanta and his taxicab after the war. He 
was interested in maintaining the camaraderie he had so enjoyed as a fl ight 
cadet and member of the 332nd, so he tried to join the local American 
Legion chapter. But “they wanted to have an auxiliary-something for black 
veterans. You were not a full-fl edged member. We didn’t like that. Same 
thing at the VFW.” So Bohannon and a few black veteran friends orga-
nized the Georgia Veterans League. The president of the Georgia Veterans 
League was an old friend from Atlanta and a fellow Tuskegee Airman, John 
Turner. Turner told Bohannon he was wasting his talents in the taxi and 
set up a meeting for him with Dr. George Mitchell, director of the South-
ern Regional Council (SRC)’s Veterans Education Program and soon to 
become executive director of the SRC. Successor to the Commission on 
Interracial Cooperation, which had been formed in 1919, the SRC was one 
of the few interracial groups in the South pushing for civil rights reforms 
in the immediate postwar years. Mitchell was especially keen on consoli-
dating the gains blacks had made during the war in the realm of federal 
employment. His short-term goal was to pressure the Veterans Admin-
istration to hire black veterans as case workers and to cease its shameful 
treatment of black veterans in the South.35

As the head of the SRC’s Veteran Services Project, Bohannon traveled 
throughout the state interviewing comrades about their postwar aspira-
tions. He was not surprised to hear that above all, they wanted “a decent 
job. They wanted to work. They wanted to make it.” Bohannon continued 
to organize black veterans, but at the SRC he also met liberal whites who 
encouraged him to join a new veterans group, the interracial American 
Veterans Committee. He did and formed an Atlanta chapter of the organi-
zation. The pattern of Bohannon’s activism would hold throughout the rest 
of his life and was representative of the activism of many African Ameri-
cans of his generation. He organized blacks to recognize and fi ght for their 
collective aspirations; at the same time he sought out alliances with fair-
minded whites who could help him change the system from within.36

Mitchell and Bohannon considered the work of the Veteran Services 
Project as having succeeded by 1947, and Mitchell insisted that Bohannon 
go back to college and earn his degree. Bohannon returned to Lincoln and 
graduated in 1948. He moved home to Atlanta and worked for a few years 
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as principal of all-black public elementary schools. But he soon found he 
could make much more money at the Post Offi ce Department, the one 
federal agency where African Americans faced the least hiring discrimina-
tion after the war. (Several Tuskegee Airmen had long postwar careers at 
the post offi ce.) “It went along pretty good,” Bohannon said, “except their 
whole thing was they wanted a strong back and a weak mind. . . . They’d 
bring some white boy in there that didn’t know the way to the bathroom, 
and pretty soon he’s the supervisor over you.” Disgusted with the glass ceil-
ing at the post offi ce, Bohannon got a job as a juvenile probation offi cer in 
Fulton County, Georgia. But he chafed at the segregated and discrimina-
tory conditions in that institution, too, and returned to the post offi ce in the 
early 1960s as a training offi cer with responsibility for the entire Southeast 
region.37

From there Bohannon worked his way through the upper ranks of the 
federal civil service, fi nally landing in the regional offi ce of the Depart-
ment of Health, Education, and Welfare (HEW), where he found his life’s 
work. At HEW Bohannon was responsible for working with local authori-
ties to bring the Deep South’s segregated school districts, health facilities, 
and welfare units into compliance with the federal courts’ desegregation 
mandates during a time of tremendous change, the late 1960s and 1970s. 
“I like it so much,” Bohannon remembered telling his boss. “Every day 
I meet with some different people, and it just tickles me for them to ask 
me, ‘Where are you from, Mr. Bohannon?’ And I say, ‘I’m from Atlanta, 
Georgia.’ ” White Southerners of the time were still certain that desegrega-
tion was an effort on the part of northerners to force their values and cus-
toms down Southerners’ throats, and they certainly were unused to seeing 
African Americans, much less black Southerners, in positions of authority. 
“They just knew I was from Flint, Michigan, or somewhere up north, and 
when I told them that, you could see their face fall!”38

The efforts of federal agencies to fi nally desegregate local school districts 
and similar institutions, in many cases two decades or more after the U.S. 
Supreme Court’s initial Brown v. Board of Education decision, is one of the 
largely untold success stories of the civil rights era, and Bohannon was at 
the heart of the struggle. Federalist checks and balances in the U.S. Con-
stitution place a great deal, but not quite a preponderance, of power over 
issues of education and welfare with local school boards and county wel-
fare agencies. The system allowed white Southerners to continue racially 
segregationist practices for years after the Supreme Court defi ned them as 
unconstitutional. It was up to federal bureaucrats like Bohannon to work 
with local offi cials to implement desegregation orders and hold the offi -
cials’ feet to the fi re when they inevitably attempted to backslide. It was 
important, but largely unheralded, work.
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When Bohannon recorded his interview with the Tuskegee Airmen Oral 
History Project, he was in the mood to refl ect on a long and consequential 
career as a freedom fi ghter who had accomplished a great deal by working 
within the system. “Despite the fact that I’m a Georgia-born black boy, I 
had experiences that promoted me as a person,” Bohannon said, and he 
clearly understood his time at Tuskegee as the turning point in his life. “I 
have never been in a group as fi ne as the Tuskegee Airmen. I’m trying to 
say to you in terms of character, behavior and so forth, I have never seen 
anything like the Tuskegee Airmen.”39 In other words, as a group of people 
the Tuskegee Airmen may have been separate for a time, but they were 
unequaled.

Black Americans won for themselves the opportunity to prove their com-
petence in the prestigious and technologically advanced fi eld of aviation 
during World War II. The Tuskegee Airmen took advantage of the opportu-
nity, provided a dramatic model of achievement that was diffi cult to ignore, 
and hastened the end of the national government’s indifference toward 
Jim Crow. They did not bring the resulting civil rights revolution about by 
themselves, to be sure, but it is hard to imagine how the transformations 
that followed could have come about without the example that they set.
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That the writing of a book is not a solitary endeavor is a 
 cliché in authors’ acknowledgments, but it is so unavoidably true in this 
case that I cannot help writing it again here. Thanks fi rst of all to the narra-
tors of the Tuskegee Airmen Oral History Project.

Directing the research team of the Tuskegee Airmen Oral History Proj-
ect—Lisa Bratton, Judith Brown, Worth Long, and Bill Mansfi eld, and our 
administrative assistant Johnetta Robinson—and having the opportunity to 
study this subject in such depth with such remarkable people was the thrill 
of a professional lifetime. I am proud of the body of work we assembled, 
and I hope the Tuskegee Airmen are as well.

Our partner in that project, Tuskegee Airmen, Inc., provided invalu-
able assistance in too many ways to mention. I am especially grateful to 
Hank Sanford, Bill Holton, and Col. Charles McGee of TAI for their having 
championed the project among TAI’s members and for the many personal 
favors they did for us. We literally could not have managed the project with-
out them. TAI chapters and hundreds of individual members of the orga-
nization gave us the gift of their time, their memories, and the contents 
of their address books. It has truly been an honor to know these men and 
women.

I am grateful to all of them, but I have to single out Charles “A-Train” 
Dryden and Theopolis W. “Ted” Johnson, both of Atlanta, for special 
thanks. I recorded my fi rst interview for the project with A-Train, and over 
the next eight years I had countless conversations and great laughs with 
him. (I wish I could share some of the stories behind them here.) May 
I grow old as gracefully. Before he died in 2006, Ted Johnson compiled 
one of the most impressive historical documents I have ever seen and used, 
a database of verifi able participants in the historic Tuskegee Airmen expe-
rience. Ted was a real mentor in many ways, and he showed all of us what 
it means to have a labor of love.

Rep. John Lewis (D-Ga.) procured an earmark for the oral history project 
that allowed the project to continue its work. I admire Rep. Lewis for many 
reasons, but I remain especially grateful for this favor.

My colleagues at the National Park Service—including, among many, 
many others, Bob Blythe, Tony Paredes, Allen Bohnert, Brian Coffey, 
Tommy Jones, Dan Scheidt, Kirk Cordell, Paul Hatchett, Rick McCollough, 
Frank Catroppa, Saudia Muwwakkil, Dwight Pitcaithley, Janet McDonnell, 
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In 1998 the U.S. National Park Service (NPS) began developing Tuskegee  Airmen 
National Historic Site at Moton Field in Alabama, working in partnership with 
Tuskegee Airmen Inc. (TAI) and Tuskegee University. As part of its efforts to docu-
ment the historic experience and build  opportunities for visitor education, NPS set 
aside part of a congressional appropriation for an oral history project to record the 
memories of the surviving participants. NPS hired me as the director of the Tuskegee 
Airmen Oral History Project in 2000. Between late 2000 and summer 2005 a staff 
of four historians/oral history interviewers—Lisa Bratton, Judith Brown, Worth Long, 
and Bill Mansfi eld—and I recorded more than eight hundred interviews with a wide 
cross-section of veterans of the experience. They included pilots and support person-
nel who trained at Tuskegee and elsewhere, men and women who had been combat 
veterans and desk jockeys, secretaries and parachute packers, doctors and lawyers, and 
even members of the all-white bomber crews who fl ew alongside the Airmen in com-
bat. It would be impossible to convey the full depth and variety of the oral histories in 
a short space here, but it should go without saying that the interviews, which are now 
archived at the newly opened Tuskegee  Airmen National Historic Site, serve as the 
essential core of my effort to tell this story.1

TAI provided the Tuskegee Airmen Oral History Project with the names and contact 
information for hundreds of men and women who could be verifi ed as having partici-
pated in the experience. This saved the oral history project literally hundreds, perhaps 
thousands, of man-hours. Word of mouth also led to interviewees, as did our publicity 
efforts, but we found the vast majority of our narrators via TAI. I should mention that 
everyone associated with TAI insisted that the oral history project would only succeed if 
we interviewed support personnel as well as pilots, and they worked with us to that end.

Of the fi ve interviewers on the oral history project staff (including me), two had 
been trained as academic historians, two as folklorists, and one in the academic fi eld 
of African American studies. Two were African American, three were white; two were 
women and three were men; one was himself a military veteran and another had an 
encyclopedic knowledge of military aircraft. Each brought a unique background, set of 
concerns, and ideas about the important questions to ask in each interview, and I feel 
sure that the diversity of the staff ranks added immensely to the quality of the fi nished 
product. Project interviewers traveled to interviewees’ homes to record the interviews 
and, for the most part, followed the life history style of interviewing. As a group we 
did our best to adhere to the Oral  History Association’s “Evaluation Guidelines,” an 
indispensable collection of best practices and ethical principles. We tried to ask open-
ended questions and allow interviewees to set the terms for discussion to the degree 
possible. Though we went into each interview with a list of topics we wanted to cover—
some of them tailored to individual narrators, but most common to all the interviews—
we found that the most important questions we asked in any interview were not the 
perfectly worded ones we had prepared beforehand, but the follow-up questions that 
helped a given interviewee elaborate on or explain a point.

A Note on Sources
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Interviews averaged somewhere around ninety minutes in length, although some 
were much shorter and others lasted hours. A professional transcriptionist transcribed 
each interview, and most were edited by both the interviewer and interviewee. Inter-
viewees were given the right to edit and/or delete what appeared in fi nal transcripts, 
but it was unusual for an interviewee to change anything other than grammar. For 
several reasons, the most important of which were the advanced age of the popula-
tion we were trying to reach and the fi ckle nature of the federal budget process, the 
oral history staff had to prioritize speed over accuracy. In other words, we made an 
effort to interview as many people as we possibly could with the money we had avail-
able and then edited interview transcripts with the time we had left. As a result, strict 
grammarian constructionists who have the chance to review some of the transcripts 
will have reason to fi nd fault with our work. But I still would not change any of the 
decisions I made then.

I share the Italian oral historian Alessandro Portelli’s conviction that “written and 
oral sources are not mutually exclusive,” and that oral history sources explain “less 
about events than about their meaning.” I have used the Tuskegee Airmen oral histo-
ries as sources in a few different ways for the purposes of this book—most noticeably, 
to complement, round out, or challenge the archival record, or to explore topics left out 
of the archival record. Oral history can be a wonderful companion to archival evidence 
for authors of narrative social history such as this, but it cannot be a substitute. Where 
information from oral histories contradicted written information from primary and/or 
secondary sources, I have so noted in the text or the endnotes.2

Moreover, oral history can provide historians much more than just background 
color or “fi ller” for the gaps in written sources. My basic understanding of this historic 
experience fl ows from the narratives that our interviewees constructed, and I have 
tried to structure the narrative of the book in a way that allows the Tuskegee Airmen 
themselves to introduce the major themes of this shared history in their own words. 
I have tried to remain faithful to what I will call (for lack of a better term) the collective 
worldview of our narrators as they expressed it in the interviews. The oral histories are 
the best sources we have for their collective ability to communicate what it was like to 
experience life in the black Air Force. For the purposes of my book, this is what makes 
the interviews most valuable—but a folklorist, military historian, scholar of memory 
studies, or scholar from another discipline could fi nd in the collection a valuable trove 
of information for different purposes. (And I hope that many others will take advan-
tage of the resource.)

Transcribing the spoken word into written text is much more art form than science, 
as is transforming transcript into narrative prose. In processing transcripts, the staff 
of the Tuskegee Airmen Oral History Project strove to edit for the narrator’s intended 
meaning, and we gave interviewees the chance to edit the transcripts themselves before 
archiving them. Therefore, a given transcript might not be a perfect, verbatim repre-
sentation of what a narrator said on tape, but it should (at least in theory) refl ect the 
meaning the interviewee intended to convey without distorting what was actually said 
in the recording. In condensing the transcripts for use here, I have followed the same 
rule of thumb: edit for intended meaning. In cases I have combined sentences from 
separate parts of a given interview or, in fewer cases, rearranged words in sentences for 
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clarity’s sake. In the instances where I have put words in narrators’ mouths, the added 
words are enclosed in brackets.

The following is a short, representative example of how I have managed the process 
of editing a transcript for use in this book. This section of Lisa Bratton’s interview with 
Lemuel R. Custis is exactly as it appeared in the fi nalized Tuskegee Airmen Oral His-
tory Project transcript, which had been edited by both Bratton and Custis:

bratton: What was your fi rst impression of Tuskegee?
custis: In what way?
bratton: When you fi rst arrived at the train station, if you went down by train, 

when you fi rst saw it. What do you remember thinking?
custis: Well, I had mixed feelings or mixed emotions because we had gone down 

on the train. Uncle Sam had sent us down on a train, and that was my fi rst 
experience in the Deep South, and it was the fi rst time they pulled a curtain 
on the old boy. [He refers to the practice of drawing a curtain around African 
Americans in the dining car of trains below the Mason-Dixon Line.] I really 
then understood I was black. I just thought I was before, but [chuckles] I knew 
I was after that. That’s when they pulled the curtain. I had never seen that 
before. I had heard through the grapevine that they did this to some people and 
so forth. As a black person you hear these things from elderly people or people 
that had come from the South, but it had never happened to me, so it was quite 
an experience to have that happen.

But I must say this: and I’ll never forget how nice the porters were to me, 
helped me survive that trip. As I said, again, having that curtain pulled on you, 
and you feel—you wonder what’s going on, how to handle it. But they said, 
“We’ll take care of you. We’ll see that you get the food if you don’t want to go 
[to the dining car],” because even I went up to get the food, which Uncle Sam 
was providing, they pulled the curtain on you in the dining car. You know that.

bratton: Mm-hm.
custis: So they said, “If you want to go up there, we’ll take care of you. If you 

don’t, you can stay in the compartment and we’ll bring the food back.” So they 
were very nice. I woke up one or two mornings—I guess the next morning or 
something—in Chehaw, Alabama. [Laughs] And so that was the train stop, 
at Chehaw, Alabama, for Tuskegee. And so they had a jeep there to meet me. 
I was the only one getting off there at Chehaw at that time.

Interested readers may compare this version to the one that appears at the opening of 
Chapter 2.
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Stearman PT-17 

trainers prepare 

for take-off at 

Moton Field, the 

primary training 

facility Tuskegee 

Institute operated 

under contract 

with the Army Air 

Forces. U.S. Air 

Force Historical 

Research Agency.

What began as a small pool of civilian flight instructors at Moton Field mushroomed 

in the course of the war as the training program expanded. U.S. Air Force Historical 

Research Agency.



Left to right: Brig. Gen. Benjamin O. Davis Sr., Lt. Col. Noel F. Parrish, and 

Lt. Col. Benjamin O. Davis Jr. Parrish and Davis Jr. were fortuitous choices for 

the leadership of the Tuskegee military flight program. U.S. Air Force 

Historical Research Agency. 

Artist Betsy Graves Reyneau 

based the figure in “Keep Us Flying!” 

(1943) on Tuskegee Airman 

Lt. Robert W. Deiz of Portland, Oregon. 

National Portrait Gallery, Smithsonian 

Institution, T/NPG.89.167.



Charles A. (“Chief”) Anderson, 

chief instructor pilot at Moton Field, 

tutors a cadet. U.S. Air Force 

Historical Research Agency

Enlisted men being trained as mechanics learn the intricacies of a P-40 engine at TAAF. 

NAACP Collection, Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division.



Nurses from Tuskegee Army Air Field (TAAF) base hospital prepare for 

a sightseeing flight. U.S. Air Force Historical Research Agency.

In the course of the war Tuskegee Army Air Field (TAAF), seen here in an aerial 

view, became the equivalent of a small, highly functioning, nearly all-black city. 

U.S. Air Force Historical Research Agency.



Members of the first class of 

graduates from the Tuskegee Army 

Flying School (TAFS) discuss flying 

with Robert M. “Mother” Long. Left 

to right: George “Spanky” Roberts, 

Benjamin O. Davis Jr., Charles H. 

DeBow, Long, Mac Ross, and Lemuel 

R. Custis. U.S. Air Force Historical 

Research Agency.

Pilots of the 332nd attend a mission briefing at Ramitelli, March 1945. 

They include Jimmie D. Wheeler (seated, with goggles), Emile G. Clifton 

(seated, with cloth cap), and (standing, left to right) Ronald W. Reeves (cloth cap), 

Hiram Mann (leather cap), Joseph L. Chineworth (dress cap), Elwood T. Driver 

(leather cap), Edward Thomas (partial view), and Woodrow W. Crockett (dress cap). 

Toni Frissell Collection, Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division.



The contingencies 

of combat led to 

ad hoc integration 

in Italy. Captain 

Morris S. Young 

removes a particle 

of flak from the 

jaw of a white 15th 

Air Force bomber 

crewmember. 

Surgical technician 

Wellington R. Mills 

assists. NAACP 

Collection, Library 

of Congress Prints 

and Photographs 

Division.

Staff Sgt. Herbert Ellison of Albion, Michigan, a member of a 

quartermaster trucking company attached to the 332nd, leads a 

discussion on the G.I. Bill at a post somewhere in Italy.  “The men 

ask questions and we bring out the meaning of the G.I. Bill of Rights 

and what it holds for them in the way of a better life when they 

become civilians again,” he said.  The expectation that wartime 

service would lead to greater postwar citizenship rights was never 

far from the minds of many black airmen and soldiers. NAACP 

Collection, Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division.



Pilots of the 477th fly B-25s in formation. Training African Americans to fly and maintain 

the world’s most powerful and sophisticated killing machines implicitly challenged Jim 

Crow. U.S. Air Force Historical Research Agency.

Captain Anthony N. Chiappe reviews arrested officers of the 477th 

at Freeman Field in preparation for their removal to Godman Field. 

NAACP Collection, Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division.



By the end of World War II, experienced black officers had fully assumed leadership 

of the 477th Composite Group of Tuskegee-trained fighter and bomber pilots. Having 

proved that they could successfully fly in combat, maintain aircraft, and manage complex 

operations, there was little justification left for segregating blacks in the Air Force. 

NAACP Collection, Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division. 
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